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PREFACE T0 NEW EDITIDN

A. ¥EW lines will suffice ta explain in what respects
this edition of the * Life of Lord Metcalfe” differs
from the work as originally published.

The earlier part of the work is considerably com~
pressed. This has been effected, without detriment
ta the completeness of the biography, by the omission
of some passages of explanatory history and of some
letters discussing the events narrated in those pas-
sages. As Metcalfe at that period—I mean, at the
time of the first Mahratta war—held only a subordi~
nate position, it is possible that in the original work
those events were ta¢ much elaborated, and Metcalfe’s
opinions respecting them too minutely illustrated in
his correspondence. At all events this was the
opinion, of some friendly critics—in spite of my anti-
cipatory protest in the prefaca to the first edition;
and, as I have since gone aver much of the same
ground, and with better justification, in the ¢ Life
of Sir John Malcolm,” who was really pars magna
of the first Mahratta war, I willingly defer to the
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judgment of others, and send forth the early chapters
of the’ biography in their present condensed shape.

But I have expanded another'part of the work;
and in stating this I must make another confession
of crror. I confess that I was one of those who
believed that Metcalfe’s repeated allusions to the
insecurity of our Indian empire, and to the probabi-
lities of some sudden and disastrous outbreak, were
not in accordance with the general sagacity and the
sound good sense of the man. His friends, I know,
used to smile at this as his weak point; and in the
original edition of this work, I did not speak of it
with much respect. People, however, think differ-
ently of the matter now; and at all events,’it is
curious and interesting, at the present time, to
ob@#rve Metcalfe’s prognostications of the coming
storm, and not uninstructive to mark in what manner
he was wont to suggest that we should prepare our~
selves to meet it. I have, therefore, given, in the
second volume of this edition, several passages from
Metcalfe’s correspondence (not in the original edition)
illystrative of his ever-prevailing sense of danger,
and of his views with regard to the best means of
strengthening and securing our position in the midst
of a conquered people.

Pesides these more impqrtant, changes, which I
trust will be considered improvements, there are
some less importint alterations, to which it is
scarcely necessary to advert. Some .documents
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public and private, which seemed to encumber the
text and impede the flow of the narrative, have
either been omitted altogether or removed to the
Appendix, where they may be read, or not, according
{o the taste of the reader. I would not, however,
recommend any one to abstain from the perusal
of Dr. Goodall’s letters to his old pupil, although I
have removed them to the end of the book.

In conclusion, I will only say, as an utterance of
pure gratitude, that I owe much to this work; for,
if it has not increased the little Hterary reputation
that may have before been earned by its author, it
has added to his stock of private friendships, and
that, in his estimation, is a far more valuable posses-
sion. It would be a solace to him to think that he
had, in any way, repaid such service by extending
or perpetuating the fame of the subject of this
biography.

London, AMarch, 1858.

ad



PREFACE T0 ORIGINAL EDITION

THE biography of a statesman -to whose care  the
three greatest dependencies of the British Crown
were successively entrusted,” calls for no introduction
to explain or to justify the circamstance of its publi-
cation. DBut something may be said, in this place,
respecting the materials upon which the present
Memoir is based, and the considerations which have
influenced the manner of its construction.

When, in the autumn of 1846, Lord Metcalfe was
mercifully removed from what had long been to him
a world of suffering, there was found in his will a
special clause, giving and bequeathing to one of his
trustees “ all his papers, as well those in his own
possession as in the hands of his agents, Messrs.
Cockerell and Company, consisting principally of
private correspondence,” to be disposed of by the
said trustee under instructions from the testator,
and failing such instructions at his own discretion.
Lord Metcalfe died, leaving no instructions regarding
the papers. They, therefore, became absolutely the
property of the trustee, who, after taking counsel
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with some of the nearest and dearest friends of
the deceased, did me the honour to request that I
would take charge of the papers, with the object of
founding upon them a Memoir of the life of Lord
Metcalfe.

The collection was one of considerable bulk. It
comprised several large boxes, containing an immense
mass of private letters addressed to Charles Metcalfe, -
from the time when he was a boy at Eton almost
to the very day of his death. Here and there
I found a few drafts or copies of letters written by
Metcalfe himself, mixed up with those of which he
had been the recipient. There were, also, one or
two collections of Metcalfe’s letters, written in a
strain of unreserved confidence and familiarity to
intimate private friends who had died in India, and
whose executors had seemingly returned ‘the cotre-
spondence to the writer. In addition to these there
were some early journals and .common-place books
—written at Eton, on the voyage to India, or during
the first years of the writer’s residence in that
country ; copies of all his letters written whilst on
his mission to Lahore in 1808; of all, or mearly
all, his minutes written when a member of the
Supreme Government of India; and of his confi-
dential letters and despatches written subsequently
from Jamaica and Canada. Nor must I omit to
state that there was one large box entirely filled with
public addresses of congratulation or condolence—
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of welcome or farewell—voted to him in the three
great dependencies of which he was sometime the
head.

After the first hasty examination of these papers,
I had little doubt that they had been preserved for
the purpose to which I was about to devote them.
Nothing fortifies and encourages a biographer so
‘much as such an assurance as this. Metcalfe had a
very early prescience that he was destined to be
great. When yet little more than sixteen he wrote,
not lightly and jestingly either, of the ¢ fervent
biographer,” who was to seize upon the traits of
character indicated in the self-searching entries in
his Common-place Book. But carefully as all these
papers had been preserved, and multitudinous as
were the records, they were hardly to be regarded as
the best, or most legitimate materials of biography.
Of the thousands of letters which passed into my
hands, there was hardly one which was not of some
use, as suggesting an idea, strengthening an impres-
sion, contributing something to the full comprehension
of a trait of character, or supplying a clue to the
elucidation of some incident in Metcalfe’s life.  Yet
the entire collection did not supply complete materials
for a biography. Whilst there was a superabundance
of letters addressed ¢o Lord Metcalfe, there was an
obvious want of letters written by him. The want,
however, was soon supplied. Although somerof his
most intimate friends and cherished correspondents



xiv TREFACE.

had either. not retained, or had destroyed upon leav-
ing India all the letters they had received from him,
or had been deprived of them by some of those
moving accidents by flood and field which are the
constituents of a stirring Indian career, others had
carefully preserved the letters of their friend, and, in
some instances, these memorials had survived the
recipients of them.

In alittle tirge, either my own inquiries, or those
of influential friends who entered heartily into the
undertaking and were eager to contribute all they
could to its success, elicited from different quarters
all that I desired. There was one collection of early
letters preserved by the late Mr. John Walter Sherer,
of the Civil Service, one of Metcalfe’s earliest friends,
which, as illustrating a most interesting epoch of his
career, the records of which were by no means plen-
tiful, I have found of the greatest service. Some
family letters in the possession of Lord Monson—
Metcalfe’s first cousin—which were freely placed at

~my disposal; afforded additional materials, for which
I am most grateful; whilst others, illustrative of
what may be called the mid-career of the writer,
were forwarded to me a very little time before his
death, by Sir Richard Jenkins, one of the most dis-
tingnished of Metcalfe’s diplomatic contemporaries.
Of letters relating to a later period, after Metcalfe
had become famous, it may be supposed that there
was no lack. It is the want of anthentic records of
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early life that is commonly the biographer’s great
stumbling-block.

It will be seen that I have had no such difficulty
to surmount. The records of Metcalfe’s early life,
some may think, have, in‘these pages, been unduly
‘amplified. But, rightly or wrongly, what I have
done, I have done advisedly—systematically. 'What
is for the most part a necessity often comes in time
to be accepted as a rule. But I have not been able
to persuade myself that because, in a large number
of biographical works, three-fourths of the space is
assigned to the few closing years of a distinguished
career—to the record of circumstances illustrative of
a great man’s made reputation—that this is neces-
sarily the way in whick biography ought to be
written. Doubtless, however, it is often the way
’in which it must be written, or not at all. I am
inclined to think that the narrative of the steps by
which a man has viscn to greatness is neither less
interesting, nor less instructive, than an account of
his achievements, after the ladder of public life has
been ascended, and he stands on an eminence of
popularity before the world;—in a word, that the
history of promise is not less valuable than the
history of performance. The history of a great
man’s public performances are often part and parcel
of the history of the country which he has served
They belong rather, indeed, to the historiar than the
biographer; and though ignorance may misunder-
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stand, or party-spirit may misrepresent them, there
ds little chance of their being overlooked. Not always
is that, which is historically the most important,
biographically the most interesting. It is the func-
tion of ‘the biographer to supply what is beyond the
scope of the historian. When he reaches that stage -
of his inquiries at which the history of the individual
becomes the history of the country, it would seem to
be less his duty to expand than to contract the narra-
tive. At all events,.it is not his business to confine
his efforts mainly to the illustration of those events
which would be known to the public without his
assistance.

If I have erred in-devoting too much space to the
earlier career of Charles Metcalfe, I have done so at
least with design and intention. The first volume
embraces the first thirty-five years of his life, inclu-'
ding the first twenty years of his official career. In
the sccond volume are contained the annals of the
last quarter of a century of his life. It so happened
that the last twelve years of his Indian career
embraced a season of remarkable historical unevent-
fulness—a state of quiescence very much the result
of those measures which he had advocated with so
much energy and ability when in a more subordinate
official position. It is well known that Sir Charles
Metcalfe Iiberated the Indian Press. It is well known
that he differed from his Council, in Canada, on the
question of “ Responsible Government.” But it is
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not known how large a share he had in the author-
ship of those great measures for the consolidation of
our Indian Empire, which shed so much lustre on
the administration of Lord Hastings, which have
preserved the whole continent in peace, and prepared
the country for those internal improvements which
could take root only in an undisturbed soil and
under a quiet sky, During the first twenty years of
Metcalfe’s Indian career it was his fortune to live in
stirring times; and, although in a comparatively
subordinate position, the character of his mind and
the i impress of his opinions were stamped largely
upon them. During the whole of the administration
of Lord William Bentinck, and the earlier years of
Lord - Auckland’s reign, when Sir Charles Metcalfe
occupied a prominent station in the Indian Govern-
ment, India was lapped in repose.. With one or two
remarkable exceptions, it may be said that the
history of his public life during that period of his
career i3 to be found in his Council minutes. A
collection of these minutes would form one of the
most valuable works on the subject of Indian admi-
nistration, that could be given to the public-—but it i
hardly within the scope of legitimate biography to
insert them in these volumes.

At the same time ] am not unconscious it may be
said that, in some parts of this work, I have myself
suffered the biographical to merge into the historical
—and such a stricture would not be without justice,
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so far at least as regards the fact. Bat here, again,
if I have erred, I have erred designedly, and after
mature consideration. I am sorry to say that Indian
and Colbnial biography cannot be tried by the same
test as that which'is applied to memoirs of English
soldiers and statesmeri., In the laiter case, the
biographer may fairly assume the possession by the
reader of .a certain knowledge of the leading events-
of English history, to which reference is made in the
course of his work. There is no necessity that he
should halt to explain who was ‘Napoleon Bonaparte
or Daniel O’Connell; or what was the Catholic
Emancipation or the Parliamentary Reform Bill
But I am afraid that it is necessary to explain who
were Dowlut Rao Scindiah and Jeswunt Rao Holkar
«~~what was the position of the King of Delhi after
the first Mahratta war—and what the constitution of
the Agra Government after the passing of the
Charter Act of 1834. I bave had all along an
uneasy consciousness, that whilst there are many
readers for whom such explanations are wholly unne-
cessary, there are others for whom I must explain
these things, or leave the narrative of Metcalfe’s
connection with them in a state of total obscurity.
It is better to err on the side of fulness and per-
spicyity. I have endeavoured to supply just-the
necessary amount of general information and no
more ; and as I have drawn the historical portion of
the work mainly from original and exclusive sources,
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I am not without a hope tkat even the instructed
reader will find something in these passages not
altogether wgworthy of his attention. There are
difficulties peculiar to Indian biography. No man
will rejoice more than myself when they are removed.

Whenever I have had the opportunity, I have
allowed Charles Metcalfe to tell his own story. When
the choice has lain before me of using his words or
my own, I have always employed the former. I
might have made the narrative briefer, but it would
have been less authentic. As it is, I feel that I have
omitted mwuch illustrative matter, to me of very
great interest; and it is not impossible that some
readers might wish that certain points of his career
had been more minutely elaborated. This, however,
more or less, will always be the case. In thepresent
instance, the reproach of such insufficiency is hardly
1o be escaped, for nothing has been more apparent to
me since I commenced this biography, than that
there is a remarkable difference of opinion regarding
what were the most important epochs of Charles
Metcalfe’s life. I have seldom found any two men
to agree upon the subject. In like manner, some
will think that T have devoted too much space to the
Statesman, others, too much to the Man. I have
endeavoured from first to last to bear in mind that
Charles Metcalfe was both. 1 am not without a
hope that those who knew him, as intimately in
the one relation as the other, will be the most
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ready to acknowledge the fidelity of the entire
portrait,

My obligations are numerous to those who have
spontaneously aided me with' valuable materials, or
with counsel scarcely less valuable ; nor less to others
who, in eminent public or private stations, have
responded promptly and courteously to applications
made to them for permission to make use of corre-
spondence in my possession, in which they have
personally or officially had any original or acquired
property. If I were to follow only my own incli-
nation, I would make individual acknowledgments
of all my obligations, but such expressions of thank-
fulness it is often more pleasant to utter than to
receive ; and, perhaps, the most acceptable manifes~
tation of gratitude for the assistance of all kinds
that has been rendered to me, will be found in the
earnestness with which 1 have endeavoured to turn
it to account in the pages of this Biography.

London, August, 1854,
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THE

LIFE OF LORD METCALFE

CHAPTER 1.
[1785—1800.]
BOYHOOD.

Birth of Charles Theophilus Metcalfe—The Metcalfe Family—
Major Thomas Metcalfe—Theophilus and Charles—Early
Days—The School at Bromley—Eton—The Writership—The

" Voyage to India,

Ox the 30th of Janunary, 1783, a few days before Warren
Hastings ceased to be Governor-General of India, was born
in the city of Calcutta to Major Thomas Theophilus Metcalfe,
of the Bengal Army, and to Susannah his wife, a second
son, who in course of time was christened Charles Theo-
philus. The house in which he was born, was then, and
afterwards, known as the “ Lecture House,”* Whether it,
still exists, or to what uses it may have since been put, I
have not been able to discover.

* My authority for this statement is a letter from Major
Metcalfe to his son, written during the first year of Charles’s
residence in Indis, in which he says: “I give you some credit for
bhaving determined, and I think with some judgment, not to have
a room in the Lecture House. Your objections were just, though
it required some forbearance—particularly being the house yox were
born in.”

YOL. L. B
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The Mctcalfes appear to have beeniof a good old York-
shire stock ; and to have numbered many members of their
family distinguished in their generation. One 'Thomas
Metcalf: was Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster, in the
reign of Richard the Third. The valour of James Metcalfe
displayed in the battle of Agincourt, earned for him the
honour of knighthood, and he was duhbed Sir-James
Metcalfé of Nappa. In- the 15th century, another THomas
Metcalfe was High Sheriff of the County, and it is narrated
of him, that he rode to the assizes, attended by fifteen
Metcalfes, all mounted on white horses. In the reign of
.Charles the Second, another Metealfe, Theophilus by name,
distinguished himself in another way. Ile was the first to
reduce short-hand writing to a system, and to publish an
account of it. He went to London, was rewarded for his
invention, and.in remembrance of it was especially per-
mitted to add a hand and penr to the heraldic adornments
of his family scutcheon. e, or his son,.afterwards settled
in Ireland, and from him the subject of this Memoir was
lineally descended.

I can nowhere find it recorded that Cliarles Metcalfe' was
léarned- in- these genealogies, or held his ancestors of any
account: Biit hé was greatly and reasonably proud of his
fathér,. That father-was the son of Thomas Metcalfe, an
officer of the King's Army; who married the daughter of
the Reverend Thomas Williams. At-an-early age he was:
despatched as a cadet to India, with a letter of introduc~
tion to- Lord- Clive ; but-any expectations hé may- have ~
based upon it were disappointed, for-the great man had
left. the country befare young Metealfe's arrival, So the
friendless boy was. thrown upon his own resourceés, and for.
a tithe-so. cheerless was his situation, and so sombre his
prospects, that he determined to leave the service, and
‘actually called upon the commanding-officer of his regi--
ment to tender his resignation, An accident caused hims
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to abandon the intention :as hastily:as he had formed it ;*
and from that time he determined 4o achieve sucoess by a
steadfast course of professional perseverance.

And in due time.he did.achieve it. Those were dgys in
which zapid fortunes were sometimes made by lucrative
Government contracts. It seem$ that Thomas ‘Metcalfe
soon vontrived to detach himself from the go-cart of wegi-
mental routine, and to obtain employment on the staff. .Tde
was for several years “ Agent for Military Stowes ;”-and it
was, doubtless, in this situation that in course of .time he
made a respectable fortune.t

‘Whilst thus Thomas Metcalfe, having risen threugh she
different gradations of the service up to the rank of major,
was supplying the army with stores and making a fortune,
he took unto hrimself.awife. In the year 1782 he married
the widow of .a Major Smith, of the Bengal army. Five
or six years .before, this lady, then Snsannah Debonnaire,
daughter of .a.gentleman resident at the .Cape -of Good

ope, had gene out with a sister to join her fatherin that
settlement ; but it was deemad expedient that the young
ladies should .pursue:theirvoyage:to Madras, where Lord
Pigot, a friend of Mr. Debonnaire, was then. gevernor of the
presidency. Between the Cape and the coast her sister
died, under very melancholy circumstances, and she .nar-
rowly escaped.a wimilar date. Arriving, however, alive,
though ' .shattered . health, at Madras, she attzacted the
regards of Major Smith, to whom she was wmarried in
Augast, 1776, and soon afterwards proceeded with her

* Major Metcalfe’s own wersion of thit anecdote is given in a
subsqquent chapter, page 60. He was a cadet of 1767.

1 The fact stated in the text is given on the authority of the
Company’s Records, whence it was extracted for me by Mr. Wand,
under whose admirable arrangements all the historieal*wealth of
the India House thas been rendered peouliarly.accessible 40. the
student.

B2
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husband to Bengal. He died, leaving no issue; and in
1782 the widow became the attached and devoted wife of
Thomas Theophilus Metcalfe.

The eldest son, born on the 19th of September, 1783, was
called Theophilus John ; the second, as I have said,
Charles Theophilus. They.were very young when their
parents returned to England. Soon after his arrival,
Major Metcalfe bought a house in Portland-place, and
began to canvass for a seat in the Direction of the East
India Company. He was a man of active business habits,
good sterling common-sense, and an integrity beyond all
impeachment. Altogether he was a reliable man, In
process of time he became, as he intended, an East India
Director.* Then he bethought himself of obtaihing a seat
in Parliament; and in due course he was returned for the
borough of Abingdon, “which he represented in several
Parliaments. A loyal gentleman, a Tory, and a staunch
supporter of William Pitt, on whose recommendation, in
1802, he was created a Baronet, he was an active and
assiduous, rather than a brilliant member of the House of
Commons. But he often spoke, and with good effect,
bringing his sound practical sense and his extensive expe-
tience to bear on many of the questions of the day; but
more especially on those relating to the conduct of our
Indian affairs. He was also an active Director of the
Globe Insurance Company in days when insurance offices
were few, and to be a director of such a company was
esteemed an honour by men of high repute. Ie had
brought with him no languor or lassitude from the East;
and altogether was as robust a man of business as if he
bad never wiped the baked dust of Calcutta out of his
blinded eyes.

He had several children born to him, of whom five
survived their childhood. They were brought up, with a

* At the general election in April, 1789.
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sensible kind of indulgence, under the eye of their mother,
who was a woman of strong understanding, and of great
sincerity of character. Her affection for her children
seldom displayed itself in any maternal weaknesses, but
was manifested in an eager desire to advance their worldly
interests, whatever might be the immediate sacrifice of
gself. If she had any partialities, they were.in favour of
her eldest son, Theophilus—a fine manly boy, of whom
frequent mention will be made in subsequent portions of
this narrative.

Of the infant days of Charles Metcalfe little is known
beyond what he afterwards recorded of himself. He seems
to have encountered, like most other children at the
threshold of life, the great stumbling-block of an unprin-
cipled or an injudicious’ nurse. “ The woman to whom
my infant years were entrusted,” he wrote in a common-
place book which he kept in his youth, “used to convey
me, by way of punishment, to a dark room, and répre-
sented the coming of the Old Man (a famous bugbear in
the mouthy of nurses) as every minute to be expected.
Here was I left, whilst probably the foolish woman wounld
groan and make use of several other means to terrify me.
The consequence was, that throughout my childish and
boyish years, I was a prey to the most horrid fears; and
such an effect has this treatment had on my imagination,
that Tam even now much weaker on tlus point than I
could wish to be.”

At an early age Charles Metcalfe was sent to school at
Bromley, in Middlesex. The establishment was kept by
a Mr. Tait. How it was obtained I do not know, but this
gentleman had a considerable “ Indian connection;” and
among his pupils were divers Paitles, and Plowdens, and
others bearing names with which East India Registers
have long been familiar. It was partly on this account,
and partly, perhaps, because some members of Mrs, Met~



6 BOTHOOD.

calfe’s family resided in the meighbourhood ¢f Dromley,
that Mr. Tait's academy was fixed wpon :as the first
training-house for the young Metcalfes. Its -recommen-
dations-were, I believé, chiefly of an extrinsic character.
Scholastically, perhaps, there was not very much to be said
in its favour.

To this period of Charles Metcalfe's early career there
are but few gllusions in his letters.and journals. In 1841,
nearly half a century after he had been boarded.and birched
at good Mr. Tait’s, being then Governor of an important
Crown colony, he wrote to a near relative, in answer to
sume family inquiries :

#1 remember, at Bromley, a fine-looking old gentleman, of the
name of Debonnaire, who, with' his family, .occupied the pew dn
chnreh next o that of eur school, and whose broad shoulders and
peculiar coat of remarkable pattern are impressed on my memory.
I quitted Bromley in September, 1795. I also remember ¢ Aunt
Winch,” as she was called, who used to board and lodge in Tait’s
house, and had my brother Theophilus and m¥self sometimes 4n
her room. Ipaid her and the school at Bromley.a farewell visit
on my departure from, Epgland for India, on which eccasion she
gave me 2/, encumbered with a laudable dnjunction to purchase
the ¢ Whole Duty of Man.” . . . . I have a faint impression
that the Lefevres, whom I then understood to be relatives of the
Debonnaires, had been the occupants of the house then in Tait’s
possession,>which ‘had -some old cellings of cerved wood -thatwe
boys wsed to think very fine,”

From Charles Metcalfe's own recorded -reminiscences
little more can be gathered regarding his sojourn at the
Bromley school. "His surviving school-fellows are mot
many; but'T am told that he-was then a boy of a reserved
and retiring nature, and that the more showy gualities of
his elder brother entirely shone him down. ‘It is remem-
bered that Mrs. Metcalfe would pay occasional -visits $o the
school; and it was well known even to the boys -that
Theophilus was the mother’s favourite. .Among the most
memorable incidents -of that period of Charles .Metcalfe's
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life, was. the preparation.of & dramatie entertainment, swhich
caused great excitement for many weeks in the school.
The play was “ Julius.Casar; ” and there was. a great show
of.ipeople to witness the: performance. Theephilus. Met-
calfe played: Mark.Antony. To Charles- were assigned the
two hunble parts of Flavius.and Friend to Brutus.*

After the Christmas holidays of: 1795-86; Chazles Met+
calfe, being then just eleven years old, was ‘entered at
Eton,. He-went. to that fameous seminary as. an Oppidan,
and:bearded.with.his tutor, Mr. Goodall, afterwards head+
master and provost ‘of. the college; Dry Heath being then
preceptor-in-chief: As. at the: private school, s¢: at..the
public, he was kmown as a:quies retiring:-boy. He was not
celebrated for him adroitness in any athletic exertises: He
was neither.a cricketer nor a.boater.. I amrnet sure that
he.everplayed.at fives. But it ison.record,.and on.very
sufficient , authority, that he was-once seen:riding on.a
camel, “JT.heards the boys shouting,” says Dr. Gooedallj
many years afterwardsy ¢ and. went.out. ands saw. young
Metcalfe riding on:.a camel; so yomusee: he» was always
orientally ~inclined.” ‘

Many who knewsCharles:Metealfe will, doubtlessp.aceept
the worthy" Dostor's :interpretation .of. this. featy for. such
gymuastic achievenrents were not at:-all in.the- young
gentleman’s way.. It is not even on resord.that, in those
early days, he ever trusted.himself on the back of a pony.
Ha:was, at-all.times of his.life, so. miserable'a horseman;
that he seldom.took-equestrian-exercise for any length of
time . without. falling - off- anduhurting himself.. So:.that .
except: upon: the hypothesis. that: the .boy was.-orientally
inclined, it is-.not. easy 1o accountvfor the camel-riding
exploit of the stadious Etonian.

* A printed play-bill, containing a list of the dramatis persone
snd the nawes of the performers; was -preserved by  Chdries
Metcalfe to the latest day of his life,



b, BOYHOOD,

For very studious, indeed, he was at Eton. He went
there when he was eleven years of age, and left when he
was only fiftcen. But Goodall was always of opinion that
Metcalfe minor was a boy of very high promise; and,
perhaps, there was not among his many pupils one to
whom he was more sincerely attached. The affection was
reciprocal. And it was lasting. Death only put a period
to it.

‘When it is said that Charles Metcalfe was studious, it is
not meant that he merely learnt his lessons—that he sapped
at Latin and Greek, got up his derivations, wrote lyrics
with great success, and was sometimes sent up for good.
Doubtless, all this was done in the common course of
things. But a boy may accomplish all this at Eton and
still have much time for the playing-fields or the river.
Neither had any charms for Metcalfe. His play-hours
were spent for the most part in-doors. He read English,
he read French, he read Italian. He wrote poetry. He
was fond of drawing. Already was he becoming some-
what prone to disputation. A whole holiday was for him
of value only as it gave him more time to puzzle over
“Rowley's” poems, to read Gibbon, to translate Ariosto
and Roussean, and to tread the echoing cloisters, immersed
in day-dreams of future renown. ¢ Ah!” he said, a few
years later, “those were days of real happiness!{ In those
cloisters has my youthful and ardent imagination planned
to itself a life of greatness, glory, and virtue—there have
X' been the orator, and discussed important topics in the
senate-house~—there have I been the statesman prescribing
terms to the wondering nations of Europe—there have 1
concluded peaces, commanded armies, or headed a' party
struggling for liberty; or, descending from these lofty
views—there have I found myself in private life, in the
enjoyment of domestic happiness, the honoured patron of
a neighbouring hamlet.”
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Towards the close of his career at Efon Charles Metcalfe
began to keep a journal.* His entries in it exhibit clearly
the studious life that he led. They exhibit, too, something
more than this, The annals of his last month at Eton
afford some curious indications of the resolution of the
boy—of his disposition to do what he afterwards called
‘“holding out” against opposition. It appears that, in
defiance of their tutor’s orders, Metcalfe and some other
boys were determined to drink tea in each other's rooms
after the hour prescribed by authority. Some of the
entries in the following passages relate to this act of
sedition :

JOURNAL BEGUN IN MARCH, 1800,

“ Monday, 8rd.—Whole school-day. Not well. Wrote an
anecdote to the editor of the Naval Chronicle, Drank tea after
six in Hervey’s room, according to agreement. Afraid the plan of
bringing in that custom won’t succeed. Passed the evening in
Hervey’s room, Supped with Neville; went to bed full of turkey,

“ Tuesday, 4th.—~Whole holiday. Not well, Employed at verses;
good theme, Read the ¢ Age of Louis XIV.? Mem. Write to the
editor of the Military Journal, Heard of Parson Grey’s being
drunk, Drank tea solo. Finished verses; gave to tutor; he
liked them. Passed the remainder of the evening in Neville’s
room, reading. ’

* Wednesday, 5th.—Whole school-day. Did translation, Drank
tea in Neville’s room, according to agreement, after six. My
hopes gain on my fears, though the latter are still predominant.
Re-translated four pages of my translation from Rousseau. Passed
the rest of the evening in Neville's room, bytween reading and
rowing. )

# Thursday, 6th—Half-holidey. Wrote a letter, Tonson sat in

# On the cover of his first diary the young' jcurnalist wrote:
“First conceived the idea of this journal en the 1st of March;
intend not only to make it a relation of faotg, but also to inter-
sperse it with observations, reflections, &c., £¢ ; #¢ that it will be
the general rendezvous not only of my aciiums, but of my
thoughts.”—C. T, M.
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my xoom on¢ hour and a half. Adjourned to Spires's. Tutor
jawed ahout drinking tea after six, Drenk dea with Tonson.
Drew. Passed the remainder of the evening in Neville's.room.
# Friday, 7th.—~Whole school-day. Drank tea with “Shaw,
aceording to our convention,ufter six, Tutor jawed with great
spirit. Destruction of our.plan must in the emd come on: weare
at our last struggle; all onr-endeavours now are the exertions.of
despair, and we must on]y think how fo resign nobly; in anch,
cases as these, unanimity ia required to obtain success, and that
hag not been obtained. Did Greek with my tutor, "The remmnder
of the night id Neville's room.
# Saturday, 8th.~Common: Saturday. -Saw Rooke just going to
Treland, and thence expects a rip fo Erance. .Gave Nepeam tea.
Passed the evening in Neville’s room, reading. Finished Voltaira's
¢ Life of Louis XIV.” Mem, Follow up the inquiry about the Iron
Mask ; ask my tutor tolend me Gibbon,
# Sunday, 9th—Did theme. Read Ariosto with Melville and
Shaw ; 'make laws for the-gake of due attentiomrto the book.
“ Monday, 10th~>Whole school-day ; did some Homer. “"Mem.
These epic peets are wvery free in-their ideas y for instance, in the
290th liné of 'the Book -&fudov, Eneas-bas got a .stone in his
band in the act of throwing it at Achilles, who is rusbing-with bis
swoid drawn on Hneas ; ‘but- Neptune, who perceives destraction
impending over Zneas, is determined to-ward it 8ff'; accordingly
addresses -the dther -gods in a-~speech of sixteen'lines, to which
Juno makes answer in one-of nine; «in the 1mean -time, we-must
suppose -the stone pendent-inr the air, and Achilles in the-act of
rushing forward, but both very complaisantly waiting till their
godships -bave +finally decided. Perhaps -it -would have been
+hetter-to -have introduced Minerva with her-segis, turbing ‘these
heroes into stone tilk the speeches-were: donevwith, "To be sure,
that-would be eomprehensible, whereas-the uther'idea -i2 so
sublime as to be abovethe weak  understanding of us mortals.
Gave tea to Neville, Hervey, and Shaw, after six, according-to
agreement. Had a most tremendous jawfrom -my tutor, -who
said nothing -but 4that-it-was-a serious ‘inconventence, but could
not bring one-argument to prove-that-itwes s0. sAfterappper dnd
TROACS.

4 Tugsday Lith.e—Whole Joliday. Gave Lamb :breahfuf.
Finjshed- verses. . Gave “Tonson stea. .Began.a French letter.
Read-7iost o with Neville.and 'Shaw. Began *Life:of Charles
the Twelfth,’
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“VWednesday, 12th~=General fast. Drank tea with Shaw.” Read
Ariosta with Neville and Shaw,

“ Thursday,. 13thPlay at foun Readi:some of Lucan: and
Cicerc. Drew. Read .Adiosto with: Neville and Shaw., Read
Veltaire’s ¢ Life of Charles XJL”

« Friday, 14th—Read part of Horace’s © Art of Poetry.” Yhole
school-day. Read some Lucan: Drank tea with Hervey after
six. We have conquered ; and my tutor, not finding an argument
against us, was obliged to counsent ; so that now we do it lawfully.
Had it not been for our last despairing struggles we should have
failed Read the continuation of the *Iron Mask’ (which
Voltaire meations in his ¢ Siécle de Louis XIV.)in Gibbon, Itis
most probably, as he says, a son of Cardinal Mazarin and Anne
of Austria, as indeed I think there are-strong suspicions that
Touis XIV. was: Read Gibban’s ¢ Antiquities-of the House of
Brungwlck and Este’ Read Gibboan's- ¢ Observations on” Bishop
‘Warburton's Explanation of his Sixth Bbok of the .Aineid’
Read part of Gibbon’s * Journaly’ and finished Voitaire’s ¢ Life of
Charles XJ1.

# Saturduy, 15th—Common Saturday, Read Lucdn. Greek
Testament. Read Rowley’s ¢ Poems.’ Gav!e Shaw tes. Passed
the-evening in Hervey's room.

« Sonday,16th.~Learnt ‘ Fourth Satire’ of Juvenal for my tutor.
Read Rowley’s ‘Poems’ Gave Grose tea. Did verses.

“ Monday, 17th~~Whole heliday. Read Rowley’s- ‘ Poems.”
Deank teawith Nepeans Did some lyrics,

“ Tuesdtry, 18th~~Whole: school-day, Read. Homer, Cicerd.
Finished Rowley’s - Poems:®. Drank tea with Shaw. Finished
lyrics. Translated: threepages of Roussest..

“ Wednesday, 19thw~¥Whole.school-day, Read Homer. Virgil
Rend s dissertation on Rowley’s ¢ Poems;! tending to-prove from
the langunge that they were not written in the 15th century, bat
by-Chatterton: Gawe Nevllle, Horvey, and. Shaw tea, Wrote a
lotter,. Eatered into a train of thoughte on: prblier schools: in
general, and Etonin pactioalar, .

“ Thursday, 20th—Half-holiday. Read Lucan. Drank;e&aloné.
Raad. Ariosts with. Shaw 'and Nevilles

% Friday, 21st~Whole school.day. Read Horsce~ Tucan. Read
Bryant’s * Dissertation on Rowley’s Poems,’ tendingrto.prove they
sverg actually writtemby hims Dirank tea with-Hervey, Read
Atigste with-Nevilleand-Shaw. Read Xenophon:withaoy tuter;
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s Saturday, 22nd.—Common Saturday. Read Callimachus, Con-
tinued Bryant’s Dissertation. Saw the College Library. Read
Xenophon with my tutor. Read Ariosto with Neville and Shaw,

“ Sunday, 23rd.—Learnt part of the Fifth Satire of Juvenal for
my tutor. Dr. Norbury, the deceased Fellow, was buried in the
church, Did theme. Read Ariosto with, &c. Read Dryant’s
Dissertation. Drank tea with Tonson,

“ Monday, 24th.—Half-holiday. Read Homer. Did lyrics. Read
Bryant’s Dissertation.

“ Tuesday, 25th.—Whole holiday. Wrote a French letter. Read
Bryant’s Dissertation.

“ Wednesday, 26th.—~Whole school-day. TRead Homer. Virgil.
Concluded Bryant’s Dissertation. Began Tyrwhitt's, tending to
prove that they were written by Chatterton. Took s solitary
walk, and employed myself in making a few verses to Solitude.
Drank tea with Neville. Re-translated part of my translation of
Rousseau. Read Ariosto, &c.

% Thursday, 27th—Play at four. Read Lucian, Cicero, Wrote
a Jetter, Finished Tyrwhitt’s Dissertation. Began Warton’s on
the same side of the question. Read Ariosto, &c. Took a walk
with Tonson and Kelsale,

“ Friday, 28th, — Whole school-day, Read Horace. Luciap.
Finished Warton’s Dissertation, After having finished all the
Dissertations, I am now quite at a loss which to give it to; had I
Tead the poems, and taken no trouble about convincing myself, I
should have formed an opinion that they were Rowley’s, and could
have supported my opinion with arguments; but now I am quite
in the dark., I think Bryant proves they were not written by
Chatterton, and Tyrwhitt that they were not written by Rowley.
The idea of a third person is still more chimerical than either of
these. Who were they written by, then? I believe they must
have written themselves, Drank tea with Shaw. Read Ariosto.

* Saturday, 29th.—Whole holiday. Read Goldsmith’s * Deserted
Village! Drank tea with Grose. Some more poems, said to be
Rowley’s. Turned first Eclogue of Rowley’s poems into modern
English verse,

“ Sunday, 30th.—Took a solitary walk. Made a few stanzas, a
Simile to Human® Life, Gave Tonson tes. Took a walk with
him. Read Ariosto.

“ Monday, 31st.—~Whole school-day., Read Homer. Cicero. Gave
tea to Neville, Hervey, and Shaw, Packed up. Read Ariosto™
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There is much in all this that is worthy of notice. In
after days, Charles Metcalfe used to say that nearly all the
literary knowledge which he had acquired in the course of
his life, had been gained as a boy at Eton—he had never
been able to read much at a later period of his career.
How great was his application then, how varied his
pursuits, may be gathered from these extracts. Great
men are not to be tried by ordinary rules; they make
rules for themselves. I wonld rather think of a fine
open-spirited boy, boating, swimming, playing, even getting
into mischief at school, and in the holidays spending half
his time on the back of a pony ; and I should, as a rule,
believe that in such training there were more hopeful
assurance of turning him, in due time, into a useful
servant of the State, than in the discipline of such
continued book-work as is recorded in Charles Metcalfe’s
journal. But it was fortunate, in this instance, that the
bent of the boy's inclination was rather towards intel-
lectual than muscular exercise—that he spent his leisure
hours with Ariosto and Chatterton, with Gibbon and
Voltaire, rather than with the boats’ crews and the Eton
elevens. If he had been captain of the boats, and beaten
Harrow and Winchester off his own bat, he could not
have grown into a manlier character. The finest physical
training in the world could not have made him a robuster
statesman. DBut if he had not acquired a love of literature,
and some knowledge of books at school, he would never
have acquired them at all; and though he might still
have distinguished himself greatly on the theatre of the
world, it is hard to say how much might have been wanting
from the eompletenesy of the character, which it is the
business and the privilege of the biographer to illustrate.®

* Tt is probable that these studious habits were strengthened, if
not generated, in the boy, by the exhortations of his mother, who
was wont to stimulate him to new exertions in such a strain as the
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That he read what he did at Eton, Charles Metealfs in
after years continually rejoiced ; but-he lamented that he
had not enjoyed ‘more extended opportunities of self-im-
provement. ‘“Were I disposed,” he wrote two years afters
wards, “to lament that which is irretrievable, I should
never cease to regret that I was removed from Eton at the
time that I was, I left it at the age of fifiéen, at a time
when my ideas were ripening—when'I was attached to the
studies in the pursuit of which I was engaged, had objects
tewards which' I was directing my exertions, and had
formed plans which promised success. Five years more
might-well have been spared to Eton and a University,
aften which there would have becn plenty of time for
India.” DBut now he was taken away from Eton, that he
night be shipped off to India at once:

It was an awkward fact in the lives of the twe young
Meétcalfes—Theophilus and Charles—that their father was
an East India Director. So, doubtless, at least they
regarded it. Already was the elder btother under sentence

following: “I am glad yon- persevere in your endeavours,” she
wrote to) Chbarles, in. 1799; “you must succeed; but to acquire
knowledge requires resolution, without which nothing can be
attained. Mrs, 8. made a very deep impression on me the other
day, by telling me that a very clever man-said, if a person would
read three hours a day seriously, and well-chosen: books, for four
years, he could not fail of being so clever and able. that he might
il any offica or place in the kingdomw—that the Ministers would
be happy to have his abilities. . . . . I baveread moreregu-
laxly every day since her observation. I wish it had made as
deep an impression on Theophilus-—but books seem to give him
ne pleasure. What a pity! ' With' his quickuess and compre~
Lension, he would, if he chose; be a very shining character. I
think, if. I were. you, I would adopt the plan. It’s astoniching
what a number of volumes you will get through in that time.”
Her.maternal penetration had not at this time. discovered that it
waa 1ot -Theophilus, but Charles, who was.destined ta ba the
shining character,
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of banishment to China. And now it was decreed that the
yaunger should be.despatched te Bengal. A Chinawnter-
ship was,.in those days, the best bit of preferment.in the
woild. It was a certain fortune in a very few years. The
appeintments in that service were so few and so lucrative,
that they were commonly reserved for the Directors® ewn
sons.  Major Metcalfe saw clearly the advantages of such
a provision for his eldest boy. He had an easy fortune of
his own ; but he had a large family, and, divided -among
so 1oany. children, .his 4000.. a year would mot have
secored a sufficiency to any. The baronetcy had not.then
been attained, nor a family estate purchased :.and if they
had been, it is doubtful whether Thomas Metcalfe would
have “made an eldest son” and left Theophilus to.amnse
himself. As it was, he wisely determined that the 'boy
should work for himself; and there being no easier and ne
more rapid road 1o formune than the Company’s Factory.at
Canton, the prudent father determined, in 1799, to despatch
his first-born, in the following year, to ¢ Cathay.”

To Theophilus, who bad left Eton some little iime
before, .and had been dissipating, .as he :called it,-in
Scotland and Wales, this decision was a. hesvy blow.
He was already tasting the sweets of independent life
in Ingland—-making. friends, falling in love, actingant
masquerades, drinking his bottle of wine, and exhibiting
other symptoms of prematnre:manhood. -The .thoughtiof
being cut.short in.this career of_ glory wasprieveus tohim
in the extreme. 8o he cast about.in-his-ntind show he
rould escape the sentence recorded against him ; .and began
to think whether Charles could.not be persuaded to.go to

The two brothers. had mot.-always walked handsin-hand
with each other. The breaches -between them rovere
frequent—as frequent they "will be between :boys rof
different character, each with pretensions-of .his own, each
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after his own fashion egotistical and intolerant (and there
is no egotism and intolerance equal to that of clever boys);
but there was a fund of good brotherly love at the bottom
of their hearts, even when they were most vehemeny in
their denunciations of each other. All through the year
1799, this fraternal antagonism seems to have beea at
its height. Their good mother declared that she guite
dreaded the approach of the holidays on this account, and
strenuously exhorted them to peace. Iler exhortations
were not at first successful. Early in November, the two
brothers fell to quarrelling over the politics of the day.
Charles was at that time, like his father, a Tory and a
Pittite ; whilst Theophilus was in Opposition, Charles
declared that the Ministers were the only men capable of
governing the country, and called his brother a democrat.
Upon this Theophilus fired up, and, adverting to the
expedition to Holland, asked what was to be said of
¢ Ministerial liberality, which now accuses the Russians,
accuses the Austrians, accuses anything but those who
would have taken all the credit if it had succeeded—so
much for Ministers, for the only men who can govern the
country, or in other words, can lose our credit by secret
expeditions.” Men got from politics into personalities
more expeditiously in those days than they do now ; and
boys followed their example. So Theophilus, having
disposed of Pitt and his colleagues, told Charles that as
he treated all his opinions with insolence, he desired that
the correspondence might drop., *You may,” he added,
“(by dint of application) have made yourself a better
classical scholar than I (by idleness) have made myself;
but still, I do not lowermy abilities, in my own opinion, go
as to need advice from a younger brother.” Charles was,
doubtless, inclined to be a little self-opinionated and
dictatorial (and in this there were the germs of what
afterwards came to be a noble self-reliance) ; but, although
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tle rupture for a week or two was complete, it was not
likely to be of long continuance between two such fine-
hearted boys, and théy were soon writing to each other in
fittiag terms of brotherly love.

Taen it was that the great question of the China
writership rose up for consideration. When Charles
Metcedfe came home to Portland-place for the Christmas
holidays of 1799-1800, Theophilus-was in Wales, on a
visit © Lord Newborough. Thence he wrote to his
brotker to sound him about China, bravely assuming at
the outset that Charles could not possibly object to so
excellent a provision for a younger brother :

# When I consider,” he wrote, in January, 1800, * of the differ-
ence between you and me, I am astonished. You, a studious,
grave fellow, studying five hours a day; me, a wild idle dog, whe
does not look into a book from the rising to the setting of the sun.
You, who would like to go to China to make a large fortune; me,
who would hke to stay in"England and spend what I have. . .
« » « .Added to this difference between us, another great one is,
you would not give a —— for a glass of wine, and I, with pleasure,
will drink & bottle with any friend. 'Would, Charles, that you
were to bend your way to China in my stead! and I know not
why I should be refused remaining in England, when I seem so
anxiously to wishit. . . . . Whal, because the world styles
it good, is & young man to be sent to a place which least of all
suits hia disposition, to be shut up for ten or twelve years from all
relations and friends.”

But Charles having no stronger taste for China than
Theophilus, wrote his brother to that effect, The elder,
however, would not still abandon all hope of the vicarious
sacrifice to Mammon, on which he had set his heart., “If
you are inclined to make money,” he wrote, # which your
disposition in some degree shows, China is the best place.
« « « « I have written to my father on this subject; but I
have one question to ask you. If it is offered to you, are
you determined not to go? I request you to keep this
letter, and you will see hereafter that I was your brother.,”
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Charles was not to be persuaded, though he kept the lettar.
He still gaid, that if the decisionidepended wpon .himsdf,
he would have nothing to do with th® China factory. :He

hoped his brother would not be offended ; but he hacmno
wish to be offered up a sacrifice in his place. To'this
Theophilus frankly.xreplied that he could not conceivewhy
he should be dffended ; *ag it i3 2 maxim :of mine, he
said, ¢ first to please'myself, and then my friends, I sannot
be angry at your doing the same.”

But whilst these young gentlemen were.arranging. for
themselves the business of their futare .disposal, the
elder Metcalfes -were settling everpthing for them, .ead
leaving little choice to the boys. Both, after a few years,
acknowledged that their parents were right. But when. it
was finally decided—and all escape from the decisionwas
impossible—that Theophilus should be despatched to China,
and that Charles should go as a writer to Bengal, .the two
boys were ready to die with vexation. Charles was very
-gorry to leave Eton. He loved the-school. He loved his
tutor. "He loved many of his school-fellows; and he loved
his books. THe was sorry to think of leaving England ; for
he loved his parents, .and he loved his sisters. Mrs. Met-
calfe, though Theophilus was her favourite, sometintes
acknowledged that .Charles was .the.more .dutiful .and
sttentive of the two. By his sisters, into whose school-
room ‘he would make frequent disturbing -incursions, he
was held in the fondgst-affection. He was'very loving.and
very loveable. He:was not-one-who could be banished to
a distant cauntry without grievous.laceration of the heart.

In the year 1800, 2nd at.the .end of (March, Chazles
Metealfe quitted-Eton. In.thosedays boys weresent.fresh
from public:or private schools, or from no=chool at.all,.to
embark on board :ship, and sail forthe land-where they
were 0 become judges, -or ambassadors, or. ministers mr
finanee. That under this:systens some great.administrators
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rore inte eminence is not  to be denied. But in the cha-
racter and qualificatipns of .the general body of the Indian
Civil Service, under an improved educational. system-—a
system of special training still to be improved—a great and
progressive advance during the last half century may be
clear'y discerned. When Major Metcalfe entered in his list
the name of his son Charles Theophilus, the service of
which he was about to become a member had emerged
from the slough of corruption in which it had once been
sunk; and though some who had belonged to it in the old
bad times were still in iis ranks, it had become a respeet-
able profession. Lard Cornwallis and Sir Jehn Shore had
nursed the infancy and sustained the childhood of its
respeetability ; and now Lard Wellesley was watching.the
progress of its adolescence. Instead of a race of men, who
were more than three-fourths traders, growing rich upon
irregular and unreeognized gains, there was fast growing
up an.army of administrators; receiving fixed pay for fixed
service, and adding nathing to their- stores that was not to
be found in the audit-books of the Government. All that
they wanted was more training to fit them:for the publie
service, and this waa soon_about ta be. supplied. At :'no
period were. the prospects of the. profession better ; at no
period were higher emoluments ta be obtained with: more
hounour; at no periad was there finer scope for action;,. or'a
greater likelihcod of a youth of eneryy and ability senn
rising to fame and fortune.

Of .Charles Metcalfe’s abilities his father. had a high
opinion. He knew, too, that his son had great.powers of
application ; and.he predicted that the: union of the- two
would: enable -hinr to ‘command success.. He: was: one of
the few India Directors- who neither at that nora later
period were alarmed. by the vigour and determination of
Lord Wellesley. He believed: that. under the government
of that great man: theremwere-the fairest. prospects -of his
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son laying the foundation of his future cminence as a
statesman ; and though, if he had been swayed only by the
impulses of parental aflection, he would have retained Loth
his elder sons in England, he now resolutely decreed that
they should seck their fortunes in the East.

It was arranged, therefore, that Theophilus should sail
for China in the spring, and that Charles should embark -
for Calcutta in the summer. In the meanwhile the boys
were to enjoy themselves as best they could. Charles,
though of a retiring disposition, did not dislike society ;
and there were a few families, in the neighbourhood of his
father’s house, to whom he was a frequent visitor. In one
of these there was a young lady, a little older than himself,
with whom he fell in love at first sight. lle was first
introduced to her, on the day after he left Eton, at a ball in
his father’s house.* After that event he frequently saw
her, either at Lis own house or her mothet's. The charms
of the young lady, not merely those of external beauty and
grace, made a deep and abiding impression on his mind ;
and he was long afterwards of opinion, that this boyish
attachment, pure and disinterested as it was, had a bene-
ficial influence on his character. e corresponded with
her for some time afterwards, and her ¢ sensible letters
heightened his admiration.” They are almost the only part
of his correspondence which has not survived him. The
exception tells its own story.

* e entered in his journal at the foot of a page, under date
April 2, “Ball at home. I was first introduced to Miss D——;
danced with her,” What followed this simple statement can only
be conjectured, for the next leaf in the journal is (very expres-
sively) cut out of the book. Soon afterwards there was another
ball in Portland-place—*“a very pleasant one,” wrote Charles;
“danced four dances with Miss D—." Two or three nights_
afterwards he “passed the evening at Lady D~——'s. Supped
there ; a most delightful party.” On the next day he “called on
Mies D——, sat an hour with her ;" and so on,
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All through the months of April and May, and the first
half of June, Charles Metcalfe’s head-quarters were in
Portland-place. There he spent his time, improving him-
gelfin French and drawing, under masters ; reading the
Naval and Military Magazines, and sometimes writing for
them ; walking in the Park or in Bond-street with old
schoolfellowa ; turning Rowley’s Eclogues into modern
English; writing letters to his “ friend and tutor Goodall;®
going to the opera; getting np masquerade costumes ;*
Ppaying visits; painting a chess-board; sitting for his picture;
and reading whenever he had time.t-

In the beginning of May he went to Eton, spent a day
or two there, and took leave-of Dr. Heath, his schoolfellows,
and his friend Goodall. It was, as he said afterwards,
“a sad, sad day.” It moved him deeply to say farewell to
his cld tutor ; and the tutor, too, was greatly affected. He
had recognised the many good and great qualities of his
pupil; and whilst he was fondly attached to him on account
of the former, there was a strong assurance in his mind
that the latter would secure for the studious boy a not
undistinguished career. Two or three years afterwards,
he asked a gentleman from Bengal if he knew Charles
Metcalfe, and being answered in the affirmative, he said,
¢ Then you know a very good young man—a very superior
young man. I have done for him what I never did for
any one else—I wrote a letter in his favour to Lord Wel-
lesley 1"

In the middle of May, Theophilus Metcalfe émbarked
for China, on board the Ereter; but the fleet being
delayed in the Channel, he came up to town and very

* He went to one masquerade as s Quaker, and to another as
& Petit Maitre, He was wonderfully unlike both,

t+ The reading, however, waa but scanty. It did not embrace
much beyond Symes’ “ Embassy to Ava,” and Tarner’s  Embassy
to Thibet.”
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nearly lost his passage. He re-embarked at the end of
the month, but was detuined by stress of weather in
Torbay, whence he wrote to Charles to “ give him a bit of
advice” about his love affair, as one who had ¢ expericnee
in such matters.,”* But it may be doubted whether the
younger brother needed to be told that it was necessary to
act with caution and diffidence. IHe was always very
diffident about himself, and used sometimes to speak
almost paigfully of his want of personal attractions. Tor
as. he grew up, the beauties which developed themselves in
the person of Charles Metcalfe were, for the most part,
those of the mind. He was short and somewhat homely
in appearance. DBut in the intelligence of his countenance,
and the habitual sweetness of his smile, there was something
that atoned for all such defects.

The vessel (the Skelton Castle) in. which a. cabin had
been. secured for Charles Metcalfe, was to sail with the
June fleet. In the early part of the month, therefore; he
took: leave of his friends, and among others, of his first
preceptor, Mr. Tait, of Dromley,} and his wife. The
former died a quarter of a.century afterwards, and Dra.
Tait. survived Charles Metcalfe: Whether he ever. saw

*~THe following amusing passage in this letter is extremely
characterisiic of Theophilus Metcalfe :—* llere we are lying in
company with Lord .St. Vincent. and the Channel Fleet—wind
SS.W. My Lord is determined to put. to. ses the. first oppor-
tunity, and we are to go with him. It will be a fine sight, the
two fleets together. He has given.orders that not.one of us shall
go ashore, He is a proud, overbearing fellow, and I should like
to:show him there is one in the fleet who does not sce he has any
right to fear himx  If there were any of my friends ashore here;.I
would go in spite of the old fellow. One of the ships, the Pheniz
by name, raux foul of him on: entering the bay, L.rejoiced to see
it. The old fellow swore at him, Il be bound,”

t Reterence to this visit. has already beem:made, It is:duly
entered in his journal under date.Juna 12: “ Went:to old Aunt
‘Winch at Bromley.”
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her again I do not ‘know;-but -when he died, he had for
many years beenrpaying a pension which he had settled on
her; and -after his death, a passage was found in his will
directing that, in the event of her surviving him, it should
be continued during her life.

The 14th of June, as he wrote in his journal, was ““the
last he -was destined to spend with his family.” "On the
following day, he “took leave of all his friends and left
London, not to enter it again for twenty years.” After a
few dcys -spent.at Portsmouth, off which place-the fleet
was lying, in making ready his cabin, visiting the Dock-
yard, and writing letters to his friends, including Goodall
and Miss D——, he * took leave of his dear father,” who
had accompanied him, and resigned himself to his fate.

After some detention -in the Channel, the fleet got fatrly
out to wea; -and then Charles Metcalfe began again-to
practise that system of “holding cut,” which had enabléd
him to defeat his_friend Gooedall,.at Eton, and .which after-
wards secured him preat moral triumphs over Eastexn
princes and "Western partisans. But -meither before-nor
after, neither in the -east nor- the-west, did" he encounter
so “troublesome and contumacions an opponent .as s
enemy of the 'Skelton Tastle. Resolute in .2ll things,
Charles. Metealfe -was . resalute ~not -to be sea-sick ; 1and
though his-sufferings:were considerable, he-still enteredin
his journal‘from'day to day that he ¢ held out™ against
the enemy; and in spite of the frequent entries of “ very
squeamish,” he almost accomplished success.

e bhad a friend on board, Mr. Bazéit, with whom ke
4 yead Moars;” and-in:his own cahin he studied the Ahbé
Raypal's East Indies, Howell's ‘Tracts, the Memairs v6f
Abdul'’Kurreem; and vther books;-and wrote poetry tdMiss
D——.

On the 22nd .of Beptember, the fleet .camerdo wff the
Island of St. Helena. Under the auspices of*Mr'Bazett,
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Charles Metcalfe landed, and was most hospitably enter-
tained. Ie seems to have spent a week very pleasantly
there, and to have come away with some lively impres-
sions. I have heard it doubted whether Metcalfe was
much alive to the beauties of external nature. I do not
find many allusions to such things in his writings, nor can
I gather that, at a later period of his life, the associations
of the picturesque had much effect on his mind, But he
was charmed and awe-struck by the beauty and sublimity
of the scenery of St. Helena. The enthusiasm which they
engendered within him may be gathered from some pas-
sages in a descriptive account which he wrote of the island,
He thus speaks of his first ride : *

“In the first ride I took I was struck with astonishment and
admiration. Every step I took afforded a new scene of delight;
every winding of the valley, every twining of the mountain,
offered a magnificent view to our eyes; the contrast was wonder-
ful. If I looked behind, I saw a bleak, barren rock, without &
stalk of cultivation; if I looked before me, I was struck with the
pleasing view of the sides of the lLills covered with verdure; a fine
breed of cattle browsing on the declivity, and every here and there
waterfalls, pouring their contents into the bosom of the most
fertile valleys, where they formed a meandering stream, the banks
of which were covered with water-cresses and other berbs in the
greatest abundance., Everywhere something grand or something
beautiful opened upon us, and everywhere there was fresh sub-
stance for admiration. But I need not attempt to describe what
cannot be described; I shall overrun my imagination, and be lost
in the maze of wonders.”

* Having spoken lightly of Metcalfe’s equestrian skill, it may
appear strange and contradmtory that I have so soon set him on
horseback, and that too in a rocky, precipitous, and dangerous
country. He himself affords the explanation, “The roads,” he
wrote, “throughout the island are situated on the edge of pre-~
cipices—nor would I trust myself on them on any English horse—
but the animals here are so quiet, and sure-footed, and eareful,

that I should not be afraid to trust myself asleep on the back of
any of them,” (
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In another passage he thus describes one of his mountain
walks:

*From Rosemary we walked to a ridge of rocks, piled loose
one on another by the hand of nature; some of them are so
heaped up as to form the figure of a man, which goes by the
pame of the Friar, and taken in one point of view, it has that
appearance. From this ridge you lock down on an immense
abyss, which from its depth and steepness is called Eternity;
and, indeed, any despairing lover might in one instant, without
any trouble or noise, put an end to his existence in one step ; the
appearance cannot be better described than by making use of the
allegorical term, * Beauty in the Iap of Horror.' There are many
other situations similar to this in the island which I had not an
opportunity of seeing; their names will give a better idea of
them than anything I can say; such as Purgatory, Break-neck
Valley, Hold-fast Tom, and others, which have escaped my recal-
lection. I clambered up High Peak, one of the highest points (as
its name indicates) in St. Helena ; from this I looked down upon
Ladder Hill (which, as ¥ observed, stands half a mile perpendicular
from the sea), as upon a deep valley. 1 found myself, for the first
time in my life, when on High Peak, above the clouds. The
prospect is noble, and the eye grasps at one view nearly the whole
island ; but we were prevented from enjoying it by the clouds,
which seemed to shut us out from the world and oppose a barrier
to our communication with humble mortals; but the barrier was
but vapour, through which we descended from the regions of air
to grovel once more amongst the herd of terrestrials, I was
inclined to loiter, when & ery of descende calo, from Mr. Bazett,
drove away my fanciful ideas; and I found in descending, that
there was more difficulty in scrambling down than in clambering
up rocks.”

The remainder of the voyage furnished little worthy of
record. An eclipse of the sun, a storm off’ the Cape, an
enemy in sight, and a full down the hatchway,* were the

* « October 30.—Had a terrible fall from the gun-deck to the
orlop, by which I eut open my chin, and at the time imagined X
had received an internal injury; but the next day, being bled,
the pains went off, and in a few days I felt no more of it.”
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principal incidents reco.ded in young Metcalfe's journal.*
At the end of December they were in soundings, and
sighted land.

* Ilis studies at this time were priucipally in a poetical
direction. He read Drydcn and Pope~—OQthells, June Shore,
Vemce Preserved, and the Dursuits of Literature. On the 21st of
October he “began a poem, intendet to bLe entitled * Eton,’ in
im.tation of Pope’s ¢ Windsor Forest.””



CHAPTER 1L
1801,
THE FIRST YEAR IN INDIA.

The Tirst Year 4in India—Arrival -at Calcutia-—The Young
Writer’s Reeeption—Hospitalities of the Cold Season—
Oriental Studies—The College of Fort William—Depressing:
Influences of the Climate—Yearnings after Home—The
Prescience of Young Ambition—Appointment-to the Pulilic
Service.

Oxn-the first day of the present century, the vessel which
conveyed .Charles Metcalfe to India entered the Hooghly
tiver, .and at night-fall anchored off Kedgeree. On the
following evening,.ss there was a likelihood of the ship’s
detention, the young writer put himself info a rowing-boat,
and made his way towards Calcutta. After a “tedions,
disagreeable expedition,” owing, as the eager boy declared,
to the  stupidity of the fellows,” he arrived on the night
of the'8rd of January, off ane of the ghauts, or landing-
places, of the great city; .and in outer darkness, seeing
nobody, and knowing not where he was, first planted his
foot on Indianseil.*

“* M8, Journal. *“January, 1801, Thursday, dst—Having got
our pilot on the preceding evening, we proceeded up the riger,
and anchored at'Kedgeree.

- Friday, 2nd.~A number of beate earse to ms with fenitsyand
the eppearance of the hoats, as well.as men, 48 very emrious .and
entertaining 40 a stranger. As there -wae a likelihood of the
ship’s being.detained, I got dnto the chokey beat at six in she
evening, which, after a most dddions, disagreeable expedition,
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After half an' hour’s delay, young Metcalfe contrived to
obtain the assistance of a man, who showed him the way
to Mr. Colvin’s house—the house of one of those great
Calcutta merchants, who were fast rising into the “ princely”
dignity which at a little later period they attained. Thither
his baggage was conveyed, and there he spent the first
night of his sojourn in India. On the following morning,
Mr. Colvin lent his young visitor a carriage ; and Metcalfe,
with a bundle of letters of introduction, set out to pay a
round of visits. Among others to whom he presented
himself, was Mr. Bristow, a member of the Civil Service,
who invited the boy ¢ to remain with him."®* On the next
day, he officially reported himself, ordered ‘a palanquin,
and hired a retinue of servants.}

And now commenced Charles Metcalfe’s Indian career.
He was fairly launched as a “ young writer.” He belonged
to the great privileged class; he was the son of an East
India Director ; he had many friends in the settlement, for
his father had preceded him there; he had a passport to
the best society in Calcutta. It was the season of social
activity, the height of the cold weather, when dinner-
parties and balls are abundant, and young civilians are in

owing to the stupidity-of the fellows, brought us up to Calcutta
on Saturday night. When I landed, I know not where, I saw
nobody, till, after half an hour’s delay, I got a man to show me
Colvin’s house, where I got my baggage, and slept.”

* MS. Journal. * Sunday, 4th.—Got into Colvin's carriage
and went to Graham's—thence to Cotton’s, and after that to
Bristow’s, who invited me to remain with him. Despatched my
1étters—wrote to my uncles,” [Mr. Richardson and Colonel
Monson.T

t MS. Journal. “Monday,5th.~~Reported myself to Crommelin,
Secretary in the Public Department ; saw Plowden and Higginson.
Went to Mr. Brown, the provost. [The Rev. Daxid Brown,
minister of the Old Church, and provost of the College of Fort
William.] Ordered a palanquin (160 rupees), Got a Khitmudgar,
Hircarrah, Masaulchee, and Tailor.”
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conetant requisition, So for some weeks after his arrival,
the entries in his journal consist of little more than records
of the places at which he dined and at which he danced.
At the end of the first fortnight, he bethought himself of
the duty of studying the languages; and he secured the
services of a moonshee. But after two days’ trial, he
dismissed him, ¢ finding him of no use ;” and * determined
to teach himself.” The laudable determination, however,
went the way of young civilians’ resolutions in general ;
and for many weeks there is no record of anything beyond
the hospitalities of Calcutta, A page or two from the boy’s
journal will indicate what they were :

 Tuesday, January 6th.—Went with Plowden to see Miss Baillie
at Barlow’s.* Received an answer from Crommelin, Dined at
home.

“ Wednesday, 7th.~Went with Plowden to Brooke’s, Saw Gold-
ing. Dined at Thornhill's. Got a Dhobee.

“ Thursday, 8th,—Changed my residence from Bristow’s to
Chapman’s. Dined at home. Went to Lady Russell’s.

« Friday, 9th—With Plowden in the morning. Was introduced
to Sir Alured Clarkei and General Baynard. Dined with the
Governor-General, who talked much about Eton. Went to Lady
Anstruther’s ball§

“ Saturday, 10th.—Shopping in the morning. Got a cocked-hat
{20 rupees). Dined g.nd passed the evening at Dr, Dick’s.

% Sunday, 11th.—Called on Mr. Bazett. Dined with them.

“ Monday, 12th.—Strolling about in the morning. Went to the
levee. Dined at home, and passed the evening at Colvin’s.

 Tuesday, 13th—Dined at college. Went to the Governor’s ball,

“Wednesday, 14th.—Dined at Sir Alured Clarke’s, At Dick’s in
the evening.

* Mr, G. H. Barlow, then one of the chief officers of the
Secretariat Department; afterwards Sir George Barlow, Governor-
General of India, ’

1+ Wife of Sir Henry Bussell, one of the puisne judges.

{ Commander-in-Chief.

§ Wife of Sir J. Anstruther, Chief Justice.
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« Thuarsday, 5th.—Dined at Mr. Graham’s., Went to Broeke’s
ball. Sat up till sunrise at a second supper.

« Friday, 16th—Dined at Tucker’s.* Went to bed very much
fatigued, not having slept the preceding night.

« Saturday, 17th.—Dined at colicge. Sut at Higgonson's, "ad a
moonshee.

« Sunday, 18th.—Dined at home. Had a moonshee.

« Monday, 19th.—Dismisscd my moonshee, finding him of ne use.
Determined to teach myself. Went on board the Skelton Taatle,
the Malartigue, and London, taken from the Fremch; and the
Countess of Sutherland, a very large ship, in company with
Plowden, Impey, Hamilton, and Chester. Thned at bome. Wenf
to Lady Anstruther’s.

“ Tuesday, 20th.—Dined at Dick’s.

« Wednesday, 21st.—DBreakfasted at Bristow’s. "Wrote journal.
Dined at Bristow’s,

« Thursday, 22nd-—Tiffed at Hamilton’s. Dined with Plowden.

“ Friday, 23rd—Answered my uncle Monson’s letter. Ditto
Richardson. Dined st bome. Went to the Governor’s ball

« Monday, 26th.—Dined at Barlow’s. Great.As rout.

4 Tuesday, 27th~Dined at Bazett’s.

“ Wednesday, 28th~—Dined at college. Spent the evenipng at
Hamilton's.

« Thursday, 29th.~Dined at Brooke’s,

% Friday, 80th.—Dined at Buller’s.} Ball at Drooke’s

% Saturday, 31st—Tiffed at Law's.”

After this, appears a long hiatus in the journal, and to-
wards the end of February there is a brief admission ¢hat
the writer had nothing bnt idleness to .record =—* This
long vacuum,” he wrote, “would be filled by nothing
but accounts of my idleness. "It is, therefore, as well to
drop it. I got into my own house on Sunday, 22nd
(February).”

Having established himself in a house of his own, and
being now in all respects the master of his own time and

* Mr. Henry St. George Tucker, then Financial Secretary.

t Probably Mr. C, Buller, of the Civil Service, futher of the
late Mr. Charles Buller and of Sir A. Buller, now one of the
puisne judges of the Supreme Court of Calcutta,
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his own actions, Charles Metcalfe began -seriously to think
about qualifying himself for the active business of his pro-
fession. The native languages were to be mastered at the
thrashold, It was to be a toilsome, systematic operation.
No longer were Persian and Hindostanee to be acquired: by
chance, No longer were young men, fresh from Eton or
Harrow, to be flung.loose upon the surfaee of Indian life to
acquire, as best they could, without any formal training or
scholastic discipline, the knowledge that. was to. fit them to
become judges and ambassadors and ministers:of finance.
Earnestly and assiduously had Lord Wellesley addressed
himself to the great work of improving the administrative
machinery of the Anglo-Indiam: Government. And fore-
most among his projects was the establishment of a nursery
for young Indiap administrators, under efficient direction
and control. Clinging with peculiar fondness -to those
academic reminiscences, which mo Elonian will” willingly
let.die, he had conceived the idea.of pIanmng an. dlme
JMMater: on:the banks of the Hooghly ; and new the college
of Fort Willianx was fast springing into life. The history
of thiz great. project—eof its rise and.its fall—has been
written, and may be written again... But it has. not yet
beun.recorded that Charles Metcalfe was the. first student.
ever admitted inta the college of Fort William..

It wag on the 27th of April that he signed the deelaraw
tion preparatory to his formal admission. He had been
diligently “sapping”* all through "the two preceding
months. In spite of his determination.to:teach himself,.
he had secured the services of another moonshee; and
day after day had been deep in Persian.and Hindostsnce,s
occasionally varying his Oriental studies with snatches of

¥ No Efonian need to be told thas 4 sapping” means studying—
literally, growimg wise—but: to other-readers-the interpretation:
may be necessary.
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French and classics. The entrics in his diary at this
time relate almost exclusively to the continuance of his
studieg s——

% Wednesday, February 25th—Attended Hindostanee lectures,
second and first class. Breakfasted with Tucker, and dined,

* Thursday, 26th.—~Dined at college.

« Friday 27th.—Attended first, second, and third classes of Hin-
dostanee, and studied with my moonshee. Read Gibbon,

« Saturday 28th.—Studied with my moonshee. Read first vol. of
Gibbon's Roman Empire. Breakfasted at Cotton’s.

« Sunday, 1at of March—Went to church. Iindostanee,

« Monday, 3nd.—Tindostance.

“ Tuesday, 3rd.—Ditto.

« Wednesday, 4th—Ditto. 'Went to Bazett’s in the evening.

« Thursday, 5th—Dined at Tucker’s. Hindostanee, &c.

« Friday, 6th.—Hindostanee lectures, Dined at Dashwood’s.

« Saturday, 7th.—Classical.

“ Monday, 9th.—French. Sapping.

« Tuesday, 10th—Persian. Ditto,

 Wednesday, 11th—Tlindostance, Ditto.” [And so, all through
the remainder of the month, continued “ sapping to April the 1st,
when the term closed ;” and again “ sapped to Sunday the 5th.”]

A few mdre cxtracts {from this journal will carry on the
history of the young writer’s life better than anything I
can substitute for them. It will be seen how he continued
to devote himself diligently to his studies ; how he endea-~
voured to accustom himself to his new way of life, and to
absorb himself in the occupations of the present ; but how
the cherished associations of the past would rise up to
distract his mind and unhinge his resolutions. Do what
he would, he still thought less of the *Calcutta course than
of the Eton playing-fields—less of Brown and Buchanan
than of Heath and Goodall—less of Writers'-buildings
than of Portland-place ¢

“ Thursday, 23rd.—~Wtote a long letter to my father. Got a

new moonshee, the other having left with much insolence.
% Friday, 24th~Wrote to Goodall.



JOURNAL ENTRIES. 33

“ Saturday, 25th.—Ditto.

% Sunday, 26th.—To my mother.

* Monday, 27th.—Read and signed the declaration, and was
admitted into college—being the first ever admitted into the
College of Fort William.

% Tuesday, 28th—Wrote to my mother.

“ Wednesday, 29th—Wrote to Lloyd, bookseller. Dined at
Cruttenden’s. Mure arrived from Cawnpore.

“ N.B. Dauring this month I daily did something in the way of
studies, and found myself at the end of it improved. I have not
written down an account of them, as my memory could not afford
one. Of what nature they may have been, must be hereafter
proved at the college examinations, and the degree of praise, or
discredit, I may receive, will be the best criterion by which to
judge whether my time has been thrown away or not. I cannot
boast of having applied so much as I ought, for, of all disagreeable
studies, the first steps of a language are most disagreeable.

« Saturday, 2nd of May.—At Bazett’s in the evening.

“ Sunday 3rd—Church, Barton came and took up his quarters
with me,

“ Monday 4th—¥Went to the Provost’s chambers, read the decla-
rations, &c., and was admitted the first on the list of the College
of Fort William. Signed my name to the Hindostanee, Persian,
Greek, Italian, French, and Latin languages. [Remark particu-
larly: This is the anniversary of my going to Eton, and my
taking leave of Dr. Heath.] There was a grand dinner at college,
where the Governor-General, Lord Wellesley, was present. He
was remarkably attentive to me, Went to Mrs. Palmer’s.

¢ Tuesday, 5th—Had a dinner at home. Sherer, Chester, Potts,
and Plowden. .

“ Wednesday, 6th,—Anniversary of my leaving Eton. The list
time I saw Goodall, Tonson, and Grose—a sad, sad day. Called
on Mrs. Potts after eollege dinner.

“ Thursday, 7th—Dined at home. Bayley came. Received a
letter from my mother and Grose.

% Friday, 8th—Heard from Cawnpore, [From this to Monday,
18th, forgot.] Monday, examined in Persian by Edmonstone and
Bayley.* Put in the sixth, or actnally the second class,,

* This should have been written Baillie, Captain Baillie was
then one of the Professors of the College. He was subsequently a
distinguished political officer, and an East India Director.

VOL. L c
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« Tuesday.—Hindostanee lecfures. Got a new moonshee; Ililal-
ood-deen.

« Wednesday.—Latin lectures.

% Thursday, 22nd.~This day twelvemonth, my brother left the
flect at St. Helen's; and came up to London, the last time I saw
him. Nor have I heard from him. God forbid he should have
met with any accident. . .

 Thursday, 4th of June~Was at the levee. The Lord behaved
to me with marked attention, and gave rhe a general invitation to
Barrackpore, Such civility from Lord Wellesley is no comman
thing.

« Wednesday, ¥7th.—~Heard from my brother in China. This
day week, moved into the Buildings.

« Thursday, 18th~Wrote to my father requesting to return,
On his answer depends my happiness in life.”

This was written in the middle of June. The exhaust-
ing climate of Calcutta had now for some months been
doing its sure work upon'the young stranger; and he felt, as
hundreds before and after him have felt—worn, weary, and
dispirited ; needing some great exerti¥y to shake off the
depressing influences which were surrounding him, and
yet utterly incapable of making it. He had been applying
himself somewhat too closely to his studies ; the mind had
been on the stretch, and the body had becn inactive, Ie
had neglected to take that regular exercise which, in
moderation, contributés so much to the health of the
resident in hot climates. Ile was not addicted to field
sports ; he did not excel in athletic exercises of any kind.
He said that he was “out of his element” amid such
scenes ; and, now that the time for the more strenuous
activities was past, he had not, like most of his cotempo-
raries, the unfailing resource of the eaddle to fall back npon
—=seasonable in all months, from January to December.
The brisk Arab and the open plain were nothing to him,
‘for he did not delight in equestrian recreations. Foul
vapours gathered about him; aid there was nothing to’
disperse them, In these fiery months there is a general
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stagnation of the social atmosphere. A few languid dimmer-
parties feebly indicate that the spirit of hospitality is not
dead, but sleepeth. Even the natives of the country
shrink from the fierce glare, the scorching winds, and the
intolerable dust of the summer solstice. How, then, when
the sun is up, can English gentlemen pass about from
house to house? In dreary isolation, in feverish imprison-
ment, they exist, through the long days, if they can; every
one has enough to do in looking after his own individual
life ; he has little of any kind to bestow upon his neigh-
bours. Doubtless, therefore, Charles Detcalfe, at this
time, found himself lonely and dispirited—languid and
exhausted—with all sorts of sickly fancies preying upon
his mind. He was dissatisfied with the Present ; he was
hopeless of the future; and, worse than all, he was
regretful of the Past. “ Sorrow’s crown of sorrow” was
pressing heavily upon him ; for he clung to the memory
of “ happier things.”

Life seemed to him to be without an object. It is a
great thing, doubtless, to “ study the native languages.”
1t is very right that this should be the unvarying formula
of advice to all embryo Indian statesmen; but, however
advantageous the results may be, this study of the native
languages is a dreary occupation in iteelf. A young man
in his teens may be forgiven if his spirit is not stirred by
it to any very lofty pitch of enthusiasm—if he does not
appreciate the privilege of gathering under the guidance of
a moonshee the unlovely knowledge of the Eastern world,
with a thermometer standing at 90° in the shade. I de
not, therefore, seek to disguise the fact, that before Charles
Metcalfe had beemn a year in India, he was eager to go
bome again. Let us read his own account of the matter.

“ At the latter end of June,” he wrote in his journal
some months afterwards, “there was an examination,
which placed me fifth on the list of Hindostanee scholass,

¢2
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and last of the first class. This brought praise upon me,
as I had arrived in the country after all those who were
examined with me, to the number of thirty. Lord
Wellesley told me he considered my progress greater than
that of any other. Ilis attentions to me have been, on
every occasion, marked and flattering. I spent a week
of the July vacation at Umooar, or Ooreapara, on a hog-
hunting party. I was out of my element. I afterwards
wrote my essay on the College ; it was one of the ten best
sent in to the Lord. The next term passed over my head
without any attention to my studies~—my mind being too
much occupied with the thought of my melancholy
situation. I wrote repeated and urgent letters to my
father on the subject of return, and know not how my
fate is to be decided. I cannot exist here; the idea that
my father may refuse, renders me thoroughly miserable.
I had projected a trip up the river, for the vacation, with
Hamilton, and we were on the point of setting off when
a disorder broke out upon me, which stopped us, and now
confines me to Calcutta, and almost to the house. I find
from it how much inferior the most excruciating bodily
torment is to mental agony—the result of reflection and
too much sensibility. I cannot exist in absence from my
family. T have been exceedingly unwell throughout the
raing. Ill-health is a very inferior consideration with me.
I am, however, willing to believe that the sufferings I
at present labour under will be shortly removed, and
that it hath pleased Almighty Providence to ordain me
this time of penance that I may learn Humility, Patience,
and Obedience to his Divine will. How awful is the
thunder of the Lord, which, growling o'er our heads,
proclaims his power—how mighty is his vengeance—
how dreadful his wrath! Who shall oppose it? Man,
remember the fall of our Great Ancestor. Ile sinned, and
mark his punishment.”—[ October 5th, 1801.]
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There would be enough in the mere fact of the physical
ailments, to which reference is here made, to account for
all this depression of spirit. The hot weather had
exhaunsted young Metcalfe’s strength, and the rainy season
had wutterly prostrated him. Bus the sufferings which he
endured are not wholly to be attributed, directly or indi-
rectly, to these causes. He was a youth of very quick
affections. The pulsations of that warm human heart were
ever keeping him in a state of unvest. From the solitude
of his chamber in the City of Palaces, his thoughts went
back with reverential love to his old home in Portland-
place. And there was one fair form, which, filling all his
boyish imagination with visions of delight, was ever
flitting between him and his books, making dim to his
dazzled sight the Oriental ¢haracters which lay before him.
His whole heart untravelled turned towards England; and
he was twelve thousand miles away.

Nor was it only his boyish love that made India dis-
tasteful to him. His boyish ambition had already been
fired. A mysterious power within him had suggested that
he was destined to be great. The day-dreams of the Eton
cloisters were dreamt over again. He thought that he saw
the end clearly before him; but so little did he understand
the adaptation of means to that end, that he believed his
success in life depended upon his immediate return to
England. Under the influence of a strange intermixture
of prescience and blindness, he implored his father to
obtain for him, through the influence of Lord Grenville,
an appointment in a public office at home,* for he believed
that such an appointment, however insignificant, would be
a stepping-stone to ultimate greatness.

* 1t is said that the Duke of Wellington, in early life, petitioned
his friends to procure for him some gmall civil appointment, that
he might, retire from the military service, in which he saw little
chance of rising,
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He waa a mere boy at this time—he had not complcted
his seventeenth year. But he had begun to think of the
day when his biographer would trace, with deepest interest,
his puerile aspirations through the records of his common-
place book. % No man,” wrote young Charles Metcalfe, in
the autumn of 1801, “ can be forced into greatness without
ambition. But will every man who has ambition be great?
No one possesses more ambition than I do; and am I
destined to be great? If I quit this country, I may be;
and it is one of the reasons for my desiring it so ardently.
I cannot help thinking, should T hereafter be great; of the
fervour with whick my biographer will seize wpon these
slight memorandums, and record them to an eager public
as a proof of my indulging in youth, and in distant climes,
the idea of becoming a great character on the theatre of the
world. Ambition takes its rise from vanity, and in pro-
portion as a man is ambitious, he is vain. I am, thercfore,
ene of the vainest creatures upon earth—and I believe I
am. There is, however, a vast distinction between vanity
and presumption. The latter will show itself When the
other cannot be perceived. I am free from the latter, for X
have always the appearance of modesty. This modesty is
not assumed; it proceeds from bashfulness, and however
-superior 1 may internally fancy myself, I have never the
boldness to communicate my thoughts before any number
of persons. Even if a third person is present, I have a
padlock on my mouth. But whence arises vanity? ‘A
vain person would answer himself, ‘From knowledge,
abilities, &ec. ' I, indeed, am inclined to believe that all
men of ability so possess vanity (distinct from presumption),
viz., they have a consciousness of their own powers, which
is an innate vanity. It does not, however, follow, that all
men who have vanity should possess ability. Ambition
arises from a consciousgess of our own powers, or vanity ;
and this again from ability. The most ambitious are the
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most vain; but the most wain are not always the most
able. I believe egotism arises from vanity; otherwise I
should not have devoted two pages to an examination of
my own character. If we were to search our hearts, we
should find them very faulty.”*

Thus reasoned the clever boy, not unmindful of the pos-
sibility of all this finding its way into print half a century
afterwards, from the hands of a “ fervent biographer.”t It
seems to have been his ambition at this time to take part
in the strife of English politics, and to make his way to
emincnce through the House of Commons. He could not
believe that Hindostanee and Persian would help him on
the toad to fame. * Language,” he wrote, % is the most
disgusting; history the most delightful of studies; law is
the most perplexing, politics the most noble of professions.
To be an independent member of the Dritish House of
Commons is the highest honour next to being Prime
Minister of Great Britain. Pitt is the first man in Enrope;
still greater by his resignation.” And still thinking of the
career of English statesmanship which might lie before
him, the young civilian pushed aside his Persian diction-
aries and grammars, to write eager letters to his father,
dwelling upon the misery of his condition and the hope-
lessness of his prospects, and praying for emancipation
from the thraldom which was destroying all the happiness
of his life.

ITow these lctters were received at home will presently
be told. In the meanwhile, what be called a slight

* MS. ¢ Common-place Book,” 1801,

¥ Tt is not unworthy of remark, that young Metcalfe had been
studying Rochefoucault and Rousseau. The entries in his commone
place book are either Maxims or Confessions, ez & mixturs of
both, Af this early period of life cleverness is always imitative.
The impress of some favourite author may generally be discerned
upon the writings of the youmg. The imitation is not the less
striking for its wnconsciousness,
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reprieve came from another quarter. All through the
months of October and November, he had been a prey to
anxiety and dejection, but the remedy was close at hand.
‘What young Metcalfe needed at this time to disperse the
vapours which were clouding his happiness, was simply a
life of action. He was weary of the stagnation of student-
life; and, perhaps, he was beginning to understand that
the “ misery " which, as he said, was pressing so heavily
upon him, was in part at least the result of physical causes,
aid that movement might alleviate, if it could not wholly
cure the disease. So it happened, that when it became
known, that the Government purposed to despatch an
embassy to the Arab States, he solicited Lord Wellesley,
who was not unwilling to sanction the young writer'’s pre-
mature escape from college, to appoint him an attaché to
the mission. The request was readily granted, and Mr.
Charles Metcalfe was gazetted as Assistant to the Embassy
to the Arab States.

But he never joined the appointment. ¢ was ap-
pointed,” he wrote in his journal, .a short time afterwards,
“ Assistant to the Embassy to the Arab States, on the 3rd
of December. I afterwards (having the option, for which
I feel sincere gratitude to Lord Wellesley) had my- appoint-
ment changed ; and on the 29th of December I was appointed
Assistant to the Resident with Dowlut Rao Scindiah.”
Colonel Collins, an old friend of young Metcalfe’s father,
was then Resident at Scindiah’s court. The appointment
was, therefore, full of favourable promise; and not the
least of its advantages was that, in order to join it, the
young civilian was compelled to undertake an extensive
land journey, at a season of the year when travelling in
India is a long delight. So Charles Metcalfe, emancipated
from the trammels of college, packed up his goods and chat-
tels, and set out for the upper provinces.

And so ended Charles Metcalfes first year in India.
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The experienced Anglo-Indian reader will see in it, per-
adventure, the reflection of his own trial-year. When
throughout the hot months and the rainy season of this
year 1801, the young exile felt an irresistible desire to
return to his old home, with all its charming associations
cf love and liberty, his longings were only those of a large
proportion of the young exiles who, in loneliness of heart
and captivity of person, struggle feebly through this first
dreary season of probation. By the old, forgetful of their
own experiences, this despondency, attributable as it is in
part to physical and in part to moral causes, may be
regarded as boyish weakness. But it 13 weakness better
than any strength. Charles Metcalfe had a very warm
human heart; and I do not think the reader will admire
him lcss for being forced to love him more,
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CHAPTER 1II.
[1802.]
FIRST OFFICIAL EXPERIENCES.

Departure from Calcutta—DMeeting with Lord Wellesley’s Camp—
Pageantry at Lucknow—DProgress of the March——Arrival at
Agra—Letters to Mr. Sherer—Life at the Residency—
Colonel Collins—Home Correspondence—Return to Calcutta,

Cuarves MeTcarre had now made his election. In the
civil service of the Fast India Company, there were seyeral
departments. The pyrely commercial line of business was
fast becoming extinct. Though retaining the name of
merchants and factors, the civilians had ceased to be traders
on their own account, and now traded but little for their
bongurable masters. A large majority of them were
employed in the collection of the revenue and in the
administration of justice. The # political,” or diplomatic,
department of the public service, was not then closed
against them, although its highest offices were held by
wilitary men—by the Kirkpatricks, the Closes, the Col-
linses, and the Scotts. It was to this branch of the service
that young Metcalfe now directed his regards. It was the
only one ‘that could fire the ambition of the boy who had
dreamt in the Eton  cloisters of prescribing terms and
concluding treaties. So he made his choice, and, having
made it, he resolutely determined to cling to it. It was
only, he judged, by adhering to one line, that there was
any prospect of attaining distinciton.*

* 1t was, I believe, at the suggestion of his godfather, Mr.

Jacob Rider, that Colonel Collins recommended -young Metealfe
to the situation of an attaché to the Residency at the Scindiah’s
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In the middle of the month of Jannary, 1802, Charles
Metcalfe quitted Calcuita, travelling in a palanquin, to join
his appointment. He had a long journey before him; for

Court. In the course of the preceding August he had written an
affectionate letter to his godson, in which he said =—*In spite of
your present dislike to the eountry, I have been planning stations
for you, in one of which I hope in due time to see your appoint-
ment, Amongst others, it has occurred to me that Colonel
Colling, who is under great obligations to your father, should
endeavour to get you appointed his assistant. It would be fixing
you in one of the most respectable lines in the service, and your
father, I am sure, would be very much pleased with it. It does
not-at all follow that military men are always to hold diplomstic
Aappointments, and I should hope, old as I am, to see you Governor-
General's agent to Scindiah, If yon are for a rapid fortune, fora
scramble, and to run off with what you can get, you should get
abpointed assistant to a eollector. - These principles, I trust, you
are not come out with, and I should be sorry to hear of your
getting into that line, or ®s assistant to either of the judges of
Adawlut. Much better will it be for you to get into either of the
offices below, under the Secretary-General, the Secretary in the
Public Depaftment, the Persian translator’s office, or in the Secret
Political and Foreign Departments, From any of these offices
yoa will be qualified to hold any appointment in the Mofussil;
but I say to you as I would to my own son—keep as’long ont of
the judicial Line, and the line of collections, 23 you can-~
altogether, I hope, or till that some great reform takes place in
those lines. Recolleet, my good fellow, that X write to you in
perfect confidence, and not for general communication. There's
scarcely & man in either of the lines I allude to that will agree
with me in opinion. The diplomatic line is what I would recom-
mend your turning your mind io,

“Your dislike to the country can’t be greater than mine was
for the first twelvemonth ; it will wear off I am convinced, but
perhaps not 8o soon in & college. However, when you reflect
what satisfaction it will give your father and mother to hear of
your getting & medal, I am sare you will study hard t0 deserve
one, and then I will attack Collins, for I hope to see you fixed
either with him at Lucknew, or &t Pbonah. I should be most
happy to see you, but I would not oa any account have you think
of leaving College under any pretence whatever.”
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his destination was beyond the limits of the Company’s
dominions, in the heart of those provinces lying between
the Jumna and the Nerbudda, which had been at this
time little explored by British residents in the East. The
Mahrattas were then domidant in that fine country. The
hereditary enmity of Scindiah and Holkar was rending and
distracting it. It was what the natives called gurdee-la-
wulht—a time of trouble.

At Oujein Scindiah held his court. British interests
were represented there by Colonel Collins—an officer of
the Company’s army, who in more than one political
sitnation had done good service to the State; but whose
private amiability was not equal to his diplomatic address.
He had been the friend and associate of the elder Metcalfe,
to whom he was much beholden; but still it was not
without some misgivings that the young writer now found
himself on his way to join the family of a man who was
not reputedly of a temper calculated to win the confidence
and affection of youth. These doubts, however, did not
much or long disturb him., He started under happy
auspices, which became still happier as he proceeded
northwards. Lord Wellesley was then on his way to the
Ceded Provinces of Oude, progressing with the true pomp
of the Sultan; and at Cawnpore young Metcalfe came up
with the viceregal cortége, and was invited by the Governor-
General to join it.

“1 left Calcutta,” thus journalized the young writer,
“on the 14th of January, and arrived at Benares on the
19th, where I was very kindly entertained by Mr. Neave,
and saw my godfather, Jacob Rider. I quitted Benares
on the 2lst, stopped some hours with Colonel Kyd at
Allahabad, and arrived at Cawnpore on the 24th. Here
I found all my friends and relations, and was very happy.
Baut, alas! happiness cannot last long. I quitted Cawnpore
on the 30th (my birthday) with Lord Wellesley, whose



PAGEANTRY AT LUCKNOW. 45

permission to accompany him was very graciously given;
and after very agreeable marches (considered the whole
time as one of his family) arrived at Lucknow on the 5th
of February, 1802. Our time was most agreeably passed
in a variety of magnificent shows. The fireworks ex-
ceeded any I ever saw. The elephant fights did not equal
my expectation. I returned on the 14th of February to
Cawnpore.”

From this station, where he resided at the house of Mr.
Richardson,* a member of the civil'service, he wrote to
one of his college friends—John Walter Sherer, then a
young man of good promise, which his after-career of
disefulness fulfilled—the following enthusiastic account of
the pageantry at Lucknow. In the suite of Lord Wellesley
he had begun to think that the bright Oriental tinting of
the ¢ Arabian Nights” had nothing fabulous about it.

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Cawnpore, Feb, 17, 1802,

“ My DEAR SHERER,—I] have lately returned from Lucknow,
whither I acecompanied the Marquis. I consider myself fortunate
in baving had such an opportunity ; for such a one will never
most probably occur again. We left Cawnpore on the 30th of
January, and, after four days’ very pleasant march, encamped
within three miles of Lucknow. The Nabob’s tents were pitched
between ns and the town, which he had not entered since his
return from Cawnpore, His Lordship's escort consisted of his
Majesty's 76th, and 18th Regiment of Native Infantry, with the
8rd Regiment of Native Cavalry, and two troops of the 27th
Light Dragoons, exclusive of his own body-gunard. With camp
followers, &ec., we must bave formed an encampment of above
20,000 men. Two of the Nabob’s sons came to Lord Wellesley’s
tent to conduct him, and shortly after he commenced his march
he wad mef by the Nabob, the Resident, and all the English and
native respectable inhabitants of Lucknow., His Lordship and
the Nabob mounted the same elephant (the whole party were
provided with this conveyance), and commenced the procession

* Mr. Richardson was the husband of one of Metcalfe’s aunts,
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with every possible parade of magnificence. I do not think a
finer spectacle could have ever before been seen. Every display
of Asiatic and European magnificence was to be seen in our
procession. We had a Farge body of European soldiery (the
finest sight we know of in England), at the same time everything
of Asiatic splendour which the mind can fancy. The innumerable
coneourse of elephants (the grandeur of which animal seems to
have appointed it particularly for a procession of this nature),
decorated with costly trappings, was no small part of my admi-
ration. The very dresses formed a spectacle of magnificence, and
the two nations seemed to ¥ie with each other in their splendour.
The Calcutta cavalry, I can assure you, was not the least elegant.
His Lordship, in the true style of Eastern pomp, distributed his
rupees with a Jiberal hand, The streets had been fresh painted,
and those of the merchants were lined with the most beautiful
silks of various patterns. The tops of the houses (with which
we were brought to a level by our elephants) were covered with
musicians and dancing-girls; the streets under our feet crowded
with millions anxious to see so grand a procession. Everything
recalled to my memory the ¢ Arabian Nights,’ for every description
of any such processior which I ever met with in history, even the
celebrated Triumph of Aurelian (I think it was the Emperor},
when be led Zenobig and Tiridates * captives, of which Gibbon
gives an account, was completely beggared by it. I sam aware
that any attempt of mine to give an idea of what I saw will be
very vain, We were received at the Nabob’s at breakfast under
8 salute. There were some inconveniences, as there always will
be in a thing of this kind,~such as the noise of the mausic, the
cries of the scramblers, the crush of elephants, which was some-
times truly alarming.

“The Nabob and the Lord grew so attached to each other, that
the Nabob declared that he could not exist unless he always dined
and breakfasted in vompany with the Lord. We were, therefore,
constantly annoyed with ceremony. The fireworks and illumi-
nations which he exhibited to us were the most splendid I could
ever have conceived an idea of. I was rather disappointed in the
elephant fight: this animal does not seem to possess valour
equivalent to his size or strength ; yet to have seen it is certainly
& matter of curiosity. The Nabob’s horses are remarkably fine
His pleasures are all in the English way; he is fond of horses,

* This should have been written Tetricus,
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dogs, hunting, &c., &c. His breakfasts, dinners, houses, are
completely English. It struck me very forcibly as worthy of
remark, that a Mussulman prince should sit after dinner merely
for the purpose of handing about the bottle, though of course ke
did not drink. He has a French cook and a military band of
English instraments. ¥ at length grew quite tired of the variety
of ceremonies, and, after gratifying my curiesity in seeing what-
ever was to be seen, I paid my last respects to his Lordship on
Sunday., He has not quitted Lucknow, He was very attentive
to me and kind. Remember me to all friends, Direct for the
preseut to ¢ T. Richardson, Esq., Cawnpore.’
« Yours very sincerely,
“Q. T. MeTCALFR.”

‘ After enjoying the society of my friends for another
fortnight,” continued the young journalist, writing at
Mynpooree on the Tth of March, # I left it on the 26th.
Arrived on the 27th at Futtehghur, which I quitted on the
5th of this month, after having experienced a great deal
of kindness from Mrs Collins, and of attention and polite-
ness from General Stunart. The change of scene which I
have for the last two months experienced has, in some
messure, diverted my mind from that constant brooding
over my misery to which I have for too long & period
ngen way. Butno vanety, no pleasures, can prevenf me
from frequently recurring to the probability of my happi-
ness being gacrificed to worldly ideas of prudence. Alas!
how little is happiness consulted im genéral. But I must’
not indulge in these reflections.”®

* MS, Journal, March 7th, 1802, On the previous d’ay he had
written = March 6th.—1 made & forced march from Mahomed-
sbad to Bever, and thence to Bhogong, where I ordered the
tents to be pitched. . . . Tawards the evening I walked
towards some distant rains, which I found te be the burying-
place for the followers of Mahomed. As I pessed over their
interred remains, I could not check my reflections upon the fallen
state of this race of bemgs, whe but hialf a eentury back were
everywhere supreme.” He had abandoned the palanqmn, and
was now riding on an elepbant,
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At this time young Metcalfe kept two journals; one a
diary of his travels, the other what he called a “ common-
place book,” or record of his thoughts ; the objective and
the subjective being scrupulously separated from each
other. In the latter he wrote as follows, on that same 7th
of September, in his tent at Mynpooree :

« SuNpAY~I have just been redding divine service, What &
strong impression does it always leave upon the mind, and how
well calculated are the prayers to inspire one with a true spirit of
religion. The Sabbath is (to the shame of mankind be it said)
but very seldom attended to; in India, it is particularly neglected;
so that even the day when it returns-is not known, nor marked
by any single att of devbtion. It appears to me necessary to
religion to bring it to one’s serlous attention(]at fixed periods.
For the want of this, the English in India havejfless virtue in
them than elsewhere, and cannot impress the natives with a good
idea of our religion.”

On the following day the young traveller left Mynpooree,
and on the 10th he crossed the confines of the-Company’a
territories. 'The narrative of his travels cannot be carried
on better than in his own words :

# March 9th—From Ghurriwal to Shekoabad. A battalion of
sepoys was encamped at the latter place. I saw nothing, however,
of any of the officers. It is a strange circumstance that, so far
from all white faces, and not having seen one since quitting
Futtehghur, I sbould not have greedily seized upon this oppor-
tnpity of obtaining society. I did not, however, for reasons
peculiar, I believe, to my own disposition, It seems equally
strange that no one here should have thought me worthy of
notice,

“ March 10th—From Shekoabad to Ferozabad. I this morning
quitted the Company’s territories. Ferozabad belongs to Scindiah,
and is part.of General Perron’s Jaghire. The aumil, or governor
of the place, came to pay his respects. Xe is a civil, shrewd,
sensible man, He had heard the news of the peace, and inquired
if a monarchy had been restored in France. Qur conversation
was chiefly political ; and he observed, turning to my moonshee,
who was in the tent, that the English were the only nation whe
could defeat the French, and that this was owing to their navy,
He made many other clever observations ; among others, he said
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that the design of the French in invading Egypt was clearly to
forward their plans npon India; and concluded by observing that
be did not think it would be a lasting peace. I never met with a
native of India who appeared to have such rational ideas of
European politics. He was a native of Lahore, and his ancestors
were Oosbeck Tartars,

“ March 11th—From Ferozabad to Eatimadpoor. On the road I
frequently passed ruins of palaces and mausoleums.”

The next stage brought the young traveller to Agra, then
a city garrisoned by Mahratta troops, under a Dutch com-
mander. To the English in India it was little known
except by report, and Charles Metcalfe, when he explored
the wonders of the Taj-Mahal, trod where few of his
countrymen had trodden, and sat down to describe in
letters and journals what had seldom at that time been
described by an English pen. Half a century has passed
away, and the Taj has become the standing lion of the
English traveller and the stock-subject of the English
journalist. But ‘custom cannot stale its infinite variety ;
and every new writer has something new to say about it.
To young Metealfe it appeared as the realization of the
legendary and traditional, with- all the charm of freshness
about it. He said that it was very beautiful, and # beyond
description ;” but that it wanted grandeur, and suggested
no solemn thoughts. The entries in his journal are brief:

% Mareh 12th—From Eatimadpoor to Agra. The eye was
everywhere struck with the view of heaps of ruins, lamenting in
forcible language the oppfessive raviges of time. A considerable
time elapsed before I could get my baggage over the river—the
elephants swam. Whilst my tents were preparing, I took up my
quarters in the Taj-Mahal. This is said by many—amongst'
others by the artist Zoffainy—to be the finest building in the
world. To attempt to describe it would be presmmption, for it is
far above description. Shah Jehan is buried here with his wife ;
this building was originally intended for ber, apd it was his
design to have built 2 fellow to it on the opposite side of the
river for himdelf. The ground for the purpose was enclosed with
a wall, which still remaing, though in & very ruinous condition.
The centre building of this wonderful edifice is composed entirely
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of white marble, inlined with different coloured marbles, cor-
nelians, agates, and other curious stones, in the form of flowers,
ribbons, &c., &c., which are executed with wonderful nicety and
real taste, I went to the summit of the minaret. They are more
elevated than those of Lucknow, and present a very fine view of
the fort and town.

«13th.—I breakfasted by invitation with the Dutch ¢commander,
Colonel J. Hessing. I found with him his son, who commanded in
the engagement at Oujein, where his battalions were defeated ; a
Mr. Marshall, an Englishman ; and two others, whose names I
have not learnt. The breakfast consisted of kedgeree (rice and
egys), fish, game, fowls, curry and rice, stews, oranges, pears,
pomegranates, eggs, bread and butter, cakes of all kinds, pan-
eakes, and a number of other dishes, which bave escaped my
recoliection—among others, I had forgotten to enumerate cheese,
The Dutchman was as polite as a Dutchman could be, and very
well-meaning I am certain. I walked over some of the buildings.
They are in general of marble, beautifully inlaid, and admirably
executed, The roofs of many have been silver. These, however,
bave fallen a.prey to the destroying hands of the Mahrattas, who
bave even stripped the rooms of the leaves of gold which covered
the flowers in many places, Some of the rooms are lined with

.small mirrors. I was conducted by Mr, Marshall and another
gentleman, who showed me the place where Shah Jehan was
eonflned while his sons were contending for his empire. It is a
small octagon room where the ruler of all India spent this wretched
portion of his life, not in the command of a single slave. The
walls were white, but in many places the plaster had dropped,
and disclosed a coloured wall, with gold and silver ornaments. It
is #aid that the Emperor had it whitewashed that he might not be
troubled with the sight of such pernicious metals.””

On the following day he “breakfasted and dined with
the Dutchman, and examined the Taj-Mahal with more
attention.” It was a happy day, for his affectionate heart
was gladdened by the receipt of % letter from his friend
Sherer, which he sat down at once to answer. *I cannot
better,” he wrote, * express the joy I feel at receiving yours
of the 1st, than by answering it immediately. It has not
been in my hands ten minutes. It finds me an jnmate
of the far-famed Taj-Mahal at Agra” “It is above
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description,” he added ; * but I may endeavour to give you
an idea of its materials.” And then be went on to speak
of the wonderful mosaic, of the precious stones inlaid, of
the elegant devices—but confessed that there ‘was some-
thing unsatisfactory in it all. “Ifi” he wrote—and the
passage 1s worth more than whole pages of such descrip-
tion—* if you are not already tired of the subject, I will
tell you the impression that all this beauty and elegance
left upon my mind. Although I have by no means done’
it justice, yet you will be surprised when I tell you it left
06 impression upon my mind ; I was not inspired with any
of those sentiments of awe, delight, or reverence with which
Y Yiave viewed much less magnificent buildings, particu-
larly the colleges of the universities, or with which I have
heard the echo of my own footsteps even in the cloisters of
my much-loved Eton.” Then he fondly reverted to the
day-dreams of his boyhood ;* and contrasted them with his
actual state. “How crushed,” he exclaimed, “are all my
hopes, my honours, and my fancied gloriesa! But.you will
say I am wandermg, and in looking over the last page I
find that T am.”

On the 15th of March, Charles Metcalfe turned his back
upon Agra, and proceeded upon his journey to Scindiah’s
Court. On the evening of that day, halting at Mundakor,
he wrote again to his friend Sherer. After having dis-
missed one moonshee because he was stupid, and another
because he ‘was insolent, the young student had found a
third, who was neither; and, as he was as ready to appre-
ciate good qualifies as he was to resent bad ones in his
native instructorsy he had come to the resalution, afier
leaving college, to reward the services of the man to whom
he believed himself s wouch indebted for the proﬁcwmy
which, daring his year's residence in Celcutta, he had

acquired in the knowledge of the native languages. "What

[ . * The passage omitted is given by anticipation at pages. *
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shape the young writer’s gratitude assumed may be gathered
from the following letter, which deserves record as a
characteristic manifestation of the kindliness and generosity
of the writer:*

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Camp of the Anglo-Mahratta Allied Forces,
Head-quarters, Minquor, March 15, 1802,

“My pear SEERER,—My letter of yesterday should have
sufficed you for the present had I not forgotten in it to mention
a subject which I particularly wished to write to you upon. It
relates to our common friend Hilal-cod-deen. He is the only
native of India for whom I entertain any particular esteem, which
his merits loudly demand. It is no fault of his that Iam hot at this
moment a tolerable proficient in some one or other of the Oriental
languages. I am ashamed to say he was thrown away upon me,
He has now to deal with a better subject, Jenkins,} who will do
him the justice he deserves, The good 0ld man must have thought
it very extraordinary that I should have left Calcutta without
giving hind any memorial of my regard- the reasons why I did so
have been explained in a letter to Hamilton” I have been con-
sidering of the means by which I can do him some permanent
service ; and I think that a monthly allowance will be the most
so. Tell him, therefore, that he is to consider himself entitled
to twenty rupees per month from January last inclusive. If I
return to England, I must make amends for the loss of this
allowance by a sum of some small value, but if I remain in
India, it will continue to Hilal's death, unless I am carried off
béfore him. It is a slight recompense, and by no means comes
up to my wishes; but as I have not the slightest idea of my
qwn salary, and as, exclusive of camp equipage and travelling

* On the following day he wrote in his common-place book:—
“ Hilal-odd-deen~1 have determined to settle twenty rupees per
month upon this man, who 50 well deserves all that I can do for
him, This added to his other salaries will render him extremely
comfortable,—{ Futtehpore Camp, March 16th, 1802.]"

Nearly a year afterwards he wrote opposite to this passage :—
“ I was dissuaded from this as being beyond my means. X gave
200 rupees,”-[ Feb. 19th, 1803.]

1 The late Sir Richard Jenkins, G.C.B.



LETTCR TO SHERER. 53

expenses, I am obliged, for the sake of appearance, to maintain
a much larger establishment than I ever should have done in
Calcutta, the sum which I have set apart for Hilal-ood-deen is
as considerable as my ability, consistent with convenience, will
admit of; this, however, I shall not feel'in the least burden-
some, and only regret that it cannot be larger, As it is, it may
serve ta add to his comforts. I will shortly contrive some means
for his being regularly supplied; yet you must be aware that
I must have some trifling inerease before I can effect this. Give
him, however, t0 understand that this allowance is to commence
from the 1st of January, 1802, and to continue until some circum-~
stances as above mentioned shall interfere to prevent it. I, how-
ever, by no means consider this trifling recompense as acquitting
me from further obligation; on the contrary, Hilal-ood-deen will
ever bave a strong claim to any services I may be able to render
him or his family, and in thus disposing of any benefits, in addi-
tion to gratifying my own sentiments of gratitude, I shall have the
satisfaction of serving a man of solid merit and intrinsic worth. . .
“1 have never experienced any comfort in India until of late,
gince I have been travelling quite alone, I do nothing but read
English, Latin, and French, and I have procured another small
but good sclection of books. I rise early; read constantly, eat
heartily, and sleep soundly—four blessings I never before enjoyed
in India. I never allow myself to think of England, and I feel
the good effeets of my resolution, though my views with respect
to it are the same as ever. I have no room to tell you all my
plans. Persuade Hamilton to write; I have not had a word from
him in answer to either of my letters, Remember me to him and
Wood. Lord W. did not see the second and third essays.
Deperd upon it I feel more gratified by his approbation than
I should by the prize itself. Buchanan* appears to have been
officiating priest on the cccasion, and I cannot admit that his
Jjudgment was by any means good; remember, I speak of the
first lot—1T know nothing of the others, not having seen them.
“Yours very sincerely,

4C, T, METCALFE,

“N.B. I have entirely deserted Oriental literature for the
present, and shall see the arrivals of yesterday in a short time

* The Rev. Claudius Buchanan, Vice-Provost of the College. I
find a letter from him to Metcalfe, written at this time, in which
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turning up their noses—en passaat [blood must have blood; I’ll
give you Gil for Gil*] who are the hopes of the rising gene-
ration ?”

On the 17th of March, Metcalfe left Futtehpore, and on Lis
way to Radowul his ¢ baggage was attacked by the banditti
of the cotmtry, who were repulsed.” Many of his marches,
at this time, were performed by moonlight. The increasing
richness and beaaty of the country through which he passe.d
excited .pleasurable emotions in the mind of the young
traveller ; and day after day, as he encamped *under
the elegantly-spreading banyan-tree,” or “in a most
elegant grove of banyan-trees, every one of which is in
itself a grove,” he recorded his favourable impressions of the
abundant fertility and the romantic picturesgueness of the
country of the Mahrattas. Here and there he came up with
battalions of Perron’s troops, and received complimentary
presents, and visits, not merely of compliment, from their
officers.} At other places he was warned of the contignity
of Holkar’s marauding bands; and “obliged to keep &

he says : “Some gentlemen were praising your essay lately, when
an old civilian observed, he did not seg it was anything remark-
able. ‘Pray can you do as well, John ?’ On which John said
that he thought he could, if he had time,”

* The reference j is to some colloquialistns of Dr, Gilchrist.

% Under date March 22nd, he writes :— Pilowdit to Koshulghur.—
At the latter I found encamped four more battalions of Perron’s
roops. One of the officers came to visit me—anxious to hear of his
father, Colonel =, . . . T obtained some information from him
relative to the Mahratta service. It appears that promotion depends
on General Perron, who is naturally disposed to favour his own
countrymen. So far, howéver, as the rank of captain, every officer
obtains a step annually—i. e, in four years & man must be a
captain. The rule extends no higher. The uniform of the sepoys
1s the same as the Company’s ; %o are the accoutrements, with the
exeeption that they carry a sword as well as a bayonet and
musket. The band, which was in full tune, as they marched by

my little camp, played nothing buf marches—perfectly  the
European style,”
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charp look out.” But these things did not much dis-
turb his tranquillity, or break in upon his meditations.
Even in the near neighbourhood of the banditti his habit
of moralising was not to be-repressed, and we find him,
with Holkar’s troops within & few miles of him, opening
his eommon-place book, and recording his opinion on the
formation of character and the disposition of children.*

At Kotah, it became apparent to him, for the first time,
that he was a person of some-consequence, and he was
compelled to act a dignified official part. The Dewan,
or minister of Zalim Singh, came to pay him a visit of
ceremony, which it was his duty on the following day to
return. Through streets lined with wondering inabitants,
“as if to view some strange spectacle,” the young diplo-
matist went forth, more full of wonder than all the rest.
He could not help reflecting on the littlé notice that would
have been taken of him on entering any country town in
England; and perhaps in his young ambition he may
have begun to think that Indian official lifé has its com-
pensations after all The incident is thus detailed in his
journal : -

“ April 2nd, Kotak.—In the afternoon [the Dewan] came to pay
the complimentary visit. I had spread a white cloth over the
satringee in the tent. X received him and his relations and friends
before the tent, and after having embraced them led them in, I
seated myself with them according to the Hiudostanee custom,
and after the ceremony of distributing Pan and Attr, ordered the
presents to be brought, consisting of a gold watch, a brace of
pistols, penknife, ecissors, and Hindavi manusecript curiously
minute. To my great annoyance, he accepted the whole, which
T had never intended, and which is not a very general practice. _

« April 3rd—The necessity of returning the visit detained me
here this day. The streets were lined with inhabitants as if to

view some strange spectacle, I could not help reflecting with .
what indifference I should be suffered to pass into a town in

* A portion of the essay is given in Chapter L
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England, and yet how much happier I should be. I was received
with the same ceremony which I had practised. The presents
consisted of four shawls, three pieces of muslin, one of silk, and
one of orange-coloured cloth.”

After a shght detention, caused by the accidental death
of one of his followers, and the kindly desire of the young
diplomatist to allow time for the friends of the deceased to
“ perform their last duties” to him, and a subsequent halt
in expectation of receiving letters from Colonel Collins,
Charles Metcalfe pushed on, through a bleak, barren
country, differing greatly from the fertile regions betweeu
Agra and Kotah, to Oujein.* And on the 16th of April

* The following descriptive passages from the young writer’s
journal, are worth giving :—

« April 6th—Waited till after breakfast for letters from Colonel
Collins. Receiving none, marched with thirty-eight men from the
Rajah, and my havildar’s guard, to Humihuttea, distant eight coss
through the most savage, bleak, dreary desert I ever had any idea of
—one vast rocky plain or plain rock, for there was scarcely an inch
of earth, and wherever flowers grew, they were without a single leaf;
every tree that appeared had its branches entirely bare. In the
midst of this wild stands Juypoora, like Palmyra or Tadmor in the
Desert—a spot which appears to great advantage, for between Rota
and it, a distance of ten miles, there was not an inhabitant nor a
hut, nor a single drop of water. The wind blowing, as if throughsa
furnace, was too high to admit of my using any chatteh (umbrella),
80 that I was exposed on my elephant to the burning rays of the
sun, the reflection from the rock, and the scorching influence of
the wind; all these circumstances rendered me unwell during the
day and night.

“ March 9th—Jalsepatam—five coss. The road was tolerably
good, the land as wild as before. This country differs very much
from the beautifully fertile and well-cultivated lands between
Agra and Kotah, Here, whenever a tree has sprung up, the soil
appears to confess its inability to support it, and has left it, seem~
ingly, to wither. Whether this be owing to the seasous, or the
barren soil, I know not; but the branches of every tree are com-
pletely bare. This country may very properly be called ¢ India
Petreea,’ for it is one continual rock.”
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he wrote the words ¢ Labor Ultimus” in his journal.
 After a long march,” he recorded elsewhere, * rendered
pleasanter by my resolution and recreation than I expected
to find it, I arrived at Oujein.,” There he became a member
of Colonel Collins’s family, and entered upon the duties of
his appointment.

But he had leisure still to discourse of love and friend-
ship, and there was no growth of new attachment at
Oujein to displace the old. The truth being told, it must
appear that Charles Metcalfe, at this time, was driven to
seek solace in reminiscences of the past. Disappointed,
vexed, sometimes perhaps irritated, he peopled his lonely
tent with the images of his absent friends, and as he
pored over the letters of some beloved correspondents, or
locked eagerly for the coming of the post, thought that he
was again in London or Caleutta. The entries in his
common-place book show what was the warmth of his
young affections:

“ ArTACEMENTS.—Attachment to a female is generally inse-
parable from desire; yet when this is not the case, how much
more tender and pure it is! The effect Miss D—-"s virtue,
sense, and beauty had, and still have, upon my mind, can never,
I think, be effaced. Yet was my attachment pure aad warm,
but unaccompanied Wwith any desire. I longed for her heart.
« « « . Thelovdof mboy of fifteen is a langhable subject; and
is, consxdered tooichﬂthsh to be lasting. Two years of absence
have nnly served to strengthen the -most disinterested attache
mwent to‘her, and her sénsible letters have heightened my admira-
tion. ‘Siie’is far removed from any thoughts of obtaining her
hand, and good sense and reason prohibit my aspiring to it. Her
happiness is my first wish in preference to my own; and who-
ever, the happy man to whose arms she i consigned, may he prove
worthy of the inestimable blessing.”—[ Camp near Oujein, April
25th, 1802.)

% NeaLECT oF Frienps.—How painful is the neglect of friends,
or the appearance of it! Although it is more than probable that
my correspondence has not been slighted, and that the friend of
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my heart has actually written to me,* yet the doubt and anxiety
occasioned in my mind by the non-arrival of his letters are really
tormenting. With what eagerness do I wait for the coming of
the post, and wben my hopes are daily disappointed, with what
impatience do I ook forward to the next morning, and the possi-
bility of their being realized. I may say with Rousseau, I was
born for friendship ; but, alas! how few are—how few feel it in
its sincerity—how often is it abused—bow very few look upon
it as more than a temporary intimacy, which afler separation
is no longer to be maintained.”—[ Camp near Oujein, April 25ik.]

The official ccnnection of Charles Metcalfe at this time
with Scindiab’s Court was brief and unsatisfactory. My
situation was very disagreeable,” he wrote in his journal,
before he had been more than a few weeks attached to the
Residency; and he very soon formed the resolution of
seeking more congenial employment elsewhere. Dut,
painful and embarrassing as was his position, he was
becoming more reconciled to Indian life. The great
panacea of action had been applied, with unfailing efficacy,
to the mental ailments of the eager youth; and though his
home-gickness had not been wholly subdued, it had con-
siderably abated. He no longer felt that he was stagnating.
The great world was opening out before him.

So it may be believed that when, in the summer of
1802, Charles Metcalfe received, from his parents, answérs
to the letters which he had written from Calcutta in the
preceding year, imploring permission to return to England,
and found that those answers gave mo encouragement to

"the project of abandoning the profession which he had
entered, the denial inflicted upon him less pain than he

* I believe that tbe friend here alluded to was Mr. Terrick
Hamulton, then a student in the college, and afterwards & not
undistinguished member of the Madras Civil service—one of the
few of Charles Metealfe’s old friends and associates mow lfvmxo
The missing letters were afterwards received, The thend had not
been neglectful,
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had anticipated. He had begun to take new views of
life, and of life’s duties. Perhaps it had become apparent to
him that distinction might be achieved in the East as rapidly
as in the West. All his friends in India, old and young, had
dissuaded him from the project of returning to England,
and now the letters of his parents brought conviction to
his mind that he could not take the rash step without
plunging them in deepest grief. Most kindly, but still
most firmly, did Major Metcalfe reply to the solicita-
tions of his son. How wise his counsel was need not be
told :

FROM MAJOR METCALFE TO CHARLES METCALFE.

« Feb. 24, 1802.

“ MY pEar CrarLEs,—Your letter of the 30th of June reached
me this day, and has, of course, eaused much uneasiness to your
mother and me, The two lettery you allude to have not yet been
received. On a retrospect of my own feelings with regard to my
children, I can with great truth declare, that their care, comfort,
and establishment in lifc has been the great object of my endea-
vours, 1If I had considered my own imclination, I should never
have suffered your brother er you to leave this country. In the
vale of life, the eompany of two sons, of whose abilities and
acquirements any father might be proud, would have been a
solace that a selfish mind would readily embrace; but, looking
forward to the period when I muss pay the debt of Nature, it
became an indisputable duty te give up personal enjoyment for
their future welfare, and to consider how to place them in the
most advantageous situations. Judge them, my dear Charles,
what I experienced at finding you so dissatisfied with your station
in the Civil SBervice, after so short a trial. Let me ask you in
what line of life I could have placed you that could held out any
prospect of a direct support, much less of a future independence ?
The army and navy you always objected to; and with respect to
your present idea of & clerkship in the Secretary of State’s office,
if I could have obtained such an appointment, the situation is
neither so pleasant nor so profitable as a‘clerk in a merchant’s
counting-house—a place which you would soon discover to be too
degradiog ‘for any son of your father’s. That the prospeet in
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Bengal always appears unpromising on first entering into the
service, is a fact I have innumerable instances to prove; and
many men now in England with large fortunes, and several in
Bengal in good circumstances, held the same language as you now
do. I remember well my own feelings when I was an ensign, and
had been in the country about three months. I one morning (in
a fit of the bile) waited on the commanding officer with an inten-
tion to resign the service, and return to England, Fortunately
for me, the conversation at breakfast took & pleasant turn, in
which I bore an active part, and a hearty fit of laughter got the
better of my blue devils, I returned to my quarters with a deter-
mination to persevere; and by that prudent resolution have
reached the situation which I now bold. Let my example not be
‘thought unworthy of being followed by my sons; and I shali look
with anxiety for your next letter being written in better spirits
than the one now before me. )

“ God bless you, my dear Charles; let me hear from you by
every opportunity.

“Your most affectionate father,

“ Taomas T. METCALFEY

From his mother the young writer received letters
couched in more emphatic language than this. Mrs.
Metcalfe was a woman of strong sense and of plain dis-
course. She did not deal in half-truths, and was not
given to reservations. She knew that the prosperity of
her son’s career depended upon his continuance in India,
and she was resolute not to encourage a humour which,
in her conviction, was fraught with ruin. So she went
straight to the point, and told her son that he ought to
be ashamed of his instability ; that he did not know his
own mind ; that he talked about distinguishing himself in
England, but that he really thought more of indilging
a boyish fancy ; that he had been reading too much and
had got the vapours; and that it would be good for him
to '“ dissipate™ a little. A little more tenderness would
not have spoilt the letters, but there was wonderful sagacity
in them. They touched the whole matter as with &
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needle’s point-—and Charles Metcalfe must have felt their
prickings.* .
Fearful as they were lest, under the influence of the
despondency which beset him during his first year of
probation, their son might be tempted to abandon all his
fair prospects of success, and precipitately to return to
England, it was with no common satisfaction that the
elder Metcalfe learnt that Charles had been appointed an
assistant to their “ old friend Jack Collins,” and was on his
way to Scindiah’s Court. And how much this satisfaction
was enhanced by the assurances they received from all

* A few extracts from these letfers may be given in a note :—

« If you have a grain of ambition, you are in the field for it,and
theball is at yourfoot. . . . . Whatisit you want? With friends,
money, attention, credit, good sense, abilities, and a prospect
before you which hundreds, I may say thousands, in that country
have not, yon want, I fear, my dear Charles, a contented mind.
.+ - - You study too much. You should dissipate a little. Om
account of your health, you should relax. Ride en horseback.
‘When intense thinking is joined with the want of exercise, the
consequences must be bad."—{ March 1424, 1802.])

“Your letters by the Georgiana have given your father and myself
little satisfaction. 'We did not expect this, and are, therefore, the
more chagrined. Instead of your parents being the objects of your
wish to relinquish so important a situation, if you examine your
heart, you will find it is Miss D—- .. .. Your father has not
the means or interest to get even the paltry appointment of a elerk
in Lord Grenville's office; and if be had, there you might stay,
whatever were your asbilities. . ... If you are ambitiouns, the
field is open before you where you are; and in no place will you
stand so good a chance. . . . . You will laugh at my sending yoo
out a box of pills by Miss S——; bat I think you are bilious, and
they will be of great service."~[ April 8¢k, 1802.]

“I do nof know what to say to alleviate your seemingly discon-
tented mind. . . . . I feel most severely your letters, and think it
& great misfortune that you should have taken so great 3 dislike
to a situation which seems best calculated to bring forth your
abilities. It shows a want of energy, a want of manliness, to be so
cast down.”—{ November 24th, 1802.]
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quarters that their son was treading worthily the appointed
path, and was already considered a youth of uncommon
promise, may be gathered from Major Metcalfe’s subsequent
letters =

FROM MAJOR METCALFE TO CHARLES METC;‘LFE.

+ Indie House, July 28, 1802.

“ My pEAr CrARLES,—I recgjved your short epistle informing
me of your appointment to tI¥® Arabian embassy; and while ¥
was writing to you by the way of Constantinople received an
account from Mr. Balfour of your destination being changed to
the assistantship to my old friend Jack Collins—the situation of
all others which accords most with my wishes, and T hope this
letter will find you happily situated with the man who of all
others in India is most interested in the welfare of my son. You
are now in the high road to diplomatic fame, and as the country
languages are to be acquired in greater perfection where you are
stationed than in Calcutta, and your attention will be called
officially to the general politics of India, my expectations are
sanguine you will soom be considered well qualified for the
situation Government has placed you in, and which must of
course lead to something better in time, . . .

“Tell Collins I saw his boys lately ; théy are gomg on extremdy
well, and as Lintend giving the eldest my best nomination when
he is of the proper age, you will have to take 23 much care of him
as I am convinced his father will take of you.

“ Tromas T. MuTCALFE.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.

“ August 30, 1802,

“Mz pEsr CeaRLES,—In a few days after I sent off my last
letter, Colonel Monson, ta cur great sarprise, made his appearance,
and gave us the ‘most satisfactory account of your progress to
Agra, with several particulara respecting health, &e., that made
Yyour mother and me eompletely happy, feeling ag'we naturally de
more interested in the welfare of yow and your brothér, who are
removed to so great a distance, than for the children immediately
uwnder our eye. Qur whole mind is eonstantly employed in
thinking of your prospects in life; and ss nothing ean be more
flattering than the commencement of your pablie line, I am
sanguine in my expectations that yow will continue to reflect
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honour upon your father. Indeed, my dear boy, I feel the most
heartfelt pleasure at the acconnts I receive from all guarters about
you, and only regret that you have not been a lttle more commu~
nicative about yourself, but look forward in expectation that
when you are settled in your diplomatic employment you will
make amends by frequent accounts of yourself and my friend the
Resident. The Marquis (Wellesley) has desired to have a sue-
cessor appointed, and in his letter of the 1st of April, mentions
an iamtention of embarking for England in December, 1802, or
January, 1808, I am of opinion that we shall not appdint s new
Governor-General $ill he arrives, and think Lord Castlereagh is
likely to be the man—in which case, I think I shall be enabled to
make s favourable impression both for Collins and you, 23 I am
upon good terms with Lord C.

« Tell Collins his charming boys are returned to scheol. 'With
love to him, and every blessing a father ean bestow,

<] remain, my dear fellow,
“ Your most affectionate parent,,
“Tromas T. MeTcALFE.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.

[ Without date,}

« My prar Caanres—The zecounts I have received from
wvarious quarters of your character and general conduct is o
fattering, that I assure your mother with confidence you will
turn out a distinguished man when an opportunity offers of
bringing your talents forward ; and your parents want nothing to
complete their happiness but information from yourself, that you
are satisfied with your 'present situation. The share of good
gense you are evidently master of, will, I trust, reconcile you to
the line of life you are placed in, and convince you of the impos-~
sibility of a compliance with your former request. I think you
did right in selling your books, as your Iibrary was by far too
large to travel about with; and when you get a settled situation,
I will supply yon with as many as you miy write for.

“Tell my friend Collins I saw his boys yesterday. They are
all we can wish.

“The Marquis’s conduct fo you has made a deep impression on
my mind. I shall feel more devoted to him than to any other
man who was ever in high station. His last letter, dated im
April, intimates an intention of leaving India in December or
January, and desires the Directors to appoint a successor. But
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when he receives a request from the Court as well as from Mr,
Addington to remain another year, I think there is no doubt of
his continuing, The change in the office of President of tbe
Board of Commissioners is an advantage ta the Public and
Company. Lord Castlereagh is the most promising young man
in England. He comes nearer to Mr. Pitt than any other person
in public life. I stand well with him and the Minister-~an object
of ‘no other consequence than as it may furnish the opportunity
of promoting the interests of my two sons. Give my unfeigned
love to Collins, Let us hear from you frequently, to give happi-

ness to
% Toomas T, MeTcALFE.”

But long before these last letters had reached Charles
Metcalfe, he bad turned his back upon. Scindiah’s Court,
and bidden adieu to his father’s “ old friend Jack Collins.”
A trial of a few weeks satisfied him that he could not
serve under the Resident; so he made up his mind to
resign his appointment. 'What the immediate ¢ause of the
rupture may have been I know not. In all probability it
resulted from general incompatibility and an aggregation
of minute circumstances not easily to be described. Some-
thing, however, may be gathered from the following
characteristic passage of a letter to his friend Sherer, dated
¢¢ Camp near Abzunpoor, June 20, 1802.”

“T have suffered one precious year of my life to pass away with«
out any adequate improvement. In the year 1801 X really
acquired nothing, unless a smattering of an Oriental jargon be
termed an acquisition, I suffered a very large library to be use-
less whence I might have extracted that which would have been
of much more service to me than running about to tiffins and
noisy parties, where.instruction, and even amusement could never
be procured.*

* In this letter the young writer alludes to his want of personal
comeliness, saying,—* Let mankind say what they will, s pretty
face is an excellent introduction; and beforemow I have had to
regret the bad effects of an ugly phiz—particularly with the ladies.
Never for a moment hesitate, inder the idea of my being foolishly
offended, to tell me what you think., Believe me, I am the last
man who would at all take ill even your censure.”
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#] gm always happy to be of your opinion, which in the present
case carries conviction along with it, and I have much satisfaction
in telling you that I have acted according to it, for although I
regret the want of public employment, which is to me the most
agreeable of all employment, yet I have endeavoured to gain
what knowledge I could, and improve my idess. My short stay
at Scindiah’s Court has prevented my knowledge being very
complete, but in a short time one ay observe something. There
is great justice in your reproach, which, whether meant or not, I
have applied to myself, respecting my injunctions of caution
to you, I could, I kuow very well, have trusted to your judgment,
which, for the future, I shall do. .As to Collins, I scarcely know
what to say. . . . I say that from my soul what I believe to
be true, yet I anvaware that it is possible that T may see things:
with a jaundiced ey’é, for his conduct towards me has been such
that I have not words to express my contempt of it, .« ..
Any general description of Collins will convey no idea of it; it is
only from hearing particular anecdotes that you would be able to
Jjudge of his extraordinary character. 'To say the best of him, he
is a man whom one ought immediately to quit.”

That Jack Collins and Charles Metcalfe had their differ-
ences, and could not agree fo differ amicably and philo-
sophically, is clear. The story is & very old one; within
every man's experience; infelligible; without mystery.
Calonel Collins was cold, imperious, and overbearing. He
was known by the name of “ King Collins;” and he bad
listle toleration for those who did not recognise his
sovereignty. He looked wupom Charles Metcalfe as a
vassal and as a boy. He stood upon his position, and he
stood upon his age. He exacted a deference which the-
youth was slow to concede; he claimed a superiority
which was not willingly acknowledged. The boy thought
the man arrogant and domineering. The man thought
the boy forward and presumptucus, It is probable that
both were right. It is almost a condition of early talent
to be vain and self-sufficient. It does not much matter.
The vanity and self-sufficiency are soon rubbed off, But

VOL. L b
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in the meanwhile it is hardly to be expected that age and
experience should benignantly regard the manifestation
of these qualities only'as a sign of what is called in the
above letter a ¢ consciousness of power.” S5till, a-little
more toleration in such cases is to be desired; and it
would have been well if the elder man had smiled at
the self-sufficiency of his young friend, and borne with
it for the sake of his finer qualities. Charles Metcalfe
was, doubtless, fond of arguing, and King Collins did not
like being argued with by a boy of seventeen.* This in
a few plain words seems to have been the cause of their
rupture. They parted with at least outward civility; and
became sufficiently good friends—at a distance.{

* It-was, doubtless, after some similar collision with an elder,

that, & few months afterwards, Charles Metcalfe wrote in bis
«common-place book,—*“ Argur. We are often reproached for what
we aretaught to do. To differ in epinion from men of greater age
and experience is looked upon, in a young man, asa great pre-
sumption. Yet are boys at school and college taught and compelled
to criticise the best and most celebrated authors that the world has
known, and to argue on all subjects even in favour of an untenable
proposition.”—[ February 18th, 1803.]

1 Several letters from Col. Collins, written shortly after Charles
Metcalfe’s departure, are preserved by thelatter. They are written
probably with as much warmth as the man was capable of feeling.
They sometimes acknowledge the receipt of a “friendly letter™
from Metcalfe, and generally ¢éxpress a hope—ofien an assurance,
that the young man will succeed in the line of his profession. In
one letter he says : “1 had little doubt but that Mr. Barlow would
recommend your fixing in Calcutta, and on more mature reflec-
tion, I believe that his judgment is perfectly correct. Since be
seems so well disposed towards you, I am certain you will not fail
to cultivate his esteem and regard—not merely because his friend-
ship may be useful in forwarding your interest, but principally on
account of the high character he bears, as well for integrity as
ability. Do you know, I by no means despair of drinking a
bumper with your father, at some distant period, however, to the
bealth of Charles Metcalfe, member of the Supreme Government
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in Bengal. Jesting apart, you have talents to justify the most
sanguine hopes of your friends; and as you have come to the
resolution of continuing in the service, I have no doubt of your
application. Indeed, the former would be of no use without the
latter. . . . . Pray let me hear from you sometimes. Be assured
that I shall ever feel warmly interested in your success in life,
and, consequently, must be desirous of knowing how you get
on: Remember, also, I am your banker, as well as your sincere
friend.—J. COLLIRA."—[ September 244h, 1802.]

p 2
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CHAPTER IV.

[1802—1804.]

TRAINING AT THE PRESIDENCY.

Return to Calcutta—Appointment to the Chief Secretary’s Office—
His Studies--Extracts from his Common-place Book—Visit
of Theophilus Metcalfe—Appointment to the Governor-
General’s ,Office-— Early Official Papers — Rupture with
Scindiah—Appointment to the Staff of the Commander-in-
Chief,

Ox the 10th of September, 1802, Charles Metcalfe, having
dropped down the river in a boat lent to him by Captain
Collins, arrived, a second time, at Calcutta; and on the
4th of October he was appointed an assistant in the office
of the Chief Secretary to Government.

It seems to have peen his desire, at this time, to obtain
employment at the Presidency, under the eye of the
Governor-General, and to fit himself in the Secretary’s
office for advancement in the diplomatic line, to which
he had determined to adhere. Lord Wellesley had looked
favourably upon the young writer, and was obviously
well inclined to serve him. Mr. Barlow, who was then
second in influence and importance only to the Governor-
General, recommended him to remain at the Presidency.
He had friends, too, whom he dearly loved at Calcutta;
8o that all his inclinations were gratified by the arrange-
ment that had been made. His trip to the.camp of the
Mahratta had not been without its uses. & had returned
with enlarged experiences to the viceregal city. e had
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traversed a large extent of tountry. He had acquired
a more extended knowledge of the people of India than
he could have gained in many years of Calcutta life,
And though he had rendered no great service to the state,
as assistant to the Resident at Scindiah's Court, he brought
back some_local information which subsequently was
turned to profitable account, and he had begun to interest
himself in the tangled politics of northern and weatern
India.

Litile by little he had learnt to reconcile himself to
Indian life, and, still not without some fond regrets, he
now looked his profession steadfastly in the face, and
applied himself sedulously to the duties of his office.
Mouch of his leisure time he devoted to his books. And
he was no careless reader. He sat with a note-book
before him, and as he pored over the pages of Gibbon,
of Russell, or of the Abbé Raynal, he jotted down such
landmarks of history as would be most useful for after
reference, and kept his memory fresh as he proceeded.
His old habit of philosophising, at which some of his_
friends laughed irreverently, was as strong as ever, and
his common-place book was often opened. “To many of
the entries a peculiar value belongs, for they are snatches
of self-portraiture or incidental reflections of the character
of the youthful statesman. They contain, indeed, his inner
history, and are a little autobiography in themselves.

EXTRACTS FROM THE COMMON-PLACE BOOK OF CHARLES
METCALFE.

[Etate 17—18.]

“ Humax INTELLECT~It has often occurred to my mind, as
a doubt which I have never been able to solve, how far active
talents and & sedentary disposition are compatible, By active
talents I do nd¥f mean that activity of the body which delights in
the sports of the field and corporeal exercise, but that activity of
the mind, that superior ability, which is formed for the rule of
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empires, is at all times ready for attion, perceives instantly, and
decides without hesitation: Were I to decide hypothetically, I
should say that active talents were never accompanied by close
application. There is-a degree of drudgery, quiet, and, I had
almost said, inertness required in close application to & particular
study which I think incompatible with & mind such as I have
in view. Instead of sedentary disposition, I ought to have said
confined attention, to a science or a pursuit, for it is certain that
there is no activity so great as that of the mind engaged in the
yursuit of knowledge. But I am of opinion that active talents
cannot be bent to a particular branch of study, and that they will
universally fly off from particular to universal knowledge. Many
men of quick but quiescent parts bave rendered themselves
famous in some one art or science, whilst others of more active
talents, having made universal knowledge the object of their
pursuits, have not been driven beyond the circle of their acquaint«
ance, for human intellect is confined within such narrow bomls
that it can never possess more than a very moderate kuowledge
of general subjects. And it is pne of the innumerable proofs of
the vast extent of Divine Wisdom that the human mind should
take such various turns, and prozeed by such different ways,
to the acquisition of knowledge, improvement of science, refine-
‘ment of the world, and to.the accomplishment of the views of the
Omnipotent Deity. For I take it to be an indisputable fact, that
there are no two minds, and never were two minds, which are not
essentially different.”—{ Calcutta, October 29th, 1802.]

« CrRISTIANITY.—I eannct help thinking that too strict an in-
quiry into the truth of the Christian religion ought to be discou-
raged in very young persons, It is anm inquiry which requires
vast fortitude of mind, and which we ought to commence with
perfect faith,. Youth is very easily led astray by plausible argu-
ments, and the system of natural religion is too pleasing not to
engage a young imagination. It is thus that M———, who has
brought these reflections to my mind, at first set off as an enthu-
siastic admirer of Christianity, and carried his attention to its
principles and duties to a great excess, but has now (most pro-
bably from the sopbistical argument of some persuasive genius)
entirely given up bis faith in our blessed religion, and devotes
himself to natural religion and universal philanthropy. A mind,
however, so easily and suddenly converted may, without much
difficulty, be brought back to a just belief of the doctrines of our
Heavenly Saviour.”.~[ November 19k, 1802.]
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« Frienp.—It is less difficult to conciliate an enemy than to pre-
serve a friend. There are no enmities so strong that the parties
are not desirous of a reconciliation. I have seen no friendship
which has not been interrupted by many petty jealousies, which
always produce temporary contentions, too frequently lasting
separations, and which are the more acute as the attachment is
more ardent. I must eradicate from my mind that propensity to
form romantic attachments which my youth and inexperience
have encouraged. Never again will I nourish the seeds of a rising
friendship; never wil I love the man who has not obtained by
long intercourse my respect and esteem ; and so aid me ye powers
of prudeunce and good sense im my resolves! Iam too well con-
vinced that there are very few hearts capable of the friendship
which I feel, and would wish others to feel; and, young as I am,
I am taught by painful experience that the sacred name of friend-
ship is too often violated; that equal and mutual attachments are
seldom, and I doubt if ever, to be found, and that an ardent
attachment unreturned shackles the independence of the mind,
and cannot fail to be attended with vexation and unhappiness. L
am determined to resign the man whose apparent indifference has
cost me so many sighs, and hope that in a short period I may be
able to turn back to this page and smile at the reluctance with
which I evidently part from him, and whach is still moye painful
than it is evident.”—[ December 18ih, 1802.]

% SELF-LOVE is a most consoling companion. Let every man
ssearch his ewn heart. Ihave a very good opinion of myself, and,
a8 far as I remember, always had the same. Self-love is the
guide of all men’s actions. Ope man feels a pleasure in feeding
his own desires, another in feeding his neighbour’s; but the prin-
ciple is the same. Self-love is always at the bottom. 'The one is.
bent on present happiness, the other on future. I cam tell which
is the wiser, but I cannot which is the better man. We appear all
to be instruments in the hands of an Almighty, All-secing Being,
and is one more blameable than another? Can we go in the right
way without the assistance of Providence? .And shall he, who
for want of that assistance goes wrong, be punished ¥ Do we guffer
for the sins of others? For what were we created? When, and
how, shall we be destroyed? The inquiry is endless. Guide me,
O Lord, in the right way.”

#To MyseLr.—Mind-little Mind--thou art envious—not so as
to give me much trouble, but sufficient to convince me that theu
art in want of reform; so eet about ii instantly, and learn to feel
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as much happiness at the good fortune of others as thou wouldst
for thine own.”—[ February 19th, 1803.]

— “ Nothing is more irksome than in submission to the rules of
society, or to the natural inclination which the mind has not to
offend, to feign a liking to one whose qualifications do not render
him an object of our esteem, or to appear gratified with the society
of him who could not be too far from us, Such a man is R——."
~—{[4pri 22nd, 1803.]

# Minp AND CoUNTENANCE.~—The features of the countenance
are formed after those of the mind.” *~{ April 25k, 1803.]

But whilst Charles Metcalfe was thus from time to time
recording in his common-place book the history of his
inner wqrld of thought and feeling, in the outer world of
incident and action there were circumstances developing
themselves which tended in no small measure to shape the
dfter-career of the man. These were partly of a domestic,
and partly of an official character. In the month of
January, his elder brother, Theophilus, came round from
Chiua to Calcutta, and on the 4th of April, Charles Metcalfe
was appointed an assistant in the office of the Governor-
General.

His brother’s visit was quite unexpected. The dawk of
the 8th of January brought him a letter from Theophilus,
not dated from the Factory at Canton, but from the * Ship
Betsy, below Ingerlee,” on the Hooghly river. “ You
certainly will be astonished, my dearest Charles,” wrote
the elder brother, “to receive a letter from me dated from
this place; but the cause is, ill-health having compelled
me to take a trip to sea, I took the opportunity of spend-
ing a few months with you, my dear fellow, and, thank
God, have arrived safe, and perfectly recovered.” The
announcement filled Charles Metcalfe with delight. “ My
God,” he exclaimed to his friend Sherer, on the evening
before Theophilus’ arrival, “ he is the finest fellow in the

* Opposite to this he had subsequently written, under date
August 9th, 1803—¢ Why, then, are mine so ugly ?”
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world!”* Not many hours afterwards the two brothers
were shaking hands, after three years' separation—-yet
little more than boys in age, but in experience and posi-
tionmen. They were still as unlike asever; but yearsand
absence had taught each brother to appreciate the qualities of
the othet, and they met as the most affectionate of friends.
It is not to be doubted that this fraternal visit was very
beneficial to Charles Metcalfe, His brother was a fine,
manly youth—by no means inclined to meet the troubles
of life half-way, but in the cheerfulness of his disposition
and the strength of his endurance, sufficiently case-hardened
against them. He had gone out to China much against
his will, but had soon reconciled himself to his position,
and had earnestly persuaded his more desponding brother
to do the same.f But when he found that Charles con-

* Sherer to Metcalfe, January.17, 1806,

1 On the 5th of November, 1801, dating from Canton, Theophilus
Metealfe wrote :—*“ The receiving a letter from you afforded me
much pleasure, but I am sorry to find that India has not turned
out 50 pleasant as you expected. But, my dear brother, it does
not seem to be the profession you dislike, or the mode of making
the money (which is my dislike to the country), but_a regret at
leaving England, Consider, Charles, it is not in the nature of
things for us to be always with our family. Therefore, as you
like your profession, and say 20,000/ would not suffice for you,
what place can you sooner realise that sum in than India? You
will perhaps say, that I am much altered. It is not so. My
remaining here is only from the same motive which induced me
to come out—that of satisfying aparent. . . . . , Nomore
of thiss I have two requests to make : that you will not go home
unless you are ill ; but if you find the climate will not agree with
you, return home immediately, and I promise you that, when it ig
in my power, your situation in England shall he made pleasant,

.If you cannot stay in this country, go home and make my dear
friend Anne my sister, I have another request to make, that
you will place confidence in me, let me know your debts, your
movements, everything.—

* Take courage, man, and me your sorrowa tell,
And safely think nane kens 'em but yoursel,’ »
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tinued firm in his eagerness to return to England, with a
generosity and, self-devotion which did him the Lighest
honour, he seconded his brother's solicitations, and pro-
mised his father, that if he would permit Charles to settle
at home, he himself would engage not to swerve from the
line of his profession, but make a fortune for himself in
China.* Such conduct had greatly endeared him to his
brother, and had raised him in the estjmation of his
parents. But the elder Metcalfe had made up his mind
on the subject; and whilst Theophilus was crossing the
Bay of Bengal, he was writing to Charles that the gene-
rous conduct of his eldest son had not induced him to
swerve from his old resolutions. % The last letter from
your brother,” he wrote, * was of the most pleasing
nature. He feels perfectly satisfied with his situation, and
with a degree of affcctionate, liberality, which does him
great honour, desires me to let you come to England, and
allow him to shift for himself. You, my dear boy, know
my sentiments on this head. Ishould feel wanting in the
duty as a father to the true interests of his son, were I to
indulge my own desires to have my fumily with me by
complying with the request of either of my sons to aban-
don the line of service I have had the good fortune to
place them in; and my confidence in your good sense
"is such that I flatter myself you will, ere this arrives,
be convinced my determination is founded in your
. prosperity—the only object I could possibly bave in
view.”

Before this letter was received; Charles Metcalfe and his

* He, however, discouraged tbe idea of “Lord Grenville’s
office,” and suggested to Charles to turn bavker. . . . .,
* Believe me,” he said, “ you will not find yourself happy in Lord
Grenville's office y the situation I would recommend, if you are
determined to leave India, and which in my letter to my father I

shall point out to him, as I believe, if he could succeed in placing
you in it, he would consent, is the banking line,”
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brother had many a time talked over the subject-matter
of it together; and it is not to be doubted that the former
profited largely by the sensible advice, and perhaps still
more by the cheerful demeanour of the young Chinaman,
and the affectionate intercourse which was maintained
betwcen them. Theophilus Metcalfe was determined to
enjoy himself. He had scented a party at Government
House even from the Sand-Heads, and had written up to
his brother that he should “ require a friseur ™ imme-
diately upon his arrival. He now stimulated the social
activity of his more studious and quiescent brother, and
even brought him somewhat reluctantly into a cricket-
match, which the Etonians of Calcutta had adventured
against the whole Presidency.* These things did the
younz statesman no harm. And, apart from all these
secondary influences, there was an ‘abiding consolation in
the presence of his brother, which seemed to bring
home nearer to him, and greatly diminished the sense
of isolation which had before pressed so heavily on his
heart. .

Even when Theophilus Metcalfe turned his back on
Calcutta, and set out to visit his aunt Richardson, at
Cawnpore, whither he vainly endeavoured to persuade
Charles to accompany him, there still remained with the
latter a fecling that he was not alone. Seldom did a day
pass on which the young civilian did not receive a letter
from his brother reporting the progress-he had made wpon

* In a litile manuscript volume, which he kept at this time,
and which he ecalled an “ Account of Reading,” Charles Metcalfe
wrote under date of January, 1808.—*Continued Arabic. My
studies and reading much interrupted this wmonth by the arrival
of my brother from Ching, which rendered me, en his account,
more inclined to pleasures of every sort.”—The month’s reading
only included “Browne’s Travels in Africa,” “ Lucani Pharsalia
“ Carmen in Pisonem,” and “Volney’s Travels in Egypt.and
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Syria,
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his travels. .All this had an unfailing tendency to encour-
age and to strengthen him at a time when other influences
were at work in the same favourable direction~—when his
official position was such as increasingly to flatter his
boyish vanity and stimulate his boyish ambition. He was,
I have said, appointed in April, 1803, an assistant in the
office of the Governor-General. Lord Wellesley had, some
time before, conceived the idea of planting in Government
House an office under his own immediate superintendence.
He was not guilty of the folly of attempting to mystify
the secretaries to Government—-—of embarrassing his own
movements by keeping them in ignorance of his designs.
The Government secretaries, indeed, were a part of the
machinery of his own office. But he believed that in
matters of great political importance, involving the neces-
sity of secresy, the subordinate agency of supreme
direction could best be carried on by educated gentlemen,
the. covenanted servants of the Company, immediately
responsible to himself. In prosecution of this design, it
was his wont to select from among the young civilians at
the Presidency those who had given the fairest promise of
intelligence and zeal, and to make them his confidential
assistants, And it is an eminent proof of the sagacity of
this great statesman that he seldom made a selection that
was not more than justified by the after-career of the man
on whom he had fixed his regards. Nor was it the least
pleasing of his retrospects forty years afterwards to recall
the persons of the young men whom during the first years
of the century, he had assembled in Government House
——the persons of John Adam, of Bayley, of Jenkins, and
of Metcalfe, and to think of the distinction that in the
interval had been attained by his pupils.

In that grand viceregal school the clever boys of the
civil service ripened rapidly into statesmen. They saw
there how empires yere governed. The imposing spectacle
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fired their young ambition, and each in turn grew eager
and resolute to make for himself a place in history. Of
all men living, perhaps Lord Wellesley was the one around
whose character and conduct the largest amount of youth-
ful admiration was likely to gather. There was a vastness
in all his conceptions which irresistibly appealed to the
imaginations of his disciples. Their faith in him was
unbounded. The promptitude and decision with which he
acted dispelled all doubt and disarmed all scepticism.
Embodied in the person of Lord Wellesley, statesmanship
was in the eyes of his pupils a splendid reality. They
saw in him a great man with great things to accomplish.
As he walked up and down the spacious central hall of
the newly-erected Government House, now dictating the
terms of a letter to be. despatched to one political func-
tionary, now to another, keeping many pens employed at
once, but, never confusing the argument or language proper
to each, there was a moral grandeur about him seen
through which the scant proportions of the little viceroy
grew into something almost sublime. There could not be
a finer forcing-house for young ambition. -Charles Metcalfe
grew apace in it.

He soon began to feel that he was acquiring something
that would cling to him all his life—that the training to
which he was subjected was well calculated to fit him to
tread the path that leads direct to fame. What had once
appeared to him petty and objectless, was now expanding
into bulk and significance. The day-dreams of the Eton
cloisters might be realized after all on the scenes where he
once believed hard fate had condemned him to waste his
existence. 'The future seemed very different to him now
that Government House had become his college, and he
had for a moonshee the Governor-General himself. The
example of his father, too, was at this time conspicuously
before him, Major Metcalfe, who had gone out to India
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with none of those advantages which had environed his
som, had been sent to Parliament by the people, and created.
a baronet by the King.* The glad tidings of this-latter
event reached Charles Metcalfe early in May; and some
days afterwards he wrote in his common-place book these
memorable words:

%My Fareer—~Early in the month I learnt that his Majesty
had conferred tbe dignity of baronet upon my father., I rijoiced
at it, because I was certain that this honour was not sought for
by any of those mean arts which generally soil modern titles, X
rejoiced at it because I was certain that it was not purchased by
the loss of independence. My good father is s strong instance of
what may be done by sbility and integrity. 'He is an example
which I shall ever have before my eyes, and if I steadily pursue
his footsteps I havelittle doubt that I shall raise the gecond branch
of the family to the same honours.”—[ May 16tk, 1803.]

From this time Charles Metcalfe looked steadily forward.
There were no more vain retrospects; no more idle regrets.
The vestigia retrorsum were not to be taken. He bhad
formed the resolution of not leaving the country until the
governor-generalship of India was in his hands. And that
such would be the end of his career was not a mere passing
thought—an impulsive hope—but an abiding and sustain-
ing conviction.}

* Writing of the dignity that had been conferred upon him to
his son, the elder Metcalfe gaid :—* The dignity of Baronet which
his Majesty has lately conferred upon me, was done in the most
handsome way, and our reception at St. James's, when your
mother was presented on coming ta the title, was flattering in the
highest degree. At my time of life the adding Sir to my name is
of little fmportance, but to your mother, your sisters, and the
whole family, I think the obJect desirable”

1 He did not scruple to say in early youth, that he would be
Governor-General of India. And this rot lightly and jestingly ;-
but with all sincerity of meaning and gravity of manner.
Among others to whom e mentioned this conyiotion, was that
excellent man, the late Dr. Marshman, who oftex spoke of the
prophecy in after years, when Cbarles Metcalfe had reacked the'
gaol towards which he had long been steadily advancing.
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All throngh the year 1803 and the earlier part of 1804,
Charles Metcalfe continued to graduate in Indian politics,
wmder ¢he directorship of Lord Wellesley. It was a season
of unusual excitement. At no period, perhaps, of our con~
nection with the East, has the aspect of affairs beyond the
frontier presented such a knot of difficulties for the disen-
tanglement of British statesmanship. 1 shall come pre-
sently to speak more in detail of our own relations with
the Mahratta States. At present it is enough to say, that
the complieation of affairs, threatening, as it did, to involve
the British power in the greatest war in which it had ever
been engaged in India, threw a large amount of work into
the Governor-General's office, and taxed all the energies of
his assistants, Lake and Wellesley were in the field, wait-
ing the opportnnity to strike. It was certain that mo
statesmanship, that no diplomacy, could avert the inevit-
able collision. Whatever may have been the wishes of the
Governor-General, I am afraid that it cannot be said that
the boys in his office were very desirous to arrest the war.
“They were deeply interested in the progress of events, and
their sympathies were not with the peace-makers. So it
happened that, when intelligence reached Calcuita that the
anticipated rupture had actually taken place, and that
Calonel Collina had quitted Scindiah’s court, Metcalfe and
his associates were thrown into z state of excitement in
which there was mo great imtermixture of pain. It was,
indeed, a memorable day. There are men still living who,
after the lapse of half a century, remember all the circam-
stances of that evening as vividly as though they had
occurred in the present reign. For some days, the
&« gloripus little man,” as his disciples affectionately called
Lord Wellesley, had been pacing one of the halls of
Government ‘House, girding himself up for the approaching
crisis; and now he was prepared to meet it. Aided by
Edmonstone, the Political Secretary, whose knowledge was
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as ready as it was extensive, he now dictated instructions
to Colonel Collins, now to General Lake, now to Arthur
Wellesley, now to John Malcolm, and now to Close and
Kirkpatrick, the Residents at the courts of the Pecishwah
and the Nizam., All day long these weighty despatches
grew beneath the hands of the young scribes. The brief
twilight of the Indian evening passed and left the work only
half done.  But still, by the bright lamp-light, the young
writers resolutely plied their pens, as hour after hour the
Governor-General continued to dictate the despatches, upon
which the fate of principalities depended. Words of encou-
ragement, little needed, came freely from him, as he directed
this great work, And still, as Adam, Bayley, Jenkins,
Metecalfe, Cole, Monckton, and others, wrote and wrote these
weighty despatches, upon which the events of the great
war were to turn, he told them ever and anon that their
work would soon be done, and that there was a table
spread for them in the banquet-room, at which they might
presently drink success to the campaign. Thongh it was
now the exhausting month of August, and rest and food
were denied to them throughout many long lLeure, there
was not one of them who flagged at his desk. Sustained
by their youthful enthusiasm, they continued at their work
till past midnight; then weary, hungry, and athirst, they
were conducted to the table which had been spread sump-
tuously for their entertainment. It was a festival not soon
to be forgotten. A special message from Lord Wellesley
instructed them to give full vent to their hilarity—to use
his cellar as though it were their own, and not to think
that they were bound to be quiet because they were in
Government House. So they drank success to the cam-
paign in good earnest; toasted the glorious Wellesley and
his glorious brother; toasted General Lake and Colonel
Stevenson; toasted the British soldier and Jack Sepoy; and
finally toasted one another. And the Governor-General
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did not complain that next day his office was not very
efficient.

Incidents of this nature were surely calculated to bind
such warm-hearted, earnest youths as Charles Metcalfe by
the strongest feelings of personal attachment and fidelity to
Lord Wellesley. They not only worked for him, they
worked with him. And the endearment thus engendered
was reciprocal. No statesman ever took a livelier interest
in the intellectual development of the disciples who sat at
his feet. He watched their progress with affectionate con-
cern: he encouraged and stimulated them by judicious
praise. Ile was at once their master and their friend; and
there was not one of them who did not identify himself
with his policy, and was not eager to contribute fo its
success.

And that even these clever boys could contribute some-
thing to the successful issue of Lord Wellesley’s magnificent
designs, abundant proof was frequently given. Eager for
an opportunity of rendering some service to the State, in a
higher capacity than that of a mere scribe, Charles Metcalfe
was not long in finding one. His visit to Colonel Collins,
T have said, was not barren of profitable results. He had
traversed a great part of the Mahratta country, and he had
been no inattentive observer of its local peculiarities. The
information which he had acquired on the spot was most
useful in the conjuncture which had now arisen; and the
young statesman knew well how to turn it to profitable
account. When, at the close of 1803, by a succession of
victories unparalleled in the annals of Indian conquegt,
Lake and Wellesley had broken the power of the Mah-
rattas and brought Scindiah to their feet, a second treaty
was dictated to the prostrate chief, by which he undertook
to receive a subsidiary force into his dominions. The
disposition of this force, dependent necessarily on local
circumstances, was likely to become an important subject



82 TRAINING AT THE PRESIDENCY.

of consideration; and as Charles Metcalfe had something
to say upon it, he resolved to draw up a memorandum, to
be submitted to Lord Wellesley, recommending Kotah as
the fittest place for the location of the subsidiary force, if it
were to be planted in one central cantonment, or for a part
of it, if it were to be broken up into several detachments.
This may not have been his first state-paper, but it is the
earliest that I have been able to find.*

This memorandum greatly pleased Lord Wellesley; he
saw its importance, and was glad to acknowledge it.
Taking up a pencil, as was his wont, he wrote on the
margin of the document : “ This paper i highly creditable to
Mr. Metcalfe's character and talents. It may becoms very
useful. A copy of it should be sent to the  Commander-in-
Chief, and another to Major Malcolm.—~W.” This wa3
Charles Metcalfe’s first great success. It fixed him in his
resolution to persevere, and dwarfed the proportions of
Lord Grenville's office. The boy of nincteen was drawing
a salary of a thousand a year,} and writing state-papers
for the information of the highest nuhtary and diplomatic
authorities in the country.

But, although he was now turning his attention towards
the strenuous realities of life, studying the Government
records, and dwelling rather upon the circumstantial than
upon the abstract, he still found time to moralize in his
common-place book, and to read a large number of printed
volumes, English, French, Latin, and Italian. Nor were

the Oriental languages wholly neglected Ile applied

* The original, in Charles Metcalfe’s handwriting, was pre-
served by the late Mr, Edmonstone,-to whose representative, Mr.
Neil Edmonstone, I am indebted for s mass of valuable historical
materials.

1 Eight hundred rupees a month—from the 3rd January, 1804.
e[ Letter of Mr, Edmonstone to Mr, Metcalfe, March 17, 1804.]

1 In February, after enumerating the books he had read, he
wrote:—~* These, with s slight occasional attention to French



EXTRACTS FROM THE COMMON-PLACE BOOK. 83

himself to the study of Persian and Arabic, and seems to
have mastered them sufficiently for all practical official
purposes. From the entries in his common-place book at
this time, I make the following sclections: they are
contained in the last privaté journal that he ever kept:

EXTRACTS FROM THE COMMON-PLACE BOOK OF CHABLES
METCALFE.

“ SELF-SurFiciENCY.~] often, in moments of reflection, take
myself to task for my self-sufficiency in fancying a superiority of
knowledge and sense over the generality of mankind, and examine
upon what claim this fancied superiority'is founded. I have read
and observed more, and have devoted more of my time to reflection,
than, I may almost say, any man of my own age. Does not this
give a claim to superiority? One would think so; and yet I am
much staggered when I see men acquiring fame and consequence
whom I do not conceive entitled to either. Y know no right that I
possess to fancy any saperiority, and yet my mind will fancy it.
It is, however, an opinion which, I believe, can only inspire good

and Arabic, form the sum total of my February reading.”—In
March he wrote :—* In the latter part of this month I peid some
sttention to Persian,”—In April, “ Continued studies in Persian,
and & general perusal of records, The improverment of this
menth, if not so various, is equally solid with that of the last, or
perhaps, more 80.” In May, he “read 4 great variety of interest-
ing records.” Stadied Persian, and reported that his improve-
ment had been *progressive and satisfactory.’—In June, he
“ continued siudies in Persian, and bad a great deal of effice
business, On the whole, improvement inadequate.” In July, he
recorded * A conmsiderable degree of office duty—improvement
very decent, but might have been better,”—August, * Commenced
with a very hard press of public business.”—{In this month he
read & vast number of plays, chiefly comedies and farces—many
of them Fielding’s.] And in September there was “an increase
of official business,” With the cold weather came s dimimution
of his literary industry, and the entries in his *Acecount of
Reading™ were few,
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and honourable actions. I believe that every man has some
vanity, derived from a fancied superiority in person, manners,
accomplishments, talents, or mind; and I do not know that mine
is the most unworthy. That vanity only is disgusting which is
proclaimed; and here I hope that I shall never be so weak as to
fall. One dircumstance which maj render this advisable is, that
I am constantly reminded of this fancied superiority by the avowed
opinions of others, and we are so willing to believe what others
say in our favour, that I would without scruple resign my case to
a just judge, and ask with confidence—*Have I sinned beyond the
hope of grace?’—[July, 1803.1

“Goop FELLow.—A character X have taken much pains to gain,
which is that of a good fellow, is & very contemptible one in the
enjoyment of it. The term itself is not at all appropriate to the
character, and the character is the most insignificant possible,
It is bestowed without distinction upon the sensible, the generous,
and the really good, as well as upon fools and ignorant and unprin-
cipled men. What are the qualifications which are requisite to
obtain this pame it would not be easy to define, since it is so
indiscriminately bestowed. Generally speaking, they seem to
consist in a resignation of one’s words and actions to the whims
and follies of the society in which we move; in a total departure
from the dictates of good sense and right reason, and too fre-
guently from those of religion and morality. The greatest merit
which some men possess, the highrst ambition which some men
cherish, is to be a good fellow—a character too prostitauted to be
valuable, If I am never entitled to greater praise, or excited by
a nobler ambition, may my ambition be eternally smothbered, and
the tongue of praise be hushed for ever.”—[.August 5th, 1803.]

“ BeauTY.—Men may talk as they will about the little necessity
for beauty in a man; but beauty is a real advantage, A hand-
‘some, interesting countenance is a man’s best recommendation at
first acquaintance; and although I by no means mean to say that
internal worth will not be admired, when known, even under an
ugly external, yet we are much more ready to receive to our
arms the man whose pleasing countenance we are willing to
believe to be the index of his mind. .Are there not countenances
which at first sight seize, as it were, upon our hearts, and estab-
lish an interest in the welfare of their possessors? The influence
does not end with the first introduction; if tolerably good quali-
ties are visible in a handsome man, his beauty will never fail to
heighten and adorn them, and as it is his best friend in obtaining
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the countenance of society, it will be his steady supporter in
securing its admiration. Instances without number occur to me
of the truth of these observations, and in no place can they be
more strongly marked than in the society of Calcutta, An jll-
Jooking man, whatever may be his good qualities, is never so
much the object of our praise as a handsome one. Beauty, how-
ever, has its disadvantages. It secures so good & reception
everywhere, that a man possessed of it is persuaded that he has
nothing left to acquire, The ugly man, finding his face against
bim, is obliged to lay his claim io being agreeabld on the solid
foundations of good sense, knowledge, and virtue, But if this
emulation is not excited, the consequences are dreadful. A pretty
fool may pass through the world pretty well, but an ugly fool is a
most unfortunate wretch. Who would not discover that the writer
of this ia an ugly fellow ?

« With the female sex the beauty of & man is everything. .. ..
I believe there are very few indeed who consider worth as essential
in a lover, and as few would regard it in the choice of a husband
did not selfishness lead them to do so.

“ A man may mar the effects of his beauty by affectation, but
particularly by effeminacy; for the men will despise him, and the
nearer he approaches to the female sex the women will too.”—{ Cal-
cutia, August 9tk, 1803.]

“Forrrye~Men whorise in the world are much more indebted
to their good fortune than to their merit or ability; and he is the
most clever who is best able fo profit by good fortune when it
comes to him,

“ Among the favours of fortune may be considered a good face or
figure, which, if a man knows how to take advantage of them, are
not the least of her favours,”

From this date there is no further entry until the spring
of the following year, when he thus recorded the fact of
his brother's marriage, and closed his journal-books for
ever. ¢ My eldest brother, Theophilus John, was yester-
day married to a charming young woman, Miss Hannah
Russell.* His age is twenty. He will be twenty-one on

* Niece of Sir Henry' Russell, one of the Judges of the Supreme
Court of Calcutta,
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the 19th of September next. May they enjoy every happi-
ness which good hearts ought to enjoy”—[Marck 2nd,
1804.]

Soon after tlus, the two brothers parted, with full hearts,
Their meeting in DBengal had eundeared them greatly to
each other, and the affection thus engendered was never
subsequently diminished. They differed greatly in cha-
racter, but both were of a loving nature and a generous
disposition; and although in childhood opposite qualities
breed. conflicts and divisions, in manhood they blend with
and adapt themselves to each other, and there is more love
where there is more diversity.”

Not long after the departure of his brother, Charles
Metcalfe also quitted Calcutta. A life of active excite-
ment was before him. The grand army of General Lake
was in the field. The campaign against Holkar had com-
menced. Metcalfe was well versed in Mahratta politics;
he was acquainted with the views of the Governor-General;
and he was conversant with the native languages. Lord

* % Aq schoolfellows,” wrote the elder brother two years after-
wards to Shertz, * we were continually squabbling, and I believe
from the different turt? of mind, which you must have observed,
our parents thought it would be the case through life. Thank
God, those who sawus in Bengal must convince themselves of the
contrary, and I may safely say, that there never were two
brothers more sincerely attached ; and, indeed, bad I been totally
devoid of dbrotherly love, his kindness and attention to my dear
girl would have gained him my warmest affection.® This Sherer
communicated, in one of his letters, to Charles Metcalfe, who
wrote in reply :—% The passage which you transcribed is, as you
rightly judge, peculiarly gratifying to me. The difference in our
habits, which was acquired in our childhood, will probably stick
to us, and it is possible that we may have different opinions on
controversial points, a8 you may remember we used to have, but
in fraternal affection and friendship Theophilus and X will ever
have, I am gure, the same mind and spirit.” The lettér in which
this passage occurs is given entire in Chapter VI
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Wellesley believed that in the camp of the Commander-ine
Chief the young civilian would render good service to the
State. So he placed him at the disposal of General Lake
a3 a political assistant, and despatched him to join the head-
quarters of the army.
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CITADPTER V.
[18064—1805 ]
LIFE IN TAKE'S CAMP.

Conclusion of the war with Scindish and the Rajali of Berar—
Jeswuns Rao Holkar—Recommencement of hostilities—
Charlos Metealte jomns the anuy—The Battle of Deeg—
Letters 1o Sherer and others—Prospects and mtentions—
A llereno 1o the Political Line,

Usprr the conduet of Lake and Wellesley, the war with
Neindiall aud the Rajoh of Borar had been brought to a
clorions close, and folluwed by an honourcble peace.  But
the 1est which cnsued was but of biief duration.  There
wag another chief st.ll willing to try the temper of those
formidable hastalions whicly, on the bloody plains of Assaye
and Laswarrie, had routed the Mahratta horsemen, and
captnced the French cannon, and who had fought their
way, through the brcaches they had made, into tha
strongest fortresses in Central India  HMolkar neow ap-
peared cn the ficld.  “ After the conclusion of the lats
glotious war with Scindiah and Boonsla,” wrote Charles
Metealfe, 1 an unfimshed memorandum, “by a peace
wlzch secured great advantages to tle DBritish interests,
an aflorded a far prospect of future tranquillity and
security, Jeswuul Kao Holkar began to operate agamst us.
The power of his chief, who had taken no active part 1
the contest agamnst us, although unloubtedly a principal
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member of the hostile confederary, was increased by the
events of the war. In 1ts commencement Scindiah, in
order to sccure his co-operation, ceded to ITolkar all the
territories which had been conquered from him in their
former disputes. Holkar, whilst Scindia and Boonsla
were carrying on hostilities, took advantage of the favour-
able opportunity to take possession of his ceded countries,
and the British Government did not consider him as an
enemy. At the conclusion of the war, the chiefs and
troops who had served the confederates, having no hopes
of pay from cither the Rajah of Berar or Dowlut Rao
Scindiah, joined the army of Holkar, Jeswunt Rao had
nothing to fear from his former opponent, Scindiah, nor
from any power in India but the British Government, and
that Government did not wish to attack him. Perhaps,
therefore, Holkar was never so powerful as at that time.*
Just at the conclusion of the war, he had advanced with
his cavalry and menaced the territory of the Rajah of
Jypore, who had previously entered mto a defensive
alliance with the British Government. The Commander-
in-Chief was obliged to keep the fitld, to watch the move-
ments of Holkar, and ascertain his intentions.  After
some vain atteinpts to negotiate, war became inevitable.”{
The language of Holkar was insolent and defiant. He
threatencd to overrun the country, and to destroy his
enemies by lakhs, So our DBritish chiefs again prepared
themselves for action, and, without a fear of the result,
launched boldly into a second campaign.

¥ «It could not be expected, after the glorious events of the
former war, that Holkar would singly engage in a contest with
the British power. The thing was considered almost impossible.
Holkar was despised, and his power underrated.”—C, M. .

1 The memorandum from which this is taken is unfinished ;
but I am glad to use Metcalfe’s words when 1 can.
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Some partial successes at the outset raised the hopes
and increased the presumption of Jeswunt Rao Helkar.
Nor was this elation confined to himself. The Mahratta
chbiefs, who had been so erushed and mutilated during
the last war, now began to think that there was a prospect
of recovering what they had lost. Their restless ambition
would not suffer them to subside into inaction. History,
properly written, is but a bundle of biographies. It is in
the characters of individual men that we see the sources of
greagt events which affect the destinies of nations. That
Dowlut Rao, left to his own unaided councils, would have
sought to try the issue of another conflict with the British
Government, or would bave desired to league himself with
Holkar, would seenr to be at least uncertain, But he
was wrought mpon by one who, after the old fashion of
Oriental courts, had gained an infamous ascendancy over
him by administering to his pleasures—a man of vila
character, of 'degraded personal habits, and of unscrupu-
lous malignity, who hated the English, and was-continually
inciting hir master to compass their overthrow. This
man, Sergly Kas Gautka by name, bad energy and
ability sufficient to enmable him to carry out his designs.
Obtaining an influence over Scindiah sufficient to enable
him to thwart the more moderate and judicious counsels
of the’Maharajah’s other advisers, he persuaded him that,
by entering into an alliance with the Nizam, the Rajah
of Berar, and his old enemy Holkar, he could effect the
entire overthrow of the British power in Central India.
In pursuance of this design, agents were employed at the
courts of Hyderabad and Nagpore, and were despatched
to all the principal chiefs of Malwa, inviting them to enter
into the great combination which was to achieve such
mighty red¥ilts,

But in the meanwhile, eager to repair the disasters
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which had beset the commencement of the campaign, Lake
had taken the field against Holkar, and was soon again
asserting the supremacy of British arms. It was on the
3rd of September, 1804, that the head-quarters of the
army left Cawnpore, to unite with other detachments at
Agra, which had been fixed as the place of general
rendezvous. Charles Metcalfe, who had left Calcutta on
the 23rd of August, was then on his way to join the camp
of the Commander-in-Chief.

He started in good spirits, and under happy auspices.
Such a deputation was 2s honourable to his character and
his talents as it was indicative of the discernment of Lord
Wellesley, who may have been mistaken sometimes in
his measuares, but who seldom mistook his men. The
young writer was to retain his situation in the office
of the Governor-General. But it had already lost much
of its attractiveness in his eyes: for some of the best and
most cherished of his associates had already been selected
for detached employment, and he was beginning so think
that the office was being rendered a little too * open.”
It could not always be stocked with Bayleys, Jenkinses,
and Metealfes ; and the very mutations of which the
young writer complained were a necessity n.zherent in
the constitution of such a training-school for public
servants. Personally attached as he was to Charles
Metcalfe, Lord Wellesley parted from him with regret;
but the Governor-General rejoiced to see him fairly
launched upon a journey towards the theatre of those
great events which were changing the destinies of Hin-
dostan, for be knew that the talents of the young diplo-
matist would there find free scope for action, and that the
national interests would profit by their exercise. So
Charles Metcalfe started for the camp of the Commander-
in-Chief, and the strongest possible recommendations pre-
ceded him. How greatly Lord Wellesley appreciated him,
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at this time, may be gathered from the following letter
written by his Military Secretary :

“ CAPTAIN ARMSTRONG TO CHARLES METCALFE,
% Barrackpore, August 24th, 1804,

« DEAR MercALFE,—Lord Wellesley hiving heard this morning
of your departure by dawk, directed me to write a letter to Licu-
tenant-Colonel Lake, and to send it by express, lest you should
arrive without an introduction.

“] have great satisfaction in informing you that, in following
his Excellency’s instractions, I never saw so strong and handsome
a letter in my life, both as to your public and private character,
and his Lordship’s personal regards for you, I can only say, I
would not wish a better letter for Arthur Cole, *

«J have "wrote to Colonel* Lake from myself, requesting his
attention to you as my particular-friend; and I have no doubt
you will find every attention and kindness.

«1 intended to have sent you my letter to deliver, but Arthur
Cole wrote me that yon wished me to write to Colonel Lake
direct.

«T wish you a pleasant campaign, and every success you can
wish {or.

4 Believe me,
“Yours very sincerely,
“J, ARMETRONG.”

Resorting to the most expeditious mode of travelling
which the country afforded, Charles Metcalfe left Calcutta,
Journeying in & palanquin, and proceeded for some distance
‘without any interruption. But before he reached Cawn-
pore, at some point of the road which I cannot precisely
indicate, be was set upon by robbers. He was asleep
in his palanquin when he fell among these thieves, and,
according to custom, was abandoned by his bearers. One
of his assailants had a club in his hand, which young
Metcalfe seized; -another then struck at him with a tulwar,
or sword, cut off the ends of two of his fingers, and
‘'wounded him on the head and on the breast. Single-
handed, it was impossible to save his property, but his



ATTACKED BY ROBBERS. 93

life he might save; so, finding resistance wuseless, he
staggered away from his assailants, and following a path
through the jungle, he ‘soon found himself on the bank
of a broad xiver, or stream. There, faint from loss of
blood, he sank down; and, as he lay on the ground,
thoughts of home came thick upon him. It flashed upon
his mind that his parents were not improbably at that
very time at Abingdon Races, talking with some friends
about their absent son, and little thinking of the danger
and the suffering to which he was at that moment exposed.
These thoughts made a deep impression on his mind ; but
he presently roused himself fo action, and tottered back
as best he could to the spct where his palanquin was
lying ; but found that the robbers had not yet made off
with their spoil. After a litile while, however, they went,
having despoiled the traveller of all the baggage which he
carried with him*—never any great amount on a dawk-
journey—and effected their escape. Metcalfe was then
carried on to Cawnpore, where, under the care of his
aunt, Mrs. Richardson, he scon recovered from his wounds,
and proceeded onwards to the camp of the Commander-in-
Chief’t

* There were two small articles of inestimable value to him-—
one, a seal given to him by his father; and anouher, a toothpick
case, containing locks of all his family’s hair, 1% is said that he
was wounded battling for these treasurea.

+ This event occurred abount the first week of September. I
have been able to discover no account of it from the pen of
Metcalfe himself. The details which I have given are derived
principally from family tradition. His godfather, Jacob Rider—
ever affectionate and generous—wrote to him on the 18th from
Nerozapore : “Badly as you are wounded, yet after the first
report we had of you, I congratulate you on the parrow and great
escape you have had, and that you have fortunately fallen so
early after the disaster into the friendly care of your good aunt.
As you will bave everything to furnish yourself with before yon
can proceed on your mission, draw upon me at sight for four or
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Lake was then on the banks of the Jumna, Holkar
was hanging on his rear; and, in the full indulgence of
the predatory habits of his tribe, was carrying off our
baggage, cutting off stragglers, and always avoiding a
.general action, inflicting upon our troops that desultory
annoyance, in their capacity for which they were almost
without a rival. In the course of October, Charles Met-
calfe arrived at head—quarters, and was met with all out-
ward marks of courtesy and kindness. Bat the welcome
.which he received was mere cold formality. The truth
is, that he was not wanted. In spite of the excellent
credentials which he carried—credentials which bore wit-
ness 0o less to his personal than to his official qualities—
he was regarded with some mistrust. His position, indeed,
,was not a promising one. Ile was & civilian in the midst
of & community of soldiers. Xe came fresh from the
-affice of the Governor-General, and it ia not improbable
that men who knew little of the real character either of
the one or of the other, were inclined to losk upom him
a8’ a spy. There always has been a certain jealousy of
pelitical officers in a military camp, even when those
“politicals” have been soldiers. Their pregence is regarded
as a tacit reflection on the short-comings of the general

five thousand rupees, if it will be any immediate aceommodation
te you.” Vague reports of this disaster reached England, and
greatly disquieted Charled Metcalfe’s parents. The intelligence
first reached Mrs. Metcalfe, in the middle of the following March,
at a ball; and was repeated to ber next day at the Royal Insti~
tution. Afterwards Mrs. Plowden, her frst informant, sent her
an extract from a letter from Mrs. Dashwood, saying: “I was
sorry to hear Mr. C. Metcalfe was attacked by robbers travelling
up the country, and had lost a joint of one of his fingers, and
received & cut om the head ; but is now (Sept. 21) quite well, and
going on his journey, He was obliged to spend some days with
his aunt Richardsom. He is & very fine, sehsible young man.”
‘This was all the information that the family received for some
‘weeks—~Charles Metealfe’s own letters not having arrived.
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and his staff. But, superadded to these impediments to
the entente cordiale, there were in the present instance to
be contended with those class prejudices which, more ar
less, exist at all times between the civil and the milifary
professions. It was young Metcalfe’s business to assist
the Commander-in-Chief in his negotiations with the native
chiefs, to carry on the necessary correspondence with the
civil officers in our own newly-acquired districts, to collect
information relative to the movements of the enemy, and
to conduct other miscellaneous business comprised under
the general head of ¢ political affairs.” Such a functionary
at the head-quarters of Lake’s army was not unlikely to
be called a clerk, and sneered at as a non-combatant. But
Charles Metcalfe, though he wore neither the King's nor
the Company's uniform, had as much of the true spirit
of the soldier in him as any officer in camp.

And this he waited only for an opportunity to prove.
I believe it had reached his ears that something had been
sald about civilians participating in the pleasant excite-
ment of the march and the socialities of head-quarters, but
not sharing the active dangers of the campaign. Whether
this was said or not, he was determined to show that,
civilian as be was, he shrunk from none of those perils to
which his military comrades were exposed. And an
opportunity was not long wanting to him. The foriress
of Deeg, distant some forty-five miles from Agra, was
garrisoned by the allied troops of our enemies Holkar and
the Rajah of Bhurtpore. In the month of December,
General Lake, who had determined upon the reduction of
the place, encamped within sight of it, and awaited the-
arrival of his battering-train from Agra. On the 13th,
having been joined by his guns, he took up his position
before the fortress, and commenced an attack upon the
outworks. On the 17th, the breaching battery was ready
for action; but such was the strength of the walls, that.
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it was not until the 23rd, that the breach was reported
practicable, and dispositions made for the assault on the
following day.

The storming party was told off, and Metcalfe volun-
teered to accompany it. He was one of the first who
entered the breach. There are soldiers now living who
remember that memorable Christmas-eve, and delight to
speak of the gallantry of the young civilian. The “ clerk ”
fairly won his spurs, gnd shared with the most distin-
guished of his comrades the honour no less than the
dangers of one of the most brilliant achievements of the

"war. In the Commander-in-Chief's despatch, the name
of Metcalfe was honourably mentioned. ¢ Before I con-
clude this despatch,” wrote Lord Lake, “I cannot help
mentioning the spirited conduct of Mr, Metcalfe, a civil
servant, who volunteered his services with the storming
party, and, as I am informed, was one of the first in the
breach.,”* Afterwards, the fine old soldier called him his
# little stormer.”

The chivalrous impulses of a youth of nineteen are not
to be inquired into with too much nicety, or reasoned
about with too much wisdom. Doubtless, it may be said
that Charles Metcalfe was not despatched to Lord Lake's
camp to help the Commander-in-Chief to carry fortified
towns by assault.t This is an objection one scarcely need

* It is worthy of remark, however, that the historian of the
Mahratta war, Captain Thorn, is significantly silent regarding
both the fact of Metcalfe’s presence with the storming party, and
the Commandeg-in-Chief’s mention of it in his despatch; although
throughout th?entire narrative he bas scrupulously recorded the
names of all the military officers who were officially noticed by
their chief,

1 And this was gaid both in India and in England. Very
different opinions were expressed on the subject. Writing to her
son, in a letter expressive of mingled pride and anxiety, now
commending his gallantry, now reproaching him for his temerity,
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care to answer. And yet it may be answered with all
gravity, and with due regard for the strictest rules of
official propriety. It was of no small moment that the
young civilian, representing as he did the Governor-
General in the camp of the Commander-in-Chief, should
be held in high estimation by the men with whom he was
thus officially associated. -It became him, by all honourajle
means, to increase his influence at head-quarters. .And
there were no surer means of doing this, than by showing
his comrades "that he was willing to share their dangers—
even the dangers of the forlorn hope—and to emulate
their worth on their own field of professional enterprise,
Nothing is so Intelligible—nothing is so generally appre-
ciated—as personal gallantry. There is no position in
life in which a man does not increase the prestige of
his authority by demonstrating his possession of smch
a quality, There could be no more sneers at the clerk

Mrs, Metcalfe said: “Every one views it in a different light.
Some give you a great deal of credit. Others think that you
were wrong, not being of the profession ; and one military man,
“in particular, met me the other day, and said : *T hope you will
scold your boy—scold him from me’ It was & man who bas
been at the head of the army in India”” (Probably Sir Alured
Clark, who had. met Charles Metcalfe in Caleutta.) - There
jis one thing strikes me,” adds Mrs. Metealfe, with her wonted
penetration—* you must have had some good and strong reasons
to bave gone out of your line, I hope it will not happen again ;
and that, should you have the military ardour upon you, Lord
Lske will not permit yon to throw yourself in the way of danger,
One would think you imagined that your prospect im life was
desperate, instead of its being one of the finest. Your outset has
been beyond the most ardent expectations. Your li:ilitiea, being
of a very uncommon kind, and your conduct regulated by a fine
judgment (except in the storming husiness—forgive me, but a
mother can never reconcile that to herself), must ensure you, if
please God you live, further success, and that of the most distin-~
guished nature.”
VOL. L E
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and the non-combatant, after young Metcalfe’s appear-
ance in his shooting-jacket on the crest of the breach at
Deeg.

Whatever may have been thought of this explait by
others, by Charles Metcalfe’s young friends and associates
in the Governor-General’s office it was contemplated with
enthusiasm and delight. There was a little group of
young civilians at the Presidency, including some of the
most promising members of the service, who a short time
before Metcalfe’s departure had erected themselves into
a sort of club or association, which, in honour of Admiral
Lord Howe, was called a society of 4 Howe Boys.” These
Howe Boys were in the right frame to appreciate gallantry
of any kind, and most of all in one of their own associates.
So, when the news of Metcalfe's conduct at Deeg, followed
speedily by Lord Lake's despatch, reached Calcutta, the
Howe Boys held a meeting, the result of which is set forth
in the following amusing letter:

€ T0 CHARLES THEQOPHILUS METCALFE, ESQ., HOWE BOY.

“ Howe Boys Office, January, 18, 1805
{Official—Na, L]

# Str,~—By the despatchbes of his Excellency the Commander-in-

Chief we have been made acquainted with the glorious success of
the British arms in the sssault of the outworks of Deeg, and in the
subsequent capture of that impartant fortress,
- 2, His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief having heen pleased
to testify his high approbation of your conduct on this eccasion,
we consider #t 10 be an act of indispensable justice to recerd
our decided and deliberate judgment that the ardent spirit of
zesl, energy, valour, and resohstion manifested by weu in the
unsolicited offer of your personal services, and ia the actual
assaulf of the outworks of the fortress of Deeg, have been scldom
equalled, and never excelled, by any of the youths in Lord Howe's
Esteblishment.

“8, Your fortitude in refusing to submit to the imperious
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dictates of & haughty ambassador* your invinecible resclution
and comsummate ability in epposing the establishment of a
vicious and immoral institution,} and your ardent patriotism
and honourable ambition in voluntarily exposing yourself to the
dangera, hardships, and privations of an active eampaign, had
eommanded our approbation, and had enabled wus to anticipate
with a considerable degree of confidenee the coniinued advance-
ment of your character and the unresirained avgmentation of
your renown.

“ 4. We have no hesitation in declaring that your conduct has
fully answered the high expectations which we had formed of it,
that you have acted im strict conformity to those sentiinents
and prineiples of public virtue which ought to regulate the coa~
duct of all the individuals in our society, and that you have
deserved well of your country and of the members of Lord Howe’s
Estabiishment, .

“5. Under these circnmstances we have wnanimensly deter-
mined to testify our sense of your conduct by presenting you
with a silver pen 28 a mark of our applause, esteem, and appro-
bation.

“ We are your affectionate friends,
(Signed) “J. Apawm,
“ A. H. Corr.
# €. D’OrLy.

“ CaaxLEs PATTENBOK.

« C. LUSHINGTGN,

* Jouw WAUCHOPE.

“ Wx, Hesny TeaxT,

“ Joax FoRRES.

“ W. BurrkRWORTH BAYLEY.”}

* « King Colline” Alinding to Metealfe’s breach with Colonel
Calling, parrated in the previons chapter.

t The reference here is 1o a controversy which s Litfle time
before had agitated the Civil Service, relative to the basis upon
which the proposed Pension Fund fox the relief of the widows snd
orphans of its members was ta be established. Of one section of
the service John Adam and Charles Metcalfe were the leaders,
and conjointly the mouthpiece; the principal manifestoes were
iseued in their name,

1 With the exceptiom of Mr. Adam, who had by this time
become Deputy Secretary in the Political Department, the geatle-

E2
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From Deeg the Grand Army marched upon Bhurtpore—
the most formidable stronghold of Central India. It wasa
maiden fortress, and had always been deemed impregnable.
The Bhurtpore Rajah was a Jaut chief, who had at one
time professed friendship for the English, but whom the
first successes of Holkar had induced to throw off the
mask and to unite himself with the Mahratta chieftain,
Deeg was one of his sirongholds. The decided part which
he had taken had compelled Lake to reduce that fortress,
the garrison of which was partly composed of Bhurtpore
troops, and partly of Holkar's fugitives; and now the
British commander determined to attack the Rajah in his
capital. Indeed, since the battles which had been fought
at Deeg* and Furruckabad, and in which both the infantry

men signing this letter were all assistants in the Governor-
General’s office. Mr, Adam rose to the highest offices of the
State. After a long and distinguished career in the Secretariat
he became a member of the Supreme Council, and was Governor-
General during the interregnum between the Hastings and
Amherst Governments, and died on his way home. Mr. (the
Honourable A. H.) Cole was 8 Madras civilian, and for many
years resident at Mysore, Mr, (afterwards Sir Charles) D’Oyly
and Mr. Pattenson served chiefly in the revenue and commercial
lines. Mr. Lushington wag for twenty years in the Secretariat,
and was Chief Secretary in 1825. Mr. Wauchope was & distin-
guished magisterial aud judicial officer; and for some time
Governor-General’s agent in Bundleknnd.  Mr. Trant served
. chiefly in the financial department., On his return to England
he wag sent 10 Parliament by the electors of Dover. Mr, Forbes
quitted the Civil Service very early, and went home in the same
-vessel with Lord Wellesley. .Apd Mr. Bayley, after holding the
the highest offices under Government, and sitting as Governor-
General of India on the departure of Lord Amherst, returned t6
'England. to enter the Court of Directors, was fwice elected
Chairman of that body, and is still one of its most dutmgnmhed
members,
* On the 13th of November. This battle was fought before
Deeg by General Fraser and Colonel Monson, The siege did not
take place till some weeks afterwards,
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and cavalry of Holkar had been signally defeated, the
Bhurtpore Rajah had become our most formidable antago-
nist. On the first day of the new year, the army moved
from Deeg, and, on the following, took up their position
before the walls of the formidable Jaut fortres§, Lake, who
had under-estimated its strength, flung himself upon it with
a precipitancy that could only result in failure, Four times
the British troops were led to the attack, and four times
they were repulsed. The enemy defended their works
with remarkable vigour, and neglected no possible means
of harassing their assailants and increasing the difficulties
of the siege.

Nor were the enemies within the walls the only ones
with whom we had then to contend. Holkar was reassem-
bling the scattered remnants of his broken force, and
Ameer Khan, a soldier of fortune, originally attached to
the service of that chief, was at the head of a large body ot
marauding troops. This man, a Rohilla by birth, of a
bold and enterprising character, and of abilities beyond the
level of his countrymen, finding that little was to be gained
by the .alliance with Holkar and the Rajah of Bhurtpore,
and having little sympathy with men of an opposite creed,
determined to operate on his own account, and to invite the
followers of the Prophet to flock to his standard in the
Doab and Rohilkund. He had been in the near neigh-
bourhood of Bhurtpore, looking after our convoys, intent
upon plunder; but now that he had formed more ambitious
designs, he determined at once to cross the Jumna, to
attack the Company’s newly-acquired territories, and to
excite the people to aid in our expulsion. Occupied as was
Lake’s army with the exhausting siege of Bhurtpore, and
unable to detach any large bodies of troops for service on
the other side of the river, the danger of this threatened
incursion was not to be lightly yegarded. But what the
British commaunder could do, he did~—and he did i
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promptly. He despatched a brigade, consisting principally
of light dragoonms, under Geperal Smith, in pursait of
Ameer Khan; and out rode the British horsemen, on a
February morning, from Lake’s camp, determined, in
eamp-language, to ¥ give a good account” of the Rohilla.

With this force rode Charles Metcalfe, a3 Smith's poli-
tical aide. It was his duty to conduct all the diplomatic
business of the campaign. Of this, the collection and the
diffusion of accurate information relative to the movements
of the enemy, and of our detachments in different parts of
the country, was no insignificant part. He was at once
the secretary and Persian translator of General Smith, and
the representative of the Governor-General in the districts
which Smith's force was sent to defend. He said after-
wards, that his position at this time was a pleasant ope.
It'was a pleasant, because it was a responsible one. In
kis own department, at least, he was supreme; and his
young ambition delighted in the thought of being thrown
upon his own resources,

All the correspondence of the expedition not strictly
relating to matters of military detail passed through his
hands. Veteran officers, who had seen good service in the
field before the young civilian was born, addressed him
respectfully, and sent him reports of their movements.
Members of his ewn profession who had served under
Cornwallis, recognised the importance of his position, and,
clearly discerning the merits of the man, were eager to
maintain a frequent correspondence with him. Nor were
the eommunications of which he was the organ confined to
his own: people, or to his own language. e wrote Persian
Ietters to the chiefs, and issued proclamations te the inha-
bitants of the eountry through which he passed—not in his
own name; but what was of more importance-—in his own:
ideas and his own words. There was much in all thia ta
gatisfy the ambition—or, as he, in his self-searching can-~
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dour, would have said—io gratify the vanity of the young
diplomatist. He was fast becoming a personage of some
political importance—taking, indeed, a place in history——
and that, too, before he was of age. India, he began to
think, was, after all, the place for eager asphanté of his’
talents and his temper, There was nothing like this im
Lord Grenvilles office.

It was believed by the most experienced civil officers in
Rohilkund that Ameer Khan was so strongly planted, that
General Smith’s cavalry would not be able to dislodge him
without strong reinforcements of infantry from Lord Lake's
camp, The civilians, however, were mistaken. Smith
crossed the Jumma, pushed deross the Doab with mncom-
Toon rapidity, 2nd soon appeared in Rohilkomd. It was=
harassing, but an exciting service. Men fook little account
of distance or fatigue, and their horses seemed to be
sustained by the spirit and impelled by the enthusiasm of
their riders. The fine bracing climate of Upper India, and
the noble scenery which opened out before them, as they
neared the great mountain-range of the Himalayah, imrigo-
rated and refreshed our English officers, as they pursued
the Rohilla freebooter across his own air province, and
iried to tempt him to a general action. Many long might-
marches across difficult tracts of country deprived she
trooper of his accustomed rest; but he went on without &
murmur. He was on the track of the enemy, who were
plundering and devastating along their whole line of march;
and as he passed the smoking remains -of villages, and
crossed the fields 1aid waste by Ameer Xhan's reckless
Pindarrees, he pricked on with renewed impulses of zeal,
eager to stop their desolating ecareer. .Af last the long-
‘wished-for opportunity arrived. Smith found himself near
Afzulghur, face o face with Ameer Khan'’s army. There
was e short but sturdy conflict, with the anticipated yesalt
‘The British cavalry did terrible execution among the Patan



104 LIFE IN LAKE'S CAMP.

levies of the Rohilla chief, whilst our horse-artillery guns
played with terrible effect upon his cavalry. DBeaten at all
points, there was nothing left for him but a precipitate
flight, Making a forced march, he re-crossed the Ganges,
and as he went, the wreck of his army melted away. Ile
had nothing to look upon, as the result of his temerity, but
a disastrous and ignominious failure:

Having effected the expulsion of Ameer Khan from
Rohilkund and the Doab, General Smith returned with his
detachment to head-quarters, and joined Lord Lake's army
before Bhurtpore on the 23rd of March. Two days before
this, the Rohilla chief, abandoned by all his troops, save a
small body of predatory horsemen, had re-crossed the
Jumna, and arrived at Futtehpore Sikrce. His power of
independent action was entirely gone, and he was willing
to take service under some more fortunate and influential
‘leader.

In the meanwhile, Holkar, with the characteristic elas-
ticity of his tribe, had sufficiently recovered from his late
reverses to muster a strong body of horse, and to threaten
Lake’s camp at Bhurtpore. Upon this, the English
general, placing himself at the head of his cavalry, and
taking with him a detachment of infantry, moved from his
position to beat up the Mahratta quarters. But Holkar,
prepared for flight, evaded the meditated attack,and retired
to some distance from Bhurtpore, where Lake, thinking
that the enemy would be less on the alert the further he
was removed from our camp, again endeavoured to sur-
iprise him, The attempt was mqt wholly unsuccessful.
Holkar, having gained information of our approach, had
sent off his baggage, and was prepared to march on the
following rorning; when Lake, on the night of the 2nd of
April, determined not to wait for the dawn, but, guided by

the enemy's watch-fires, moved at once op the Mahratta
camp,
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Aware of the advance of the British troops, and little
desiring to meet them in fair fight, Holkar again attempted
to escape; but our cavalry were close upon him, and the
pursuit was a most effective one, Some brilliant charges
made by the pursuers told with terrible effect on the flying
Mahrattas, who, utterly broken, and unable fo rally, dis-
persed themselves in, disordered masses about the country.
After a rapid march of some fifty miles, Lake reappeared
on his old ground, and prepared to commence anew
operations against Bhurtpore, if the enemy were not
inclined to make overtures of peace.

On these occasions Charles Metealfe accompanied the
Commander-in-Chief, and it was of them that he wrote in
the following letter to his friend Sherer. The smrnng life
in camp, and the active business of the public service, had
left him little time for private correspondence, and when at
last he took up his pen to address some of his old asso-
ciates at the Presidency, he could only write by snatches
in the midst of the incessant interruption of the camp:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

% Camp near Bhurtpore, April 6, 1805,

“ My peAr SHERER,—Welcome back to Bengal; and accept
the congratulations of your old friend Metcalfe upon your safe
return. . . . You will not, I think,have been surprised to find
me absent from Calcutta. You know me fo possess a love of
change, and & silly desire to deviate from the beaten track. Iam
much pleased with the determination which sent me again abroad,
and have derived much satisfaction from the new scenes which
have opened uponme. . . .

#Within the last few, days we have twice surprised Holksr's
camp. Yesterday was the last time, [ Written on the 8rd.] They
thought themselves perhaps secure, as they were twelve or four«
teen miles distant. We got upon them at daylight, and gave a
close and galloping chase for ‘many miles. "We were mounted
twelve hours, and went abova forty miles. These dours must have
a fine effect, and will sicken our enemy very much., ¥ go on all
these expeditions, Without their occasional occurrence, camp
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would be dull. I do not know how soom I may return to Caleutta.
I am anxious to see yow again, and talk over our respective
adventures,

® The arrival of your letter within the last few minutes gives

me great joy [April 6¢k], but with that joy a great deal of shame
and contrition is mixed. Youw expected——and you had a right to
expect, and I should have been hurt if you had not expected—
that I should have been one of the first to congratulate you on
your return, and that ‘long ere I read yours you would receive s
letter from me, greeting you on the occasion.” The guilty wretch
trembles before your judgment-seat; but I canmot suffer you to
oondemn me without an explanation, The fact then really is
that office-work has left na leisure ta write. When I say no
leisure to write, I mean to write fo you as I would wish to write
with my mind abstracted from all other things, and occupied
solely with friendship. A Basty note I might have snatched &
moment to pem; but I wished. to- converse with you at Iength.
This letter was coomenced on the 26th of Iast month, and has, as
you will perceive, been several times interrupted. Even this
page was commenced four hours back; and although X had
determined to-day fo set business at defiance, I could not prevent
the invasion of visitors. When I consider the long period which
must pass before this reaches you, I dread that I may suffer in
Yyour opinion in that time, and regret that I did not send all docu-
anentd to the devil, and finish my letter to you before,

«1 expect much from you when we meet; when that may be I
am not sufficiently long-sighted to decide. If you recollect any
particulars of my brethex’s house, situation, habits, &e., you will
give me great pleasure in communieating thera to one to whor the
‘most. trivial anecdotes will be interesting, I am rejoieed to find
- that Theophilus still continues to be satisfied with his situation;

but rather surprised that his ambition is satisfied within the limits
<of the Factory of Canton.

« My situation with General Smith was & very pldasant one;
Lere I am more subordinate. I confess to you that I should not
e gorry (many of my objects being fulfilled) to return to Calcutta;
and your arrival has added another indocement. From a former
part of this letter you will perceive that I anticipated some
remarks from yon upon the new Calinet, Those which you have
made are such.as I expected, and X perceive that the same ideas
kave passed through yous mind which have been in mine upo

" that subject. You will readily imagine that the sssociation
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of the new party did not diminish the weight of the motives
which induced me te guit {the cabinet for the field. The sitnation
was deprived of its credit when it became so open. . . . ... My
only views are, 10 return to office wher I am eatisfied that it will
be right in me fo quit the army. Jam not at all tired of if, but I
think that I may be losing some advantages attending upen the
Governor-General’s office, which at a future period I may nof
regain, I should grieve if anything occurred which should fix me
in this part of the world; I see no prospect of such an event, but.
should lament it exceedingly. A shert time ought to decide what
will be done withue. I do not admire a doubtful state of things.
It is my intention, I bope that I may fulfil it, that you sheuld
frequentiy hear from
% Your sincere and affectionate friend,
“C, T. MeTCALFE®

A few days after this letter was written, a treaty of
peace was concluded with the Rajah of Bhurtpore, and, on
the 21st of April, Lord Lake broke up his camp, and
marched down to the Chumbnul, where, having crossed
the river, he formed a junction with the Bandlekund force
under Colonel Martindale, and, with the object mainly of
holding Scindiszh in check, halged there during the greater
part of the month of May. A subsidiary treaty having
been concluded with the Rana of Gobud, Lord Lake,
warned by the painful obtrusiveness of the hot winds,
made preparations for the march of his army to canton-
ments at Agra, Futtehpore, and Muttra; and re-crossed
the Chumbul at the end of the month. On the 30th they
were at Dholpore, and from this place Metcalfe wrote again
to his fri#nd Sherer:

CHARLES METCALFE TD J. W, SHERER.

% Camp, Dkolpore, May 30, 1805,
My DEAR SHERER~~ .. .. .. I bhave lately had some most
Aelightful letters from my father, which will, T am sure, heighten

your cpinion of him when X'have en vpportunity of showing
them to you. T shall not fail te storm your querters, and make @
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lodgment within your walls, or, to speak in & more civil way, I
shall avail myself of your kind invitation, and pay my respects in
Post-office-street immediately on my arrival in Calcutta. In
short, my friend, I heartily thank you, and hope speedily to be
with you, Your advice, which will always be most acceptable,
agrees, I rejoice to find, with my own resolves. You will have
seen from my letter to Bayley, that on other grounds than those
mentioned by you I had determined to go to Calcutta. I am
still igdorant when I shall quit the army; I hope soon. I had
intended to have loitered on the road, and, as I have always
hitherto travelled up and down in haste, to have taken a leisurely
view of all the stations on the river. What you say will hasten
my voyage, for I would wish to se¢ Lord Wellesley as much as
can before he goes.

“ As far as my present thoughts go, I can sincerely tell youn that
I have not the wish to obtain any situation; for, to tell you the
‘truth, India does not contain a situation, which would come within
the bounds of my just claims, that would give me any pleasure.
I understand the presidency secretaryships are reduced to a
despicable degree by our very noble and approved good masters,
I will postpone a dish of politics until we meet, I shrink from
them as from a serpent, for I have secen things in them which
sicken me, Iam amazed at the state of your finances, which are
almost as bad as mine, Cole is not yet with us, The expectation
of his arrival has been the only cause which has prevented an
endeavour to get away from the army before this, This is short,
but shall be followed soon.

% Your very gincere friend,
“C. T. Mercarre.”

It will be gathered from this letter that Charles Metcalfe
had determined at this time to leave the army, and to
return to Calcutta. It had been made known tg him, by
his correspondents at the Presidency, that Lord Wellesley
*as about to return to England, and he was eager, on
many accounts, to see the statesman, to whom he owed so
much, before his final departure. But soon after the
despatch of this letter an incident occurred, which caused
him, after much consideration, to forego the intention he
had formed. He had gone on to Muttra, with one divi-
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gion of the army, for the purpose of spending a few days
with his friend Arthur Cole; and there he met Colonel
John Malcolm.

“T recognise in all your letters,” wrote Malcolm to
Metcalfe, fificen years afterwards, when both were in
high place, *the same unaltered ‘Charles Metcalfe with
whom I used to pace the tent at Muitra and build castles;
our expenditure on which was subject neither to the laws
of estimate norW§he rules of andit.” Malcolni came with a
high reputation—a reputation made in that very line of
the service to which Metcalfe had determined to adhere,
and the attentions of the experienced diplomatist flattered
his vanity and stimulated his ambition., They had a
common bond of fellowship in their attachment to Lord
Wellesley; and Malcolm, as they talked over their future
plans, and discussed the affairs of the empire with eager
interest, was charmed with the enthusiasm and frankness
of his young friend, and clearly recognised in him, one
who some day would do good service té the state. What
impression these meetings made on the mind of thg young
civilian may best be t0ld in Metcalfe’s own words, as con-
tained in the following most interesting letters:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Camp, Mutira, June 10, 1805,

“ My DEAR SHERER,—A thousand thank for yours of the'24th,
Y shall, in the first instance, waive any discussion of the important
contents of that letter, and shall make you acquainted with the
inconsistefcy of my own conduct. You have, doubtless, expected
that my departure from the army has taken place before this time,
and you will be surprised fo learn that it is now most probable that
I shall make another campaign, if & campaign is necessary, or
nsgist in any political arrangements which may happen in this
part of India. X shall proceed regularly to state the causes which
have produced this change in my intentions,

% From my last letter you will have believed me to be decided in
my plan of returning to Calcuita, and X never was more decided
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in my life. Colonel Malcom and Cole joined us cn the day when
the army separated for their different destinations—to Agrs,
Futtehpore, and Muttra. I should bave, undoubtedly, accom-
panied the Agra division as the nearest road to Calcutta, but the
desire of having Cole’s society for a few days brought me on to
Muttra. On the day after his arrival in camp, Colonel Malcolm,
to my surprise (for I could scarcely call myself acquainted with
him), entered, in & full, friendly, and flattering manner, into the
question of my intention, which Cole had mentioned to him. With
full confidence he laid open to me the various plans which were jn
contemplation, gave wme admission to all his papers, and, by
appearing to interest himself in my welfare, prepared me to listen
to him with great attention, He expatiated on the great field of
political employment now open in Hindostan, the necessity of
many appointments and missions, the superiority, as he seems to
think, of my claims, and the great riek, if not certain injury, of
my quitting the scene of action. By holding out the offer of dis-
tinction, he gained the important outwork of Desire, and the
citadel of Resolve was in danger of falling. It did not immediately
yield, however; and, notwithstanding all he said, I clung fondly to
my rooted and long-indulged intention of returning to Calcutta,
and of paying my last respects to Lord Wellesley. There was,
however, sufficient in what Malcolm said 40 indace me to reflect
seriously on the atep I should take,

#J did not converse again with Maloolm for ﬁve days, and in
that period the subject was ever in my mind, and I never expe-
rienced such irresolution on any occasion in which T had the
power of gelf-decision, Exclusive. of the reasons suggested by
Malcolm for oy remaining, others occurred to me which he could
not mention. Ihave long, as you know, looked upon the political
23 my line of servict; and although I have seen what people call
native courts, and have passed over many countries, I have had
the misfortune of being under mwea whose talents; knowledge, and
character, or rather want of these, I could not admire; who gave
no encouragement to my desire te learn, who, on the contrary. .
rather made mp sick of my pursuit of knowledge. 1 have felt
myself degraded by my situstion, and, instead of studying
acquaintance with the natives, I have shrunk from notice as much
a8 possible. My knowledge, therefore, is only that which I
acquired in the Governor-Gereral's office, and which, though
highly useful, does not in itself qualify & man t0 be & political

-agent, The opportunity of acting under & man with Malcolm’s.
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talents and reputation, established knowledge, inquisitive genius,
and communicative disposition, promises advantages of the most
solid srd certain mature, and of real impertanee. I could mot,
however, give up my desire to visit Calenita, and my second con-
versation with Malcolm ended in our agreeing that I sheuld run
down o Calcutta and relurn quickly. On the same evening,
howerver, he atrongly advised me not to go, and the next day we
bad a long conversation, which ended im my being very uncertain
what to do. 1 think, however, cleazly thak I shall stay, but I
never did anything with more relactance, X fong' to see our
glorious Wellesley before he quits us, Malcolm tells me that X
cannot better show my gratitude to Leord Wellesley than by
assisting in scenes in which he will always have great interest.

« Farewell] I sball write to you to-morrew again, for I bave
much to say. Cole desires te be particularly remembered ;
I beleve that few respeck you more than be does, Show this fo
Bayley, with my love, to account for my eonduct. Bemember me
to Fagan, and Adam, and Trant.

% Your sincere friend,
« C. ' MercALFE”

IRE SAME TO THE SAME.

# Camp Muttra, June 1114, 1805,

« My pEAm Smesir,—X wrote to you yesterday and said that
¥ woull write again to-day—T forgot to tell yon that one reason
coaspiring with the rest to0 inducs me i remain is this—Mercer
will go te Calentta, and Malcolm, who will manage alt political
concerna at head-guariers, has expressed a wish that } should
remain on his account, expecting to derive more assistance from
moe than I fear he will. This subject fills my mind, and it is with
very great difficulty that I can receneile myself to the everthrow
of my plans—plans which I have so long reminated over with
anticipated delight T rest my chief eonsolation em Malcolm’s
eharacter, and the usefal knowledge that I shall ebtain whilst with
Jhim. It is my intention to cultivate his imtimacy zealousty—
his advances to me have been very flattering—I foresce one thing;
Je s 3 likely man to give my mind & tarn towhrds literary
pursuits, which have scareely ever entered my imagination—nay,
he alveady has; h&hmselfmmemhnsmt.

=1 do net kmew what opinion to give wpow Lerd Comwamss
appointment; X cannot belp thinking that be will not come out.
¥ the supereession of Lord Wellesley is occasioned by am alarm
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existing in consequence of Monson's retreat before Holkar, the
conduct of the directors and ministers has been equally unjust and
contemptible. It is unjust that confidence should be removed from
a Governor-General whose whole conduct has been accompanied
by the applause and confidence of his country, because a check is
experienced for a time in one part of the immense empire under
his charge. If is unjust to imagine that he is not equal to meet
thé approaching difficulty. It is contemptible to have been
alarmed seriously at the retreat of a detachment of five battalions
before all Holkar’s force. I do not foresee any change of measures
or system under Cornwallis. I am convinced that any change
will be unwise, To recede I think is ruin,

“This is not & new observation, Conciliatory measures are, I
think, impossible; they have already been pursued too long, It is
-with regret that I have perceived the last six months of Lord
‘Wellesley’s administration marked by an indecision and weakness
{caused, I imagine, by his dread of people at home) unworthy of
the rest of his wise and dignified government. He has, however,
been kept ignorant of the real state of things, and his agents have
not done their duty. I do not believe it possible to persuade the
Mahrattas yet that we have moderation. They know no such
thing themselves, and why should they attribute that quality to
us, if we hold the language of submission when they hold that of
insolence? Shall we, Sherer, sue for peace, when a Mahratta, in
violation of all treaty, insults our Government, and in every act
and word hurls at us a thundering menace of war? Peace is, I
‘think, impossible, unless ‘we prepare most vigorously for war.
‘We should breathe the spirit of aa insulted and mighty power; I
should not be surprised if the dread of our determined attack
were sufficient, to scatter all our enemies, When they are reduced
*and humble, when we have crushed their insolent pride, then I
,would display moderation. But I do not see the prospect of per-
.manent tranquillity whilst our eontrolling influence is spread over
every part of India. We had this in our power once, I think
twice, but lost it for want of information in one quarter, and want
of foresight in another,

“It would require a long discussion to explain my meaning.
‘We may command all India in a few months more. We need
never interfere in the internal government of any state, but we
ought to regulate the external reldtions of all, I have made many
bold assertions without much troubling you with arguments,
You know my way. I shall respect the opinions of the mem
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the opposite to my own; what Y have put down are, at present,
decidedly my real ones, You know me too well to be surprised at
the self-satisfied impudence with which I have settled this sifling
subject.

“I want Hufeezoodeen here very much. I wish that you
wounld send him up. He will require some handsome inducement
to quit his situation in the College. I empower you to grant him
anything between his college salary (60 rupees) and 100 rupees
per mensem, and to grant him Jsome allowance for his journey
up to me, either in the way of a monthly travelling allowance,
or present; I wish him to set off immediately. You kvow my
prospects as well as I do, and can make known to him what will
be his. .

% There are appointments for patives in our live of 100 and
200 rupees per mensem. Of course if he follows my fortune it will
be incumbent on me to provide for him, and it is not improbable
that he may, at some time not far distant, obtain a situation
under Government, which will secure to him a handsome provision
in the event of my death, &c.* Let him come to Agra, and there
wait upon Wemyss or Mr. Munro, where he will have introductions
ready for him,

“J am, dear Sherer,
“Your affectionate and sincere friend,
. “C. T. MrrcaLFE.”

THE SAME TO THE SAME.

“ Mutira, August 6, 1805,

“My pear Seerer,—It is long since I received your friendly
letter of the 28th of June. I shall be very glad of Hufeezooden,
for I think that he is arespectable man., I am nof certain that he
is g man of business, and I am not anxious that he should be, for
I should like to form him for my own habits. X thank you truly
for the trouble you have taken about his voyage to me. I ghall,
1 think, increase his allowances when he arrives. Your letters
are the only -encouragements that I receive to pursne the life
which I have laid down for myself. Your sentiments and expres~

* Hufeezoodeen joined Metealfe, and was for many years
attached to him as head moonshee. He followed his master to
Delhi and Hyderabad, and made a considerable fortune. Some
allusions to him will be fonnd in subsequent chapters of this
Memoir,
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sions would make me proud of it; Bayley, Hamilton, and Cole
think it wnhappy.

“X am at & Ioss to know what is hereafter to become of me; I
sometimes long for quiet and a select few of my friends; but if I
were in the enjoyment of those things, I think it not improbable
that I should long again for bustle and motion. I see that all
secretaries are swept from the face of the earth; this in all pro-
bability, will affect my prospects. One part of your letter parti-
eularly strikes me, and I em not prepared to give & serious
opinion on the subject. ¥ou speak of our inability to maintain
our supremacy when we have acquired i It is a prodigious
question, I do not know that I could acquiesce in your way of
thinking, At present I have no idea that deserves the name of &
thought. Inconsiderately speaking, I should say that we are
better able to maintain our supremacy over the whole than we
should bave been, in & few years, to preserve & portion of our
dominions. And I look upon the events which have accelerated
the establishment of our government over almost all Indis as
necessary and ungvoidable eonsequences of the events which
preceded them. I should be happy to sece your sentiments on the
whole subject. In 1803, there certainly were powers in India
which were very formidable; now X think undoubtedly there
are none.

%X cannot reflect without indignation upon the conduct which
has been adopted to Lord Wellesley. It appears s surprising
instance of determined malice or desperate ignorance when a
patriof, whe has rendered the services that Lord Wellesley has
done to his country, is superseded in his government, and is
exposed to the most active measures to disgrace him. Disgraced
he eannot be, I think, and the darts which his enemies fling’ at
‘him: will return upon their own heads. Now, if a proper spirit
exists in the settlement, now is the moment for an address. Lord
Wellealey’s departure fram this country should surely be aceom-
panied with every possible wark of respect, gratitude, and
atfachment. X see no harm that is likely to arise from Lord
Comnwallis’s government. On the coatrary, I look af it with
confidence. His internal government will be excellent I have no
doubt. I am anxious about his politics. The tame conducy
which when he was here before would have been wise, might now
be very otherwise. With regard te his appointment persanally I
am quite indifferent. No man eould have come to India upon
-whom I have fewer claims, and from whom I expect less.
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« I continue to like Malcolm much. As a person who is io be
my immediaie supecior, I do not fancy 3 betler,
I am more worked, and more incessantly and mere variously
worked, than I ever was. I literally have no iime 1o myself
My private correspondence is entirely suspended, and my answer
to you has heen thus long delayed. I find it more than is pleasant,
for I have norelief. A day of labour makes society in the evening
delightful. There is no such thing here The Commander-in-
Chief’s table is full of restraint, and never has society. Se, o
confess the truth, I am much bared, Scme snug dinners with yon,
Bayley, Fagan, and one or two others, would be delightful. I wish
you financiers would find some money for us soldiera. How we
apples swim !

« Your affectionate friend,
“ C. T. METCALFR.

% Kindest remembrances to Bayley, Fagan, Adam, Trant. Tell
Plowden I will write to him scon to explain that I am toughty
worked.”

So the intended visit to Calcutta was abandoned,*and
Charles Metcalfe, now resolute noi to sacrifice his fair
prospects of advancement in the political line of the public
service, despatched a letter to the Presidency in his place.
Doubtless, this was the wiser course. The letter addressed
to Lord Wellesley's private secretary, fully expressed the
gratitude and admiration of the young civilian, who owed
so much to the departingy Governor-General s=—

CHABLES METCALFE TO MAJOR MERRICK SHAWE.
« Muttra, June 24, 1805,

“ DeAr Smawx,~~The intelligence of Lord Wellesley's inteation
to quit India has caused universal regret, and it wounld be very
surprising if I were not sfflicted by it

=Y should be very sorry that his lordship should quit thia
country without receiving the humble assurance of my eternal
thankfalness and gratitede ; but the various acts of his goednesa
towards me have long filled my heart with sentiments which it
would be vain for me to attempt to express.

“ In common with every man who loves his country,and par-
ticularly with those who have watched the course of affairs, I
must lament Lord Wellesley’s resignation of the government st
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this moment, as a most grievous public misfortune, and however
improbable it may be that his lordship would be induced to
remain under the confederacy of ignorance, ingratitude, and
malice which has been formed against him by the majority of the
Court of Directors, yet whilst there is*a possibility of such a
change in his lordship’s resolution, I cannot, and will not relin-
quish the hope of it. P

% In speaking of the directors as I have done, I of course
separate my father from those men &vith whom he happens in
station to be associated. His opinions are widely different
from theirs, and there is not in the United Kingdom, nor in
India, nor in the world, a man who has a greater admiration
of Lord Wellesley’s talents and virtues, or a higher sense of
the vast advantages which our nation has derived from his
administration,

“You well know that I must lament Lord Wellesley’s departure,
from private and personal considerations. I have been so long
used to look up to his lordship’s approbation as the highest reward
which I could receive, that in his departure I shall lose one great
incitement to exertion ; I trust that I shall always do my duty to
my country, and prefer the public interests to any other. IfI do
not, I must lose sight of everything that I have learned in the
Governor-General's office. Yet, if ever I perform any services
which may deserve to be approved, I shall regret that Lord
Wellesley is not here to approve them, for his approbation would
be more precious to me than that of any ather Governor-General
ever can be, His lordship’s favour first distinguished me, brought
me out of the beaten track of the service, and placed me in
situations from which prospects of future eminence and success
opened upon me, If ever these prospects are realised, I shall owe
their fulfilment to Lord Wellesley, and I shall carry with me
through life the firm conviction of an endless obligation.

“You may remember when I quitted Calcutta that I particu-
larly requested Lord Wellesley’s permission to return to his
family and office at the end of the campaign; the hope of doing
g0 has ever been uppermost in my mind. 'When X received the
melancholy news that his lordship was preparing to quit India, I
was more than ever anxious to proceed to Calcutta, in order that
I might have the honour of paying my respects to him before hia
departure,

“When I was on the polnt of requesting Lord Lake’s permission
to quit head-quarters, my intentions were checked by Colonel
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Maleolm’s expressing a wish that I should remain here, as he has
the goodness to suppose that I might be useful,

“He tells me that I cannot better show my gratitude to Lord
Wellesley than by assisting in scenes in which he will ever feel an
interest. If I could, indeed, flatter myself that I conld be useful,
or that the motives of my stay should meet with his lordship’s
approbation, X should less feel the disappointment of not being
able to pay my best respects in person. The expression, however,
of a wish for me to remain, on the part of an officer in Colonel
Malcolm’s situation, I consider to be a public call. Under an
officer with Colonel Malcolm’s great knowledge and abilities, I
expect to acquire information and experience which may hereafter
enable me to perform useful public services.,

«] have no favour to ask from his lordship; the cup of his kind-
ness has been already filled beyond my deserts.

“ My last request is, that hig lordship will believe me to be
bound to him by the most sinoere gratitude and attachmenis. It
would be presumptucus in me ‘to pretend to offer my humble
services to his lordship, yet I should be favoured if he would
consider me a8 his devoted servant, ever anxious fo receive, and
eager to obey his commands,

“ All Todia will anxiously watch the future course of his lord-
ghip’s public life, and Thope that he will continue to guard the fate
of India. I hope that his Iordship will long enjoy every happiness
that he can wish, that he will soon overthrow all his enemies, and
see the accomplishment of all his designa,

“J trust that I shall be excused if I have taken any improper,
liberty in writing this letter. T am, and can never cease to be,
actuated by the greatest reverence for Lord W.s character, and
the most respectful attachment to his person,

“ Wishing you, dear Shawe, & pleasant voyage, and a happy life,

“I remain yours sineerely,
%T. C. Mercavye.”

This letter, which was very gratifying to Lord Wellesley,
produced the following reply, under the hand of his private
secretary

MAJOR MERRICK SHAWE TQ CHARLES METCALFE.

“ Caleutta, July 10, 1805,
“ Dear Mercarre,—In this season of hurry and packing up
yor will not expect from me o long a letter in reply to yours of
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the 20th of June as the subject of your letter merits. It will be
sufficient to inform yom that Lord Wellesley was extremely
gratified by its contents. IIis lordship has reccived it as a warm
and unequivocal testimony of your attachment to him. The
sentiments which the present state of affairs has excited in your
mind do credit to your judgment and $o0 your feelings, and as
Lord Wellesley entertaing s most favourable opimion of both,
your expressions were highly satisfactory to him. Lord Wellesley
is disposed to formi the most favourable expectations of yeur
fature success from his opinion of your public zeal and talents,
and T hope he is too good & judge to be disappointed. I beg leave
to add my sincere good wishes, and the expressions of my hopes
"that his expectations may be fulfilled.

“ Lord Wellesley would have been very glad to see you pre-
vious to his departure, but he entirely approves your resolution
to remain at your present post at this crisis.

“I trust that the state of affairs at Hindostan is rapidly
advancing towards an advantageous and permanent settlement,
and if your father could bite his brethren in Leadenhall-street, all
would be well with respect to the fature safety of this country.

“Believe me {o be, ever yours sincerely,
“ MeRRICK SHAWE.

“Pray remember me to Cole, who will always do credit to
Lord Howe’s Boyw”

On the 20th of Angust, 1803, Lord Wellesley took his
final departure from Calcutta, and in the beginning of
January, 1806, he set foot again on English soil. Soon
after his arrival he expressed & wish to see Sir Theophilus
Metcalfe, who called upon him, and received from the lips
of the retired Governor-General an account of the talents
and disposition of his son, which might have gladdened any
father’s heart. It was the fortune of Lord Wellesley, as it
was the fortune of another great Indian statesman, to be
assailed and reviled, under -the shelter of parliamentary
privilege, by men who could not understand his measures
or appreciate his character. Among the foremost of his
defenders in the House of Commons was Sir Theophilus
Metcalfe, who had done battle for hirh, too, in the Court of
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Directors, and being in the minority at the India House,
had thereby sacrificed his chances of succeeding to the
Chair. It was an honest and a manly defence, based upon
sincere convictions, the result of much knowledge and
experience, and it was not persevered in with less heartiness
for the reflection that, whilst defending the character of an
dble statesman, he was serving the friend of his favourite
son.
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CHAPTER VL
[1805—1806.]
THE “« GREAT GAME” ENDED,

Arrival of Lord Cornwallis—His Policy-—Necessities of an
Exhausted Treasury—Charles Metcalfe’s Views of the New
System——Letters to Mr. Sherer—State of our Relations with
Scindiah and Holkar--Advance to the Banks of the Hyphasis
—Treaty with Holkar—Return of the Army—Metcalfe
appointed fo the Delhi Residency.

Ox the 30th of July, 1805, Lord Cornwallis took wpon
himself a second time the office of Governor-General of.
India. He went out to extricate the country from political
entanglements and financial embarrassments which had
disquieted and alarmed the Home Government, and not
without solid reason for their anxiety. The British power
in the East had been for some time subjected to all the
exhausting influences of a state of chronic warfare. No
gooner had one campaign been brought to a close than we
. were continually finding curselves at the outset of another,
And whilst we were putting down our new enemies, our old
ones, in spite of the most solemn engagements, were
bracing themselves up to renew the contest. It seemed,
indeed, without any hyperbole, to' be a great national illus-
tration of the old story of Hercules and the Hydra.
The East India Company were at this time essentially
a merchant-company. They were Yestrained by act of
Parliament' from wars and conquests, and from treaties
with native princes likely to entangle us in wars and con-
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quests. They desired, both upon principle and upon
policy, to abstain from the extension of theirempire; for
they believed that there was only weakmess in such exten-
sion, and that by seeking new fields of political enterprise
we should neglect the good government of the old, and
utterly sacrifice the trade, It was not strange, therefore,
that they should have viewed with the liveliest apprehen-
sion the recent great conquests in Upper India; the
treaties and the acquisions that had attended them. We
were rapidly becoming masters of the whole continent of
India, in spite of the principles, and in spite of the policy,
of the Company; and the Court of Directors, viewing the
progress of these great events from a distance, could only
see in this universal dominion the forerunner of universal
prostration and decay. The gigantic military enterprises
which we had undertaken had not only exhausted the
treasury, they were also forestalling the revenues of the
country. The Government of British India, indeed, was
fast approaching a state of bankruptcy; and in the eyes of
a commercial company this was the most alarming contin-
gency of all.

1t is not to be doubted that our position in India at this
time was beset with difficylties and dangers of no ordinary
kind. It is not to be doubted that those difficulties and
dangers were only to be removed by the establishment of
peace. But they who attributed to Lord Wellesley a
disinclination to peace, were ignorant and unjust. His'
steadiest friends and warmest admirers were shaking their
heads and saying amongst themselves that the ® glorious
little man” was losing heart—that he had become far too
prone to compromises and concessions—that he ‘was over-
looking insults and offences which ought to be resented,
and rewarding as friends or ‘welcoming as associates men
who deserved only the chastisement due to the most
unscrupulons of our enemies. - And, doubtless, they rightly
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sooner had one campaign been brought to a close than we
. were continually finding ourselves at the outset of another.
And whilst we were putting down our new enemies, our old
ones, in spite of the most solemn engagements, were
bracing themselves up to renew the contest. It seemed,
indeed, without any hyperbole, to' be a great national illus-
tration of the old story of Hercules and the Hydra,
The East India Company were at this time essentially
a merchant-company. They were restrained by act of
Parliament from wars and conquests, and from treaties
with native princes likely to entangle us in wars and con~
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quests. They desired, both upon principle and upon
policy, to abstain from the extension of theirempire; for
they believed that there was only weakness in such exten-
sion, and that by seeking new fields of political enterprise
we should neglect the good government of the old, and
utterly sacrifice the trade. It was not strange, therefore,
that they should have viewed with the liveliest apprehen-
sion the recent great conquests in Upper India; the
treaties and the acquisions that had attended them. We
were rapidly becoming masters of the whole continent of
India, in spite of the principles, and in spite of the policy,
of the Company; and the Court of Directors, viewing the
progress of these great events from a distance, could only
see in this universal dominion the forerunner of universal
prostration and decay. The gigantic military enterprises
which we had undertaken had not only exhausted the
treasury, they were also forestalling the revenues of the
country. The Government of British India, indeed, was
fast approaching a state of bankruptcy; and in the eyes of
& commercial company this was the most alarming contin-
gency of all.

1t is not to be doubted that our position in India at this
time was beset with difficylties and dangers of no ordinary
kind. It is not to be doubied that those difficulties and
dangers were only to be removed by the establishment of
peace. But they who attributed to Lord Wellesley a
disinclination to peace, were ignorant and unjust. His’
steadiest friends and warmest admirers were shaking their
heads and saying amongst themselves' that the * glorious
little man™ was losing heart—that he had become far too
prone to compromises and concessions—that he ‘was over-
looking insults and offences which ought to be resented,
and rewarding as friends or welcoming as associates men
who deserved only the chastisement due to the most
unscrupulous of our enemies. And, doubtless, they rightly
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estimated the deserts of the Mahratta chieftains, Bat
wisdom wears one garb on the banks of the Jumna;
another on the banks of the Hooghly; and another, it may
be added, on the banks of the Thames. Neither the
players of the “great game” in Lord Lake's camp, nor
the merchant-statesmen in Leadenhall-street, whilst they
set up theories of their own, both wise after their kind,
took account of those practical impediments to war or
peace with which the Governor-General had 1o contend.
They did not reflect that peace at one time might be as
difficult as war at another. They did not reflect—to use
an expression the emphasis of which atones for its want
of elegance—that it might happen that, in making war or
in making peace, Lord Wellesley  could not help him-
self.” He was forced into war by circumstances not to be
controlled or resisted; and by circumstances equally
uncontrallable and irresistible, he was compelled to make
every effort, compromises and concessions included, to
restore the country to peace.

In 1803 the conduct of Scindiah and the Rajah of Berar
rendered war inevitable; in 1804 the excesses of Holkar
again compelled us to take the field; but in 1805, though
we had still wrongs $o redress, and insults to chastise, the
exhausted state of the Company’s treasury, aund the host of
evils which these wars had entailed upon the country,
rendered it necessary that, evem at some loss of national
dignity, peace should be speedily restored. And when
Lord Corowallis arrived in'India, the paramount object of
Lord Wellesley's desires, the chief subject of his thoughts,
and the main occasion of his labours, was the speedy
re-establishment of peace, and the restaration of the finan-
cial prosperity of the empire.

That Cornwallis, armed with specific instructions from
home, having no parental interest in the condition of affaire
that bad arisen in Central India, and regarding the men to
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whom the eonduct of our military and political affairs had
been entrusted as mere abstractions, may have set about the
work before him in a more resolute and uncompromising
manner than if he had himself been concerned in the
measures, and associated with the personal agency to
which this state of things was in no small degree to be
attributed, is hardly to be doubted. But the policy which
he intended to pursue differed but lLittle in its essential
features from that which Wellesley himself would, at this
time, have adopted. The two statesmen were for some
days both resident in Calcutta. During that interval, Sir
George Barlow, who was the link between them, drew up
an elaborate paper on our relations with the States of the
North-West, in which past events were recited, and pro-
spective measures were mapped out, for the guidance of
Lord Cornwallis. It was intended to embody the views of
Lord Wellesley, as modified by the circumstances in which
Government were then placed, and it was submitted to him
for approval. A single sentence, not affecting the general
tenor of the document, was inserted by the retiring
Governor-Gezeral, who then declared that it fairly repre-
sented his opinions. There was, indeed, but little antago-
nism between the sentiments of the two statesmen. Both
recognised & necessity against which it was impossible to
sontend ; but it fell to Cornwallis to commence the execu-
tion of those measures which, under cther circumstances,
peither might bave willingly initiated, but which in the
conjuncture that had then arisen, seemed equally inevitable
to both. ’

It need hardly be said, that in Lord Lake’s camp these
measures were grievously unpopular. Every military and
political officer on the banks of the Jwmna eried out loudly
against them. And Charles Metcalfe, earnest among the
earnest in his disapprobation of the new system, or no-
gystem which was now to be enforced, could hardly bring
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himself to believe that the Governor-General was not some-
what of a bigot, wedded indissolubly to his own theories,
and utterly regardless of the opinions of all the experienced
practical men in the country. Before Lord Cornwallis
had been more than a month in India, the young diplo-
matist entered into a critical examination of the venerable
nobleman’s conduct. The letters which he wrote at this
time forcibly express mot only his own views of North-
Western politics, but those of the-‘party to which he
belonged ; I may give at least one specimen of them j—

~

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
“ Camp, Muttra, August 31st, 1805,

“ My DEAR SHERER,~Your gilence has lasted very long. I
have been particularly anxious to know your sentiments upon the
change which the arrival of Lord Cornwallis has produced. It is
very probsble that I look upon things in a wrong light, but I
confess my opinion is, that as far as I am able to see, all the acts
of Lord Cornwallis since his arrival have been deficient in
wisdpm; and I believe that it may prove to be a great misfortune
that his Majesty’s ministers or the Imperial Directors should bave
selected for the government of this country a man of experience
and knowledge. . . . Had the genius of our country Jed. the
choice to a man of judgment, who had not before been in India,
he would certainly haye.applied for information to those persons
who might be supposed the most capable of giving it, and, whadeg
ever might have been his decision, after he had collected his
Xknowledge, it would, we may suppose, have been the result of
unprejudiced deliberation.

“Lord Cornwallis’s manner and substance of speech are pre-
cisely the same now as they were on the first day of his arrival.
There is some immovable notion in his head. Has Lord Corn-
wallis sought information from any man who waslikely to give
it?. If he has not you will, I think, agree with me that he has
been wanting in his duty, and that such self-sufficient importance
may be injurious to the public interests. I should suppose that
the persons whose opinions upon the political state of India
would be useful for the consideration of a governor-general would
be Lord Wellesley, Lord Lake, Sir G. Barlow, Lumsden, Edmon-
stone, Colonel Close, Colonel Malcolm, Mr, Webbe (if he had
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Yived) Colonel Gerard, and Mercer (these two have had opportu-~
nities of acquiring great local knowledge, and have in person seen
what the nature of our situation in Hindostan is, and what is the
extent of difficulty and danger in pursuing one course, and may
form a judgment of the probable effects of another). If these are
not the persons whose opinicns are to be estimated, the political
management of India must have been wretchedly conducted for
the last seven years. But Lord Cornwallis knows better than
all these. Surely Lord C. might suppose that a great change
having taken place since he was in the Government before,<his
knowledge of the present state of affairs might be improved by
communications with others. ¢No,’ he says, I know best, and
what I say must be right.’

4 All our communications are, of course, most confidential, and
I will mention one of Lord C.’s remarks, which shows his own
character. He says, * There is a general frenzy for conquest and
victory even in those heads which I had believed to be the
soundest.” Setting aside that this sweeping observation is false
and unfounded, as the records of the Government will prove, let
us observe the nature of it. He agrees that the wisdom or
necessity of a particular course of policy, which he is pleased
*deliberately to term a frenzy, is strongly impressed upon those
heads which hehad believed to be the soundest. Respect for the
judgment of those men would have led common characters to
examine into the causes of such a prevailing eonviction, and
would have induced them to suspect that such an universal effect
might have some good cause which it would be right to search
for. But this man has a head so very sound, that the only
thought that arises in his mind is that there is not a sound head
in Indiaz, He proves either that he is no judge of heads, or that
he disagrees with the soundest heads. I believe therelis no sounl
who does not heartily wish for peace, but it would surely be
unwise to purchase a temporary peace by concessions, _—

“I believe that affairs would be immediately settled thh
Scindiah if the armies were advanced ; and I believe that Holkar
could not survive long. They have ha.d frequent disputes lately,
A settlement with Holkar does not appear practicable until he is
quite reduced; unless it is intended to grant him such concessions
as shall establish him into a mighty power; and if this is done it
will 'not be long before we repent of it. At one period he wag -
very nearly extinguished, His junction with Scindiah has revived
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his power in » small degree; but he 1s very much reduced. It
will be melancholy to see the work of our brave armies undone,
and left to be done over again, I hope for the bess from Lord C.’s
administration; but ¥ am, I confess, without confidence. It is
surely unwise to fetter the hands of the Commander-in-Chief, and
to stop all operations until his own arrival. We shall have
Holkar near us in a few days. I wish you would send us money.
% Yours affectionately,
“C. T. METCALNFD.”

In the last words of this letter there was mighty signifi-
cance—* X wish you would send us money.” Unhappily,
there was no money to send. This was the only circum-
stance that weakened the force of Charles Metcalfe's
arguments. But it was a practical answer of such cogency
and comprehensiveness, that it rendered all else superfluous.
Sherer, who was then in the Finance department of the
Administration, must have smiled sorrowfully at the utter-
ance of such a wish in such a crisis. '

Three weeks after the despatch of the above letter, the
young diplomatist wrote in somewhat better spirits of the
prospects before him, ¢ The army,” he said, “is ordered
to assemble. VWewant money only. Holkar talks of visiting
Delhi again. His motions Bave neither been active nor
menacing as yet. There is, I think, no prospect of Scindiah
presuming actually to contend with us, if we are disposed
fo forgive him all his past sins; but I make no doubt that
he will regulate his conduct in the way that will be suited
best in his opinion to induce us to purchase his good-will
by concessions; and I am sorry to say that the political
conduct of our Government for the last year is likely to
encourage a hope in him that an appearance of an intention
to aid Holkar may succeed.” And, doubtless, there was
much truth in this, The recent bearing of Lord Wellesley
towards Scindiah had been conciliatory in the extreme.
Eager to avoid an open rupture, he had overlooked some
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grievous insolts and offences, had accepted umsatisfactary
explanations of indefensible acts, and by such concessions
had plainly indicated to the restless chief that we were
eager, almost at any cost, to Testrain him from flmging
himself into the arms of Holkar. When Lord Cornwallis
arrived in India, he wrote to the Home Government, that
he had found the Company at war with Holkar, and
scarcely at peace with Scindiah. This, indeed, was the
true condition of affairs. The latter chief was oscillating
between the state of a treacherous, presumptuous ally, and
an open, defiant enemy. And, in the meanwhile, Holkar,
who had lost none of his old energy or his old elasticity,
was recovering from the effects of his 1ate discomfiture.
He had, indeed, nothing more to lose. He was reduced to
the state of a mere soldier of fortume; and earried, as he
said, all his possessions on the saddle of bis horse. Baut
that dominion of the saddle was still formidable. It was
. in the very nature of things that Upper Tudia should be
swarming with desperate adventurers—the scattered frag-
ments of all the armies 'we had beaten in the field—eager
to reunite again under some cormmon standard. So it was
not long before Holkar, attended by Ameer Xhan as his
lieutenant, had raised 2 considersble army, and collected a
large mumber of guns. With these he marched towards
the Sutlej. He had opened a eorrespondence with the
Sikh chiefs, and he believed that they would wunite them-
selves with him. ¥t was a combination which promised
great resulis; and already the turbulent Mabraita saw
himself at the head of an immense body of predatary
horse, streaming from the country of the five xivers, plun-
dering the fairest regions of Northern India, and carrying
everything before him in his desolafing career.

But these visions were destined soon to yield to the
pressure of yaking realities of a far more sombre com-
plexion. Holkar had men with arms and horses ; and he
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had an imposing train of artillery;* but he had no mone
to subsist them., He was even poorer than we were our-
selves; and we were in a melancholy state of pecuniary
destitution. 'Wherever he went, his poverty compelled him
to make enemies for himself, by demanding money or plun-
dering the country. In the Cis-Sutlej Sikh states he exerted
himself especially to obtain the assistance of the Rajah of
Puttealah, from whom he demanded two lakhs of rupees;
but by this time Lake had set his divisions in motion.
General Dowdeswell, with a force of all arms, was ordered
forward to Saharunpore, from which advanced position he
could defend the Doab, and open communications with the
Sikh chiefs, ~With Dowdeswell's division went Charles
Metcalfe, as Political Agent. The service was the same as
that which he had rendered in the spring of the year with
the division of General Smith, that had gone in pursuit of
Ameer Khan into Rohilcund ; and the position, which was
one of independence and responsibility, was peculiarly
pleasing to him.t

There was fine weather, a fine country, an exciting
adventure, and plentyjof work. Young Metcalfe'was in good
health and good spirits. It was his business now to con-
duct, in the General’'s name, an important correspondence
with the Sikh chiefs; to detach them from an alliance with

#* It was that, indeed, and nothing more. I believe that it was
a mere imposition, for most of the guns were unserviceable,

t Sir Theophilus Metcalfe called this “nursing King’s officers ;”
and in his letters to his son rather made light of the employment.
But it was, and has 'be'en ever since, the most important duty that
ean be entrusted to & young man of ability acquainted with the
languages, the habits, and the political condition of the people in
whose country our armies are moving. These “nurses” have
since come to be called “ politicals.” Half a century ago, when
Charles Metcalfe “nursed” Generals Smith and Dowdeswell, the

employment was a new one, e was, indeed, almost the first of
the race,
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Holkar, if they had formed one; and fo deter them if they
had not. Of these the Rajah of Puteealah was thé most
important. The letter which Metcalfe addressed to him,
with the Rajah’s answer, may be given in translation, as an
illustration of the work in which the young diplomatist was
engaged, and a'not unamusing specimen of the diplomatic
correspondence of the East:—

TO RAJAH SBAHIB SINGH OF PUTEEALAH.

@1 Lave heard of your many good qualities, and have become
anxious for your acquaintance. The reports of your enemies state
that you have joined the cause of Hplkar, and have consequently
placed yourself in the situation of an enemy to the British Govern~
ment. I cannot believe that you would act in & manner so adverse
to your true interests.

“The power of the British Government is known to the whole
world, It is terrible to its enemies, and a sure protection to its
friends. Holkar is a fugitive, and has fled from Hindostan to the
country of the Sikhs, from dread of the British troops. Wherever
bhe goes be brings destruction on those who assist him. ‘Whilst he
remains in your counfry, he destroys your crops and plunders the
inhabitants, It is not consistent with your famed wisdom to
associate yourself with such a man. Convinced that the reports
which I have heard are false, I write to you, in a friendly manner,
te inform you that I am advancing with a large army of infantry,
«cavalry, and artillery, and that I shall in three or four days arrive
at the banks of the Jumna, If you act openly against the enemy,
you may depend upon assistance from the British Government,
The Government regards the Sikh chiefs as friends, and has no
intention of interfering in their concerns. Its sole object is to
defeat the hostile designs of Holkar. 'Whoever joins the desperate
fortunes of that fréebooter must expect to draw upon himself the
vengeance of the British Government; and whoever acts against
him will be rewarded with great kindness, Attack the enemy,
and your interests will undoubtedly be promoted. If you have
any communications to make, I shall be happy to receive a confi-
dential person from you. Make me happy by the transmission of
friendly letters, with accounts of your welfare,”

YOL. L F
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FROM RAJAH BARIB BINGH TO MAJOB-GENERAL DOWDESWELL,
[“ Despatched at night, immediately on the receipt of your letter.]

[After compliments]—*X have had the honour of receiving
your friendly letter. . . . . I have derived great bappiness, confi-
dence, and satisfaction from the perusal of it. The case is, that
since the bright sun of British rule bas eclightened the countries
of Hindostan, I have sincerely and faithfully fulfilled the duties of
submission and attachment to the Government, and have pre-
served the relations of friendship and good-will with its officers,
with whom I have always held, and pow hald, a friendly corre-
spondence,

“In no instance has our friendship been interrupted. God is
my witness ] From the time when my heart first received the
impresaion of attachments tothe Government, the impression has
always increased, and is not o be erased.

“When Holkar, suddenly flying with fear from the victorious
armies of the British ‘Government, brought his ill-boding traim
into the country, and sought my assistance and salliance, pre-
serving in its purity my faith and frieadship to the Buritish
Government, I paid no attention te him whatever.. When the
plundering oppressor fixed his camp of wretchedness between
DPuttealah and Syfabad, it was suggested to me that my enemies
wonld perhaps joir him and procure success to their designa, and
1 was persuaded that the necessity of the time made it advisalle
10 keep up an outward intercourse with him. ¥rom mecessity I
submitted to ome or two conferences. B8till, however, notwith-
standing my apparent good-will, the raseal did not refrain from
plundering and destroying tny eounfry, which he has made s
deser. 1 at one time hoped by his means to punish my enemies ;
. bub this, alsé, was not brought about. The wreich, whase pro-
fession and livelihood is plunder, has marched to plunder towards
the Sutlej, I have no asylum bus in the British Government, to
which I shall ever look up. From if I shall always, I know, derive
Protection and prosperity. I feel great eonfidence from your near
approach. May it be propitiona. I have answered your kind
letier in-haste. I shall immediately despaich & person ia my
confidence.”

The sincerity of all this may be doubted. Had Holkar’s
Prospect of success appeared, in the eyes of the Sikh chiefs,
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to have sufficient encouragement in it, it is not improbable
that they would have united themselves with that desperate
frecbooter, and taken part in the proposed incursion. But the
Mahratta appeared before them as  fugitive and 2 mendicant.
The British troops were pressing forward in pursuit of him.
On both banks of the Sutlej the Sikhs regarded our
advance with lively apprehensions, and were eager to see
the battalions, both of Holkar and the Feringhees, on their
way back to Central India. Both armies, before the close
of the year, were encamped in the Punjaub. On the
9th of December, the British army was posted on the
banks of the Hyphasis, opposite to the Rajpoor’ Ghaut, and
were gladdened by the sight of the moble scenery which
opened out bewitchingly before them.® Holkar had
marched to Umritsur, and taken wup his position there, in
the heart of the Sikh country, relying upon assistance that
was never afforded to him. The promptitude of Lake’s
advance had cut off fromm the fugitive Mahratta all hopes
of such coadjutancy. Thus, feeble and alone, he saw that
resistance was useless. There was nothing, indeed, left for
him but to obtain the friendly offices of the Sikhs to bring
about an amicable arrangement with the dominant state
which he had soinjured and insulted. It was whilst affairs

# See Thorn's “History of the Mahsatia War” *“Io the
extreme distance frome north te east arose the snowy ridge of old
Imana . . . . The fleecy sofiness of its faint and irvegular
outline appeared to great advantage, in resting npon immense
masses of neaver elevations, whose rocky eminences in chaotie
confusion were most beautifully eontrasted with pine-clad hills,
still eloser to the view, and these again relieved to the eye by the
prospect of a fine undulating country of hill and dale, covered
with lumiricus vegetation, and enlivencd by numerous viliages,
temples, and ruins, to the extent of thirty miles, boanded by the
moble river which, fowing in majestic grandeur immediately
before us, broughs te eur recollection that we were standing as it
were en classie ground.”

r2
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were in this condition, the army still halting upon the
banks of the classic river, that Charles Metcalfe wrote to his
friend Sherer a letter in which he thus spoke of his posi-
tion with the army :—

“7 gent off yesterday a letter to our friend Bayley, to which, in
order to avoid repetition, I refer you for an account of myself and
my movements since I last wrote. From it you will perceive thas
I am exceedingly happy in my present situation, and wish nothing
more than to remain in it. T see much novelty and variety, and
my spirits are kept alive by the change. I was with General
Dowdeswell’s division of the army when I received yours of the
22nd October. I have taken my leave of the subject of Lord
Cornwallis, Whatever may be my opinion of his designs, let it
rest. I do ndb.yish to assail his respected and respectable memory.
v + « « Mention to me any new works of note that have
appeared lately. I rejoice at Tucker’s appointment on public
grounds* I hope that it does not interfere with your private
prospects. I go on here as well as I wish. I have not been much
troubled with business lately. What I do is under Malcolm, with
‘whom I have always been on very good terms. Ihave not, how-
ever, any particular intimacy with him; and prefer to consider
myself as distinet from his establishment, Cole has been ill, and
is not yet strong. Few have withstood the late sickly season; I
have, and I thank God for, the enjoyment of uninterrupted health
and increasing strength.”

On the day after this was written (December 19, 1805),
an agent from the Lahore Government appeared in our
camp charged with the office of mediator between Holkar
‘and the British Government. On the following day arrived
an emissary from Holkar himself to negotiate the terms of
a treaty of Peace. There was no difficulty now in arrang-
ing a settlement of affairs. The Indian Government, under

* The appointment to the Accountant-Generalship of Henry
Bt. George Tucker, whom, as the ablest financier in India, Sir G.
Barlow had induced to leave the house of business with which he
had connected himself, in order that, in the great crisis thas had
arisen, he might assume the direction of our pecuniary affairs,
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peremptory instructions from home, and utterly unable in
the embarrassed state of their finances to prosecute another
great war, were compelled to pacificate upon terms which,
under other circumstances, they might have regarded as
derogatory to the character of a great nation. Concessions
were made to Holkar which the Commander-in-Chief, and
all his staff on the banks of the Hyphasis, declared to be
disgraceful ; but which the Governor-General * at Allaha-
bad and the Accountant-General at Calcutta believed to be .
necessitated by the pressing exigencies of the times. At
the same time, Scindiah, whose agent had been for some
while in our camp, reaped his share of the benefits arising
from the conciliatory spirit of the British Government. A
treaty of peace was concluded with that Prince, by which
most of the advantages conceded by the old treaty of Surjee
Angenjaum, made by Arthur Wellesley, were secured to
him, in addition to a pension of four lakhs of rupees; and
he on his part undertook to grant an indemnification for
the losses sustained by the British Resident, and engaged
thenceforth to exclude the unprincipled Minister, Ghautka,
who had been the real mover of all the outrages against
the British Government, for ever from his councils. This
treaty, the terps of which were subsequently rendered
still more favourable to Scindiah, was ratified under a
royal salute on Christmas-day. What Charles Metcalfe
thought upon the subject will presently be

In the mean while, Holkar’s agent had returned to his
master to take counsel with him relative to the terms
offered by the British, and not until the beginning of the
new year did he present himself again in our camp. Then
it appeared that Holkar was inclined to presume upon the
pacific spirit of his adversaries, and to obtain better terms,

* Sir George Barlow, who, on the death of Lord Cornwallis
early in October, had sncceeded as provisional Governor-General
to the chief seat in the Administration.
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if he could. But Lord Lake was not to be frightened or
to be cajoled into further concessions. He declared that if
the treaty were not signed within three days, he would at
once cross the river, and move upon Holkar's camp. This
threat had the desired effect. And on the 7th of January
a treaty which restored large poasessions to the man who,
a little time before, had declared that he could carry his
all on his saddle, was ratified with all due ceremony in the
presence of several of the Sikl chiefs.

On the following day, attended by an escort of two
battalions of sepays, Charles Metcalfe, under instructions
from: Lord Lake, set out for the Mahratta camp. The
visit of friendship was intended to give assurance to
Holkar’s people, who, weary of a war from which they
derived but little, either in the shape of plunder or the
shape of pay, could hardly bring themselves to believe
that the peace they desired was at hand. e was received
in full Durbar, with every mark of satisfaction and respect.
There was but ene gloomy face—one moody spirit in the
conclave. Ameer Khan had reluctantly attended the
meeting, and was now little inclined to do honour to the
representative of the British Government. The scene in
Holkar's Durbar-tent was an interesting one ; but I need
not describe it, for on his way back with the army, which
‘broke ground immediately afterwards on ita return to the
provinces, Charles Metcalfe related the circumstances of
the interview in a letter to his friend Sherer :*

« Camp, Sirhind, Jenuary 26, 1806.

“My bEsr SuerER,~ , . . The peace with Holkar and
our march from the Punjaub are already known to you. Bayley
or Jenkins will bave told you that I have been in Holkar'’s camp.
My visit to him was occasioned by bis request that soms gentle-
man might be sent, to him, as a mark of friendship and confidence
from the British Government. It was, indeed, necessary to give

* See also Appendix A, for Metcalfe’s official report.
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satisfaction to his people, who would not give eredit o his procla-
mation of & peace. They considered it as & trick such as he had
often before practised to raise their fallen hopes; and, conmse-
quently, the arrival of the mission which confirmed the fact was
hailed with every demonstration of unbounded joy and rapture.

“ The conduct of Holkar and his chiefs was equally expressive
of the highest delight ; and made my mission a very pleasing and
happy business. My task was easy, being in its natare only to
convey assurances of friendship. One subject only of discussion
occurred, and that was attendel with no difficulty. It was my
duty to urge his immediate departure from the Punjaub on his
return to Malwa, I got from him a promise to move on the 13th,
which he maiutained, to m¥y surprise. Ek-chushm-oo-dould’s}
appearance is very grave, his countenance expressive, his manners
and conversation easy. He had not at all the appearance of the
savage that we knew him to be. The same countenance, however,
which was strongly expressive of joy when I saw him, would look
very black under the influence of rage, or any dark passions. A,
little lap-dog was on his musnud—a strange playfellow for Holkar,
The jewels on his neck were invaluably rich. With these excep-
tions, there was nothing extraordinary in his Durbar, which was
just as might have been expected under the circamstances of his
situation, Al his chiefs were prezent. Ameer Khan is black-
guard in his looks, and affected on the eccasion of my reception
to be particularly fierce, by rubbing his coat ever with gunpowder,
and assuming in every way the air of a common soldier. Bat for
bz proximity to Holkar, he would bave passed for one; indeed, X
did not know that he was Ameer Khao, I consider his behavionr to
have been affectation. He kad the impudence to ask from me my
pame, which must have been known to him ; and his conduct was
20 evidently designed fo bring himself into notice, that I felt a
gratification in disappointing the unknown impudent ; and answer-
ing plainly to his question, ¥ turned from him and continued &
good-humoured conversation with Holkar and Bhao Bhaskur, X
was better pleased that I did so when I learned his name, for he
had on a late occasion behaved with egregious impertinence.

“1 bave been very much gratified with this aecidental mission
becanse, though of ne importance, it i8 a litile distinction. Lord
Lake has made wse of it to say more in my favour than Y have
ever deserved in a despatch {o the Governor-General,

* A nickname for Holkar, signifying One-Eyed.
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« hope that I ghall be with you in a very few months, What
say youto my proposed trip to England, as mentioned to Butter-
worth ? Let me have the benefit of your advice on that subject.
I shall be better pleased when you write more; but am now, and
ever,

“ Your very affectionate friend,
#C. T. METCALFR.”

The army was now on its way back to the British
Provinces. It was a season of comparative leisure, which
Charles Metcalfe turned to advantage by devoting more
time to hig private correspondence. The following letters
have a double interest; for while they treat of public affairs,
they afford also some glimpses of the personal character of
the young writer :—

FROM CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

¢ Paneeput, February 12, 1806,

*My peAr SHERER,~I had the pleasure, a fow days ago, of
receiving your kind letter of the 17th ult. I am greatly indebted
%o you for its contents. It brought the latest intelligence of my
‘brother that I have yet received; my last letters are dated in the
early part of November. He continues, I am rejoiced to see, in
every way happy and content. . . . I have been a very bad
.correspondent to my brother, and he complains against me in his
last. He knows, however, that my idleness is not caused by want
of affection. The passage which you transcribed® is, as you
rightly judged, peculiarly gratifying to me. The difference in
our’ habits which was acquired in our childhood, will probably
stick to us, and it is possible that we may have different opinions
on controversial points, as you may remember we used to have,
but in fraternal affection and friendship Theophilus and I will
ever have, I am sure, the same mind and spirit.

“ We are moving on to Diblee.4 Four battalions, with a body
of 1200 horse (Skinners’ Corps), will be left here (Paneeput) under
Colonel Burn, .Another battalion is at Kurnal. We shall reach
Dihlee in five days. That rascal, our friend Holkar, bas been
JPlaying tricks; and by way of a specimen of what may be

* See ante, page  , nole.
f Metcalfe always spelt Delhi in this manner.
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expected; has already violated the treaty in a few articles. From
onr pacific, mild, moderate, amiable character, Holkar may play
as many tricks as he pleases, and we shall have the generous
magnanimity of overlooking them. I am getting tired of Politics,
and am not disposed to trouble you much more with them, or Sir
George Barlow. We can discuss subjects fully téte-é-tete. You
will, I dare say, be able to show me his merits in revenual,
judicial, and financial administration since he has ascended the
throne. I have been so sitnated as to see him only in one point of
view, and be hag not, in the light in which I have seen him,
appeared to advantage. It may be the faunlt of my optics, But I
cannot with temper see his incorrigible wantonness in wasting and
throwing away our strength and influence, He has not actually
yet done the mischief; and I wish that our guardian genius would
convert his hard heart.

“ Lord Lake has acted in a dignified and noble manner. He
declares his sentiments in opposition to those of the Governor-
General, and he urges every argument and faet which he hopes
will induce him to alter his plans. Having done this, he is deter-
mined not to embarrass or counteract the views of the Govern-
ment; and feeling that he cannot be a fit instrument for the
execution of measures which he entirely disapproves, finding also
that Sir G. B. does not know how to exercise his supreme
authority without deviating from the respect due to Ford Lake’s
rank, situation, character, and services, his lordship is resolved to
resign all political powers, and to confine his attention to military
arrangements. His despatches are marked equally by proper
respect and manly firmness, They show that he is attentive to
what is due to Sir G. B,, and to what is due to himself.

“Of myself I know nothing more than that I am well and
happy.

“ Your affectionate friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.,

“ Camp, Dihlee, Marchk 14, 1806.
“My pEAR SHERER,—I received yours of the 16th ult. 2 few
days ago. I am extremely concerned that any expression in my
letter should have conveyed the insinnation which you very justly
reprobate. Such never existed in my mind; if it had, it would
have caused to me very severe unhappiness. Believe me, Sherer,
the confidence that L have in your friendship, and in the firmness
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and continuance of it, as long as I may be not quite unworthy, is
a consoling pleasure to me in our separation. I look forward to
finding you &t our meeting the same kind, unaltered friend that
you used fo be. Without this reliance I should be very wretched,
for I consider the regard of respected friends as an inestimable
bleseing, and any diminution of it would be an insufferable
affliction. Do not, therefore, think that I could ever mean to
insinuate that distance of time or place could affect your senti-
ments. We are anxious about what we prize, and my anxiety to
hear from you perhaps made me eomplain more than I had any
right to do. Indeed, when T consider the incessant business which
you go through, I ought to be grateful for every line that you
bestow on me, but have no right to complain. It would be uncon-
scionable, indeed, to expect that you should not in your leisure
hours seek refreshment from harassing fatigues in those pursuits
to which your mind is bent, Forgive my impatience.

“Yauy speak of the variety and opportunity of improvement
which oceur in my siteation. X feel the value of them, and look
back over the whole time that I bave spent in this manner with
very great satiefaction. I have, however, 1 am sorry to confess,
thrown away my opportunities of improvement. I bave acquired

Jhabits of idleness and indifference, I am almost afraid I love
wandering for its own sake, rather than for the knowledge which
-it might enable one o acqguire. Works and ruins which would
have made me mad with solitude formerly, operate with much
diminighed effect now. I know not whether it is that the repe-
-tition of novelty blunts the edge of curiosity, or that buman art
-cannot produce much variety, but from some cause my curiosity
js not so sharp and lively as it was. There is, however, something
in this place to which the mind cannot be indifferens. The ruins
of grandeur that extend for miles on every side, fill it with serious
reflections. The palaces crumbling into dust, every one of which
could tell many tales of royal virtue or tyrannical crime, of despe-
rate ambition or depraved indolence, that have caused the accom-
plishment of the most important events, and yet bave never
reached the ear of history; the myriads of vast mausoleums,
every one of which was intended to convey to futurity the
.deathless fame of its cold inhabitant, and all of which are passed
by unknown and unmnoticed, eclipsed by the grandeur of one qr
two which attract the traveller. These things cannot be looked
8} with indifference, The view at present before me from my tent
<ontains the history of ages. We are about a mile from what we
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now eall Dihlee. T have before me the magnificent tomb of
Humaioon; the ruined fort where Shah Alum was deprived of
sight; a ruined palace where another poor king was thrown out of
a window (the very window is staring st me), and many other
buildings of which my ignorance knows nothing, but which,
doubtless, have bad their share of blood and murder. I should
like much te go over the history of India whilst here, bat there is
not a book in this army. The Commander-in-Chief does mot
patronise literature in his troops. ¢D—— your writing, mind
your fightimg,’® is his maxim—a maxim, too, the latter part of
which be has tanght by example as well as precept. If I weren
poet . . . I could write something at this place, in an elegiac
strain about~—
¢ The pomp of heraldry, the pride of power,’ &e., &e.

The ground on which we are encamped was occupied by Holkar’s
army, when it besieged Diblee. The defence was one of the
greatest and most important actions that has been performed, but
the man whose exertions caused the success of it, hds et his
reward from this encouraging Government In an unrecompensed
dismissal from bis office.®* Speaking of Holkar, he' bas in true
character made a point of breaking all the articles of the treaty
that he has not had it in his power to fulfil. He is at present
engaged in plundering the Sikhs. Be it said to his eredit, that he
planders most those who befriended him, We are detained here
until he chooses 10 manch towards Lia own country. Thisis a
happy state of Peace

“Cole and the sporting omes of this quarter are om a hog-
hunting party. All the riding that I have bad has not given
me a grain more of enterprize on horseback than I used to have,
80 I enter no more into those dashing amusements than formerly.
‘What proceeds perhaps from timidity is put down to the score of
gravity, and as therd is not a soul here whose pursuits are like
mine, my want of vivacity is generally pitied.”

The war was now at an end. The Grand Army was to
be broken up. Charlés Metcalfe’s occupation as the nurse
of Queen’s officers was gone; and he soon ceased to
disquiet himself about the inglorious peace on which he
had so earnestly descanted. In the years 1805-1806,

* Colonel Ochferlony, who had been removed from the office of
Resident at Delhi to make room for Mr, Seton.
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political controversy rose to a higher pitch of excitement
than it had ever risen before, or than it has ever risen
since in Indian official circles. Men spoke and wrote in
those days eagerly and emphatically, according to the light
that was in them; and it is not for us, after the lapse of
half a century, to condemn them for that one-sidedness
which is apparent in all their arguments, The Lake party
were right at Muttra and Delhi. The Barlow party were
right at Calcutta. The views of both parties were tinged
by local and incidental circumstances. If Barlow had
commanded the army, he would, probably, have been as
eager for the prosecution of the war as Lake, if he had been
at the head of the Administration, and immediately
responsible to the Home Government, would have been for
its cessation, And I do not doubt that Charles Metcalfe, if
“he had been Accountant-General, would have written just
such letters as flowed from the pen of Henry St. George
Tucker.*

#* The correspondence between Mr, Tucker and Sir G. Barlow
in the years 1805 and 1806, recently published in the Memoirs of
the former, very fairly reflects the views of the Peace party.
From that correspondence, and from the letters of Metcalfe and
Malcolm, a just conception may be derived of the antagonistic
-arguments of the soldiers and the financiers.
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CHAPTER VII,
[1806—1808.]
THE DELHI ASSISTANTSHIP,

Charles Metcalfe’s Prospects—His Visit to Calcutta—Appointed
Assistant to the Resident at Delhi—Administration of the
Delhi Territory—The People and the Court—Character of
Mr. Seton—Charles Metcalfe’s Duties—Letters to Mr. Sherer
—Pecuniary Circumstances—Better Prospects.

It has been stated that Charles Metcalfe, when he joined
the camp of the Commander-in-Chief, still retained his
situation as an assistant in the officg of the Governor-
General. But among other retrenchments which were
effected by the new administration was the abolition of the
“Office.” This, although it entailed upon him a consider-
able loss of salary, Metcalfe scarcely regretted. Without
Lord Wellesley and his old associates, whe were now
scattered over the country, the “office™ would have been
nothing to him. "What his prospects were at this time it
was hard to say. The orders of Government were, that he
should remain with Lord Lake until his services were no
longer required, and that then he should “return to the
Presidency, in order that when opportunity should offer he
might be employed in some other branch of the public
service,” *

There was nothing very hopeful in this, He had
resolutely determined, as long as it was possible, to adhere
to the political line; but in that department of the public

* Mr. Edmonstone to Mr, Metcalfe, Moy 29, 1806,
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service great retrenchments were being made, and Metcalfe
believed that Sir George Barlow was not likely to extend
towards him any very great amount of favour.* He was
in no hurry, therefore, to return to the Presidency to wait
for a new appointment. Indeed, he seriously contemplated
at this time a visit to England, and wrote both to his
friends at Caleutta and his family in England, to consult
with them on the expediency of the step. He received,
however, little encouragement from either quarter. Be-
fore, indeed, the answers from his home-letters had
arrived, he had made up his mind to continue at his
post.

From the following letter, written from Cawnpore at the
end of May, may be gathered mare distinctly what were
his feelings and intentions at this time:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

« Cawnpore, XMay 29, 1806.
A MY pEAR SHERER,~ . . . , Ishall quit this place for
Calcutta about the middle of June, 203 suppose that I shall reach
it about the first week of August I bave settled to join Mal-

* Barlow, hewever, it must be said, had recognised the great
sbility and the fine character of young Metcalfe from the very
commencement of his career, and predicted for him s rapid rise in
‘the service, “I have great pleasure in acquainting you,” he
wrote to Colonel Collins, {*that young Metcalfe possesses very
pleasing manners, and that he appears to unite quick parts with &
very solid understanding. If 1 amnot mistaken he will eminently
distinguish himself among his cotemporariee.” When it wae
ascertained that the King’s Government had refused to appoint
Sir George Barlow permanently to the Governor-Generalship, in
spite of the earnest support of the Court of Directors, 8 report
obtained in Calcutta that the whole Court had woted for Sir
George, with the exceptiom of three members, and that Sir
Theophilus Metcalfe was one of the three. But the statement
was entirely. erroneous—Sir Theophilus was one of Barlow’s most
strenuous supporters.
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eolor’s party en the wvoyage dowr., Without waiting for an
invitation, I shall inform you that I intend to make your bouse
my home, buat I shall hope to hear from you on that poiat, as it
may be possible you are so situated with regard to room or some-
thing else, as to make my invasion an inconvenience to you. AsI
have nothing new to do here, I wish as soon as posible to be at the
Presidency, im erder that wry destination may be decided, and that
Y may again be employed,

“ I am determined, if tbe Governor-General will allow me, to
adhere to the line in which I have made my outset, even if I
should be obliged to submit to a temporary loss or degradation,
and the scene on which I wish to be employed is that which I
have just quitted. X think that it will be the busiest; I therefore
give it a preference. On the whole, prospects are not so flattering
a8 they once were to me, but every dog hss his day, and e bon
temps viendra, Y trust. I do not mean to make immoderate haste,
nor to put myself to any inconvenience in my journey to Calcutta.
1shall proeeed leisurely. Under more encouraging circumstances,
I think that ¥ should have been there before this time, for K feel
every wish te be again engaged on public service. By-the-by, I
was long ago ordered down, and am perhaps guilty of disobedience
by staying so long.

# My letters from England are very pleasing. My father says
that be is proud of my conduct. You know, my dear Sherer, what *
pride a son must feel at such praise from an horoured father. One
sentence of his approbation is an ample reward for any exertion,
and more than consolation under every disappointment. God bless
you, dear Sherer.

« Your sincere friend,
«C. T. METCALFE”

In folfilment of the intention here expressed, Charles
Metealfs started on his river-voyage to Calcutta in the
course of June, and about the third week of the following
manth he found himself again at the Presidency. He was
now only in his twenty-second year; but he had passed
nearly six of these in the public service, and was already
a ripe diplomatist. By all who knew hig—Dby his private
friends and- offieial agsociates, he ‘was held in such estima-
tion that not one of them hesitated to predict his speedy
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attainment of the highest honours of his profession, There
was much in all this to solace him under what he believed
to be a lull in the prosperity of his career; but nothing
cheered him so much as his father’s.letters, which breathed
the warmest affection, and expressed the exultant pride with
which Sir Theophilus contemplated the honourable pro-
gress of his favourite sor.

But there was little occasion for despondency of any
kind. Charles Metcalfe had not long to sojourn at the
Presidency, waiting for the dawn of official re-employment.
On the 15th of August, he received a letter from the
Secretary of Government, announcing that the Governor-
General in Council had been pleased to'appoint him ¢ First
Assistant to the Resident at Delhi.”

This was not a very brilliant appointment. Time was
when he would have regarded it with some contempt—
but the political service was not then what it once had
been in the palmy days of the ¢ glorious little man” who
had set Charles Metcalfe on the high road which leads to
fame and fortune. He had come now to look more soberly
at these things, and so long as he was not removed to the
revenue or judicial departments, he was content with his
situation. Indeed, Delhi was of all others the place in
which, under these altered circumstances, he had recently
desired to be posted.

Mr. Seton was then resident at Delhi. A little time
before he had been the Governor-General’s agent in Rohil-
cund; but Sir George Barlow entertained so high an
opinion of his zeal and ability, that he removed Colonel
Ochterlony from the Delhi Residency to place the civilian
there in his stead. To Seton, who was a man of peculiar
delicacy and generosity of feeling, the circumstances under
which he had been ordered to proceed to Delhi would have
been extremely painful, if such an explanation of these
gircumstances had not been offered to Ochterlony as to
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convince him that he had not forfeited the high opinion of
Govermmeng.* But Seton was & man whose whole soul
was in the public service, and who, once appointed, was
eager to join his'appqgintment, and to devote himself day and
night to its duties. Of Metcalfe he knew little, but that
little had kindled within him a fervour of admiration for
the young atfaché, and one of his first wishes on being
nominated to the Delhi Residency was to associate with
himself, in the performance of his new duties, one whom
he emphatically described as “a young man of most
uncommon abilities and acquirements.” # Although my
personal knowledge of Mr. Metcalfe,” he wrote to Colonel
Malcolm, “is but slight, it is_sufficient to convince me of
the truth of what you say respecting him, We met but
once. But it was SUCE an ONCE!’ ~ So interesting a
meeting! 1 already knew a great deal of his character

* See letter of Mr, Seton to Colonel Malcolm, Bareilly, March 12,
1806.— It must give the sincerest gratification to every honest.
heart to learn that the explanation of the grounds of the present
arrangements have been such as to convinck Colonel Ochterlony
that he stands as high as ever in the estimation of Government,
But surely Government will not content itself with merely sooth-
ing the wounded feelings of & public officer of his greatt and
acknowledged merits ; nor can I bring myself to think that it is
not in contemplation to make a handsome provision for him,
although it was not, perhaps, announced or recorded at the same
time with the arrangements, inasmuch as it was a public
measure.”’-—[ MS. Correspondence,] The supercession of Colonel
Ochterlony had not been decreed without manifest reluctance,
“The ground of hesitation I have with regard to this arrange-
ment,” wrote the Governor-General, “is the service rendered by
Colonel Ochterlony in the defence of Delhi, Is this consideration
such ag'should prevent me removing him ? and will it justify my
making the sacrifice of the public interests, whick I know I
should make, if I were to relinquish the arrangement? I com-
sider Mr, Seton’s appointment to Delhi to be of the most essentia}
importance in a variety of points of view.”—[ MS. Notes of Sur
G, Bariow. ]
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from having seen many of his private letters, and from
having been in the habit of familiar intercourse with many
of his friends, As a young man of most uncommon
abilities and requirements, not to have known him would
have ¢ argued myself unknown.' When, therefore, we met,
I could not meet him as a stranger. Ever since, I have
been one of his many enthusiastic admirers, In the
arrapgments to be formed for conducting the public
business at Delhi, the claims of such.a candidate cannot
be overlooked. I recollect, however, hearing one of his
friends and correspondents observe, that he would not like
to be stationed at Delhi, and that Calcutta was the station
he preferred.”* Such (every allowance being made for

* MS. Correspondence—The observation in the kst sentence
must be supposed to have reference to the days when Lord
Wellesley was Governor-General. Metcalfe himself subsequently
applied for the appointment, Some passages of another letter
from Mr. Setorr may be introduced here in illustration of this and
ather points. The communication quoted in the text had been
sent to Metcalfe, who wrote to thank Setom for the kindness it
expressed. On this the latter wrote ~—* Think not, my dear sir,
that I mean frivolously to compliment or poorly to flatter, when
I assure you that our meeting at Kangur made an impression
upon my mind—upon my heart, which no time can weaken. The
unspeakable interest, which the circumstance of my being then
introduced to your personal acquaintance gave to my visit to
eamp, makes me consider it as bre of the leading epochs of my
Iife ; and ever since that memorable period, X have longed for the
means of being brought inte nearer eonnection with you, and of
being indulged with am opportunity of cultivating your friend-
ship, In this avowal, which is dictated by the heart, you have,
my dear sir, & vertical reply to one part of your letter. I shall
only add, that if Goverament comply with your application, and
render you my associate in the political branch of the business
attached to the Residency at Delhi, I shall feel as if eased at once
of ene-half of my care. ‘That it will be complied with I eannot
for a moment doubt,” The meeting slluded to in these letters
was is General Smith’s camp, when his force was in pursuit of
Ameer Khan, in Rohileund.’
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Seton's habitually over-courteous style of language) being
the opinion of the young assistant entertaived by his
official superior, there was little chance of Metcalfe’s con~
nection with the Court of the Mogul terminating as did his
first diplomatic experience at the Court of the Mahratta,
Perhaps no two men were ever more unlike each other
than Archibald Seton and Jack Collins, ¥ach, as the
young Assistant soon discovered, lacked what the other
had in excess.

Starting to join his appointment without much loss of
time, Metcalfe proceeded by dawk to Delhi, and reached
the imperial city on the 23rd of October. The journey
was not a pleasant one ; but his reception was of the
kindest and most flattering description ; and he soom began
to find, that if in his pew efficial position he had anything
to contend against, it was the excessive delicacy and
humility of the Besident, who shrank from employing the
services of his Assistait in the méfiner contemplated by
Government in such an appaintment, What* Charles
Metealfe thonght of this, may best be described in his own
words 3

CHARLES METCALFE TO 5. W. SHERER. R

« Diklee, Qctober 25th, 1808,

%My pEiz SHEFER,—JI arrived here on the 83rd, after o very
troublesome and uncomfortable jomrney. From Mympooree io
thie plaee I encountered several difficulties. T searcely anywhere
found a sufficient mumber of bearers, and what there were wers
old and bottering wretoches. 1 met with a remarkable instance of
respect in an officer of the Udalut, a Darogah, or, 8s the people in
this part of the world call him, Udalut-walla. ‘I passed the
whole might in the street of the town of Koorja, because this
gentleman had chosen to seize the bearers that had been stationed
for mwe, and bad carried them om his own pleasure to a village
some miles distant. For the last thirty or forty miles, by mistake
no bearers had been stationed, because by an erronecus caleula-
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tion I was not expected so soon. I therefore abandoned my
palkee, &c., and after a long walk, and when I could walk no
longer, a long ride upon a sowar’s horse, which I bad the good
luck to obtain, I at last reached the object of my labours.

“ All is well that ends well, and now I am as comfortable as I
could wish. Seton is most kind, I foresee that I shall have
some difficulty in persuading him fo break through a bad habit
which he has acquired of doing every part of business, even the
minutest, with his own hands. I commenced my attack yester-
day, and mentioned to him eeveral duties which he daily
performs, and which in my conception ought to devolve upon the
Assistant, But he says that he is shocked at the idea of degrading
my &c., &c., &c., to such mean occupations, and that the assist-
ance which he expects to derive from me is in the aid of my
&c., &c., &c., on the great questions of politics. This is very fine
and complimentary, and of course not displeasing, but, as I
observed to him, how can that be degrading to an .Assistant
which is daily performed by the Resident? and what is the use of
an assistant, if he does not relieve the superior from some part of
the drudgery and detail of official duties ? He was at last brought
to say that we would relieve each other. Such is his delicacy, or
the inveteracy of his habit, that I foresee some difficulty; but I
shall persist, and do not despair of accomplishing the object.
And if once he can be brought to throw off the unnecessary
trouble that he takes upon himself, he will, I am sure, be much
happier, for at present he worries himself with detail, and the
clearest head in the world must be confused by the mixed and
mulfifarious nature of the minute duties to which he gives his
attention., He seldom comes either to breakfast or dinner. He
rises before the day, and labours until the middle of the night,
He does not move out, he takes no exercise, and apparently no
food. The real duties of bis situation do not require such toil,
and I must persuade him to relinquish a part to me.

“The collections are ridiculously trifling, and the districts in
# sad and irremediable state of confasion, Orders bave been
issued for a settlement. Spedding has not commenced onit. It
is a funny duty_for me to perform, who am entirely ignorant
of such matters; but I must undertake it, and as I am completely
under Seton’s orders, I am not so ternﬁed a8 I should otherwise
be. X shall probably, but not positively, go into the Mofussil to
make the settlement, and it is possible that I may take the fleld
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sgainst my refractory subjects, of which there are more than
there are tractable. God forbid that this business should end in
leading me into the revenue line, T must endeavour to prevent
that “ T am, ever yours affectionately,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

Charles Metcalfe was now fairly settled at Delhi—the
jmperial city of the Great Mogul. The Emperor, Shah
Allum, old, blind, and infirm, still held there the mockery
of a court. The victories of the British army on the banks
of the Jumna had rescued him from the thraldom of the
Mahrattas to impose upon him another yoke. In our
hands he was as helpless, but less miserable. He was at
the mercy of med who respected his fallen fortunes, and
desired that he should enjoy as much of the luxury and
the pomp of royalty as could be purchased for a certain
sum of money, to be appropriated to him out of the
revenues of our new possessions. How this was best to be
done—which, indeed, was best un-done—was a question
which for some time perplexed the Calcutta council. Upon
the first establishment of our supremacy in the Delhi
territories, it was determined that a maintenance for the
royal family should be provided by means of certain
assignments of land, and an annual stipend payable to the
Shah. These territories were not to be brought under the
operation of the rules and regulations of the Company
which were’ to be introduced into other parts of the ceded
and conquered provinces; and it was, therefore, arranged
that the fiscal administration of the districts which had
been set aside for the maintenance of the royal household
should be entirely in the hands of officers appointed by
the Shah himself, with the sanction of the British Govern-
ment. The principal officers for the collection of the
customs and duties of the city of Delhi and the managemens
of the police, were also to be appointed by the Shah, in eon-~
currence with the British Resident. But this functionary was
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“not to interfere with the executive duties of any of those
officers; nor with the municipal or revenue arrangements of
the c1ty or territory, except by his advice and recommenda~
tion.” There was, indeed, to be a sort of imperium in
imperio. A remmnant of regal power was to be delegated to
the Mogul, that his money might pass into his hands rather
in the shape of revenue than in the shape of pension, and
that he might still flatter himself with the thought of pos-
sessing some officers and some subjects of his own.

In sanctioning this arrangement, the British Government
thought more of the feelings of the Shah than of the
prosperity of the people of Delhi. The evils of the system
were apparent; and Ochterlony soon pointed them out. I
Yose no time,” he emphatically wrote to Government, on the
30th of November, 1804, *in earnestly requesting, from &
knowledge of the disposition and temper of his Majesty and
his probable successor, that the provision intended for his
Majesty should be a fixed stipend, payable in ready money
from his treasury. Any lands assigned for this purpose
would, I am fully persuaded, be unproductive of the real
w.}ue, nor could the controlling power intended to be vested
in the Resident prevent much oppression in the Pergunnahs,
and exorbitapt taxation in the city."t This was one
side—the people’s side—of the question ; but looking only
at the King’s side, it appeared that the new arrangement,
though it might flatter the vanity of the Shah, was calcu-
lated to inflict upon him a solid injury, by placing it in his
power to waste his substance upon favourites and parasites.
% Any assignment of lands,” wrote Ochterlony, in the same
letter, *though it might, and, I have no doubt, would,
flatter his pride, would only opem a path to grants which

* Memorandum by Mr. Edmonstone (April 27, 1805)—* On the
Subject of an Arrangement for the Maintenance of his Majesty
Shah Allum snd the Royal Household ™[ AfS. Records.]

1t MS. Records.
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would in a short time deprive him of nearly the whole of
his country; mor would any influence of the Resident be
able to control his bounty, which has been, during his life,
weak, ill-placed, and indiscriminate.™ And in a gub-
sequent letter, pointing out more in detail the evil conse~
quences of placing the collection of the town~customs in
his hands, especially in time of scarcity, the Resident
wrote: ©To give the Shah all that is realised, exclusive of
the pay of establishments, would be an easy and a sacred
duty in the Customs as in the Pergunnahs ; but to invest
him .with a control, is to give him a power to injure
himgelf, to which the avarice and self-interest of numberless
dependents would undoubtedly lead.”{

Nor were these the only evils inherent in such a system.
It was only too probable, as,indeed, experience had already
shown, that in the assigned districts the revenue-payers
might sometimes contumaciously withhold the sums elaimed
by the officers of the Shah. In this case coercion would
become necessary. The taxes could only be collected under
the constraint of a military force. A cheice of diiﬁiulﬁes
then presented itself. Either this comstraint must have
been exercised by the miserable rabble which the King or
his officers would be compelled to retain; or the Company’s
troops mrust have been employed for the purpose. In the
one case, there was no reliance to be placed on the sapport
of men who might at any time have sided with the recusants
or been defeated by them ; and im the other, the British
Government would have been placed in an anomalous and
embarrassing position, for they would have exercised mili-
tary control where they had no civil power; would.have

* MS. Reeords. =His (the King'’s) probable successor,” added
Qchterlony, “ is imbecility personified, and under the guidance of
& woman of low extraction, originally a servant of the household,
weak, proud, and in the highest degree avaricious and rapacious.”

+ MS. Records
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been compelled to enforce measures for which they were
not responsible ; and to counteract evils which they were
not suffered to prevent.

On a review of these important suggestions, the Supreme
Government, after much consideration, moved by the
recommendations of the Resident, resolved on a notable
compromise. They were desirous to spare the feclings of
the Shah; but, at the same time, not to invest him with
powers which might be exercised to the injury both of the
people and of himself. So they gave him a nominal
authority over the assigned districts; but arranged that,
at the request of his Majesty, the Company’s servants
should undertake their administration in his name.* The
authority of the Shah was to be a harmless fiction. The
actual administration was to be vested in the Resident;
but there was to be a great parade of the name of Shah
Allum ; and the British officers, whilst dandling the
miserable puppet, were to appear to be the humblest of
his slaves.

But all this was to be merely an experiment. * All
circumstances considered,” wrote Sir George Barlow, then
senior member of the Supreme Council, “and particularly
the attention necessary to be paid to the feelings of his
Majesty, would appear to render the system of manage-
ment here proposed the most advisable, at least for the
present, But it might be intimated to his Majesty, that if
the system should not prove to be well calculated for the

* «The lands might be considered as Khalsa lands, placed by
his Majesty under the charge of a British authority, and the
collections might be made and all other acts done in his Majesty’s
name; and as the Resident further suggests, inferior officers
might be appointed by his Majesty to attend the -Collector'’s
office, for the purpose of satisfying his Majesty’s mind that no
part of the collections is embezzled by the executive efficers of
the British Government.”—{Mr, Edmonstone’s Memorandum;
M. Records.]
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improvement of the country, for the realisation of the
revenue, and the maintenance of tranquillity, such alte-
rations in the system will be hereafter suggested for his
Majesty’s approbation as shall appear advisable. It will
ultimately, I imagine, be found to be necessary for the
attainment of the several objects above stated, to extend
the British Laws (Regulations) to the assigned territories,”*
And, under the orders of Lord Wellesley, instructions were
sent to the Resident in conformity with Barlow’s sugges-
tions, based as they were on Edmonstone’s abstract of
Ochterlony's recommendations. And this was the system
of management in force when Charles Metcalfe joined his
appointment,

But that the system -did not work well was soon appa-
rent. Even upon the vestige of authority that remained
to him the Shah was inclined to presume ; and the excess
of delicacy and generosity with which a man of Mr. Seton’s
temper was sure to treat the poor puppet, tended to increase
this patural presumption. That this, however kindly the
intention, was in effect but eruel kindness, Metcalfe believed ;
but he did not come hastily to the conclusion that his official
superior was at fault. Hehad been nearly a year at Delhi,
during which he had seen many proofs of the evil working

of the system, when he wrote the following letter to his
friend Sherer :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

) “ June 16, 1807,
%My pEAR SHERER,—I have had so little of any satisfactory

matter to communicate, that it has not been incumbent on me to

fransmit to you an account of my affairs ; may, more, that I am

* MS. Notes of Sir George Barlow, on the margin of Edmon-
stone’s Memorandum. The paper is endorsed by Lord Wellesley
with the words, “ Draft of Instructions to the Resident at Delhi,
to be sent in conformity to this Memorandum, including Sir
George Barlow’s remarks, in which X concur—W.”
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on the whole doing so badly, that it is almost & duty to be ailent.
Now, having laid a heavy charge on your back, and prevented, as
I conclude, by invincible arguments, any retort on ypur part, X
proceed to tell you that I am, with respect to health, as well as
usual, and that, I thank God, is very well; in spirits, tos, pretty
well ; and though the place is very dull, and I myself am no great
enlivener 6f society, never fail to be merry on a favourable oppor-
tunity. Yam tired of business, and long to have less to do, the
nearest to nothing the better; for I see that I could spend my
time much more satisfactorily and advantageously to myself in
my own way, than by attending to the politics, police, revenue,
and justice of this quarter; and now comes the dreadful tale,
My finances are.quite ruined, exhansted beyond hope of say
reasonable repair. You know that I am very prudent; prudence
is a prominent feature in my character; yet, ever since I came to
this imperial station, I have gradually been losing the ground
which I had gained in the world, and at tength I ind myself con-
siderably lower than the meutral situation of haviag nothing ; and
without some unlooked-for and surprising declaration of the Fates
in my power, I see nothing but debt, debt, debt, debt after dcbs,
before me,

= The last stroke that has involved me in utter despair, has
been the necessity of building. I have been uwp to my neck for
gome time in bricks and mortar, mud and dirt, and Y am threatened,
in consequence, with being over head and ears in debt. Afterall,
I am only building a small bungalow it for a bachelor. Notwith-
standing, all things conjoining, the expense is considerable. Seton
would have had me, very kindly, to live with him; but X declined
it for a thousand reasons. The one that I used to him, which
was a principal one, was, that I could never enjoy a moment’s
privacy at the Residency; which is as true as that you could not
enjoy privacy seated in a chair in the middle of the Cossitollah.
Every part of ome is no less thronged with natives than the
other, . . . .

#1 do not exacily conform to the policy of Seton's mode of
managing the Royal Family. It is by a submission of manner
and conduct, carried on in my opinion far beyond the respect and
attention which can be either prescribed by forms, or dictated by
& humane consideration for tha fallen fortunes of a once {llustrious
family. It destroys entirely the dignity which ought to be
attached to him who rcpresents the DBritish Government, and
who, in reality, is to govern at Dihlee; snd it raises (I have
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perceived the effect disclosing itself with gradual rapidity) ideas
of imperial pewer and sway which ought to be put to sleep for
ever. As it is evident that we do not mean to restore imperial
power to the King, we oughi not to pursue & conduct calculated
to make him aspire to il. Let us treat him with the respect due
to his rank and asituation ; Iet us make him eomfortable in respect
to vircumstances, and give him all the means, as far as possible,
of being bappy ; but unless we mean to establish his power, let
us not encourage him to dream of it. Let uws meet his first
attempts to display imperial authority with immediate check;
and let him see the mark beyond which our respect and cbedience
%0 the shadow of & King will not proceed.

@ Selon, however, seems to think (which if it is, as I think, an

error, is a kindly one), that we cannot study too mach to soothe
the feelings of a family so situated; that the most obsequious
atteations do not at all hurt the Resident’s dignity; and that by
yielding te the King the exercise of power in small points, we
shall be able to oppose him with a better grace om great and
important occasions. To what length the idea of small points
may be carried is uneertain. One man will think one thing, and
‘smother another, A great deal is left to diseretion; and i has
often happened, that what Seton has assented to as a mere ftrifle,
haa struck me of such importance as to require oppesition. Two
anthorities exist in the town, which circumstance gives rise ta
much trounble and confusion. A riot lately took place in the
town, threatening to be very serious, which arose, I am convinced,
entirely from thas circumstance, which would never have taken
place if the people had not expected that the King would (as he
did) protect them ; which had, in fact, its origin ia the palace, and
which, if traced to its primary cause, proceeded, I believe, from
the effect of Seton’s ton delicate and submissive conduck Ideas
of the exercise of sovereignty ought, I think, to be ¢hecked in the
bud ; it may be attended with difficulty to destroy them when
they bave been sufféred to grow for some time; at Jeast, greater
diffienlty than there is in suppressing them altogether.

« Enough.—This letter begins to smell of the shop. Of mighty
importance to be sure are the politics of Delhi! 'What progress
that infernal villain Buonaparte has made ; 1 long to hear more of
affairs in Europe. 'We have had a Jong interval of darkness since
the last accounts. No letters either from home. I have just
heard of the sudden death of Colonel Collins. There iz always
something more shocking in & sudden death than in a forewarned
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demise. I felt a stronger spirit of resentment against him than 1
have ever felt towards any other man. He has reached that goal
at which all enmities subside; mine are at an end. I sincerely
forgive him for the wrong he did to me; and I trust that God
will forgive me if I ever wronged him,
« Remember me to all friends, and believe me,
< Ever your sincerely attached,
% C. T. METCALYE,”

The “riot” of which Metcalfe speaks in the above letter
was this. The Mussulmans of Delhi had risen up in
rebellion because a Hindoo banker of influence had carried
an idol through the city, and had been suspected of an
intention to impart undue pomp to the proceeding. A cry
was raised that the interests of Islam were in danger.
The banker's house was attacked. There were tumul-
tuous gatherings in the streets, Seton was absent, in
attendance on the princes, who were performing certain
ceremonies in honour of the late King’s memory ;* so the
responsibility of quelling the disturbance devolved upon
Metcalfe. He did it promptly and well—with energy and
with judgment. He went first to the officer in command
of the troops, and desired him to get his men under arms,
and prepare to march into the city, Then he went to the
palace, and called upon the King to exert his authority to
suppress the tumult. The answer of the King was un-
satisfactory ; so Metcalfe proceeded at once to the lines,
called for the immediate aid of the military authority, and
returned with the battalion to the scene of disorder. The
presence of the troops damped the energies of the rioters ;
the crowds dispersed, and there was almost a bloodless
victory. Had the King done his duty in the emergency,
not a shot need have been fired.}

* Shah Allum had died in December,-1806.

+ Metealfe’s conduct in this matter elicited the praises of the
Supreme Government. The Chief Secretary wrote ;—* You will
be pleased to communicate to your First Assistant, Mr. Metcalfe,



PECUNIARY CIRCUMSTANCIS. 157

Leaving fof a while this poor shadow of a ¢ Great
Mogul,” with his pension of 200,000L a year, let us dwell
for a moment on the former part of this letter, and bestow
a thought upon the  pecuniary circumstances” of the
Assistant to the Resident at Shah Allum’s Cowst. 1f
biography were to take note of things, and to expatiate
upon them in proportion to the amount of thought devoted
fo them by the subject of the * Life™ or * Memoir,” & very
large space in all these lives and memoirs would be devoted
to the * pecuniary circumstances” of the man whose cha-
racter and career are in course of illustration. The greatest
among us will think about money and be disquieted by the
want of it. To be in debt is with young civilians almost a
condition of existence. Some never get out again. Now
Charles Metcalfe never had been extravagant; but he had
been in debt before this, had extricated himself from it,
and now he was “ in difficulties® again. The fact is, that,
pecuniarily speaking, his fortunes had not lately been on
the ascendant. When attached to the Governor-General’s
Office, in 1804, he had drawn a salary of 800 rupees a
month. An additional (deputation) allowance of 12 rupees
a day had been subsequently granted to him, when he was
serving in Lord Lake’s camp; and as the order for this
grant was not passed till many months after he had joined
the army, and then took retrospective effect; the accumu~
lations enabled Metcalfe to pay off all his old debts. But on
the 15th of December, 1805, the Governor-General's
Office having been abandoned, the salary which he had
drawn as an assistant in it ceased, and in its place he was
allowed a salary of 400 rupees a month, with the

the Governor-General in Council’s high approbation of the firm-
ness, judgment, and promptitude of action manifested by Mr,
Metcalfe on that critical occasion. To the exertion of those
qualities the Governor-General in Council primarily ascribes the
speedy suppression of ¢he disturbance.”
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same deputation allowance 28 before. IHe was now,
in 1807, drawing 750 rupecs s month as Assistant to the
Delhi Resident—being nearty 500 a year less than hé had
received three years before.* This might have sufficed
him—Dbut the necessity of building & house at Delhi caused
an increase of immediate expenditure, which ke could not
meet; so the curse of deb$ sat again upon him., He had a
liberal and a wealthy father, who a$ this time was so proud
of his son’s suceess in Jife, and of the repeated eulogies that
were passed upon him, that he would have done anything
for him, and often said so; but on this very account Charles
Metcalfe was slow to ask—he would rather have suffered
all the miseries of debt for years than have presumed on
the kindly emotions which he had raised in his parent's
breast. Ile determined therefore to extricate himself; and
before long the means were placed at his disposal. Some
new arrangements for the civil administration of the Delhi
territory caused an increase of his official duties, and with
it came an increase of his salary, the accumulations of
which he left to form themselves into a sinking fund for the
reduction of his debts.f And never after this reduction
did he feel the burden again.

But there was muchi in Metcalfe’s estimation to detract
from the advantages of this increased salary. The new
duties imposed upon him were connected with the fiscal
administration of the Delhi territory; and he had a great
and increasing dislike- of revenue business. Even when
the Commission, appointed in 1807 to report upon the civil
administration of the ceded and conquered provinces, was
in course of construction, and Mr. Tucker, the working
member of the itinerant Board was anxious to see Charles

* These faets and figures are taken from the original official
letters preserved by Lord Metcalfe It is needless to make
separate references to each.

1 Letter-to Sherer, post, page 236,
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Metcalfe attached to it as secretary, he was unwilling to
accept such a situation lest it should lead him away per-
manently from the political line to which he was resolute
to adhere. On other accounts, the appointment had many
attractions—and when he found that his friends Sherer and
Bayley were attached to the Commission—the former as
secretary, the latter as interpreter, he often longed to be
one of the party. In the following letter to the former his
opinions and feclings are clearly expressed >—

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHEREB.

<« July 10, 1807,

“ My pEAR SHERER,—] am rejoiced to see your appointment
and Butterworth’s to the Commission, as I indulge the hope of
sceing you bere, though not immediately, It of course has takem
place with your entire consent, and both you and Bayley, I
imagine, retain your respective situations.in Calcutta. It will be
a delightful trip for you; you will see & great deal which yom
maust greatly wish to see. You will obtain & most extensive know-
ledge of & most important branch of our affairs, and your situation
being only temporary, it will not interfere with your plan of
always keeping your hesd-quarters in Calcutta, nor with your
views of promotion in that most successful field of action. Con-
sidering these circamstances, I Jook upon your appointment as a
most pleasant and fortunate event, and congratulate you upon it
accordingly. The same to Bayley, to whoa I shall shortly address
my sentiments on his conduct, although he has bebaved so shock-
ingly lately as almost to be unworthy of my notice. My love to
him notwithstanding. I already anticipate some delightful days
with you two in my bangalow at Delhi Youw have a most
respectable deputy and agreeable companion in Fortescue, to whom
I beg you to remember me kindly. My remembrance also to the
Commissioners in proper terms and degrees. By-the-by, Tucker
will, doubtless, have mentioned to you what X read in a letier from
him to Richardson, that at first, with the assent of Cox, he had
proposed to Sir G. Barlow, through Lumsden, my appointment as
Secretary to the Commission. Of course at that time he conld not
have expected that the Secretary’s office would be put on so
respectable a footing, He could have had no idea that the
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Government would spare you, Bayley, and Fortescue, otherwise
he would never, it is clear, have thought of me. I will tell you
the effect that this had on my mind when Richardson sent me
Tucker's letter. I must observe that Tucker wrote just after
Yumsden left him to carry the proposition to the Governor, and
therefore could give no hint of the result, X was, of course,
flattered by the circumstance, and obliged to Tucker, but X wished
that he had nof made the proposal, and I did not like the thought
of getting so deep into the revenue line, and so far from the
political. I did not know what I ghould do if any reference were
made to me, as on the one hand to give up my hold on a favourite
line, and on the other to reject so respectable a situation likely to
be attended with considerable advantages would be either way
difficult. My hope was that Government, without any reference
to me, would make its own arrangement excluding me, and so
relieve me from the responsibility of guiding my own destiny.
The sight of your appointment was the first and is the only intel-
ligence which 1 have yet received, and besides the pleasure of
seeing your appointment to a post which I thought would be
pleasing to you, I felt on my own account great relief. AltMongh
I am muck obliged {o Tucker for thinking of me, I am glad on
many accounts that the present capital arrangement has taken
place. If I could take the tour which you are about to make in
company with you and Bayley, what happiness I should feel!
But alas, alas! I must rest contented with the hope of seeing you
here, With respect to the object of your commission, it is my
private opinion—buf I am not, you know, a mighty wise man in
these watters (nor indeed in any other)—that the ceded and con-
guered provinces are not ready for & permanent settlement. But
you come, I suppose, with discretionary powers, and I trust with
Jull and efficient control.

«If the Commission wishes to try its band at unsettled
countries, it will have a glorious opportunity in those which have
lately been under my management (perhaps it would be more
properly called mismanagement). All my efforts to call the
attention of Government, or even the proper and active attention
of the Resident, to the sgubject have been vain. I thank God,
Spedding will be here in two or three days, and I shall be relieved
from the charge. Then there will remain the confounded Udalut
in which, from circumstances peculiar to Delbi, there is work for
ten judges without there being one. ‘If these duties continue, it
will be a farce to call myself in the political line, whilst I am con-
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tinually fagging from morning to night in the judicial and
revenue, 1 shall, on Fraser’s arrival, astonish Seton, by request-
ing permission to confine myself to my own line; and perhaps
shock him by this proof of my insensibility to the prayers of a
numerous pcople petitioning for justice; for Seton, in theory, is an
enthusiast for the administration of justice. . . . We have
been and are, and I believe, ever shall be, on the best of terms.
We have bad our different opinions on public matters, and argued
them, and finally adhered each to his own, without any interruption
of harmony or diminution of confidence, and considering our rela-
tive sitnations the merit of this rests entirely with him, More of
him another time, For myself, I never, I assure you, can loge
sight of the object to which you gunide my thoughts; I mean
Adam’s office. I despair, indeed, of ever gaining it, but I do not
the less desire it. It is the only situation in India that I think of,
1 would make any exertions to-obtain it if I expected success.
Baut I fear, I fear, I fear that I have no chance. I wish that you
could make out an obvious connection between it and the trifling
affair which lately happened here, I sincerely thank you for your
kind expressions relative o the business here. It was a trifle,
and you have heard all relating to it that is worth mentioning, 1
have much left nnsaid, but will resume at another time; it is now
very late. Believe me ever, my dear Sherer, not forgetting the
glorious defeat of the Corsican wretch,
“Yours most affectionately,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

In this letter we see with sufficient distinctness that
Charles Metcalfe could not easily reconcile himself to the
performance of the uncongenial duties of the revenue and
judicial departments; but in the following, his dislike of
these services breaks oul with more manifest impatience;
for he had been disquieted by an unexpected call ta act as
Collector of Saharunpore. There was a scarcity of civilians
at that time in the ceded and conquered provinces; and’
there were geographical reasons, if none other, why Met-
calfe should be taken from Delhi to officiate for Mr.
Guthrie, during his leave of absence from the station; so
he received a missive from one of the Government secre-
taries, ordering him to act as Collector of Saharunpore

VOL. L . G
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“for one month”—an “insignificant duty,” of which he
could not refrain from expressing his disgust s

CHARLES METCALFE TO J, W, BHERER.

“ Meerut, August 27, 1807.

“My pEsr SmerEr,~I have just now received your letter
from the Ganges, between Mirzapore and Allahabad. I rejoice
to find that you are so much pleased with your trip. It appears
1o me to be a great relief to the sameness of your official duties,
and altogether an event which must be attended with incalculable
advantages. I am mnot surprised that your mind waoders occa-
sionally from regulations, reports, and plans, to seek vefreshmens
in the elysium of interesting literature, I should be very much
astonished to hear the contrary of yeu, theugh it might do very
well for M——— In saying what you did to Tucker concerning
my views, you acted like a true friend. If the offer of such an
honourable post had ever reached me, X might have hesitated
before I declined it. .Am ambition to be so distinguished would,
donbless, have tingled in my breast; but my reason tells me, that
in order to secure any success i the political line, or any other,
ihe only wise way is to adhere to that line most tenaciously;
and as my choice is fixed, I mean to pursue what appears to be
the best way to atfain my object With these sentiments, you
will be able to conceive that my disgust and annoyance is not
small in being sent on the insignificant duty of acting as Collector
in the absence of Guthrie from his station.*

* Metcalfe wrote to his friend John Adam, who was then in
the Secretariat, emphatically setting forth the inconvenience of
" detaching him from his regular duties to aet temporarily out of
the libe of his profession; and it may be gathered from the
following extract from Adam’s reply that he obtained something
of an assurance that he would not be sent on deputation again :~
“T am sorry,” wrote Mr, Adam, on September 17, 1807, “that I
am net able to give you a positive promise that you will never
at any future time be employed on deputation; but I think it
extremely improbable that you will, after what I have said to
Edmonstone on the subject, and the manner in which be has
spoken to Dowdeswell. D. excnsed himself on the subject of
your being sent to Saharunpore on the ground of there being no
other fit person whom they could employ on that duty within a
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« This is & dreadful blow to all my plans, because it may be
repented whenever the convenience of sending me from Delhi to
act for any collector in the vicinity may suggest itself to the wise
head of 3n unaccommodating secretary, What would Y not give,
if I must act out of my line, to change my present gitunation to be
wade your deputyl I should like very much to know what
answer my friond Sir George gave, when I was proposed as secre-
tary. If you should ever hear from Tucker, let me know, I dere
say it was, that I was oo young and inexperienced.

%] hope that I shall be able to spend some time with you and
Bayley, but I shall not be 86 rouch my own master a8 you expect.
1 shall, most likely, have & troublesome year of it. I expect to
be out the greater part of the season with & considerable military
force, 16 reduce a barren unpreductive conniry fo subordination,
It will be a most unpleasant duty; but Seton’s heart is set upon
it, and I do not know how I ean get rid of it. Unfortunately, our
districts are mot put under your commission—if they were, I
should expect some good in them. Our Customs at Delhi parti-
cularly require your interference; which, from the absurdity of
keeping up all the old Sayers, and refraining from ‘introducing a
& new gystem, are in & most abominable state. A representation
that I made on the subject, in order to get rid of the worst part of
them, went ao further than Seton’s desk, |

“I am much of your way of thinking -with regard to his
Majesty of Delbi. If X do not go all lengths with you in destroy-
ing every part of the shadow of bis royalty, I am, at all events,
for letting him see very clearly that he is a mere shadow; and if

very great distanee, and he assured him that it should not ocenr
again, Edwonstone himself is fully impressed with the im-
propriety a8 well a8 the nnfairness of sending you to perform
duties so foreign to your swn profession and to your inclination.

. . It so happened, too, that one day at Barrackpore Lord
Minto was asking me about your situation (wluch ‘he introduced
by saying that Seton had been writing of you in terms of high
praize), and I tovk the opportunity ef telling him your objections
to the temparary employment you were upan, and your wish fo
devote yourself altogether to ghe political line. He made some
observation about the superiority of the political line, and that
your deputation would not last long; but whether the impression
will vremain, I eannot tell. T should hope, however, there is no
danger of your being again made & collector.”

a2
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this could not be done completely without destroying even the
empty name which I would wish for the.present to leave to him,
I would destroy even that. Thinking as you do, you will be
vexed, as I am, to find that the tone, language, and behaviour of
the Court, together with all the outward marks, and in some
respects, the real operative influence of royalty, have become in
an increasing ratio much more ridiculous and preposterous since
the accession of the illustrious Ukbar than they were before. It
has often made me wonder, and at the same time almost made me
mad, to see a most worthy, excellent man blind to such gross
absurdity, and a dupe to wild and romantic feelings,

¢ As we near, I hope that our correspondence may become
more frequent. This hift is not necessary to Bayley; he at all
times writes so frequently! My love to him, Rewember me to
Fortescue,

“ Believe me ever, your sincere friend,

“C. T. Mgrcarre.”

" All through "the cold weather of 1807-1808, Charles
Metcalfe, actively employed in the performance of his
official duties, had little time for private correspondence.
Nor would there have been much to gather from it that
would advance the progress of the narrative, if he had
found leisure to keep up a constant interchange of senti-
ment with his friends.. But the summer of the latter year
came to him pregnant with great events. His ambition
was now about to be signally gratified. Lord Minto was
at this time Governor-General of India. From all quarters
he had heard the praises of Charles Metcalfe, and though
persona.lly unacquainted with him, he had such confidence
in his zeal and ability, that he rejoiced when the progress
of events enabled him to give the Delhi Assistant an oppor-
tunity of distinguishing himself on an independent field of
action. ‘Metealfe was now about to be employed on an im-
portant political mission, demanding for the due execution of
its duties the highest diplomatic powers. In what state the
summons found him may be gathered from a letter which
he wrote in July to his friend Sherer. He had then
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either not received the official notification of his appoint-
ment, or it was a state secret—but sconh afterwards, he was
on his way to the Punjaub:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
« Delhi, July 3rd, 1808.

“ My DEAR SHERER,—AsS it is long since I have written to you,
I will give you some account of myself. As by the blessing of
God I have a good constitution, and have never experienced any of
those misfortunes which wound the heart or warrant any tendency
to melancholy, I enjoy as usual good health and good spirits.
My accounts from my family are in all essential points of a most
pleasing nature. My father and mother continne perfectly
healthy. My sistera are growing up all that their parents wish
them to be; and Master Tom is said to be a quick, merry boy,
with a shght inclination to idleness.

“From China I have no late intelligence. The only bad piece
of news that I have received from England is, that my father hag
lost his seat in Parliament. I am sure that he must feel the want
of it, and I confess that I felt much annoyed by the intelligence.
There is some consolation, however, in thinking that, at my
fatber’s time of life, rest and retirement, if not required, ought at
least to be beneficial,

“You are of course acquainted with the arrangement which
has lately taken place here, attaching permanently to the situation
of First Assistant the duties of the ci-devant Superintendent of
Revenues. I am far from being pleased either with the arrange-
ment or the mode in which it has been ordered; but there is no
use in grumbling about it. To the charge of the business now
settled upon me they have affixed the commission which the
Superintendent used to draw, in order, I suppose, to soften the
bitterness of the trial. I mean to make this a sinking fund for
the reduction of my debts, which, owing to the expenses of my
bungalow, has risen to a considerable amount. My politicak
character will henceforth be little more than nominal, for I must
necessarily give up my time and attention to revenme matters.
In two or three days I shall take the field, and I do not expect to
take up my residence again at Delhi before the next hot winds, . .

“ Your faithful friend,
“C, T. METCALFE.”
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CHAPTER VIII.
[1808—180.]

THE MISSION TO LAHORE,

Apprehension of an Invasion—Measures of Defence—Metcalfe
appointed Envoy to Lahore—Meeting with Runjeet Singh—
Conduct of the Rajab—Delays and Excuses—Metcalle's
Diplomatic Address—His Firmness and Decision—Advance
of the British Troops—Progress of Negotiation—The Pro-
posed Treaty—Collision with the Akalis~—The Treaty con-
cluded,

WHER, in the Spring of 1808, from the Council Chamber
of Calcutta, Lord Minto and his colleagues looked out
upon these wast fracts of country which lie beyond the
Sutlej and the Indus, and saw already the shadow of a
gigantic enemy advancing from the West, it was no idle
terror that haunted the imaginations of our British states-
men. The pacification of Tilsit had leagued against us
the unscrupuleus ambition of the great French usurper
and the territorial cupidity of the Russian autocrat. That
among the mighty schemes which they then discussed for
the partition of the world between them, the invasion of
India was not one of the least cherished, or the least
substantial, now etands recorded as an historical fact.
We know now that it was nothing more than a design;
but, it was not less the duty of our Indian rulers in 1808,
to provide against a contingency which then seemed
neither* improbable mor remote. The occasion was one
which, if it did not warrant a demonstration of military
‘power, at all events invited a display of diplomatic address.



EURJEET SINGH. 167

It was sound policy, in such a conjecture, to secure the
good offices of the princes and chiefs who were dominant
in the countries which were supposed to lie on the great
high-road of the invader. If the rnlers of Afghanistan and
the Punjaub could be induced to enter into friendly
alliances with the British Government for the resistance of
invasion from the North, it seemed to Lord Minto and.his
colleagues that more than half of the danger which
threatened our position would be at once removed.

Already was French intrigne making its way at the
Persian Court. 'That was the sure commencement of the
great game that was about to be played—the safest and the
wisest commencement. It was a great thing, therefore, to
re-establish our ascendency at Teheran ; and a great thing
to achieve the diplomatic occupation eof the countries
between Persia and India before our ememies could appear
upon the sceme. Teo aceomplish the former cbject John
Malcolm was despatched to the Conrt of the Shah-i-shah ;
and to secure the Litter, Mountstuart Elphinstone and
Charles Metcalfe were ordered to proeceed—the former to
Cabul, and the latter to Lahore.

The prince to whose court Metcalfe was ordered to pro-
ceed was Runjeet Sing. Sinee, in pursuit of Holkar,
Lake's battalions had encamped in the country of the five
rivers, the rise of that chieftain had been rapid. He had
gone on without halting, on his carcer of conquest. A
man of unbounded energy and unfailing eourage—with
great natural sagacity and no inconvenient amount of con-
scientiousness either to control his energies or to direct
his abilities—he had been recently absorbing all the small
principalities beyond the Sutlej, and eonsolidating them
into & great’ empire. Even the petty Sikh states on our
side of the Sutlej were not beyond the scope of his ambi-
tion. He was eager to bring them also under the common
yoke; and as he approached the confines of Brtish
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dominion, was already beginning to excite the jealousy
and mistrust of his Christian neighbours. In 1805 he
was known to us merely as one of the chiefs of the
Punjaub; in 1808 he was the Maha-rajah. (or great king)
Runjeet Singh.

Of the Sikhs we were long content to know little. In
the first years of the century our British functionaries
spoke of them as * miscreants,” as a lawless and degraded
people, either indulging their predatory habits abroad, or
sunk in deep sensuality at home. Neither their territorial
arrangements nor their military resources were matters of
vital concern to us at this time; and if we took any
account of the mational character of the followers of
Govind, it was in pursuit rather of ethnographical know-
ledge than in furtherance of any political ends. But the
great war with the Mahrattas, and the conquests which it
had forced upon us, brought ua into proximity with these
strange new people; and it then became apparent to us
that we could no longer regard the Sikh states as a group
of petty principalities, exercising no influence whether for
good or for evil upon the security of our position, or the
pacific character of our rule. It seemed, indeed, necessary
to do something; but what that something ‘was to be it
was difficult to decide. In the disunion of the Sikhs there
were elements both of safety and of danger to the Pritish
" ~of safety, because a power go utterly wanting in union
and organization could never be formidable in itself; of
danger, because the very causes which prevented the Sikhs
from becoming formidable enemies rendered it impossible
that they should become serviceable friends. There was,
indeed, in these states, on both sides of the Sutlej, nothing
of unity or stability out of which a barrier against external
invasion could be erected, It was apparent that we could
enter with them into no engagements that could bind them
to oppose the advance of an European army. To protect
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themselves against spoliation it was but too likely that
they would league themselves with the invaders, and swell
the tide of devastation and destraction. It was difficult to
deal with such a combination of circumstances as now
presented itself, and yet to adhere strictly to those princi-
ples of non-interference which the British Legislature had
established, and to which the Indian Government of the
day declared its fixed determination to adhere.*

The advantages of giving something like a tangible form
and substance to the scattered elements of the Sikh power
on the banks of the Sutlej had been urged upon the
supreme Government by Colonel Ochterlony whilst still
Resident at Delhi. It was proposed by him, thaj the
British Government should distribute the country between
the Sutlej and the Jumna among four principal Sikh chiefs,
the precise limits of the territory of each being assigned
by us, and that we should enter into specific engagements
with these chiefs. Or, if it were considered that such
engagements were not likely to be observed, it was sug-
gested that resort might be had to a more decided exercise
of our paramount power—that the whole body of Sikh
chiefs might be reduced to the condition of tributaries, and

* See, for the views of the Supreme Government in 1865-1806,
minute drawn up by Mr. Lumsden for the Governor-General:

“The Sikh chieftains in the actual condition of their respective
tenures could not by any arrangement be rendered efficient allies
and anrxiliaries against an invading enemy., It would be im-
practicable to unite them in a common interest and a common
cause. In the event of invasion they would probably add by
their junction to the number of the invaders, and increase their
mesauns of devastation. . . . . We could not safely or prudently
depend in any degree upon the sentiments of gratitude or the
obligations of public faith and honour to govern the proceedings
of such a tribe. The ruling chieftains wounld probably provide
for their security from immediate plunder or destruction by
conciliating and assisting, and perhaps by joining the enemy.”—
[MS. Records.)
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compelled to pay for the maintenance of & British force
to * watch their conduct,” or, in other words, to hold them
in absolute subjection. Buf this was not a8 course of
policy likely to find favour in the eyes of Lord Cornwallis,
Sir George Barlow, or Lord Minto. “ The Resident was
informed that the arguments which would justify such
an exercise of our power would equally justify the annex-
ation of the whdle of the Sikh territory to the British
dominions, and ¢hat the extension of our territorial posses-
sions, or of our political control for purposes of expediency,
or even of comparative security, unsupported by motives
of indisputable justice and indispensable necessity, had
never constituted an object of the policy of this Govern-~
ment.”* A strictly defensive system was to be maintained
~—not that defensiveness which is nine parts aggression,
but rigid non-interference, which turns its back upon its
neighbours until it receives a blow Trom 'behind, The
Sikh chiefs were to be left to themselves. DBut they were
to be chastised if they offended ms. Predatory incursions
across our borders were to be visited in the first place by
the expulsion of the offenders at the point of the bayonet,
and in the second place by the partition of their lands
among those chiefs who aided us in the suppression of the
Yawless excesses of their neighbours. And it was believed
that we should best maintain the integrity of our frontier
by showing that we were as unwilling to practise as we
were able to resist aggression. T

In this state, affairs remained until the year 1808, when
the two circumstances to which I have referred at the
commencement of the chapter induced Lord Minto to
depart from the policy to which bis predecessors had so
religiously adhered—the increased apprehension of Euro-
pean invasion and the progressive consolidation of the
empire of Runject Singh. A Sikh alliance had now

* Minute of Mr. Lumsden, ut supra,—[ M. Records.]
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become more expedient and more practicable. We wanted
an ally, and we had found one. Left to themselves, the
Sikh chiefs on the further side of the Sutlej had, one by one,
been compelléd to own the supremacy of Rumjeet, whilst
those on our side of the river, awed by the threats of the
Lahore chief, were trembling for the safety of their pos-
sessions. Of the influence and the ability of this chieftain
the British Government had po doubt. His integrity and
good faith they may have questioned, for he was a Sikh,
But they believed that they might work upon his hopes
and upon his fears, and by demonstrating to him that his
own interests would be largely promoted by an allianee
with the British, induce him to enter into an engagement
for the protection of the frontier of Hindostan.

In the winter season of 1807-8 a favourable opportanity
of establishing amicable relations with the Lahore chief
seemed to have presented itself Runjeet Singh, who had
written a friendly letter to Lord Minte, contemplated a
visit to Hurdwar; and it was resolved that a British
officer should be despatched to meet him there. The
fanctionary selected for this duty was Charles Metcalfe.®

* Metealfs had applied for the Depaty-Seeretaryship in the
Political Department, on the translation of John Adam, Lerd
Minto had previously made other arrangements with respect to
this office, but he directed his Private Secretary, in reply to
}1ewd‘&’s application, to express his lordship’s high sense of his
character and abilities, and the desired intention of the Governoa~
General to take an early oppartunity of pramating so excellant a
public servants

«The esteem,” wrote Mr. Eliot, = which hia Turdship has
conceived for your character and talents, ia founded as well on
what has slready fallen uwnder his own observation as on the
report of those whoss judgment has been formed oo = longer
acquaintance. It will, therefore, give him great satisfaction te
evince these sentiments by such marks of confidence and favour
28 he may find suitable opportanities of shewing you"—{Mr.
Elliot to Mr. Metcalfe, October 25, 1807.]
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But the vacillating chief never fulfilled his intention; and
when subsequently he declared that he contemplated a

visit to Thanesur, it was felt that so little reliance was to
be placed on his movements that it would be expedient to
shape our own measures without reference to the uncertain
procedure of the impulsive Stkh. So it was determined
that a mission should be sent across the Sutlej, under the
conduct of Charles Metcalfe; and on the 20th of June,
1808, the Supreme Government, under the hand of Mr.
Edmonstone, formally announced his appointment, and the
instructions by which the young ambassador was to be
guided.

The duties of the mission were to be entrusted entirely
to Metcalfe himself. He was to move without secretaries,
assistants, or attachés. A military escort was to be pro-
vided ; and a proper establishment of moonshees, writers
and servants, was to be furnished. But the work of diplo-
macy was to be left entirely to his unaided counsels. He
was to carry with him, however, the Oriental diplomatist's
best auxiliary, a costly supply of presents; and, in order
that his communications with the Government might be
frequent and uninterrupted, he was instructed to establish
a letter-post between Delhi and Umritsur. His personal
salary was to be 2,000 rupees a month, and all the
expenses of the mission were to be charged to the state.®
" Such were the outer circumstances of the mission to
Lahore. The letter which determined them carried also
the instructions of the Supreme Government relative to the
course of policy to be pursued by the British represen-
tative at the Sikh Court. It was such aletter as Metcalfe
had never received before—such a letter as a young man
of three-and-twenty has seldom, if ever, received from the
government of a great empire. “The object of the mission

¢ Mr, Edmonstone to Mr, Metcalfe, June 20, 1808.~[MS,
Records.]
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was of the most momentous character. It was simply to
counteract the towering ambition of the gigantic despots of
France and Russia. Of the great scheme of diplomacy by
which Persia, Afghanistan, and the Punjaub were to
be erected into friendly barriers against Russo-Gallic
invasion, Metcalfe was to be the pioneer. He was to
prepare the way for Elphinstone, and make things ready
for the reception of Malcolm. He was to conduct a series
of the most delicate operations alone and unaided in a
strange country, and to megotiate a treaty of friendship
with a prince of an uncertain and capricious temper, of
selfish and unscrupulous ambition, unrestraiced by any
principles of Christian rectitude, or any courtesies of
civilized life. But the very difficulties which beset such
a position, and the responsibilities with which it was
surrounded, only, in the eyes of Charles Metcalfe, enhanced
its attractiveness. He had been panting for a great oppor-
tunity and now the great opportunity was come. -They
who have caught glimpses of the' early character of the
man in the recorded pages of his common—place book, and
seen what were his aspirations, will readily conceive what
were the pulsings of his warm heart, and the tinglings of
his young blood, when he sat down to read the instruc-
tions of the Supreme Government, and to draw wup for
his {future guidance the following memoranda, containing
an abstract of the Chief Secretary’s letfer and his own
interpretation of its contents

“ MEMORANDA FROM msmcnoxs.

“ General and conciliatory answers to be returned to’ any
questions from the Cis-Sntlejean chiefs respecting the object of
my mission. Arguments to be used to satisfy them that the
improvement of the relations of amity between the British
Government and the Rajah of Lahore involves no arrangement
prejudicial to other chiefs, Applications for protection against
Runjeet Singh to be referred to the Resident of Diblee, but
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endeavours to be made to convince the chiefs that Government
takes an interest in their welfare, and that the objects of my
mission are entirely consistent with those friendly sentiments.

“ Main object of the mission:—Counteraction of the designs of
the French. The time of stating my ultimate purpose to be regu~
lated by circumstances, Expedient first to make myself acquainted
with the character and disposition of Runjeet Singh and his
ministers, and to endeavour to create an interest with them by
conciliating their confidence and good-will. Proper 1o ascertain
the Rajah’s disposition respecting my residence at his court. If he
should be desirous of my continaance, to select my own time for
opening the negotiation. In the meantime, to represent the object
to be the improvement of the amicable relations so long subsisting
between the states, and confirmed by the intercourse between
Lord Lake and the Rajah, and by the treaty then concluded.
Reference to be made to Runjeet Singh’s friendly letter to the
Governor-General, and the Governor-General's reply. To observe
that the demonstration’ of attachment contained jim that letter had
augmented the solicitude of Government to cultivate the con-
nection between the two states, and that I had been sent accord-
ingly for the express purpose of cementing the bonds of friendship.
That I had been despatched to Hurdwar with the same view; and
that, the failure of that opportunity of showing our friendship had
suggested the still more dmmgnishe& mark of regard by a direct
mission to his court.

« Cages in which it would be advisable te enter immediately on
the proper object of my mission.—1st. If any French agent should
have arrived at, or might be expected in, Lahore, or the adjacent
countries. 2nd. If the designs of the French, and the state of
affairs in Persiaz should have attracted the Rajah’s notice. 3rd.
Receipt of authentic intelligence of the actnal advance of a French
army towards Persia,

% General principle upon which fo econduct the negotiation -
Opposition to the French to be urged as the only way of securing
the Rajah’s territories and independence from the insatiable
ambition and unlimited encroachment and violence of the ruler of
France, To persuade him that he will not be able to resist the
enemy without a British force. To secure the Rajah’s consent to
the march of a British army through the Punjaub, sud the
exertion of jxit authority in farnishing supplies, with permission
to establish depits of provisions and military stores, To express
the full confidence of the’ British Government in its power. To
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explain the facility of cutting off the supplies of the enemy, and
witbholding from them the produce of the country.

“To avoid a declaration of npon-interference in case of the
renewal of his attacks upon the Cis-Sutlejean states, and to
manage that delicate guestion as well as I can. To show a
disposition te accede to engagements of a strictly defensive nature
if proposed ; but to refer the question for the decision of Govern-
ment, except in an evident emergency.

«To facilitate the Mission to Cabul and establish a preliminary
interconrse with the Court, and to establish a channel of intelli-
gence and communication to the westward, Not to announce the
intended mission to Cabul until after its departure from Diblee,
but to be prepared to remove from Runjeet Singh’s mind zny
jealousy or apprehension. No objection to disclosing the object
of the Cabut mission after baving disclosed my own, otherwise to
attribute it to motives which eannot injure him,

% To collect and communicate every information regarding the
political state of the couutry, also respecting those points which
it is expedient to ascertain withreference to the march and supply
of troops. To ascertain the routes through which it is practicable
for an army to march from Persia to the Indus. To communicate
information respecting the geograpby of the countries to the west-
ward of that river.

“To discover the real disposition of Runjeet Singh towards the
British Government, and to regulate my negotiations accordingly.
To inquire respecting his resources, troops, government, dominion,
relations with other states, &c,, &¢, To discourage Mehtab Eour
and her mother guoad their plot, To do away the effect of Captain
Matthews'’s proceedings. To inquire into ithe reported inirigue
with Holkar and Amnut Rao.”

To .one of Metcalfe's aspiring temper, not the least of
the attractions of this new employment was derived from
the considerations of the great extent of country over
which he was to be permitted, under certain contingencies,
to spread the network of his diplomacy. He already saw
himself despatching emissaries to the Courts of Cabul and
Teheran, and bafling the gigantic intrigues of Napoleon
and Alexander throughout the whole expanse of Central
Asia. Buat his enthusiasm was always tempered with
sound good sense, and when, in the following paragraphs,
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he committed to writing, more for his own guidance than
for any other purpose, his views of the course which it
was expedient to pursue with reference to a correspondence
with those distant Courts, there was nothing discernible in
the paper but the workirigs of a plain, practical mind :

“It appears from the minute of the Governor-General and the
instructions which I have received, that the mission to Lahore
will considerably precede that to Cabul, and his lordship has
expressed an expectation that I may have the means of facilitating
the latter mission, and of establishing a preliminary intercourse
with the Court of Cabul, It is proper, therefore, for me to con-
sider how I can best carry these instructions into execution.

“The uncertainty existing respecting the time at which Mr,
Elphinstone will proceed on his mission, gives rise to sorme doubt
regarding the proper plan for me to pursue. If any great delay
were in contemplation, I should think it right for me in the first
instance to endeavour to open a correspondence with the Minister
of the King of Cabul of a general friendly nature, and to refrain
from any communication of the intentions of Government to send
an Envoy to Cabul until I had ascertained the disposition of the
Court, and found a proper opportunity., In thls case, I should
think it right to despatch a native agent to Cabul, with a letter to
the Wuzeer, requesting permission for him to attend the Court on
my part, for the purpose of sending me account of the welfare of
his Majesty, and of establishing a medium of friendly communi-
cation. This is all that I should think it advisable to do at first;
and I should expect that opportunities would occur of proceeding
further dn the course of the correspondence which would probably
follow this introduction. I should not, if X were to act according
to my own judgment, charge the native with any directions to
sound the Ministers respecting the disposition of the King; nor
should I make him acquainted with the views of Government,
because I would not on any account put it into his power to
comumit the dignity of Government.

“In the case stated, it is supposed that there may be thas
interval between my arrival at Xahore and Mr, Elphinstone’s
departure from Dihlee, which would admit of a general friendly
correspondence with the Court of Cabul previous to announcing
the intention of Government to send,an Envoy. But if -Mr,
Elphinstone 1# to proceed on his mission at an earlier period than
has been supposed, the line of conduct above mentioned would
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not answer; and in that case it would, I think, be advisable, and
most suituble {0 the character. of the British Government, to
announce its intentiong in a dignified and open manner, by sending
a_native as the bearer of a letter directly to the Court. It is
scarcely possible that the King of Cabul would wantonly insulf
the British Government by any improper reply to this notice;
and the expediency of making this direct advance is considerably
strengthened by the probability that a report of the intended
mission may reach Cabul before the desired intercourse can be
opened by the Court. It is, however, probable, that the mieasures
already adopted by Mr, Seton will lead to a correspondence,
which may afford opportunities of announcing the mission in a
manner different fronx that above suggested.

*It may be a question whether it would be most advisable to
conduct the preliminary intercourse with Cabul through the
Resident at Dihlee, or through Mr. Elphinstone, or through the
Envoy at Lahore; at present I am instracted to turn my attention
to the object as well as to the necessity of opening a communi-
cation with Teheran immediately afier my arrival at Lahore; and
it is, consequently, necessary that I should be accompanied by
natives qualified to be employed in these important matters,
either according to such particular instructions as I may here-
after receive, or according to the best of my judgment, formed
upon the general orders which I have already received. This
consideration induced me to request from Mr. Seton the assistance
of Fyzut-oolla at Lahore; and with the same view, I propose to
earry along with me Syud. ‘Jafier Khan, who was formerly
employed by Colonel Scott on & mission te Nadaun. One or the
otber of these, whichever may appear to be best qualified, I
propose to send without delay, if all things remain as they are, to
Cabul, charged with a letter from myself to the Minister; and
the other I mteng,to elpploy in opening the communication with
Persia. It is not my intention to confine my endcavours to obtain

- intelligence of the state of The Court and country of Cabul to the

-mission of a native to Cabul with a letter. We ought, besides, to
have secret news-writers, not only with the Court, but in Cabul,
GCashmeer, Peshawur, Candahar, Moultan, Herat, and as far as
possible in the interior of Persia.”

thtle time was lost in makmg the necessary preparations
for the departure of the mission. In the first week of
August, Charles Metcalfe turned his back upon Delhi.
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The weather was unpropitious. It was the height of the
monsoon. The heavy rains and the bad roads for a while
impeded the progress of the mission. After passing Kur-
naul, the weather began to improve; but the travellers
invariably found themselves either in a quagmire or & pool.
“ The country,” he wrote, “is so full of water, and the
roads are so deep with mud, and the soil so soft, that it is
difficult for cattle of every description to move. We have
been under the necessity of taking a circuitous route, the
direct road not being passable; and we have not been able
to make marches of a greater distance than about ten miles
daily.” On the 22nd of August the mission reached
Puttealah, one of the chief places in the cis-Sutlej states,
and here the serious business of diplomacy commenced.
The Rajah of Puttealah received the British Envoy
with profuse demonstrations of compliment and congra-
talation; and at a public interview, unexpectedly produced
the keys of the fort, and requested Metcalfe to restore
them to him as a gift from the British Government. e
threw himself, he said, entirely on our protection—all that
he had was at the mercy of the British—his government
and his existence would cease without our support. But
Metcalfe read at once the true meaning of this proposal,
and answered that he was not authorized by his Govern~
ment to perform any such teremony, but that the British
" were the friends of the Rajah, and ever desired his pro-
sperity: and that the keys could not be in better hands.*
On the 1st of September the mission crossed the Sutlej.{-

* Boon afterwards, the chief told him that he had heard it was
the intention of Runjeet Singh to cross the Sutlej and to seize
Fureed-kote, which was in the Puttealah dominions—an intention
which was subsequently fulfilled. It was suggested, too, to
Metcalfe, that it would be expedient for him to write to Runjeet
to say that the British Government desired bimp to remain at
Lahore to receive the mission.

+ Before the mission had freached the bavks of the river,
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At Puttealah they had been met by an agent despatched by
Runjeet Singh with a letter of welcome and congratulation;
but as they advanced into the Punjaub, it became at every
stage more and more obvious that that erratic prince had
little intention of remaining at home, either at Lahore or
Unmritsur, to receive the British embassy in a becoming
manner. It was reported, indeed, that he had erossed the
river with the intention of making a descent upon the Put-
tealah territory; but this Metcalfe was slow to believe, and
the Sikh agent who remained in his camp either was, or
pretended to be, ignorant of the movements of his master.
Al doubts, however, were soon set at rest by the receipt of
a letter from Runjeet himself, announcing his intention to
receive the British mission at Kussoor. Troops,
appeared, were assembling there from all quarters; but
Metcalfe believed that the chief cause of the assemblage
was a desire on the part of the Sikh chief to make s for-
midable display’ of his military resources im the presence of
the British envoy..

Metcalfe pushed on to Kussoor, which lay upen Bis road
to Umritsur;* and upon the 10th of September he halted
within a few miles of the Sikh eamp,that the ceremonials
of the reception might be arranged. On the following day,
Runjeet’a prime minister § and his chief military officer,}
with a retinue of two thousand men, came out to eonduct

Metcalfe had despatched a confidential agent to Cabul with
instructions to communicate alt that was passing in, Afghanistan,
and to keep open the commusications with Persia, ta which
country Malcolm was about to proceed at the head of a great
embassy.

* He secms to have had some misgivings at this time regarding
the external appearance of the mission at the Sikh Court—the
clothing of lus escort being in a mest discreditable condition. He
reported the clrenmstance to Government,

§ The Dewan Mokun Chund.

{ His adopted brother, Futteh Singh.
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the mission to the ground that had been marked out for
their encampment, at a distance of less than a mile from
the Rajah’s tents,

“On the 12th,” wrote Metcalfe to the Chief Secretary,
“I paid my first visit to Runjeet Singh, accompanied by
the officers attached to the escort. The Rajah met us on
the outside of a large enclosure, and having embraced all
the gentlemen of-the mission, conducted us within, where
tents had been prepared for our reception.* As a compli-
ment to us, the Rajah, from his own cRoice, used chairs at
this meeting, partly collected from our camp and partly
from his own, upon which he and the principal Sirdars
present and the gentlemen of the British mission were
seated. This interview was prolonged by the Rajah beyond
the usual time of visits of ceremony; but nothing of con-
sequence passed at it. The Rajah did not enter much into
conversation, and made only two observations worthy of
remark, One was an expression of regret for the lamented
death of Lord Viscount Lake, of whom he observed that it
would be difficult to find his equal, for that he was as much
distinguished by his gentleness, mildness, humanity, and
affability, as by his greatness as a military character. The
other observation was in reply to one of his courtiers, who
was remarking that the British Government was celebrated

* Metcalfe 'was of opinion that Runjeet ought to have come
out to meet the mission, but this Runjeet declined. His repre-
sentations, however, were not without some effect,

%It appeared to me,” he wrote, * that the rank and dxgmty of .
the Government, which I have the honour to represent, required
that the Rajah should come out from his camp to meet the
mission, and I had it intimated to him that such was my ex-
pectations, He did not come into my wishes in that respect;
but the references which I had occasion to make respecting the
ceremonials, had a good effect, inasmuch as they produced a
great change in them, for at the first the reception was proposed
to be in a style far inferior to that which has been observed,”— ,
[Metcalfe to Edmonstone, September 13, 1808.]
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for good faith; upon which Runjeet Singh said that he
knew well that the ward of the British Government
included everything.” Presents were interchanged, and in
the evening a salute was fired in Runjeet’s camp in honour
of the day, which he intimated to Metcalfe was-regarded by
him as & day of rejoicing.

In spite, however, of these declarations of friendship, the
Teception given to the British mission had nothing of cor-
diaiityin it. Runjeet was plamly jealous and suspicious of
the British Government. His better reason clouded by the
false insinuations and the mischievous advice of councils of
chiefs, who, from motives of self-interest, desired to embroil
Bunjeet with the Company’s Government, he forbade all
communication between the two camps, and for some time
was unwilling to return the visit of the British Envoy. It
was obviously his wish to enhance his own importance in
the eyes of the assembled chiefs and thehr«ebodyof
troops enmmped at Kussoor, by appearing to hold the
British mission of little account. “In brief,” wrote Met-
calfe, “ it would appear that I am regarded as a dangerous
enemy to be guarded against, rather than as an envoy from
a friendly state charged with the most amicable duties.”

But the decided conduct of the young envoy soon induced
Runjeet at least to pay the British Mission the compliment
of avisitt On the 16th, Metcalfe received the Sikh with
all honours. A suite of tents had been erected for the
occasion, and & wmusnud in the oriental fashion prepared
for the Rajah's occupancy. But Runjeet, preferring the
Eurcpean style, seated himself on a chair, and still
eschewing business, entered into familiar conversation with
the British officer, principally on military subjects.® After

* « He spoke with great respect of the British troops, and
observed of the Mahratta army which he had seea in this coontry
that it contained great numbers, but that it wanted wnion and
command. He related the following anecdote, which bappened
when Jeswunt Rao Holkar was in the neighbourhood of Umritsar,
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the interview, he expressed & wish to see the mancuvres of
the detachment of Company’s troeps composing the eseort,
and mounted on an elephant, watched the exercise of the
sepoys with interest and seeming pleasare. e took his
final leave, to all appearance, much gratified ; and such
had been the cordiality of his mammer, that Metcalfe
believed a favourable change had taken place in the
feelings of the Sikh, and that the business of the mission
would soon proceed without interruption. Great, there-
fore, were Metcalfe’s astonishment and disappointment
when, on the following day, he received a letter from
Runjeet Singh, which he characterised in his official com-
munications to Government as “an extraordinary instance
of suspicion, hastiness, and disrespect.” The letter, in its
Eastern phraseology, contained the meaning here embodied
in an English dress :—

Translation of a Note from Rajak Runjeet Singh to Mr. Metcalfe,

delivered . by Misr Prebdial, Huhkeem Uzeezoodeen, and Meean
Imaum-co-deen, on the evening of the 17th of September, 1808.

“I never before, at any time, under any emergency, or in any
place, have made so long’a balt as I have now, solely in cense-
quence of the friendship between this Government and thbe
Honourable Company, which by the blessing of God has been
increasing and improving from the time in which his Excellency
Lord Lake came into this country to the present happy hour.
My eamp has remained in this place so long, in the expectation of

A report was bronght to Holkar that Lord Lake had crossed the
Beeas in pursuit of him. Holkar immediately mounted bis horse.
The alarm spread through his army, and the whole fled to a
considerable distance, leaving all their tents standing. I was
pleasing to observe that this bad made an impression on Runjeet
Singh, and that he had no objection to mention it. He put
questions concerning our favourite mode of fighting, the distance
at which we erected our batferies in besieging, the distance af
which our artillerymen could hit & target in practice, with others
of a similar nature and tendency, e complained of the d:fficulty
of introducing diseipline among the people of the Punjaub.”—
[ Metcalfe to Edmonstone, Sevtember 17T, 1808.]
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your arrival. Thanksgivings to the Throne of the Almighty, this
wish of my heart, that is, your arrival, and the pleasure of seeing
¥ou, has been obtained in a proper thanuer.

“ Althomgh it is difficult to fetl satiety from the interviews of
Ariends whose hearta are united,and although the times of meeting,
however many, seem too few, yet affairs of state must be attended
to. Consequently, I am about to march immediately for the settle-
ment of certain districts. In my nation it is considered very
auspicious to march on the first day of the moon; and my march
is appointed for that day. Thesefore be pleased 40 make the
friendly communications on the part of the Right Honourable the
Governor-General, with which, from his lordship’s letter I under-
gtand you o becharged, in order that I may act accordingly, My
anxiety cannot admit of longer expectation.”

Outwardly courteous and complimentary as was this
=ffusion, its uncourteous and uncomplimentary meaning
peeped out from every sentence of it. “ This extraordinary
document,” wrote Metcalfe, # gave me mnotice in a plain
manner that I was expected to take my leave in three or
four days. Y was calculated %o repel, ‘whilst it professed
to call for communications, and in, I suppose, an unprece-
dented manner, evinced a design to shut the door against
all intercourse, and to put an end to the proceedings of the
Tission, without even ascertaining in the slightest degree
the object to which they might be directed® But Metealfe
believed that the obnoxions letter was hardly to be oon-
sidered as the act and deed of Runjeet himself. ¥t was, he
knew, the result of suspicions instilled into him by others;
and he did not yet despair of bringing the chief, by good
diplomacy—by-eonduct at once firm and conciliatory, into
a more reasonable frame of mind. So he sent back the
following letter in reply -

Translation of a Note from Mr. Metcalfe to Rajak Runjeel Singh,
transmitted on the night of the 17th of September, in reply to that
received from the Rajah on the evening of same day.

“By the blessing of God the relations of friendship bave been
firmly established betwecn you and the British Government, from
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the time when his Excellency Gencral Lord Lake was in this
country, and have been gaily improved, particularly since the
period when you wrote a very friendly letter to the Right Honour-
able Yord Minto, the Goverhor-General, congratulating his
lordship on his arrival in India. In consequence, when you
formed the intention of visiting Hurdwar, in order to bathe in the
Holy Ganges, his lordship deputed me for the purpose of receiving
you with every respect, and attending you during your stay in
that quarter. It happened that your intentions were postponed,
The Right Honourable the Governor-General, wishing to display
& signal mark of his friendship and regard, has now commanded
me to repair to your Court, to express the satisfaction with which
his lordship views the existing harmony and concord between the
two states, and with a view to establish and improve the ties of
intimacy and union. To-morrow I hope to have the honour of
waiting upon you whenever you are at leisure, when I will make
the communications with which I am entrusted by the Right
Honourable the Governor-General, and present a letter which I
have from his lordship to your address.”

This letter was not without its anticipated eflect. Met-
calfe was right when he believed that Runjeet had becn
led astray by the instillation of some falsehood with which
the men by whom he was surrounded had poisoned his
understanding. He had been told that Metcalfe was on
his way to Caubul; and that the British mission had not
been despatched primarily and exclusively to his court,
but merely instructed to pay him a passing visit. But this
lie was soon exploded ; and Runjeet again began to regard
the mission with complacency. An answer was promptly
returned to Metcalfe's letter ; and it contained an eager
invitation to the meeting proposed by the British envoy :—

Zranslation of a Note from Rajah Runjeet Singh to Mr. Metcalfe,
received from Meean Imaum-ood-deen, on the 18th of September.
[After compliments.] “In an auspicious and happy moment

your friendly letter, most agreeable to my inclinations, every

letter of which refreshed my eye, reached me, and gave splendour
to the unity and concord (subsisting between us). That which is
written by your friendly pen respecting what has happened from
the illustrious arrival of Lord Lake in this country up to your
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arrival, in order to confirm and improve the relations of intimate
sincere friendship, which by the blessing of God have been so
firmly established, and so manifestly displayed as to be known to
all, collectively and individually ; and the intimation which you
give of your intention to visit me, and make me happy by the
communications entrusted to you by the Right Honourable the
Governor-General have given me thousand-fold pleasure and joy.
« My desire to see you cannot be postponed from this day till
to-morrow, and my inclination is impatient of delay, but in conse-
quence of the season, and state of my constitution, I have this day
taken medicine. To-morrow, therefore, at three o'clock in the
afternoon, bring pleasure to your friend’s homse. Hukeem
Uzeezoodeen will arrive with you at that hour and conduct you.”

Mollified by this outwardly friendly invitation, Metcalfe,
on the 19th of September, visited Runjeet Singh, and,
in the presence of the principal Sikh councillors, opened
the discussion by accusing the Rajah of encouraging
unjust and unworthy suspicions. This was denied.
Evasive explanations of the offensive letter were given;
and after a conversation conducted on both sides with
the utmost good humour, it was determined that the
propositions of the British Government should be received,
as soon as the Sikhs had held a council of state to
determine upon their plan of operations. But this was
manifestly reversing the order of things. So, when
subsequently a deputation waited on Metcalfe, to explain
that the Sikhs could not determine upon the course

they were to pursue until they were informed of the
nature of the propositions to be made to them, the British

envoy acknowledged the cogency of the assertion, and
declared that he was willing on the following day to deliver
the important message with which he was charged by his
employers. It appeared to Metcalfe, indeed, that it was no
longer desirable to keep Runjeet in ignorance of the real
objects of his mission ; for the mind of the restless Sikh
might be diverted by thoughts of the anti-Gallican alliance
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from other objects on-which it was not expedient that he
should dwell,

So on the afternoon of the 22nd of September, Metcalfe
went unattended to Runjeet’s residence, and there found
the Sikh ruler surrounded by his principal councillors of
state. I give the history of the meeting in the young

envoy's own words:—

“I opened the conference,” he wrote, “by stating that the
friendship whieh had happily existed between the Rajah and the
British Government had induced the Right Honourable the
Governor-General to depute me to communicate some important
intelligence, in which the Maha-rajah’s interests were materially
concerned. I then mentioned that his lordship had received
authentic advices that the French, who were endeavouring to
establish themselves in Persia, bad formed the design of invading
these countries, and of seizing Cabul and the Punjaub—that his
lordship’s first care waa to give warning to the states which this
intelligence concerned—that feeling the interests of the British
Government and those of the Rajah to Be the same, his lordship
had commissioned me to negotiate with the Rajah arrangements
for the extirpation of the commoa enemy, and had appointed
another gentleman to be envoy te Cabul for similar purposes
with respect to- that couatry, who would, in & short time, with
the Rajah’s permission, pass through this country on his way to
the place of his destination. I added, that these measures had
been adopted by the Government in the purest spirit of friend-
ship, and that it was evident that the interests of all the states in

, this quarter required that they should unite their powers in
defence of their dominions, and for the destruction of the enemy’s
armies.

« At the conclusion of this introduction the Rajah and all pre-
sent following him, made an exclamation of admiration at the
friendly conduct of the Right Honourable the Governor-General
in making this communication, and expressed without hesitation
4 ready concurrence im his lordship’s plans, The Rajakh asked,
how far the British army would advance to meet the French, and
what force would be sent? I replied, that these questions would
depend upon subsequent arrangements; but that it was our prac.
tice to seek our enemy, and that no doubt the Government would
send an army beyond Cabul. With respect to the amount of the
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force, I observed, that would necessarily depend upon circum-
stances, but that such a force would of gourse be sent as would be
amply safficient to destroy the foe. He asked if troops were
ready to advance, and when the French might be expected? 1
said that the moment at which the ememny might be expected
could mot at present be ascertained-—ihat it might be sooner or
later—but that there was no doubt of the design, and that it
behoved wise governments to be prepared to counterac it; and
that our troops always are, and always would be, ready te
advance.

“ 4 frer expressing in animated terms his desire 10 eo-gperate
with the British arms, his sense of the friendly motives which
bad led to the communications from the Right Honourable the
Governow-General, his approbation of the plan of attacking the
enemy before they could reach Cabul, and bhis satisfaction at the
prospect of a close alliance with the British Government, which
had long, he said, been the wish of his heart, now spoke in a
whisper to Misr Prebdial (one of his eouncillors), who, in conse-
quence, carried aside all the persons present except the Rajah,
Kurreem Singh, Imanm-ood-deen, and myself. Whilst the gen--
tlemen apart were'deliberating in a whisper, the Rajah eontinned
to comverse ‘with me, sometimes on suljects connected with the
ehiects of my previeus communication, and sometimes on general
topics. He started the idea that the King of Cabul might throw
himself in the arms of the French, and asked what would be done
in that case? T said, in that case we must attack the King of
Cabul as well as the French; but timt it was improbable that he
would be so blimd to his own ixierests; for that the French inva-
riahly subjected and eppressed those who joined them; plundered
and laid waste*their country, and overthrew the Government.
In the course of this conversation I endeavoured, in conformity
to the instrucfions of ‘the supreme Government, to alarm the
Rajah for the safety of his territories, and at the same time to give
kim senfidence in cwr protectien.

“ The Rajah asked if all was right with Holkar? I said, “Yes?’
snd that since the peace with him made in this country, he had
continued on the moat friendly terms with the British Govern-
ment. *But,’ replied the Rajah, “he is a determined rascal (pucka
hxrumzadak), and mo trast can be reposed in him.' T answered,
that when we were at war with him, we nsed to call him a grest
rascal; but as we were now st peace, we always spoke of him
with the respect due to a friendly chiel. The Rajash mentioned,



188 THE MISSION TO LAHORE,

that when in this country, Holkar prohibited his troops from
plundering as long as Lord Lake’s army was near to him, but let
them !oose on the country as soon as his lordship had commenced
his return to the British dominions,

“When the deliberations of the whispering council were con~
cluded, the result was conveyed by Mijsr Prebdial to the Rajah's
ears, and the Rajah delivered some order to him fn the same .
manner; after which Misr Prebdial addressed me in a long speech,
the substance of which was, that the Rajah concurred in every-
thing that I had communicated, and particularly desired to have
the closest connection with the British Government; but that the
business not being of slight consideration, but of the highest
importance, it was necessary to proceed with deliberation——
accordingly, that the question would be fully discussed by the
Rajah with those present, and that the result of their deliberations
on that and other subjects should be communicated to me on the
following morning. The Rajah said the same; and having
enjoined profound secresy to all present, put an end to the con-
ference,”

The morrow came, and with the morrow a new light
dawned upon the subject. To the Sikh councillors it did
not appear, upon consideration of the whole matter, that
they had much to apprehend from the rumoured incursion
of the French. The danger was at most something remote
and conjectural. They hardly could bring themselves to
believe that the counteraction of foreign influence in the
countries of Central Asia was the real object of the mission
to Bunjeet's court. And if it were, they argued among
themselves, the alliance which the British Government
sought was mainly for its own advantage. Why then
should not the treaty at the same time embrace objects
more nearly and palpably advantageous to the Sikhs them-
selves? It ,was Runjeet Singh's earnest desire, at this
time, to obtain from the British Government a recognition
of his sovereignty over all the Sikh states on both sides of
the Sutlej ; and it was now intlmated to Metcalfe that the
Rajah suggested the expediency of including this and other
provisions in the contemplated treaty. To all of this
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Metcalfe listened patiently ; but he firmly replied, that
he had no authority to give any such guarantee on the
part of the Government-which he represented—that the
alliance against the French was the first point to be
arranged, and that the rest would be left for future consi-
deration. But this was not a view of the case in which
the Sikh councillors were inclined to concur. The inter-
view, therefore, was mnot a satisfactory one; and nothing
was settled except—the last resource of inconclusiveness—
that the views of Runjeet Singh should be reduced to
writing, and considered by the British envoy.

I cannot follow in detail all the consultations—many of
them mere profitless repetitions of inconclusive discussions
—which day by day Metcalfe reported to the Supreme
Government. The difficulties with which the young diplo-
matist contended were many and great. He soon perceived
that in Runjeet Singh he had to deal with a man inordi-
nately ambitious himself, and out of measure suspicious of
the ambitious designs of others. Untainted by any objects
of aggression as was this mission to Lahore, it must be
admitted that Runjeet’s suspicions were not wholly without
foundation. He had seen, within the space of & few years,
the fairest provinces of Hindostan subjected to the yoke
of the conquering Feringhee. If he had extended his
dominions, our extension of territory had been far greater;
and there was sufficient, at least in the antecedents of
British conquest, to make him fearful of his independence,
when he saw our battalions already approaching the banks
of the Suﬂe_}, and our diplomatists, the sure forerunners of
our armies, beginning to spread themselves over all the
countries of Central Asia. It is not strange, therefore, that
one, by nature suspicious in the extreme, and wrought upon
by evil eouncillors and treacherous adherents, should have
regarded the advance of the British mission with distrust.
From the very first his suspicions had broken out into acts
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of open discourtesy. He had forbidden, as I have before
said, all intercourse between the two camps. Supplies had
been zefused to the mission. The native bankers were
afraid to cash Metcalfe’s bills. Runjeet's spies were con-
tinually in the British camp. The camp had been pitched’
on ground selected by Runjeet in the bed of & dry river, on
whose banks the Sikh sentries were incessantly posted.
Our messengers had been intercepted ; our letiers had been
opened; and Metcalfe had excused himself to Gevernment
far submitting to many indignities which he pretended not
to ohserve. He had certain great ends to accomplish, and
he would not be arrested or turned aside by any obstruc-
tions but those of the greatest national import and
significance.

But that which most embarrassed Metcalfe, at this time,
was the unecrupulous course of territorial aggrandizement,
which Runjeet was determined on pursuing in the face of
the British mission. Tt was obviously his intentiom to turn
to atcount what he hoped would be considered the implied
sanction of the British Government to his conguests on the
southern bank of the Sutlej. The suddenness of his move-
ments baffled all diplomacy, and prevented all remonstrance.
Thus, on the 25th of September, just as the negotiations
appeared to be in a favourable state, Runjeet suddenly,
without intimation to the British Envoy, and without con-
sulting his Ministers, broke up his camp at Kussoar, and
prepared to cross-the Sutlej.* The primary object of the

* Reporting this te Government, Metcalfe -wrote: “I was
disposed to angur well from the spirit of this eonference; snd
great was my surprise on rising this morning to find that the
Rajah’s army was moving, ~ Uzeezooden at the instant came to
me and said that he bad been sent by the Rajah to inform me
that he was about 10 march to the river Beeas, and to reguest
that I would march tos. I enswered ¢hat I could mot march to-
day; but that I would follow the Rajah us soon as I could. I
expressed any surprise at the Rajah’s moving so suddenly, and
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movement was the capture of the fortress and surrounding
territory of Fureed-kote—a tract of country in the dothain
of the Rajah of Putteealah, one of the chief of the group of
his Cis-Sutlej States;* baut it was openly boasted in eamp
that the expedition was designed to accomplish the sabju-
gation of the whole of the country lying between the Sutley
and the Jumna. And there were those whe said that, this
accomplished, some hostile movements against the British
would certainly ensue.}

Following the Sikh camp at & convenient interval of
time, Metcalfe, on the 28th of September, again met
Runjeet Singh. The interview was held on an island in
the river, The confidential servants of the Rajah were
present; and the manner of Runjeet himself was courteous
and conciliatory. But there seemed fo be a hopeless gulf
between the two negotiating parties, which it-was impos-
sible to bridge over. Metealfe still asserted that he came
for nothing but a defensive alliance against the French.
“If the French invade your territory,” he said, *you will
profit greatly by the slliance. If they do mot, you will

without giving me any previous ifitimation, and I desired 10 know
what were the Rajah’s intentions, where he was going, and
whether he wonld cross the river or met. Vzeezoodeen eonld
give me no satisfactory information, I therefore desiped him to
bring me an answer on these points from his maater, saying, that
until I should obtain the information required, X eould not ssy
whether it would be proper for me to accompany the Rajah or

t."é—(;[@Mr. Meteaife to Mr. Edmonstone, Camp Kusscor, September
25, 1808.}

# Fureed-kote was, however, at thm time in the possession of
rebels, who paid no revenue to the Puttealah Rajah.

{ Metealfe reported, among other things, that there was *a
story on feot tc the effect that the Rsjah of Bhurtpore had
applied to Runjeet for aid againet the hostile designe of the
British, that his epplication had been backed by Holkar, and

that Runjeet Singh had agreed to co-operate for the defence of
Bhurtpore,”



192 THE MISSION TO LAHORE,

not suffer by it.” Reduced to this simple formula, the case
was a convincing one; and Runjeet at first seemed to be
staggered by it. But he clamoured for the sanction of the
British Government to the extension of his sovereignty over
all the Sikh territories; and was eager also to introduce
into the treaty a clause, pledging us not to interfere for the
prevention of any hostilities that he might be pleased to
carry on in the direction of Caubul. Such was the unva-
rying tenor of his discourse; and every new meeting only
served to convince Metcalfe of the difficulty of persuading
the Rajah to abandon a design which lay so very near to
his heart.*

In the meanwhile, Metcalfe's letters, despatched with
tinfailing punctuality, and admirably lucid in all their
details, were exciting much grave reflection in the Council
Chamber of Calcutta, The seeming determination of
Runjeet to extend his conquests on the southern bank of
the Sutlej, excited in Lord Minto a very strong desire to
arrest by force of arms the progress of the ambitious Sikh.
The first minute which he wrote upon the subject, hinted

* Summing up the whole state of the case after the lapse of
another month, Metcalfe wrote to the Supreme Government: “ It
appears to me that he wishes merely to have a treaty of perpetual
friendship with the British Government to be maintained here-
after with his heirs and successors ; that he is indifferent to the
proposed alliance ngainst the designs of the French, as the
danger is not near nor perceptible to him—that to that alliance
generally, however, he has no objection, although bhe wishes to
make his agreement to it the means of obtaining concessions from
the British Government ; but at the same time he does not view
without uneasiness the progress of the measures in contemplation,
and the probability of the introduction of British agents in his
territories, the disclosure of the actual state of his country, army,
and resources, and other imagined consequences of opening the
means of communication between the British Government and
the disaffected chiefs whom he oppresses.”—[ October 20, 1808,
Mr, Metcalfe to Mr.Edmonstone, MS. Records.]
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at the expediency of instructing Metcalfe to intimate to
Runjeet Singh, that if, pending negotiations, any advance
were made towards our frontier, or if any interruption
were at any time given fo the Caubul mission, it would be
considered as a declaration of war. But he was a states-
man of a calm and dispassionate nature, and he recorded
at the same time, that these were only his first hasty
reflections, and that he would, “in the course of the day,
collect more deliberately such thoughts on the general
question as might appear worthy to be communicated” to
his colleagues, and to the Envoy in Runjeet’s camp. And
the result of these subsequent deliberations, aided by a
memorandum drawn up.by Mr. Edmonstone, was, that
Metcalfe was instructed not to follow any course that would
precipitate his abrupt departure from Runjeet’s camp, but
to protract his negotiations, and to avoid, if possible, such
a rupture as would incite Runjeet to assume an attitade of
open hostility. These instructions Metcalfe had antici-
pated. The course laid down for him was that which his
own judgment suggested, and already he had entered
upon it.

Having thus resolved to gain time and to amuse Runjeet,
whilst they were maturing their plan of ultimate operations,
and waiting to see what might be wriiten down jq the ever-
fertile chapter of accidents, our statesmen at Calcutta
began to take larger views of the whale question, and.to
consider whether it would be expedient to yield to the
solicitations of the Rajah, or to maintain the independence
of the Sikh chiefs on our side of the Sutlej. Lord Minto
at once determined that the question was one which he was
justified in! deciding upon grounds of immediate palicy,
rather than upon any abstract principles; and after weigh-
ing the consequences of the adoption of either course—
each being beset with its own peculiar difficalties—he
resolved that the interests of the British Government

Yol. L b3
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demanded that the aggressiveness of Runjeet Singh should
be stemmed, and that the lesser chiefs between the Sutlej and
the Jumna should be supported. Dut this object was not
to be gained by mere passive resistance. “.A conscquence
of our refusing our assent to Runjeet's proposal,” wrote
Lord Minto, “ must be the necessity of our aflording open
and immediate protection to the Sikhs, and employing &
nuilitary force for that purpose. For to declare that we do
not consent to the proposed conquests, and at the aame
time to look on whilst they are achieved, is a contradiction
calculated alike to alienate the Sikhs and to provoke the
enmity of Runjeet Singh. That we should advance,” he
added, “ a body of troops to the ,Sutlej, and take post en
" that river in comcert and counection with the principal
Sikh chiefs, I should not think in itself a disadvantage,
but in our present circumstances the reverse.”™® The’
Governor-General did not conceal from himself that this
mesasure might precipitate ap open collision with Llunjeet,
but he was prepared 40 abide the resalt.

In the meanwhile, Runjeet Siogh, having taken pos-
session of Fureed-kote, was dragging the British mission
bither and thither, still evidently desirous that its presence
should seem to sanction his aggressive proceedings, until
Metcalfe demanded that the Rajah should name some fitting
place where the mission might remain encamped until
Runjeet had eompleted his operations, and was in a position
sgain to give himself wuninterruptedly to the pending
negotiations. After much further discussion leading to no
zesult, and some wild propositions at which Metcalfe only
langhed,} it was agreed that the British mission should

* MS. Memoranda of Lord Miato.

$ Amongst others was & proposition to the effect that Metcalls
should retarn fo Calcutts, taking with him one of the Sikh chiefs
as Runjeet’s wakeel (or agent), and fnish the negotiations at the

Presidency, This Metcalfe treated as & * humorous proposal™
Another scheme pup forth by the Sikhs was that two treaties
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halt at Gongrons, a place between the Sutlej and the
Jumna, about twenty miles south-east from Loodhianah,
until Runjeet had done his work. The Sikh army was
mow moving upon Umballah, and thus bringing itsel€ into
dangerous proximity to our own frontier-station of Kurnal ®

A lull in the more strenuous activities of the mission
enabled Charles Metcalfe not only to take a comprehensive
survey of past transactions, to clear up in his letters to
Government any uncertainties or obscurities which his
previous communications might have presented, and to
draw up elaborate reports on the character of Runjeet
Singh and the resources of his country,t but also to devote

should be drawn up—one according to Runjeet’s wishes, one
according to our own—and that the latter should be held in.pawn
until redeemed by the ratification of the former! It was with
reference to one of these conferences (on the 24th of October) that
Metcalfe wrote that the confusion produced by the eagerness of
eight Sikh councillors to declare their opinions was almost sub-
Iime. <1 beg you,” he said, “1io conceive an assemblage of nine
persons, in which eight are endeavouring by all manner of means
to ebtain a particular point from ene—the -ministers being all
eager to display before their master their zeal in the cause, their
akill and acuteness; and the picture will completely represent the
conference; which was preceded by a present of a horse from the
Rajah’s stable. There was little argument on either side. The
subject had Deen repeatedly discussed, and nothing new remasined
to be said”

®* At ene of the conferences. between Meicalfe and the Sikh
Ministers, the latter had been asked whether he considered that
Knrnal belomged to the British Government.

1 There is a» amnsing passage in one of these reports relative
to Runjeet’s appreciation of artillery, and the mesns by which he
contrived to serape his ondnance together. “ The Rajal’s attach-
ment to guns,” wrate Metcalf to Government, “and his opinion
of their weight, are both se great, that he will never miss an
opportunity of obtaining a gun. If he learns that there is & gun
in any fort, hie eannot rest until he has taken the fort to get at the
gun, or until the gun has been given up to him to save the fort
He immediately dizmounts the gun from the wall and dreags it

2
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some time to his private correspondence. In the middle
of November he had received the distressing intelligence
of the death of his aunt Richdrdson, to whom he was
deeply attached. Some letters written by him at this time
to his afflicted uncle, and to his * dear and now, alas! only
aunt,” Mrs. Monson,* express the strength of his grief.
He was eager at first to know, whether his ¢ dear, dear
aunt in her illness ever thought of him? With her mind,”
he added, ¢ occupied by thoughts of her children and her
beloved sisters, I cannot expect that she did.” But all
thoughts of his own sorrows passed away as he dwelt on
the sufferings of the husband and sister, and prayed thas
they might be comforted and sustained by Him, who alone
has power to wipe away all tears from our eyes. “ May
the Ruler of all things,” he wrote to his uncle, “ give you
patience and fortitude to support you under the heavy
pressure. * ¢ And now, Lord, what is my hope, truly my
hope is even in thee. In the midst of life we are in death.
Of whom may we seek succour but of thee, O Lord?
Blessed are the dead who die in the Lord, for they rest
from their labours.’ "}

‘Whilst Metcalfe, thus halting at Gongrona, was dividing
his thoughts between his public business and his private
sorrows, Runjeet was extending his dominion over the
more helpless of the Cis-Sutlej chiefs. Many of them,
unequal to resistance, acknowledged that they were his

after him, as an addition to his field train. He boasted to me
once, that he had made the Rajah of Puttealah give him a fine
gun, which the Rajah wished to rescue for 20,000 rupees.”

* Mrs. Richardson and the Hon. Mrs. Monson, then widow of
Colonel Monson, 'of whom Charles Metcalfe said, “he was always
an affectionate uncle and kind friend to me,” were sisters of Lady
Metcalfe.

1 November 1808, Camp Gongrona.~In this letter Metcalfe says:
“If my mission should soon end, which is possible, I shall
endeayour to join you at Banda to share your sadness.””
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subjects, that they beld their possessions only by virtue of
his grant, and contributed their guns to the Rajah’s collec-
tion; whilst others obtained temporary immunity for
themselves by aiding him in these acts of spoliation.®
But he still had time to think of the British mission, wrote
courteous letters to Metecalfe, “ evinced a desire to be
friendly and conciliatory ;"f and was sincerely desirous to
protect the mission against any inconvenience that might
result from the turbulent character of the people surround-
ing their camp.} Before the end of November, the restless

* «Including,” wrote Metcalfe to Government, ®those chiefs
who have attended him in this expedition, his sovereignty has heen
completely ackmowledged by all the Sikh chiefs with two ex-
ceptions”—the Rajahs of Puttealah and Thanesur.

t “ Being informed that Gongrona was not & pleasant situation,
‘he wrote to me,” said Metcalfe, “in the most civil manner, to
request that I would move to another place, which was ascer-
tained to be better; but finding Gongrona sufficiently agrecable,
1 did not think it necessary to move.”

$ <t happened,” wrote Metcalfe, < that in taking the air one
evening I was fired upon from a village by mistake. This trivial
circumstance was reported to the Rajah and magnified. In cobse-
quence, he gave orders to the commanders of his infantry and
guns, on detaching them from Shuhabad on their return to the
Punjaub, to attend me, and wrote to me to desire that I would
cause them fo plunder and destroy any village that had béhaved in
a disrespectful manner. After thanking him for his kindness, ¥
requested him to forgive a fault which bad proceeded from in-
advertency and the divided state of the country.” This humane,
interference, however, had not at first the desired result. In a
subsequent letter Metcalfe wrote: “The Rajah’s infantry and
guns have been at this place for some days. As they were sent
by the Rajah for the avowed purpose of destroying certain villaged
which had been represented fo him as having behaved in g
disrespectful manner to me, I endeavoured to prevent their
advance, but did not succeed, as Kureem Singh, the possessox of
the tents of Gongrona, had a strong interest in persuading them
to come on. On their arrival I had somg difficulty in preventing
their attacking the villages, The commanders informed me thas
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chief had sent back his infantry and his guns to Gongrona,
and purposed, after a friendly interview with. the Rajah of
Puttealah, to make his way to Umritsur and Lahore, and
there to rest himself in the lap of pleasure afier the
fatigues of war and the anxieties of public business.

It was at this time that Metcalfe learnt the results of
the deliberations which bad been held in Calcutta at the
close of the preceding month. The Chief Secretary com~
municated to him that Lord Minto had determined to resist
Runjeet’s efforts to subjugate the Cis-Sutlej States, and
that henceforth these petty principalities were to be under
British protection. The letter which announced this im-
pertant intelligence was followed by a communication to
the same eflect to Runjeet himself, sent through the Delhi
Besident, couched in the ordinary langiage of diplomatic
flattery, but sufficiently unmistakeable in its import and
decided in its tones The ambitious Sikh was now called
upon to arrest his career of conquest in the country
between the Sutlej and the Jumna, and to surrenderithe
places which he had recently wrested from the petty chefs.
But Metcalfe, still anxious to achieve the objects of his
ruission without violence, and believing that Runjeet waa
already on his way back to the capital, determined to delay
the commnunication of the Governor-General's resolution,
in. the hopa that the Rajah's withdrawal from the scene of
his recent conquests might appear rather a spontaneous act
Jpan his part than one forced wpon him by the implied
they had positive orders to plunder the villages, and put to death
the inbabitants. I saw their instructions under the leal.'of
Bunjeet Singh, giving orders for their guidance, and even laying.
down the plan of attack, and giving intelligence of the force that
they might expect to be opposed to them. Fortunately, the Rajah
bad written other instructions, desiring them to obey wy orders,
which bave enabled me by positive commands and written in-

junctions to restrain thera until the result of my reference to the
Bajah may be known*
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menaces of the British Govermment.®* The wuncertainty
and the impulsiveness which marked Runjeet's eonduct,
rendered Metcalfe, however, sceptical of the real intentions
of the Rajah; and doubting whether he would return
immediately to his capital, he wrote to him that he desired
an interview at Eesroo, which lay on the road to Umnritsur.
The request was readily granted, but before the appointed
time Runjeet had once more changed his resolution. He
was tired of business. e was eager again t0 enjoy the
delights of the wine-cup and the =zenana, He had
exchanged turbans as a token of amity with the Rajah of
Puttealah ; and he had now little else to do. So he wrote
to Metcalfe proposing # meeting on the Sutlej. But before
the British Envoy had reached the banks of the river,
Runjeet had again changed his mind, and was moving ia
hot haste on the wings of love to Umritsur.  His confi-
dential physician-minister, Uzeezoodeen, was left behind to-
invite Metcalfe to follow him; and on the 10th of December
the British mission arrived at the holy city. .

The delay had not been without its uses. The instrue~
tions despatched to Metcalfe by the Supreme Government

* Mr. Metealfe to Mr. Edmonstore, November 27, 1808~ 'When
X received your instructions of the 31st of October, I had every
reason to expect the instant return of Runjeet Singh to Lahore
from his own communijcations o me, as well a3 from generad
opinion and actunl appearances. His infantry and gums, which
generally form his advanced guard, were encamped in this place,
which is within a forced march from the Suflgj; and the Rajsh
himself was lightly equipped with the seeming and avowed intentjon
of advancing. Under these circpmstances, it appeared to me that
if the Rajah should immediately re-cross the Sutlej with his arnry,
and remove his troops from all positions menacing to the safety
and independence of the chiefs whom it is the intention of Govern-
ment to protect, one of the most important objects of my instrue-
tions would be obtained without any immediate interraption ot
amicable degotiation, and time would ‘be gained for the execution
of the arrangements destined for the defence of this country.”
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at the end of October, and the letter to Runjeet Singh sent
through the Delhi Resident, had been of a more peremptory
and decided character than Lord Minto upon further con-
sideration considered it expedient to confirm. The letter
to the Rajah had now been modified into a8 communication
less menacing in tone, and containing a less undisguised
exposition of the intentions of the British Government.
And when Mr. Edmonstone forwarded a copy of it to
Metcalfe, he wrote a private letter, briefly explaining to
him, in the following sentences, Lord Minto's wishes
regarding the future conduct of his negotiations s

“You will see that it is wished yon should remain; and I will
state in very few words what is intended, Government is
satisfied that Runjeet Singh will never be the cordial friend of
the British Government ; an engagement with him for co-opera~
tion would be mere waste paper. His character, conduct, and
views are such as to render it for our interest that his government
were subverted.,, But we shall do nothing to promote that cbject.
It would hardly be justifiable to do so; at the same time, it is
desirable not to be embarrassed with engagements which might
compel us to assist him against internal rebellion, QOur object
must be at present to remain as free ag possible without breaking
with Ranjeet. It is not, therefore, desirable to accclerate the
negotiation, The longer it is kept in suspense the better; and
on the plea of awaiting the result of your report to Government
that he has withdrawn his army, disclaimed any interruption to
the Cabul mission, and treated you as an accredited minister of a
great state ought to be treated, you can properly and plausibly
suspend the conclusion of engagements. Though I apprehend
from your despatch No. 29, just recejved, that you may have
gone too far under your formier instructions {0 admit of this
coiirse. Troops will be sent to the frontier as was at first
announced in the letter to Runjeet ; but it is now thought best to
suspend any notification to him of this arrangement, so you are
to know nothing of these matters.”

On the evening of his arrival at Umritsur, Metcalfe,
taking with him the Governor-Generals letter, visited
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Runjeet Singh. But the Rajah was in no mood for
business. He was in the midst of a riotous career of sel-
indulgence. Instead of attending to the affairs of state
which had called the British Envoy to his presence, he
sent for his dancing-girls; and soon afterwards, the wonted
strong drinks were introduced. In vain did Metcalfe call
the attention of the Rajah to the business on which he
had come; in vain did he speak of the Governor-General’s
letter of which he was the bearer. Runjeet was willing to
receive the letter, but he was not prepared to read it.
“The evening was devoted to mirth and pleasure.” The
Rajah was in a genial humour—fall of cordiality towards
his English visitor; familiar in manner, friendly in speech.
Metealfe, with right diplomatic address, entered into the
spirit of the scene, within the limits of becoming hilarity;
and whed he took his departure, it was obvious to him
that the Rajah and his friends were * incapacitated for
business.”*

But Runjeet Singh, drinking and revelling with the
unopened letter of the Governor-General beside him, was
as a man singing and dancing upon a loaded mine.
Whether he had any suspicion of its actual contents, and
was disinclined to mar the pleasurable excitement of the life
to which he had now temporarily abandoned himself, content
to live in the rapture of the present moment, and to lull
all corroding anxieties to rest, can be only matter of con-
jecture. But the morrow passed away, and still Metcalfe
heard nothing of the effects of the lefter. So he wrote the
Rajah a mnote under his own hand—a note giving no
uncertain sound, but clearly and decisively stating the
stage to which the discussion had now been brought, the
various offences which had been committed by the Rajah,
and the dangers which stared him in the face ; and con~

* Mr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmonstone, December 11, 1808,
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cluding with the following specific declaration of the views
of the British Government ;=

“Y am directed by the Right Hon. the Governor-General to
protest againat the invasion of the country between the Sutlej and
the Jumna, in the name of the British Government; and further,
to declare that the British Government cannot acknowledge any
right in the Maha'rajah to any territories that he may have taken
possession of situated between the Sutlej and the Jumna since the
first reference of this question to the British Government.

¢ Moreover, the Governor-General feels himself authorised to
expect, and entertains no doubt, that the Maha-rajah will restore
all the places that he has taken possession of since that period to
the former possessors, and will confine his army to the right bank
of the Sutlej, since he can have no object in maintaining it on the
left bank, except to overawe and subjugate the chiefs situated
between that river and the Jumna, who are now declared to be
under the protectiont of the British Government.

“In expressing these sentiments, I am directed to inform the
Maha.rajah that the British Government is desirous of maintain-
ing the most amicable relations with his Government, and wishes
that the friendship subsisting between the two states may daily
improve and increase. The British Government desires no country
for itself. It has enough, and its only ambition is to improve
the territories which it possesses, and to promote the happiness of
its subjects. It wishes to live in amity with all mankind. It
cannot consent to the subjugation of chiefs who are closely
eormected with it, and have claims upon it for protection, At the
same time, it entertains the most friendly designs towards the
Mabarrajuh, with whom, notwithstanding the just causes of com-
plaint which the Maha-rajah’s conduct haa afforded, it is anxious
ta cultivate the relations of intimate and cordial friendship,

“Y trust that the Maha-rajah will duly appreciate the fnendly
sentiments of the Right Hon, the Governor-General, and meet
them with reciprocal cordiality and confidence, so as to give an
aasurance: that for the future the rights and privileges of the repree
sentative of the British Government shall be respected aceording
to.the established usage between states, and that the intercourse
between the two Governments shall be camed on in the spirit of
mutual confilence and friendship.”

Of this unmistakeable communication Metcalfe’'s con-
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fidential moonshee was the bearer. It was soon apparent
that the contents of the Governor-General's letter -were
utterly unknown to the Rajah, who, on perusing the
Envoy's note, seemed to stagger under it, as though under
the influence of a “ sndden shock.” DBut it was wshock
of a salutary nature. It seemed to sober him. He spoke
of the communication more humbly and more reasonably
than, judging by his foregone behaviour, there was any
ground to expect. He appea:red sensible of the impro-
priety of his conduct towards the mission, and believed,
or pretended to believe, that the determination of the
British Government had been forced upon it by his want
of courtesy towards its representative, rather than by his
bearing towards the petty states. .And he indulged the
hope that a more favourable reply to his demands -would
speedily be despatched to his court.

The following day was fized upon for an interview with
the British Envoy, but it brought, after the old fashion,
only excuses for delay. The Rajah had determined to
proceed at once to Lahore, and he invited Metoalfe to
accompany him. It was evidently Runjeet's object to
gain time. Other thoughts were distracting .his' mind.
There were dangers and difficulties bristling at his
own door. He had hoped for a little while in the
arms of his favourite mistress to forget all of royalty
except its sensual delights. But that which was to have
been to him only a source of refreshment and repose,
became the exciting cause of wunexpected trouble and
slarm. His favourite was & Mussulmanee dancing-girl.
It may have been in the plenitnde of her Mahomedan
geal—or it may have been in the mere wantonness of
power—that either by force or persuasion, she had recently
converted a Hindoo to the faith of Islam, or at least sub-
jected him to its external ritnalities. The act, from what-
ever feeling it may have resulted, threw Umritsur into
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a ferment of excitement. The shops of the holy city were
closed. The priests of the great temple issued their mani-
festoes, and forbade the people, under a ban of excommuni-
cation, to open them and return to their wonted business,
The houses of the Mussulmanee dancing-girls—~in expia-
tion of the offences of one of their tribe—were plundered
by the outraged Hindoos. There was a great strife
between the temporal and the spiritual power; and the
former was worsted in the encounter. So Runject was
fain to withdraw himself from the scene of turmoil, and to
make his escape to Lahore,*

And thither Metcalfe speedily followed him. But the
change ‘of scene did not induce a change of conduct.
Runjeet still maintained a cautious silence, and *found
fresh excuses for delaying his answer to the demands that
had been made upon him™ by the British Government.
At length, on the 17th of December, just as the Envoy
was writing & letter, peremptorily calling upon the Rajah
to declare his intentions without longer delay, a message
of invitation came from the Sikh, and Metcalfe proceeded
to his presence. But even then the old reserve was
upon him. Runjeet appeared careworn and thoughtful,
and little inclined to address himself to affairs of state.
His troubles had followed him from Umritsur to Lahore.
, 'The Ilindoos were thronging round the walls of his palace,
and sitting dhurna at his gates.f He was ready, therefore,
with more excuses, and eager for more delay. He told
Metcalfe that * his attention had been much engaged by
the disturbances at Umnitsur and Lahore; that he had
had to dismiss his chiefs and followers to their homes; that
several of those with whom he was in the habit o£ con~
sulting were absent, and that, to say the truth, after four

* My, Metcal,'e to My, Edmonstone, December 14, 1808.
t To sit “dhurna”® is to sit in fusting and prayer st & man’s
doo: ~~an expressive kind of practical curse,
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months’ campaigning he felt an inclination for some
rest.™® And all that Metcalfe, pressing him sorely, could
extract from him was the old promise that he would see him,
and make “a full communication on the following day.”
But with the new day, afler the old fashion, came new
excuses. Runjeet’s ministers had tried to reconclle Met-
calfe to the eccentricities of their chief ; but the English
gentleman had answered with becommg firmness t.hat,
although the eccentricities were sufficiently apparent, he
could not admit that they furnished any justification for
is conduct. In vain they pleaded that Runjeet had never
been habituated to control—that flushed with continual
success he had ever regarded himself, and himself alone,
as the arbiter of his conduct—that he was a man of a head-
strong and ungovernable nature, and that some allowances
" ought to be made for him. Metcalfe was not to be driven
from the position he had taken up. The business in hand,
he gaid, was an affair between two states, and no conside-
rations of personal character should be admitted in justifi-
cation of conduct which violated the rights and lowered
the dignity of the Government which he represented.}

* Mr. Metcal/e to Mr, Edmonstone, December 18, 1808,

1 The passage in Metcalfe’s correspondence descriptive of this
scene merits quotation. * I asked,” he wrote to the Chief Secretary,
“ what explanation I should offer to my Government for the delay
which had taken place on the part of the Rajah. Imanm-ood-deen
begged me to bear in mind that the Rajah, from the earliest age,
had been withqut control ; that his disposition had, in consequence,
become ungovernable ; that he had throughout life acted according
to his pleasure; that God had prospered all his undertakings;
that he had acquired a habit of acting without reference to the
inclination of others; and that allowances ought to be made for
these considerations. I observed, that the Rajal’s eccentricities
were evident enough, and that X had been often amused by them
that théy would, indeed, be very entertaining if they did no$
interfere so much with important business; but that I could not
state them to my Government to account for the Rajah’s conduct,



206 THE MISSIOX TO LAHORE.

And he desired the Sikh Minister to inform his master
that he was surprised at fhe repeated excuses he had
received, and impatient of further delay. DBut in spite of
this, on the following morning, Runjeet’'s confidential
advisers again appeared before Metcalfe as the bearers of
further excuses, and to request one more day's delay.
Everything, they announced, was in train for the con-
clusion of the business, and now, &t last, procrastination
was at an end.* There was, indeed, no longer a pretext
for evasion; and so, on the morning of the 20th of
December, the long-delayed conference appeared to be on
the point of accomplishment. But instead of meeting the
Rajah himself, Metcalfe met only a large assembly of his
councillors. There was a long and animated, but an
unsatisfactory debate. The young English statesman bad
8 host of antagonists, but he was more than a match for
them all. He told the Sikh chiefs that the plan which the
British Government purposed to pursue was conceived in
a friendly spirit, and to be prosecuted in a friendly manner;
but that tHe determination which had been announced was
fixed and irrevocable, and that.it were well that this
should be undgrstood by their master.}

38 any consideration for them would be Inadmissible. The Brifich
Government, I remarked, could only jadge of the Rajah by his
acts, and if these were improper, could not think of justifying
them by any reference to his edacation. I pressed upon the atten~
tion of Trraum-ood-deen that it was necessary for the Maha-rajah
to reflect that every matter pending was between Government and
Government ; and that it was indispensable that he should lay
aside the notion that he might act according to his own pleasure
without regard to the rights and dignity of the British Government.

* 'One of the excuses advanced,by Runjedt was founded on the
abgence of a councillor—Mith Singh—in whom he professed great
faith, “This man had been summeoened to Lahare, and was now in
attendance on the Rajah.

t “X was pressed,” wrote Metcalfe, *to way distinctly whether
the demands of the British Government were meant to ‘be made
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The object of this preliminary eonference was plainly
to sound Metcalfe,. But the eouncillors retired carrying
with them nothing that was Likely to soothe the appre-
hensione of their chief, And when, at Jast, on the fol-
lowing day, the British Envoy met Bunjeet himself, all
that the wily Sikh could do was ta repeat oft-refuted
&rguments, and to put unprofitable questions. The Rajah
asked why we called upon him to withdraw from the left
bank of the Sutlej—why we demanded that he should
restore the places he bad already captured? And Met-
<alfe answered plainly and firmly, with undeniable logic,
that the British Government intended to take those prin-
eipalities uncer its protection—and how could they be
protected when the REajah threatened them with. his
armies, or had absolutely brought them under his rule?
But still a decisive answer was not to be elicited. In
general terms the Envoy was told that an arrangement
wonld be made honourable to both nations ; but Metcalfe
saw plainly that no arrangement was likely to be made
without an appeal to arms.

amicably ar not. I replied that that question waa answered by so
many circumstances that I wondered it could be pat Why, I
asked, was I here? Why had the Governor-General addressed a
friendly letter to the Rajah? Why had I given in a long explana-
tory note? Why had the Mahs-rajah expressed his satisfaction at
the eontents of “these commuuications, and observed that fiiendly
remonsirances could not be produced without regard? Of course, I
said, the demands that I bad presented were made with fiiendly
intentions. In order to prevent the construction that might be
assumed that my consent would be obtained to a protracted dis-
eussion of the respective rights of the British Government and the
Rajak of Lahore to political supremacy in the country between the
Jumnaa snd the Sutlej, and to eonvince all present that it wonld be
in vain to agitate thas question, I declared decidedly that with
respect. to the demands that X had made, I must persist in them,
and could not relax in any degree: thatthenrdemd’my(}overn-
ment were final, and thas ¥ would not excreise any discretion ™
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A crisis, indeed, was now fast approaching. It has
been seen that the British Government had announced to-.
Metcalfe its intention of moving forward a body of troops
to take post upon the Sutlej. This announcement had not
yet been made to Runjeet ; but the time for a full reve-
lation of our intentions seemed now to have arrived. It
was doubtful, indeed, whether rumours of the threatened
movement had not already reached the Sikh ruler, for he
was collecting troops, seemingly in anticipation of &
coming struggle. It appeared expedient, therefore, to
Metcalfe to warn .the military authorities of the proba-
bility of resistance being offered to the demands of the
British Government. So he wrote a letter to the Com-
mander-in-Chief, setting forth, distinctly and emphatically,
the grounds on which he based his belief in the likelihood
of a speedy collision. Having despatched this letter, his
next care was to intimate distinctly and decisively to
Runjeet Singh that the British Government purposed,
without further delay, to advance a military force to the
banks of the Sutlej. The game was .now nearly played
out. On the 22nd of December the British Envoy and
the Sikh Rajah were again face to face. The communi-
cation was made. Runjeet told his attendant chiefs to
consider of the matter ; and, under the influence of self~
control such as he rarely exercised, fell into friendly
conversation.with the English gentleman. Several ques-
tions were asked concerning the British detachment—what
would be its strength ?—where it would be posted-—
whether at Loodhianah, or what other place? To all of
this Metcalfe answered, that the details of the movement
were matters of future consideration, A hint from the
consulting chiefs here drew the Rajah aside. - A brief
conversation between them ensued. The Runjeet, having
ordered "Uzeezoodeen to state his opinions to the British
Envoy, left the room, mounted his horse, and with what
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appeared to Metcalfe “ surprising levity,” began prancing
about the court-yard of his residence.* There was good
reason aflerwards to think that this was less an indication
of levity than of the strong feeling which was working
within him.

Whilst Runjeet was caracolling about the court-yard,
Uzeezoodeen delivered his master’s message. It wag not &
conciliatory one; and it was not given in a conciliatory
manner, The Rajah, he said, had flattered himself that
the intercourse between the two states would be conduncive
to his welfare ; but instead of this, in reply to a friendly
application, he had received a message of so extraordinary
a nature, that he did not know what to make of it. What
was the use, it was asked, of a small post on the Sutlej ?——
surely such a demonstration would not deter the French from

* Metcalfe’s words are: “QOn a hint from the party aside, the
Rajah withdrew to join them; and after a consultation, sent them
to me with a message, and proceeded himself with surprising levity
to mount his horse and prance about the court-yard of his resi-
dence.” I am the more particular in giving the exact words of the
writer, inasmuch as that this story has been variously narrated,
and has obtained, perhaps, a wider currency than any other
incident in Metcalfe’s life. The current version of the story is this,
which I find in a leading article of the Times newspaper, written
in December, 1839: “ When these terms were propounded to him,
Runjeet, after & short and futile attempt to overbear the British
Ambassador, rushed out of an spartment, an elevated summer-
room, in which the conference had taken place. and in an incredibly
short space of time, Sir Charles Metcalfe saw him on horseback, at
the head of his immediate’ saite, galloping in the most furions
mannér over the plain below., When he had thus digested his
spleen, he returned, and after telling the Envoy that be always
took this extraordinary anodyne under extreme vexation, expressed
his determination to submit implicitly to the reguirements of the
British Government.” This story is s0 much more striking_and
picturesque than that which I have given in the text, that I have
been really sorry to substitute the homelier version which I have
found in Metcalfe’s own handwriting, written on the day after the
incident occurred.—[See also Appendix.}
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advancing. To this Metealfe replied, that all idea of deter-
ring the French was out of the question—that he had made
eertain distinct propositions ta the Rajaky, and that he called
for an. answer equally distinct. The decided tone in which
he spoke was not without its effect on the Sikh councillors.
Runjeet had by this time dismounted and seated himself in
another chamber, where Uzeezoodeen and: his'associates
waited upan him with Metcalfe's message. What. passed
there can enly be conjectured. The consultation was a long
one ; and when the Ministers returned, their bearing was
strangely altered. They spoke now with an affable manner,
and in a softened tone. - They said that the plan of advancing
a British detachment to the banks of the Sutlej would not be
opposed by the Rajah, if it were done in concert with him,
and in a friendly manner. The answer was, that if the
requisitions of the Dritish Government, from which the
Envoy wounld o no acconnt recede, were complied with,
everything would Be done in a friendly manner. Again
thé councillors sought the Rajah; and again, after a
protracted consultation, they returned to the room where
Metcalfe was quietly awaiting them. The answer they
brought: back was more satisfactory than he could have
anticipated even -in his most sanguine moments. The
Eajah, they said, was confident of our friendly intentions,
and agreed ta all our proposala. “And so,” wrote Met-
calfe, “the demands that: I had presented, respecting
whick I had not been able for a fortuight to procure
the least ansyrer, were now treated as if they were mere
triffes with which there was not the smallest difficulty
in complying.”

But. these were mere idle words—vague generalities
meaning- nothing. On the same: evening a deputation
waited on Metcalfe to inform him that the proposal to
advance troops to the Sutlej was so extraordinary, that the
Rajah could not give any definite answer to the requisitions
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of the British Government until he'had consulied with his
chiefs; that he therefore purposed to proceed on the fol-
lowing day to Umritsur; and that he requested the British
Envoy to follow kim there. At this, Metcalfe, wontedly so
calm in his outward demesnour, fired wp with becoming
indignation. He thought, with the prophet of old, that he
# did well Yo be angry.” He dencunced the conduot of
the Rajah as mere trickery to gain time——trickery often
zrepeated and now well understood. He declared that such
condurt was disrespectful in the extreme to the British
Government ; that if the Rajah determined to march, in
the midst of the negotiation, he eould not control himg
but that against such a proceeding he earnestly and
indignantly protested.

The remonstrance was mot without its effect. The
precipitate movement to Umritsur was abandoned ; and
the negotiations were resumed. But there was still the old
gystem of chicanery at work—still the old excuses and the
old delays. Foiled in his attempts either to overbear or
over-reach Metcalfe in oral discussion, Runjeet now resorted
to epistolary communication. First of all he attempted 4
compromyise; but the young English statesman was resolute
to submit to no half-measures. He ocalted for-the fulfil-
ment of the requisitions of the British Government without
stint or reservation; and his mnshaken firmness ere long
achieved the desired victory. Little by little, Runjeet, not
withont fresh displays of procrastination and evasian,
yielded to the demands of the British Bovoy. He saw
that the announcement of the intended advance of &
British detachment was not an empty menace. Metcalfe,
it has been seen, was in communication with the Com-
mander-in-Chief, whose head-quarters were in Saharun-
pore; and under imstructions from his Excellency, 3
detachment had been ordered for service on the banks -of
the Sutlej. This detachment was placed nnder the com-
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mand of the fittest man in the army that could have been
nominated for the performance of such a duty. It was
placed under the command of Colonel David Ochterlony.
Early in January it was ordered to advance.

The first service to be performed by this force was the
expulsion of the Sikh troops from Umballah, where & con-
siderable body had been for some time posted. But the
Rajah promised to withdraw his men to his own side of the
river, and desired Metcalfe to consider it as done. DBut
performance in this case, as in others, lagged far behind
promise ; and Metcalfe, weary of all this falschood and
fraud, came to the determination that the time had come
for his departure from Runjeet’s court, if the state of the
military preparations on the frontier seemed to warrant so
decided a step. But it was now the policy of both parties
to temporise. Runjeet was collecting troops, and eager to
gain time. General Hewitt was making his dispositions,
and eager also to gain time. Metcalfe was recommended
to temporise ; and by delay the war was averted. Awed
by the resolute bearing of his antagonists, the Sikh
began slowly and reluctantly to fulfil the conditions
demanded by the British Government. On the 6th of
January, one of Lunjeet’s chiefs was despatched to Um-
ballah, to recall the troops posted there, and to make
restitution of the place to its rightful owner.

In consequence of this, negotiations were resumed at
Unritsur, to which place the court and the mission quietly
proceeded in the middle of January. Presuming on what
he had done in the way of concession, Runjeet demanded
that now a treaty of general amity should be concluded.
But Metcalfe pointed out that other conditions were yet to
be fulfilled ; that if Umballah were. restored, Kheir and
Fureed-kote were not ; and he demanded the concession of
all the territory acquired since the arrival of .the mission,
It would take long to tell how Runjeet promised and broke
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his promises ; and how from day to day the restitution of
these places was delayed; how the Sikh continued to
demand a treaty, and how the British envoy called for the
fulfilment of the conditions necessary to the attainment of
what he sought. The month of January passed away; and
the month of February passed away. Military prepara-
tions on both sides were advancing; but still Metcalfe
remained at Runjeet's court—still the negotiations appeared
every morning to be approaching a favourable issue, and
still every evening it was clear that these appearances had
been most delusive.®

It was whilst affairs were in this state that an incident
oceurred which awakened Runjeet to a sense of the danger
which he would incur by a collision with the British
troops. At the end of February the annual festival of the
Mohurrum was celebrated by the Mahomedan sepoys of
Metcalfe’s escort. It is the custom of the followers of the
Prophet to spend upon this great occasion eomsiderable
sums of money on the construction and decoration of
gigantic cars, called tazeeahs, which are paraded about for
several days in a noisy, obtrusive manner, o the great
delight of all true Mahomedans, who pride themselves upon

* Among other complaints that Runjeet made, was one to the
effect that Mefcalfe treated him like a jageerdar (or pensioner).
« He (Runjeet) observed (to Hafoozoodeen) ox my note, that when
he made any proposal, I replied that I had no authority; but when
I brought forward my own proposals, I issued my commands ta
him a8 authoritatively as if he were conly a jageerdar.”—* Consi-
dering.” wrote Metcalfe, “ the efforts which I have always made to
conciliate the Rajah—considering the patience and forbearance
which I have exercised from first to last in my communications
with’ him—considering that I have been barely acquiited by my
own government of the fanlt of carrying moderation to 8 disgraceful
length—and considering, moreover, that the late proceedings at this
Court have put my patience to a severer trial than it had ever
before undergone, I did not expect this charge from the Rajah.’—w
[Mr. Metealfe to Mr. Edmonstone, Janxary 4, 1809.]
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the grandeur of the ceremony, and are little disposed to be
stinted in their demdnstrations, Now the Mussulman

sepoys of Metcalfe's escart, according to the custom of their
sect, made a tazeeah at the appointed time, and yaradei b3
about, with the nsual ceremonies, in the neighhourhood of
the mission camp. For three or four days this went on
without interruption; and then Metcalfe 'was informed that
the display of the tazeeah gave dire offence to the priests
of the great temple of Umnritsur. Had he known this
before, he would have prohibited the celebration of the
festival, however unpopular the prohibition might have
been to all the Mahomedans in his camp. As it wag—
as the ceremonies were now mnearly over—be contented
himself with gtving orders that they should be performed for
the future in the most noiseless and unobtrusive manner,
and that the tazeeah should not be any more paraded about
in public. Al this was done in concert with Runjeet
Singh, who condemned the bigotry of the priests ; and it
‘was hoped that no evil consequences would arise from this
periodical display of Mahomedan zeal. “I did every-
thing that could be done,” said Metcalfe, reporting the cir-
cumstances to Government, “ to prevent any offence being
taken, except destroying the tazeeah itself. That could
not be done without exciting great indignation among the
Mahomedans ; and I had a right to expect that wiihin the
precincts of the British camp my attendants would be
protected by the Government in the free exercise of their
religion.”

Still {further to prevent the possihility of a collision, it
was agreed between Metcalfe and Runjeet that the former
should restmain the sepoys from going into the town, and
that the latter should prevent the people from entering the
mission camp. The English gentleman performed his part
of the compact; the Sikh ruler did not. On the morning
of the 25th of February a party of religious fanaticg—
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half-soldiers, half-devotees—known as Akalis, marched out
of the town, uithdrums.beatingandoolmxrsﬁying, fal-
loged by & sxmgmg rabble, intent upon the plunder of the
British mission. As they neared cur camp, the escort,
headed by Czptain Popham, was drawn up in front of it,
whilst Metcalfa sent out some persons to parley with the
excited Sikhs. Still, however, they continued to advance
in the same menacing attitude, and presently opened a
brisk fire on the Dritish camp. It took immediite effect.
©Qur men were dropping in the ranks, There was now no
time to be lost. Popham proposed that he should advance
upon his assailants; and with Metcalfe's sanction he attacked
them. The movement was a spirited and a successful one.
The Sikhs were seen flying in confusion, and seeking shelter
under the walls of the town.

The disturbance was immediately known to Runjeet, who
rode out to the British camp, and exerted himself to quell
the tumult. But all his endeavours eould not quiet the
fanatics. A party of Akalis again assembled and marched
out of the town, threatening another attack on the mission.
During the rest of the day, and all through the night, they
eontinned in force upon the plaia ; so Runjeet sent out a
body of his own troops to protect the British camp from
farther outrage. On the following day it was removed
to a greater distance from the town, where it remained
unplundered and unmolested, whilst the ceremonies of the
Moharrum were prosecuted t6 the end in the quiet manner
originally intended.

The blood that was shed upon this oceasion was not shed
in vain. Runjeet, who had before seen our sepoys in the
exercise of mimic war, now saw them in the stern realities
of action. Ha Jearnt, for the first time, what was their
temper-—what was their steadiness, what their discipline in
actual warfare. This little handful of British soldiers had
ronted a vastly superior body of Sikbs ; and Bunjeet began
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to ask hjmself how, if the people of Hindostan, drilled in
the English fashion, could do such things, .the English
themselves must fight ; and how it would fare with himyif
he were to meet many thousands of themr on the banks of
the Sutlej, supported by their far-reaching guns.

So, although this disturbance of course afforded a pre-
text for some further evasions and delays, Runjeet, beset
by obstinate doubts and painful self-questionings, soon
came to the conclusion that a war with the Feringhees
was an event not much to be desired. But still it was
not in the nature of the man to proceed to the performance
of his past promises in a plain, straightforward manner.
The old shifts, however, could not serve him much longer..
Our military preparations were advancing; and already
our attitude was an imposing one. Ochterlony had taken
post on the Sutlej, and had issued a proclamation, declar-
ing all the Sikh states upon the left bank of the river to
be under British protection.* A strong body of troops,
under General St, Leger, was ready to move forward to
his support. Nor was it only his confidence in these
military preparations which, at this time, impelled Met-
calfe 10 assume a bolder tone in all his negotiations. The
great object for which he had been despatched to Lahore
had now ceased to exist, The whirligig of Time bhad
\¥endered an anti-Gallican alliance withi the rulers of the
Punjaub a matter of small concern to the British-Indian
Government.t It little mattered now whether Runjeet

* The proclamation bears date February 9, 1809.

t These altered circumstances were duly announced to Runjeet.
Whriting, subsequently, a letter of recapitulation, Metcalfe said:
“ Immediately after T had the honour of receiving your despatch of
the 23rd of January, I informed Runjeet Singh, at & conference
which I had with him, that T had been instructed to intimate to
him that anthentic intelligence had been received of the French
having suffered repeated defeats in Europe from his Majesty’s
armies and those of his allies; and of their being in embarrassments,
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were our enemy or our friend. From the path of the
British Envoy this change in the state of our European
polmcs cleared away a jungle of difficulties and perplexi-
ties. He had now only to support the. dignity of the great
nation which he represented ; and he was not slow to
recommend the most decided measures, even to the extreme
one of the invasion of the Punjaub. It was with no small
delight that he flung behind him the thought of all further
compromises and concessions, and prepared to give the
signal for the immediate commencement of war.

Bu! awed by the proximity of an event which must
have overwhelmed him in disaster and disgrace, and for
ever checked his career of ambition, Runjeet was now
fulfilling slowly and reluctantly the behests of the British
Government. In the early part of March, Kheir was
restored to its legitimate owners; and now the restitution
of Fureed-kote alone remained. A series of incidents of
the most trivial character delayed the accomplishment of
this; but it was plain to Metcalfe that the Rajah really
designed to fulfil his promise, though he was thwarted by
the trickery or the contumacy of those who, perhaps,
desired to embroil him in a war with the Dritish. In
January he had talked vauntingly of discussing the resti-
tution of Fureed-kote with his chiefs, at the head of his
army on the banks of the Sutlej. But he was now, in
March, again abandoning himself to pleasure, and rather
suffering by his remissness, than really designing or desiring,
the delays which obstructed the fulfilment of his promise.
whichk would render impracticable the prosécution of those hostile
projects againsi this country, against which it was the object of my
misgion to provide—that, consequently, there was no necessity for
the conclusion of the treaty which I had formerly proposed, or for

any specific engagements between the two states, who were already
bound by the relations of amity and friendship.” The announce-

ment had not much effect upon Runjeet, Metcalfe was obliged to

acknowledge that “the Rejah did not express the disappointment
which he had expected.”
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From this pleasant forgetfulnesss Metcalfe roused him
by a missive, which flashed the sunlight into his sleeping
face. ¢ The Maha-rajah,” he wrote to him on the 26th
of March, *is revelling in delight in the Shalimar gardens,
unmindful of the duties -of friendship. What friendship
requires is not done; nor is it doing. I entertained a
great desire and hope that the relations of friendship might
be firmly established through my mediation. I have
nothing now remaining in my power but to require leave
to depart. I, therefore, in the name of the British Govern«
ment, require my dismissal, and- trnst that the Maha-rajah
will furnish me with & proper escort to conduct me to the
British armies, and prevent any aggression on the part of
the Maha-rajah’s army on the way.”

To this Runjeet replied that the delights of the garden
of friendship far exceeded the delights of a garden of xoses
—that the demand of the British Envoy for an escort
would certainly -excite great surprise—and that what he
desired should jmmediately be done. And steps were
certainly takento do it. But just at that point of consum-
mation, new difficulties supervened. ‘A dispute arose
ahout the grain in the fort; and the party sent to hand
over the place to its old legitimate owners, retired without
accomplishing their object. But Runjeet saw that any
further obstructions would work grievously to his detri-
ment. Metcalfe had written to General St Leger desiring
him to expel the vecupants of Fureed-kote, :and hinted to
the Rajah that there was yet time to prevent this display
of force. Throughout the whole of these protracted
negotiations, mo such potential argument had been wnsed,
though Runjeet mow protested against it. “I must
cbserve,” he wrote with a hypocritical nafveté which is
very diverting, *t{hat when matters are gettled in an
amicable and friendly way, to talk of armies and such
things is neither necessary wor pleasing to my friendly
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disposition.” But the ®talk of armies™ effected at once
what might, by dallying in the “garden of friendship,”
have been long delayed; and on the 5th of April, Metcalfe
wrote to the Chief Secretary, “¥ have the honour to
inform you, that Fureed-kote was finally surrendered. to
the right owners on the 2nd instant.”

Se now, after long delays and repeated evasions—after a
systematic display of the most pitiful tortuosity, which
now excited the anger and now the contempt of Metcalfe,
and rendered necessary the exercise nct only of consum-
mate ability and address, but of the highest patience and
forbearance—all that the British Government demanded
was done by the Sikh ruler. And then came the question
of the treaty. Whilst on the banks of the Sutlej time
was being wasted in the manufacture of difficulties about
the surrender of Fureed-kote, on the banks of the Hooghly
Lord Minto and his councillors were discussing the expe-
diency of concluding engagements of general amity with
RBunjeet Singh, At first it seemed advisable ta them, now
that the danger of European invasion had passed away,
not to encumber the Government with any treaties which
might embarrass their fofure proceedings. But they sub-
sequently considered, that in the event of all our requisi-
tions being complied with. by the Sikh chief, it might be
in some sort an act of justice to him to grant the
which Metcalfe had led him to expect, and which he urged
the Supreme Government to allow;* whilst at the same

* This intention was first announced to Metcalfe in a’private
letter from Mr: Edmonstone, dated Marchr 14, 1808: “Your letter
af the 15tk of February was received on the 11th, and i was yesr
terday resolved to- grant a fresty to Runjeet Singh, of general
amity, containing, however, some conditions respecting his troops
on this side the Sutlgj. I had occasion to draw up & memorandum
on the subject, and to state in substance the same argumenta which

I found so ably stated in your letter; No. 69, which did not arrive
til} to-day.



220 THE MISSION TO LANORE,

time no great harm could result from it if it were unen-
cumbered with inconvenient details, In accordance with
these more mature considerations, instructions were sent
on the 13th of March to the British Envoy, giving him
authority to conclude a treaty with the Rajah, and forward-
ing to him the following draft:—

% Draft of a Treaty between the British Government and the Rajak
of Lahore.

“ Whereas certain differences which had arisen between the
British Government and the Rajah of Lahore have been happily
and amicably adjusted, and both parties being anxious to main-
tain the relations of perfect amity and concord, the following
articles of treaty, which shall be binding on the heirs and suc-
cessors of the two parties, have been concluded, by the agency of
C. T. Metcalfe, Esq., on the part of the British Government, and
of { J, on the part of Rajah Runjeet Singh.*

% Art, 1, Perpetual friendship shall subsist between the British
Government and the State of Lahore; the latter shall be con-
sidered, with respect to the former, fo be on the footing of the
most favoured powers, and the British Government will have no
cohcern with the territories and subjects of the Rajah to the north-
ward of the river Sutlej.t

« Art, 2, The Rajah will never maintain in the territory which
fe occupies [occupied by him and his dependents]} on the lefy

* In the preamble of the ratified treaty it runs: “By Rajah
Runjeet Singh on his own part, and by the agency of Charles
Theophilus Metcalfe, Esquire, on the part of the British Govern-
ment.”

1 In the original draft of the treaty in Mr. Edmonstone’s hand-
writing, there is this eddition to the first article; “ And on the
other hand the Rajah renounces all claims to sovereignty over the
Sikh chiefs to the sonthward of that river,.and all right of inter-
ference in their concerns.” JBut this passage was subsequently
erased; it was of too general a character; for the Rajah, as the
next article intimates, still held certain tracts of territory, acquired
Dbefore the arrival of the mission, on the left or southern bank of
the Sutlej.

1 The words in brackets were inserted by Metcalfe in the place
of those printed in italics,
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bank of the river Sutlej more troops than are necessary for the
internal duties of that territory, nor comnmit or suffer any encroach-
ments on the possessions or rights of the chiefs in its vicinity,

« Art 3. In the event of a violation of any of the preceding
articles, or of a departure from the rules of friendship {on the
part of either state],* this treaty shall be considered to be null and
void.

« Art. 4. This treaty, consisting of four articles, having been
settled and concludedat [ Jonthe[ ] day of
[ 11 Mr. C. T. Metcalfe has delivered to the Rajah
of Lahore a copy of the same in English and Persian, under his
peal and sigmature, and the Rajah has delivered another copy of
the same under his seal and signature, and Mr. C. T. Metcalfe
engages to procure, within the space of two months, a copy of the
game duly ratified by the Right Honourable the Governor-General
in Council, on the receipt of which hy the Rajah the present treaty
ghall be deemed complete and binding on both parties, .and the
copy of it now delivered to the Rajah shall be returned.

“N. B. EDMONSTONE,

“ Chief Secretary.”

On the receipt of this draft, all his demands having by
this time having beeri complied with, Metcalfe informed
the Rajah that he was prepared to conclude a freaty of
general amity with him. Runjeet received the announce-
ment with undisguised delight. The treaty, he said, would"
silence and shame those who had been endeavouring to
persuade him that the British Government entertained
hostile designs against the Sikh territories. There was no
room now for any further chicanery. Runjeet had nothing
to gain by delay; so, on the 25th of April, 1809, this
treaty was concluded at Umritsur; the blanks in the
descriptive title being filled up with the name of Runjeet
Singh himself.

* These words were inséried by Metcalfe at the request of the
suspicious Rajah. It is remarkable that Cunningham, in his history
of the Sikhs, gives the treaty, as ratified, without Metcalfe’s in-~
sertions, which Government approved and adopted.

+ At Umritsur, on the 25th of February.
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The business of the mission was now fully accom-
plished;*® so Metcalfs prepared to return to the British
provinces. “Y have this day,” he wrote on the 2nd of
May, made my first march from Umritsur towards the
British territories, having finally ‘taken leave of Runjeet
Singh. The departure of the mission took place with
every essential mark of attention and respect on the part
of the Rajah. He visited me en the 28th ultimo, and
received an entertainment at my tents preparatory to our
separation. X visited him on the 30th, accompanied by
the gentlemen attached to the mission, ‘and took leave
publicly with the usual ceremonies. DBoth these meetings
wera eonvivial and plessant; and the Rajah’s behaviour
was particularly friendly and agreeable. At his particulaz
request T remained yesterday at Umritsur, and saw him
once more in a private interview, at which his conversation

* * If may be mentioned here that Government had originally
intended that the advanced detachment should be withdrawh from
the bankg of the Sutlej. But on the earnest representations botht
of Metcalfe and Ochterlony the occupation of Loodhianah was
eontinued, and from that time it became a frontier post. It may
be. doubtéd, however, whether this would have happened but for
an accidental circumstance which eaused Government to delay the
withdrawal of the troops. Writing to Metcal{s privately an the
28th of May, Mr. Edmonstone says: * We have heard of the defeadp
of the King of Cabul’s army i Cashmere, and anticipated Mr,
Elphinstone’s awkward situation. You will learn from Mr. Seton
what has been done at Peshawur, and what has been erdered.
This is an unfortunate turn of affairs, but the advantages of tha
ission. will not'have been entirely lost. I have written officially
to head-quarters about leaving the detachment at Yoodhianah
until Elphinsgtone shall have passed, as its presence may poesibly
countenance his journey through the Punjaub ; although I should
think the Commander-in-Chief would not remove the post until
he heard of the ratification of the treaty, notwithstanding the inti-
mation contained in nyy Inst; Ietter that the conclusion of the treaty
would afford a favourable opportunity for the removal of the
detachment.”’—[MS, Carrespondence.]
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was principally composed of expressions of anxiety for the
permanent maintenance of friendship between the twe.
states.”

At this fime Runjeet Singh ‘was in the,very fush and
vigour of life. Xe lived for thirty years aflerwards; but
the treaty which he and Metcalfe signed at Umritsur ‘was
never violated during his supremacy in the Punjaub either
by the English or the §ikha. TFor a little while doubts
and misgivings on either side may have overshadowed the
relations subsisting between them; but confidence was
poon established, and Runjeet learned to zespect the nation
which could send forth such representatives as the youthful
Envoy, who had measured himself with him so bravely
and so adroitly during ihe six months spent at his court.
Tt is hard to say in how great a degree the long ‘peace,
which was maintained between two warlike and extendmg-
states 'in provocatory promty to each other, iz to be
attributed ‘to the firmness And address so canspicnous in
she dealings of young Metcalfe with the wily and ynscre-
pulous ruler of the Sikhs. But it wonld be nnposmble to
Tead this account of the first myssion 3o Lahore, imrper-
foctly as it sets forth all its incidents,* -without appre-
w‘xtn}g the difficulties with which he had to contend, snd

* "The contents of ‘this chapter are derived from 2 vast mass of
eorrespondence, which might have filled some volumaes, principaily
Metealfe's parrstive letters, by no means. diffosely written—angd
although this chapter has extended to a length which is dispro-
portionate to the space of time over which the history -extends, I
have been compelled to exclude much which would have illnstrated
both the difficulties of Metcalfe’s position, the address with which
he encountered them, snd the strange charscter and conduct of the
men whe, perhaps of all the princes and chiefs of India, made the
name most familiar to English ears. Yt was during these six
memorable months that Metcalfe’s reputation was made. This
wes, indeed, the turning-point of his career. He went aftcrwards
straight on to fame and forttme. .And the biographer can hardly,
therefore, lay too great a stress on such & passage of his life,
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the consummate ability with whick he overcame them.
Ile had numbered. at this time but. twenty-three years.
Yet the dreams of the Eton cloisters were already realised.
He had * prescribed terms;” he bad “ concluded & peace.”®
What would he bave accomplished at this stage of his
career if he had returned to England, and entered “ Lord
Grenville’s office 2"

It need hardly ;be added, that Metealfe's conduct at
Lahore was approved and applauded by his employers.
He was sustained and encouraged throughout by the
praises of the Supreme Government, conveyed to him
in the letters of the Chief Secretary; and he said that-
he was abundantly rewarded. In private and public
letters alike, his zeal and ebility were warmly com-
mended. One sample of each will suffice. Writing
privately to Metcalfe on -the 27th of December, Mr.
Edmonstone said, “I. can add nothing material to the
expressiong already conveyed to you in an official form
of the favourable sentiments which Government entertains
of ybgr general conduct in a situation perhaps as delicate,
difficult,” and responsible as any publi¢ agent was ever
placed in. I can assure you that Government is perfectly
satisfied of the difficulties and embarrassments which
encompassed you, and admits that the course of cofiduct
which you pursued was countepanced by the spirit of
your instructions . . . . Upon the whole, your mind may
enjoy all the satisfaction~—a satisfaction which you, indeed,
must amply merit, that can arise from the conviction that
Government entertains the bighest opinion of your zeal,
ability, judgment, and exertions.” And when the work
was done and the treaty was exchanged, these commenda~
tions took official shape, and, taking a retrospect of all tha
past circumstances of the mission, the same high functionary
thus finally announced to the departing Envoy the admira-

*# Sce ante, page 8.



APPLATSE OF THE GOVERNMEST. 223

tion with which the Supreme Government contemplated
his entire conduct: “During the course of your arduous
ministry at the Court of Lahore, the Governor-General in
Council bas repeatedly had occasion to record his testi-
mony of your zeal, ability and address in the execution of
the duties committed to your charge. His Lordship in
Council, however, deems it an obligation of justice, at the
close of your mission, generally to declare the high sense
which be entertains of the distinguished merit of your
services and exertions in a situation of more than ordinary
importance, difficulty and responsibility, to convey to_yon
the assurance of Lis high approbation, and td signify to
you that the general tenar of your conduct in the arduous
pegotiations in which you have been engaged has established
a peculiar claim to public applause, respect, and esteem.™

YOol. L I
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CHAPTER. IX.
[1809~-1811],
TRANSITION YEARS.

Approbation of Lord Minto—Metcalfe’s Visit to the Presidency~
Meeting with: his. Brother~~Appointment. to the- Deputy-
Secretaryship-Voyage to Madras—Return to Caloutiaes
Appointroent to the Residency at Scindiah’s Court—~Lctters,
from Lord Mihto—~Translation to the Delhi Residency--The
Foundation of Qharles Metcalfe’s Fortune,

Tue admiration which Charles Metcalfe’s conduct at the
Sikh Court had excited in the breast of the Governor-
General was not now to be suffered to expend itself in a
few stereotyped phrases of official commendation. It was
not a mere formal demonstration ; it was a living reality,
and was likely to become an abiding one. Lord Minto
desired to know the man who had done such great things
for his government. He was interested in the personal
character of the young statesman, and was eager to com-
municate with him face to face. So it bappened that
Metcalfe hgd scarcely reached his old home at Delhi, when
o private letter from the chief secretary came with the
intimation that the Governor-General desired to see him
at the Presidency. “I am authorised to inform you,”
wrote Mr. Edmonstone, “ that you are perfectly at liberty
to proceed to Calcutta. The Governor-General, indeed, is
desirous of being personally acquainted with you, and of
having an opportunity of conversing with you on the
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affairs in which you have been so long and arduously
engaged. But it would be proper that you should apply
officially for leave to come to the Presidency. You need
not, however, await the answer. This intimation you
may consider as sufficient authority. Favour me with
a line of application on your receipt of this, and set off
as soon &s it may suit your convenience.”* Little time
was lost after the receipt of thiy letter; Metcalfe was
soon upon his way to Calcutta. There were others whom
he desired to see there beside the noble lord at the head
of the Government. Theophilus Metcalfe, with his wife
and little daughter, had come round from China to Calcutta
in the early part oft.beyear,forthebeneﬁtoers.
Metcalfe's health, and Charles was eager now to embrace
his brother and sister and make the acquaintance of his
little niece. Public and private considerations, therefore,
both urged him to make all speed to the Presidency. He
had reached Delhi on his retwrn from the Punjaub on the
bth of June. The 8th of July found him in Calcutta.

But before the journey had been accomplished Lord
Minto had ceased to disturb himself about the countries
lying between the banks of the Sutlej and the base of the
Hindoo-Koosh. Dangers more pressing and more palpable
than any that had been looked for in the direction of
Central Asia, were now threatening the British-Indian
Government from the southern part of the Indian penin-
sula. The coast army was in a state of feverish excite-
ment —-almost, indeed, upon the borders of. absolute
rebellion. It was not a revolt of the soldiers, but of the
officers of the Madras army. The abolition of certain
privileges by which the higher grades of the service
bad been long suffered to enrich themselves, had caused
great dissatisfaction, which subsequent circumstances had

* MS. Correspondence, Calcuita, May 28, 1809,
12
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aggravated, until the civil and military authorities were
in a state of open and violent antagonism. The power of
the Governor, Sir George DBarlow, was set at naught;
seditious meetings were held: inflammatory resolutions
were passed; and the entire Government of the Presi-
dency, under the convulsions that had arisen, secmed to
be hovering upon the extreme verge of dissolution.

In this state of affairs it appeared to Lord Minto that
his presence upon the scene of these disturbances was
necessary to their extinction. So he determined at once
to proceed to Madras. But he did not forget' Charles
Metcalfe, whom he had invited to visit him in Calcutta.
It occurred to the Governor-General that he could not,
upon this painful expedition to the coast, take with him any
one more likely to be of service to him than the sometime
Envoy to Lahore. So, on the 15th of July, the Chief
Secretary wrote to Metcalfe that the Governor-General in
Council had been *pleased to appoint him Deputy-
Secretary to the Right Honourable the Governor-General
during his lordship’s absence from the Presidency.”*

After a brief sojourn in Calcutta, rendered interesting
to him by the presence of Theophilus and his fumily,
Charles Metcalfe, accompanying Mr. Edmonstone, left the
Presidency on the 5th of August, to proceed down the
river to join his ship. On the 9th, the Governor-General
embarked. The voyage from Calcutta to Madras occupies
a week or a month, according to the season. In the month
of August, when a vessel bound for the southern coast
meets the south-west monsoon in the Bay of Bengal,
the passage is seldom made under the latter period of
time. So it was not until the 11th of September that,
after a tedious, zig-zag voyage, rendered comfortless by

* His salary was fixed at 2,000 rupees a month-—the same
amount that he had drawn on the Lahore Mission.
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continual rain and baffling winds, Lord Minto was enabled
to announce his arrival at Madras
Of this visit to the Southern Presidency the records are

but scanty. The ministerial capacity in which Charles
Metcalfe acted at this time afforded no opportunities for
independent action, and the incidents of the Madras dis-
turbances of 1809 scarcely belong to the career of the
Bengal civilian, His residence on the .coast was not
d.istasteful to him. “You know Madras well,” he wrote
to his aunt, Mrs. Monson, on the 13th of November.
“In some respects I like it better than Calcutta.,” He
appears to have spent some time in Mr. Cassamaijor’s
house,* and to have greatly enjoyed the society of a family
that has never been wanting in amiable and attractive
members. At the close of the year he visited Mysore;}
and at the commencement of 1810, having returned to
Madras, he received the afflicting intelligence of the death
of his sister-in-law, to whom he was sincerely attached.
“ Poor Theophilus,” he wrote on the 10th of February
from the Ameerbaugh, where he was residing with the
Governor-General, “has lost his darling wife, who was
really one of the most sensible, the most amiable, the
most virtnous of women. I received accounts of this
afflicting event about a month ago. Theophilus goes
home-with his sweet little daughter, and will be with
you almost as soon as this letter.” There was no more

* Mr. Cassamaijor was at this time a member of the Madras
Council.

t He went there, I believe, to visit his old friend Arthur Cole,
T have before me a letter from Lord Minto to Metcalfe, dated
¢ Madras, December 14, 1809,” and endorsed, “ Answered from
Mysore, December, 1809.” In this letter the Governor-General
says: “I hope you have by this time, afforded another proof of
your diplomatic powers by making my peace with Mr. Cole, and
that he will not have proved implacable in the hands of one whe
gained the tender affections of Runjeet Singh.”’
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observable, ag there was no more beautiful trait in Charles
Metcalfe's character, from very early boyhood to the close
of his career, than the depth of his sympathjes—
¢ He could afford to suffer
With those whom he saw suffer,”
And when he wrote strongly of the afflictions of others, it
was because he felt them strongly himself,

On the 12th of May, Lord Minto held a farewell levce
at the Ameerbaugh, and afterwards crossed the surf, with
his suite, on his way to the Modeste frigate, which was to
convey him to Calcutta.® The monsoon was now all in
his favour, and after a pleasant passage of a week's
duration, he ascended the steps of the Chandpaul Ghat,
the chief landing-place of Calcutta, and was welcomed
back by the members of council and the chief officers
of the staff. A very few days after this, Charles Metcalfe
left Calcutta by dawk, on his way to DBanda, whence he
was to take the shortest route to Scindiah’s camp. IHe had
been appointed to act as Resident at the Court of Dowlut
Rao Scindiah, in the place of Mr. Greeme Mercer, who had.
signified his wish to be relieved from the duties of his
office, in order that he might proceed to England by the
first ship of the ensuing season.

It was with no great elation of spirit that Metcalfe
travelled northward to join his appointment. And there
was nothing in the environments of the Residency to give
him pleasure after his arrival. It is true that he.had not
now, as ten years before, to pitch his camp upon a
plain, sickly with the foul odour of decaying corpses.
The court had recently been removed from Oujein to
Gwalior; and the times were as pacific as they are ever

* It would appear, however, from & memorandum in & private
account-book which I have chanced upon since this was written,

that Metcalfe lefy Madras on the 8th, and reackied Calcutts on the
15th of May”»
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wont to be in native states, where domestie anarchy is
5o often the succedaneum for foreign war. Whether it
were that there was nothing in the state of public affairs
to evoke his energies, or whether there were any personal
circumstances which rendered his sitwation disagreeable
to him, ¥ do not distinctly know ; but he spoke of it with
evident distaste in his letters to his family, and all bis
after references to it were in the same strain *

But this second residence at Scindiah’s court was not
destined to be of long continuance. At the commence-
ment of the following year (1811) an opportunity, ef
which Lord Minto was eager to avail himself, occurred
for the translation of Charles Metcalfe to the Delhi Resi-
dency. A Governor was to be found for Prince of Wales’
Island, and the appointorent was offered to Mr. Seton. In
anticipation of his acceptance of it, the Governor-General
wrote the following letter, in & style of pleasant familiarity
more complimentary to the recipient than if it had been
couched in langnage of the most laboured panegyric:

LORD MINTO TO MR METCALFE.
% Calcutta, February 20, 1811.

“ My pEAR Sir,—You may possibly have already heard, although
it is yet in the Secret Department, that an offer has been made to:
Mr. Setom of the governmend of Prince of Wales® Island ; and.
slthough it might be thought that he would consider his present:
situation the most eligible of the two, I have some reasons for sup-
posing that he will be inclined to accept the proposal. In that
event, ¥ shall with {or without) your consent, name you to the
Residency of Delhi. Iknow your martial geniis and your love

* Of the eight ornine months which Metcalfé spent at Scindial’s .
Court in 1810-11, the records areremarkably scanty in comparison
with those which illustrate all the antecedent and all the subse-
quent epochs of hia life. The deficiency i, however; of bat slight.
importance; for he was then merely in & transition-state, and
nothing eccurred which had any noticeable influence either upon
his character or his career..
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of camps; but besides that inclination must yield to duty, this
change will appear to fall in not inopportunely with some infor-
mation and some sentiments conveyed in your letter to me of the
3rd instant. If you ask my reasons for so extraordinary a choice,
I can oply say that, notwithstanding your entire ignorance of
everything connected with the business of Delhi—a city which, 1
believe, you never saw ; and with Cis and Trans-Sutlcjean affuirs,
of which you can have only read ; and notwithstanding your equal
deficiency in all other more general qualifications, I cannot find a
better name in the list of the Company’s servants; and hope,
therefore, for your indulgence on the occasion,

“I fancy that you must have given me a sly bite, for I am going
campaigning myself, and expect to embark about the 3rd or 4th of
March for Java, touching at Madras, where I hope to get on board
the Modeste. It is so difficult to anticipate the important, but
delicate points likely to arise in the prosecution of this enterprise,
and it would be so impossible to decide them satisfactorily without
information, which cannot be obtained at a distance, that I am
satisfled I should acquit myself imperfectly of this duty, if I did
not approach, or rather convey myself to the very scene of action.’
My absence cannot be shorter than gix months, and may be some-
what more. .
) “Believe me ever, my dear sir,

% Most sincerely and affectionately yours,
“ Mixto.”

After the lapse of a few days, in the interval of which
Mr. Seton’s answer had been received, Lord Minto wrote
again to Charles Metcalfe on the subject of the Delhi
Residency, in a graver and more business-like style:

LORD MINTO TO CHARLES METCALFE.
@ Calcutta, February 26, 1811,

“My pEir Sie,—I have received Mr, Seton’s answer. He
accepts the government of Prince of Wales® Island with the proviso
that the appointment is to be considered temporary, and that he
ghall be at liberty to return to Delhi when the particular emer-.
gency which now invites him to the eastward shall have passed
away. That emergency is the proposed conquest of the Dautch
scttlements in Java. But I conceive the services of Mr, Seton at
Prince of Wales’ Island will continue to be very important some
time after the object has been accomplished at Java; for, con-
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sidering the great distance of Calcuita, T confess I should wish,
that whoever is charged with the administration of our new terri-
tories, should have the benefit of communicating intermediately
with Mr. Seton, and obtaining such advice as his onfthe many
novel and delicate affairs likely to arise in the first period of our
connection with a new and extensive country. I should, therefore,
conjecture, that he may be absent from Delhi at least one year. I
dwell upon these circumstances, as you will perceive that they
aflect your situation, and that your appointment to Delhi cannot
be depended upon as so permanent a3 I understood it was likely to
be at the date of my last letter, I trust, however, that you will
feel no disinclination to accept it under the circumstances which I
have described. I am anxious that the temporary nature of the
arrangement should be known to the parties slone who are con-
cerned—I mean to Mr, Seton, and the few whose new appointments
must be understood by themselves to he temporary. I propose
that, in the event of Mr. Seton’s return to Delhi, you should resume
your present mission; that your successor (Richard Strachey)
should return to the Foreign Settlements, and so on; with the
condition, however, that if anything more eligible than your
present office should open during the interval, it shall be reserved
for you, if no particular obstacle should stand in the way.

« As I propose to sail on the 7th of March, if possible, and your
answer fo this letter cannot be received at Calcutta so soon, I shall
leave your appointment at Delhi behind me, to be published when
your acceptance arrives. It will be absolute, s you collect from
this Ietter, in form; and nothing conditional or provisional will
appear upon the face of it. If Mr. Seton should return, it will be
time enough to explain the particulars which attended your
appointment.

“J have now to thank you, my dear sir, for your friendly felici-
tations on the reduction of the French Islands ; and being assured,
a8 X am, of their sincerity, I hope you will believe that your kind
concern in thess events and in any influence they may have upon
my credit is, next to the public benefit, one of the greatest and
most sensible pleasures I experience on the occasion.

“Believe me ever, my dear sir,
“ Bincerely and affectionately yours,
“MiN10.”?

The offer was accepted. But the acceptance had been
already assumed; and before Metcalfe's answer was received,
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he had been formerly appointed to act as Besident at Delhi,
And now the Chief Secretary congratulated him on the
distinction, and intimated his belief that the new incumbent
would soon be permanently appointed to the honourable
post.

So Charles Metcalfoe proceeded to Delhi,* and Mr.
Strachey, who had accompanied Elphinstone's mission in
the capacity of secretary, was appointed Resident at
Scindiah’s court.

It was during the period embraced in this brief chapter,
that Charles Metcalfe laid the foundation of the fqrtune
which he subsequently amassed. Whilst at Madras, not
being overwhelmed with business, he determined to begin
keeping accounts of his pecuniary transactions, with unde-
viating regularity—and he determined, moreover, to save
money. With such # good intentions™ as these, the hell
of financial embarrassment is too frequently paved. All

"* The grounds of Metcalfe’s selection for thig important post
were stated officially by Lord Minto in & minute, which he recorded
under date February 25, 1811, and in which, after speaking of
Mr. Seton’s eminent serviees, he says :

¥] should be unwilling to withdraw Mr. Seton from the duties
of the Residency at Delhi which he has discharged with such
distinguished ability and success, and with such eminent advantage
to the public, if, T were not convinced that the gentleman whom I
propose to be his successor possesses qualifications which bear
strong affinity to those of Mr. Seton, and that under his super-
intendence our important interests in that quarter will continue to
be conducted with ymdiminished success.

“The gentleman whom I propose for the situation is Mr, Met-
eaMe. His Jong personal experience and agency in the political
concerns of that quarter, especially in the affairs of Lahore, and
in the actual duties of the Residency, combined with his approved
talents, judgment, and discretion, his eonciliatory manners and
firmness of character, qualify him in a peculiar degree to be the
successor to Mr, Seton; and I am persuaded that the charge of
the extensive and important affairs of that Residency eould not be
transferred to more able and efficient handa.™
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men at some period of their lives make these wise resolu-
tions ; but few have constancy to keep them. From this
time, however, Charles Metcalfe kept, I believe, without
intermission, a minute account of his receipts and disburse-
ments. He was the most liberal and most generous of men:
—but he died in possession of a fortune which would bave
creditably sustained the peerage he had won.

At the beginning of 1810, when he had just completed
his twenty-fifth year, he wrote on one of the first pages of
a new account-book—“ I commence this account with &
determination to lay by, henceforth for ever, 2 sum equal
to 1004 per mensem, to lay the foundation of a fortune, I
have 2,000 rupees per mensem. I find by calculation, that
my expenses are at present 1,200 rupees per mensem,* and
I mean to save 800==100L" The system which he
adopted -was a very simple and intelligible one ; and it is
curious to trace its working. “It is my intention,” he
wrote, % at the end of every month to enter & report on the
result displayed by the accounts of that month, in order
that I may see how far the plan I have laid down for
myself succeeds. Now, therefore, I proeeed to the financial
report for the month of February. The amount expended
in this month is as follows. . . . « But before I note it
down, I will lay down anr outline of my plan for the
examination of the resalt of each month. I take first the:
amount of my salary, which is at present 2,000 rupees..
From this I dedact the amount of all expenses that I am:
aware of having incurred. Krom the balance then lefi §
deduct 100, or 800 rupees, to form a fund which is to

* T account for this expenditure, which is by no means incon-
giderable when it js remembered that Charles Metcalfe was o
single man, and a member, I presume, of Lord Minto’s family at
the time, I should mention what he himself has recorded, that he
bad left “an establishment of servants at Calcutta and another at

Delki” He had been unwilling that his dependents shonld suffer
by his absence, and still retained many of them in his pay.
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make my fortune, and which I will term the *accumu-
lating fund.! The amount which remains after these
deductions is to form a fund for contingent expenses, which
I will call the ¢contingent fund.’ If the contingent fund
increases, and is more than equal to meet all the demands
that may come upon it, then I may consider my finances to
be in a very prosperous state; and when it is safe to do so,
I may apply the surplus of the contingent fund as an
increase to the accumulating fund. On the other hand, if
the contingent fund should be unequal to meet the demands
upon it, then I must of necessity draw upon the accumu-
lating fund, and my scheme will have failed.”

- For the first two or three months the result was satis-
factory. He regularly set aside the stipulated 100 for the
accumulating fund, and at the end of March he found that
he had 289 sicca rupees, or something more than 100L in
the contingent fund. So he wrote in his account-book,
under date April 1-— The account for March presents &
favourable prospect of the practicability of the scheme
which I have laid down for myself.” It was so encouraging,
indeed, that a few days afterwards he sent off 200 rupees
for the purchase of tickets in the Cal¢utta Lottery.* Those
were days when most men entertained hopes of growing
rich per saltum through the agency of these Presidency
lotteries, and some had so much faith in them that they
dispensed altogether with the slower process of hoarding
money. It was on account of this purchase that Metcalfe
was now obliged to record that the April results were not
as favourable as those of March. * The account for April,”
he wrote, # though not so favourable as that of March,
still shows a progressive increase both in the accumulating

* ¢ Appil 19.-~Wrote to Calcutta for two tickets in the lottery
to be drawn in July. The damage will be 200 rupees.” I do not
observe in the July memoranda sny entrancé under the head of
lottery on the receipt side of the account.
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and contingent funds. But heavy expenses are coming on
in May, the prospect of which is alarming.” In this month
of May he passed from Madras to Calcutta, and he had
extraordinary expenses to meet at both places. The
system had not been sufficiently long in operation—the
contingent fund was not sufficiently large—to bear such a
drain upon it. So at the end of the month, having found
that nothing had been added to the acoumulating fund,
and that there was a deficiency of 106 rupees on the con-
tingeat fund, he wrote in his memorandum-book—* The
plan with which I set out at the beginning of the year has
thus been shown to have failed, and a deficit has arisen to
the amount above stated.”

In thus declaring the failure of his scheme he was alittle
too candid. The result was not to be fairly estimated after
an experiment of only 8 few months. One exirgordinary
item, entered in this month of May, was sufficient to cover
the entire deficit. Itis an item at which he had no need

_to blush, although it disturbed, for a time, his financial
projects, and impelled him to record that he had failed—
4 Subscription for the benefit of Dr. Reid's family, 1,000
rupees.” In those days it was no uncommon thing for some
well-known and highly-esteemed member of society, caryied
off suddenly by one of the diseases of the country, to leave
a wife and family behind him in a state of utter destitu-
tion. Nor was it an uncommon thing for the friends and
atquaintances of the deceased—and many who were neither
friends nor acquaintances—to raise a subscription for the
benefit of his family sufficient to send them to England, and
to keep them from want for all the rest of their days. It
was to one of these subscriptions that Charles Metcalfe had
now subscribed 1,000 rupees, If he had not subscribed
it he could have added the monthly 100% to his accumu-
lating fund, and retained a small balance in the contingent.’
one.,
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But the failure—if it were one—was soon redeemed.
He had scarcely recorded it when he discovered that he
was richer than he had supposed. He received his account-
current from his agents, and it appeared from the state of
it that he could make good the deficit of which he had
spoken, and’ set hissystem at work again. As the com-
mencement, of the mercantile year there was a balance in
his favour, which, after deducting the amounts belonging to
his accumulating fund, and the payments he, had since
made on the contingent account, still left him for present
purposes more than 15,000 rupees. “ This last remainder,”
he wrote, “I shall at present throw into the contingent
fund, but when my accounts (with the Government) come
to be settled, I expect that it will be all absorbed.” There
was money owing to him on the other side, and as all that
he wanted was a little floating eapital, his system was soon
again in successful operation. Month after month he added
1001 to his accumulating fund; and at the end of the year,
with 1,200 to his credit on, this account, he had a balance
of 2,000 rupees in the contingent fund to commence the
year without misgivings,* From this time he went on
steadily, adding to his savings—sometimes spending more
than the amount of his salary, but never more than his
income. Money brought high interest in those days, and
the accumulating fund soon became productive.

I need not pursug any further the history of Charles
Metcalfe’s accumulations. I purposed only to show bow he-
set about the work ; and the little which I bave exhibited
of hig system is not without both interest. and instruction.

* It had at one time reached 5,000 rupees. Dut his sslary at
Scindiak’s Court, was lesa by 500 rupees a month than it had been
at Lahore and Madras. In the December account, too, there were
some extraordivary disbursements. Among others, * Paid at
Madras—remainder of subscription to = masquerade givem in

January last, 1,500 rupees.”
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There is one remark, however, which ought to be made in
this place, for it is necessary to the right understanding of
the fine character which I am attempting to illustrate.
Even at this early period of his career, when his accumu-
lations were but scanty, he was a ready lender to men less
fortunate or less prudent than bimself. There are many
still living-——and many have passed away—who have tasted
largely of Charles Metcalfe's open-handed kindliness; and
some who owe all their success in life to his seasonable
intervention in their behalf, As he grew older, he did not
grow more worldly-wise. But it was an abiding source of
&onsplation 1o him, that although mow and then his gene-
rosity may have been misplaced, it fell for the most par§
on good soil, and fructified in gratitude, if not in reforma-
tion.*

* In the entries of the year 1810 there is the sum of 2,711
Tupees (about 300L) lent to Lieutenant C-—— The name, with
scharacteristic delicacy, is only ‘thus initialised in the account-book.
At the end of the year Metealfe wrote: * Cash Jent or advanced is
hereafter to be put down as an inefficient balance, and not as.a
disbursement. The money lent, therefore, as per August and
November, IBI0, accounts, to Lieutenant C—, is now fo be
‘brought into an © inefficient fund.’” A= years advanced, the inefli-
wient fund .amounted to some thousands of ‘pounds.
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CHAPTER X.

[1811—1814.]
THE DELHI RESIDENCY.

Duties of the Resident—Metcalfe’s Opinions of his Position—
Letters to Mrs. Monson—Appointed Permanently to the
Residency—Drawbacks and Annoyances—The Royal Family
of Delhi—Removal of Metcalfe’s Assistants—Letter from
Lord Minto—Expenses of the Residency—Censures of the
Court of Directors—Metcalfe’s Defence—Administration of
the Delhi Territory.

So Charles Metcalfe, now at the age of twenty-six, found
himself the incumbent of an appointment coveted by the
oldest officers of both services—an appomtment which, in
respect of its lmportance, its responmbxhty, and its distinc-
tion, was not exceeded by any other in India below the
seats at the Council-boards of Government. The duties
of the Delhi Resident were onerous and complex. The
residents at other courts were simply diplomatists. They
were bound to confine themselves to the political duties of
their situation, and to refrain from all interference with
the internal administration of the country in which they
resided. But the Delhi Resident was at once a diplomatist
and an administrator. It was his duty not only to super-
intend the affairs of the pensioned Mogul and his family,
but to manage the political relations of the British Govern-
ment with a wide expanse of country studded with petty
principalities, ignorant alike of their duties and their
interests, and often in their ignorance vexatious in the
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extreme. It was his duty, too, to superintend the internal
government of all the Delhi territory—to preside over the
machinery of the revenue collection and the administration
of justice, and to promote by all possible means the
development of the resources of the country and the
industry and happiness of the people. He addressed
himself to his work with a brave resolution. He might,
perhaps, have taken deeper interest in it, if he had been
more certain of his tenure of office—if he had believed
that he would remain to see the results of his activity—
but he could not have laboured more zealously or more
diligently in his vocation. The return of Mr. Seton io
Delhi was always probable; sometimes it seemed almost
certain. And there was something dispiriting in this.
For the longer Charles Metcalfe sojourned at the imperial
city, the more attached he grew to the place and to the
people, whilst the residency at Scindiah’s Court, to which
he would have returned, had no attractions for him. But
whatever might be the event, his professional success was
now an established fact; and only death could interpose
itself between him and the great goal of fame and fortune.

He had social duties to perform as well as those of
diplomacy and administration. The Resident was a great
man—he had a court of his own, and a large monthly
allowance from Government to support it in a state of
becoming splendour. He kept open house. He had what
was called a “Family "—all the officers attached to the
Residency, with their wives and children, were members
of it. In the Resident’s house all passing travellers of rank
found ready entertainment. Hospitality here put on its
best apparel. The new Delbi Resident was just the man
to carry himself bravely as the representative of the British
nation “at an Eastern court. His liberality was of the
best kind. It was Charles Metcalfe's nature to give freely;
he was bquntiful without ostentation, and no man ever left
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his house without carrying with him a grateful recollection
of the kindliness and the geniality of his host, and cherishing
it as one of those pleasant memories which he would not
willingly let die.

But it may be doubted whether Charles Metcali: was
happy at this time. He was naturally of a cheerful dispo-
sition, and he had too much mental occupation to dwell
long or frequently upon the necessary drawbacks of his
situation. But there were times when he thought that
for -even his brilliant position he had paid somewhat too
dearly; and when he took mp his pen to discourse with
some member of his distant family, the old clouds which
had gathered over him during the first years of his Indian
residence began to overshadow him again, and he spoke
doubtfully of the apparent advantages of his present, and
the promises of his future life. In the following letter to
his aunt he dwells feelingly upon the darker side of even
the most successful Indian career. Iis cousin, William
Monson,* had been intended for the Indian Civil Service,
but he was an only child, and his mother, with a wise
discretion which it will be seen Charles Metcalfe highly
commended, subsequently determined to detain him at
home:

CHARLES METCALFE TO THE HON. MRS. MONSON.
% Delhit Residency, September 10, 1811,
* My pEAREST AUNT,—I have had the pleasure of receiving your
Tetter of Jamuary 7. So far am I from condemning you for
mesigning William’s intended appointment to this country, that I
decidedly think you have -done that which is best calculated to
Jromote his happiness and your own, by keeping him at home.

* The present Lord Monson, to whom I am indebted for these
letters and much other valuable assistance rendered to me in the
course of my preparation of this Memoir,

4 T have substituted the more familiar orthography for Metcalfe’s
anvarying “ Dihlee™
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My father, I conclude, will blame you; for he thinks nothing
equal to an appointment to this country. I confess that my ideas
are different. Why should you make yourself emd William
miserable by parting mever perhaps fo. meet agrin{ Why doom
him to transportation from everything dear to him? Whak is
there in India to recompense for such sufferings? Fortunes, as
you justly observe, are not made rapidly. Take my situatiom I
have been more than eleven years from England ; and it will be:
certainly more than eleven years before I ean return. In these
twenty-two or twenty-four years the best part of my life will have
passed away—that part in which all my feelings will have heen
most aiive to the different sensations of happiness and misery
arising out of different circumstances. I left my father and mother
just as I became acquainted with them ae s man. I have not once
had their cheering smule to encourage my labours in my profession..
‘When I return, sbould they hoth be alive—which I pray to God
that they may be—I shall, indeed, have the happiness of attending
on. their declining years; but, alag! how much cause shall I have
to lament that I was doomed by my fate not to see them from the
days of beyhood to those of their extreme old age? But suppose
that they sheuld not be alive, and when one conmders that my
father must live to be eighty to allow me to see him again, it iz
enough ta meke one tremble, though I still hope. Suppose, I say,
that they should not be slive, what will then be my situatiom ?
The thought is too horrible to dwell upen. See my sisters. I
left them children, I shall find them old women——married, perhaps,
into families which will not care one farthing about me, and whose
habits it will not suit me to associate with. Take the worst, and
what a melancholy sgituation I may*be in when I return to
England! Where will be my connections, my friendships, and
even my acquaintance? Unknown in society, and even shunned
as being an Indian, I certainly will never push my way into the
society of fine lords and ladies, who may turn up their noses and
think me highly honoured by being in their presence.

“XNeither will I ever fall back and take up my post in the ranks
of Indian society. I recollect what it was, and know what it is,
and that society will not suit me. I shall not be able to afford to
spend all my income en dinners and balls, houses, coaches, and
servants. Money was made for better uses, and, by God’s grace,
I hope to apply mine to some of them. A dull, solitary life, is the
one that I shall, most likely, taking all chances, be obliged to
pursue. And what shall I have gained by making so many



244 THE DELHI RESIDENCY.

sacrifices? Money—and not more, perhaps, than I might have
gained (I allow not probably) by a profession in England. And
it must be remembered, that I have been uncommonly furtunate
in my present profession. So you see, my dear aunt, I think you
perfectly right. Do not suppose from the above, that I am unhappy
or discontented. I have long since reconciled myself to my fate,
and am contented and as happy as one far from his friends can be.
I do not allow unpleasant thoughts to enter my mind, and if I do
not enjoy what is beyond my reach—the inexpressible pleasure of
family society—I at least am always cheerful, and never unheppy.
My father did what he thought best for me; and it is satisfactory
to me to reflect, that my career in India, except as to fortune, must
have answered his expectations. It has been successful beyond
any merits, that I am aware of, in myself. I hold now, as Resident
at Delhi, a situation which I consider without exception in cvery
respect the highest in the country beneath the members of Govern-
ment; and I do not wish to quit this situation until I quit India.
“I hope to lay by at the rate of 3,000l per annum, which in
twelve or fifteen years ought to be enough to enable me to live at
home .in the plain manner in which I mean to live as an old
bachelor; for, you must know, that X have no thought of ever
marrying, as I shall never have money enough for it, unless I
consent, which I will not do, to spend the whole of it on what is
termed lving. In that case, I should be poor in the midst of
thousands. Then only can I consider myself rich when I have
the command of money to gratify such inclinations a3 may
arise. . . . .,
“] am ever, my dear aunt,
“Your attached nephew,
“C. T. METCALFR.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME,
% Delhi Residency, November 16, 1811,

“ My peAB AuNt,~From circumstances which are likely to last
as long as I remain at Delhi, I am now so overloaded with business
that I never can get rid of it before nine o’clock at night. This
will account to you for my not writing oftener. I am obliged to
let my family dine without me in order to write this; but the
pleasure of communicating with you is not to be lost. . . . .
B——— has some idea of going to England, but I do not conceive
that it will be fulfilled. .An old Indian takes a long time to deter-
mine to quit his emoluments, and put his foot on board a ship for
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England. Many is the Indian who dies of staying ‘onme year
longer’ in the country, like the gentleman on whose tombstone is
inscribed,
¢ Here lies Mr. Wandermere,
Who was to have gone home next year.’

I hope that this will be neither R—'s case nor mine. . .

“Y am likely to return to Scindiah’s camp, for MMr. Seton
threatens to retwyn to Delhi. He is now Governor of Prince of
Wales® Island ; but he accepted that appointment on condition,
that if he should not like to keep it, he might return to Delbhi. In
his last letter to me, he announces his intention of availing himself
of that condition ; and I shall be obliged to turn out for him, to
my great regret. I shall be no loser in a pecuniary way; but I
consider the Residency at Delhi infinitely superior to that in
Scindiah’s eamp.

“JI expect, or rather bope, that Theophilus will marry before
he quits England. He is calculated for marriage, and requires it,
I think. For my part, I shall never marry. My prineipal reason
for thinking that I positively shall never marry, is the difficulty of
two dispositions uniting so exactly as to produce that universal
harmony which is requisite to form the perfect happiness that is
indispensable to make the married state desirable. But little do I
know what is to befall me. . .

“ Ever most aﬂ'echona.tely yours,
. “C. T. METCALFE.”

A few more passages from letters written to the same
much-respected correspondent during the first years of his
residence at Delhi—passages illustrative of the feelings with
which he regarded his position in India may be given in
this place. They show how little he had ceased to yearn
after home—how little time had impaired the strength of
his domestic affections:

“. . + « « To-morrow will be Christmas-day, when all
ﬁ-xends meet at home. I have a party of fifty to dine with me,
among whom I cannot reckon one real friend. 'What a blank it is
to live in such a society! I have lately been overwhelmed with
visitors—Sir George and Lady Nugent,* Colonel and Lady Char-

*. Sir George Nugent was the new Commander-in-Chief.
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lotte Murray, and twenty others of the same party, have been my
guests for eight or ten days. They are gone. I found them all
very pleasant. DBut I often wish that I had some cottage to retire
to, where I might live in obscurity and uninterrupted solitude for
a time, I feel myself out of my element in attempting to support
the appearance which attaches to the situation I hold.”—[Delhi,
Decentber 24, 1812.]

“e « « o » Tom*isarrived. . . . . Foorfellow! Ile
has a long time before him; but, perhaps, not lenger than I have,
It is not improbable thas I may remain eighteen Or twenty years
more. . . . . I cannot say that X approve of the plan of
sending children out to India for all their lives, There is no other
service in which & man does not sce his friends sometimes. IHere
it is perpetual banishment, There was a good reason for sending
sons to India when fortunes were made rapidly, and they returned
home. But if a man is to slave all his life, he had better do 80, in
my opinion, in his own country, where he may enjoy the society of’
his friends, which I call enjoying life. . . . . Do not suppose
that I am discontented, and make myself unhappy. It is my fute,
and I am reconciled to it. The time may come, if ever I am able
to set myself down at home with & comfortable furtune, when I
shall confess that my destiny was & favourable one, and shall be
able to look back to past annoyances with composure. But can
anything be & recompense to me in this world for not secing my
dear and honoured father, from the daya of my boyhood to the day
of his death~and, perhaps, the same with regard to my mother ?
I think not—decidedly not. At present, notwithstanding my
uncommon good fortume, X am not convinced thas it {s conducive
te a man’s happiness to send him ta seek his fortune in India "~
[Delhi, March 6,1813.]

+ « Xcannot describe to you how muchI am worked.
And it I could, there would be no pleasure either to you or me in
the detail. X will, therefore, pass over that for awhile, and endea~
vour to forget my plagues. Tom arrived here on the 18th.f Iam
very much pleased with him, and think him a superior young man.

* His younger brother, Thomas Theophilus Metcalft, who had
come out to India in the Company’s Civil Service.

t The younger Metealfe, by the spontaneous kindness of Lord
Minto, had been appointed an Asaistant to the Delhi Resident,
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1 will answer for his doing well. He distinguished himself very
mmch in College, and got out by hisown exertions in less than foar
months. Here be and I are together; and here we shall remain
for many and many a long year, consoling each other as well as
‘we ean for the abeence of all other friends. . . . . Tshall see
you, I hope, in eighteen years 1 *—[ Delhi, November 2, 1813.]

“_ . . . It is very kind in you to wish me home; and X
assure you that I wish myself at home most ardently. Neverthe-
1esa, as the sacrifices which 4 man must make who comes to India
have been wade for the most part already, I do not mean to retmn.
10 England to struggle with poverty, or 1o be forced o draw tight
my purse-gtrings. The sacrifice that I have made I consider grest,
“The recompense that I propaose to myself is to have a competency,
1ot merely for my own expenses, but to enable me to assist others
without reluctance or restraint. My own expenses may, I think,
be trifling. ¥ believe that I should have more plensure in spending
-only 500l per annum, than I should bave in squandering 5,000L in
the same way. But to put extreme economy out of the question,
allow 1,500L or 2,000l for my own expenses. You know better
‘than I do what a single man ought to live upon creditably, with-
out attempting to vie with people of large fortunes. Tell me what
¥ou think reqaisite for the support of a bachelor in & decent, com-~
Tortable manner. Add to that what would be requisite fo procure
a seat in Parliament. Add to that a sum to enable me to make
presents freely to my friends, and to assist the distressed, and to
contribute to public charities. Let me know the sum total, and X
will make my arrangements accordingly. . . . . 1 am become
very msociable and movose, and feel myeelf getiing more so every
day. Ilead a vexatious and joyless life; and it is only the hope
of home at last that keeps me alive and merry. That thought
cheers me; though wrifing to any of you always makes me sad™
~{ Skalimar, Delki, March 20, 1814.]

From passages such as these, ghimpses may be caught
<f the inner life of the Delhi Resident. Stripped of his
externals, the darra 2akib, or great lard ef the imperial
«<ity, was but a sdlitary exile, continually disquicted by
thoughts of home. But he lived with the harness on his
back, and incessant oecupation preserved him from
despondeney or depression. He had now become Resident
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indeed. The anticipations of his return to Scindiah's
court, whichhe had expressed in one of his letters to his
aunt, were not to be realised. At the commencement of
September, 1812, Mr. Seton entered the Iooghly river,
on his retwrn from Prince of Wales' Island, full of the
thought of revisiting Delhi. But a letter from Lord Minto,
announcing that he had been appointed provisionally a
member of Council, met him at Diamond Harbour. Two
vacancies were about to occur at the council-board. Mr.
Lumsden' and Mr. Colebrooke had both nearly served for
the appointed five years of office. To the first of these
vacancies that ripe statesman, Mr. Edmonstone, who had
long been little less than the Supreme Government itself,
stood nominated by the Court of Directors. For the
second, the choice lay between Mr. Tucker and Mr. Seton;
but after some discussion at the India House, the latter
had been eventually appointed; and the intelligence had
arrived just in time to greet him as he entered the river on
his return to Bengal.

Scarcely had Seton landed, when he wrote to his old
assistant to apprise him of what was a matter to him of
such vital importance. But he had been anticipated by
some [of the denizens of Government-house, who, a week
before, had despatched the glad tidings to the Acting-
Resident. The.intelligence, which was in some measure
unexpected, filled both Seton and Metcalfe with joy. To
the former, moreover, it was an inexpressible relief. “In
addition to considerations of a domestic character,” he
wrote to his old assistant, “I trust I have a due sense of -
others of a less selfish kind, which render the situation
gratifying in the extreme; and you, my dear Metcalfe,
will, I am persuaded, give me credit for the delight with
which I indulge the reflection that the arrangement will
necessarily fix you at Delhi, I really cannot express to
you hoi awkward and distressed I felt every time that the
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idea came across me that I could not return to Delhi
without being the means of your quitting that station. In
vain did I try to reconcile my mind to it by turning to
the *flattering unction’ of its being necessary, in conse-
quence of the state of my domestic concerns. All would
not do. I still felt® the awkwardness arising .from the
embarrassing reflection that I must either sacrifice the
pressing claims of my family, or interfere with the views
of my friend—and of such & friend! 'The present arrange-
ment has, among many other desirable points, the advan-
tage of tranquillizing this painful struggle.” The May
fleet which arrived in October brought out the official
announcement of Seton's appointment; so the old Delhi
Resident remained in Calcutta; Metcalfe was confirmed
in the appointment which he had now held on a pre-
carious tenure for a year and a half; and Richard Strachey
succeeded in the same manner to the Residency at Scin-
diah’s court.

And thus was removed one of the great drawbacks of
Charles Metcalfe's position at Delhi during the earlier
period of his incumbency; but there were still, as he said
in his letters to his aunt, many vexations and annoyances.
Among the troubles of the residency, not the least were
those which arose out of the folly of the Mogul, and the
wickedness of his family and dependents. The generous
Tespect for the fullen fortunes of the imperial house, which
had moved the British Government to leave to the pageant
king independent jurisdiction within the walls of the
palace, had long- been bearing bitter fruit. There were
things done, within the precincts of that vast privileged
asylum, and duly reported to the Resident, in violation of
all lJaws human and divine. The crimes which were thus
committed, sometimes behind the sanctity of the purdah,
greatly disquieted Metcalfe, for it was difficult either to
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prevent their commission, or to deal with them when they
were committed.. One day it was reported to: him. by the
officer in command of the palace guard, whose duty it was
to take cognisance of all that passed within the limits of
the imperial residence, that two of the young princes had
been playing the parts of commam robbers——oiling their
naked persons, then rushing with drawn swords among the
startled inmates of the zenana, and forcibly carrying off
their property. Anather time it was announced to him
that one of these princes had murdered a woman in the
palace, either by beating her to death or by compelling
her to swallow opium. Again tidings came ta him that
one of the ladies of thé Emperor's establishment had.
murdered. & female infant. Then it was reported ta the
Resident. that the imperial quarters had been rendeved a
general receptacle .for stole\m gooda and sequestered pro~
perty: Then a knotty question arose: as to whether the
slave-trade, having been prohibited in the city of Delhi,
should be allowed to sprvive in the palace. Then it
appeared that, the Emperor himself, after sundry intrigues
at Calcutta, was intriguing with the Newab-Wuzeer of
Qude,. through the agency of his fayourite: son, the Prince
Jehanguire, who, an the pretext of attending & marriage
festival, had gone: to Lucknow, from Allahabad, where he:
was & state prisomer;. ta bescech the: Newab: to interceder
with the British: Government for the angmentation of hiss
father's. stipend,

Since Charles Metealfe had made his first obeisance at
the court. of the Mogul, the old blind Emperor, Shah
Allum, had been gathered to his fathers: and now Akbar
Shah, his son, reigned in his stead. The infirmities of the
deceased monarch had not been. without. their nses, His
wants had. been comparatively few, and he had grown
penurious at the close of his career. When he died it
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appeared that he had hoarded up some lakhs of rupees;
so his successor found himself with a supply of unappro-
priated cash in his treasury which he might call undi-
videdly his own. But the new king, being neither blind
nor penurious, complained that the stipend allowed by the
British Government was insufficient for the wants of such
a family as he was bound to maintain, The inmates of
the imperial palace constituted a considerable population
in themselves, There were members of the royal family
belonging to several generations, including even the con-
nections of Shah Allum's predecessor ; and liberal as were
the allowances granted by the British Government, they
barely sufficed to support, in comfort and respectability, a
royal family of such inordinate dimensions. The condition,
indeed, of these wretched people moved the generous sym-
pathies of Lord Minto. Something of a promise had been
‘made to the Mogul, that when the fimancial condition of
the British Government would admit of greater liberality,
an addition would be made to the imperial stipend. So, in
the summer of 1809, the Governor-General was induced {o
review the whole question, and in an elaborate minute,
partly written by Mr. Edmonstone, partly by himself,
declared his intention of augmenting the allowances of the
Shah, and indicated the most advantageous method of
doing it. ‘The increased amount was still below that
which the Mogul had declared to be necessary for the
gupport of his household; but the savings of Shah Allum
for some time made good the deficiency, and kept the royal
pensioner quiet. No sooner, however, was this reserve-
fund exhansted, than he began to bestir himself to obtain
a farther augmentation of-what he called his “ tribute,”
and to this end instructed his favourite son, in whose
‘bebalf he had long desired to set aside the rights of the
heir-apparent, to obtain the ear of the Newab-Wuzeer of
Qude,’and to induce him to farther his claims. The letter of
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the Shah* fell into the hands of Colonel Baillie, the Resident
at Lucknow, who recommended that thenceforth the prince
should be “ subjected to those salutary retraints, under the
influence and authorify of the Resident, which would scem
indispensable to the future guidance of his conduct, and
cannot be easily applied under any other authority.”}
Indeed, it was, necessary to exercise no little ealutary
Testraint over the movements of the Shah and his favourite
son. The.idea which the former had encouraged of setting
‘aside the rightful succession in favour of the latter had
been temporarily resisted by the British Government;
but it was doubtful whether it had been wholly
abandoned. A little time before the detection of these
Lucknow intrignes—that jis, in the spring of 1811, soon
after Metcalfe’s assumption of office—the Mogul had been
partly the agent, partly the victim, of another intrigue
at Calcutta, This business was known in .the official
language of the times as the Mission of Prawn Kishen.
The secret history of .this mission is diverting in the
extreme. Two wily natives—the one a Hjndoo, the other
a Mussulman, headed by a Moollah, or, Mahomedan priest
——persnaded the Shah that they could do great things for
him at Calcutta, especially in respect of the succession
of Prince Jehanguire, through the agency of the Chief-
Justice, Sir Henry Russell, from whom a letter, addressed

* The exordium of the King’s letter sets forth the state of the
case as given in the text:

“ My beloved son, the light of my eyes and delight of my soul,
may the Almighty increase your years! .After prayers for the
prolongatxon of your life, be it known to you that in consequence
of the great increase of necessary expenditure, the money which
was left in the treasury at the demise of his late Majesty has all
been removed and expended. The tribute allowed by the English
is totally inadequate to defray my expenses, and there seems no
prospect of an increase, nor of the satisfactory adjustmment of any
other matter depending,” &c, &e.

t Col. Baillie to Mr, Edmonstone, March 3, 1813,~[ M S, Records.]
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to his Majesty, was produced. The weakness of the King
caught at the imposture. The cunning knaves were sent
as wakeels* to Calcutta, whilst the expounder of the Koran
remained behind in the imperial city to consummate the
fraud. They did their work with considerable address,
and for some time, by means of a series of amusing fabri-
cations, contrived to live upon the credulity of their
master. There was no falsehood—there was no forgery—
which these sharpers hesitated to utter or commit. They
wrote astonishing accounts of their reception by * Lord
Russell,” and despatched letters to the King in the name
of that high functionary. They declared that they had
waited on him immediately on their arrival at Calcutta;
that on receiving an account of his Majesty’s situation he
bad “wrung his hands with grief;” and, on reading the
King's letter he had bitten his lips, and assured the Envoy
that he had cansed the Governor-General to write a letter
to the Nizam (Metcalfe), saying, “I have sent you that
you should” honour his Majesty, not that you should
distress him. If, another time, I hear of your offending
his Majesty, you may expect to be punished. . ... Be
tranquil, for the business of the heir-apparentey, and of
the removal of the Nizam, shall soon be effected, and the
other matters. also, will be easily accomplished.” Having
thus assured the King that all his representations had
been favourably received, they told him, in a subsequent
letter,} that they were “off for London ” with the Governor-

* A waleel is an agent, or attorney. In this work the word,
which will probably be of frequent occurrence, generally signifies a
diplomatic agent.

t The letter in which this is stated is highly amusing. They
had told the King before that Mr, Elphinstone had been sent a
prisoner to England, and now they related the circumstances of
his acquittal ;

“ His lJordship (Lord Russell) has ordered us both to accompany
Mr. Seton and his Excellency the Governor-General to London~—
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General and the old Delhi Resident, and requested his
Majesty to pay their wages to a friend, whom they named,
in their absence. Lord Minto and Mr. Seton were just at
that time embarking for the Eastern Archipelago; and
the knaves taking advantage of a circumstance, the outline
of which might obtain notoriety even at Delhi, assured the
King that they were going to England, and that his humble
dervants were going with them. The lying Moollah
protested that the story was correct, that the imperial
wakeels had sailed with the Governor-General, and that
all his Majesty’s wishes would be speedily fulfilled.

In due course the frand was discovered. The letters
from Calcutta, in which such great things had been
promised, were placed in Metcalfe’'s hands. The Shah
expressed unbounded contrition, but it was doubtful
whether he did not grieve over the failure of his mission
rather than over his own misconduct in attempting to
carry on an underband intrigue; and Metcalfe, therefore,
took the opportunity of counselling his Majesty to “relin-
quish that torment of his life, the worrying desire to effect
impracticable changes.” Ile was not without a hope at

so, God willing, off we go to London, by the way of Bombay.
‘We hope in your Majesty’s gracious kindness to allow Gora Chund
10 join us in this quarter, for from the smallness of our wages we
can with difficulty make our subsistence if asunder. We trust in
your Majesty’s bounty for increase of our wages. It has been our
bad fortune, and the canse of disappointment, that such has not
taken place as yet to the present day. ~ We leave Kevel Ram with
the aforesaid gentleman (Lord Rassell); Mr. Elphinstone having
been accused of partiality to the French was obliged to go to
YLondon, There before the King he said, ‘I am in no fault, but
have been accused through spite because when in Delhi I reviled
Mr. Seton on account of his disrespect to the royal family. I am
in no fuult’ He was accordingly ascquitted. We set off with
Seton and the Newab Governor on the 18th of March. We beg
that our wages be paid to the Moulavee from month to month,
who of course will get it conveyed to us.”~{ M.S, Records.]
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the tima that the advice which he offered would have due
effect upon the Shah, and diszuade him from lavnching into
any further profitless intrigues. But baffied. in the directior
of Calcutta, he soon began to consider whether be might
not push his diplomacy with better success at Lucknow.
There was, indeed, an under-current of intrigue continually
flowing out of the palace; and, although it could hardly at
any time become dangerous in its effeets, it was likely to-
become inconvenient, and was, therefore, to be restrainad..
Preposterous visions of a great future revival were indulged
by these decayed princes. The mora the generous sym-
pathy of the British Government sought to cover their
actual humiliation with outward marks of courtesy and
respect, the more they dreamt of recovering the sub--
stantialities of their by-gone greatnesss. * The King,™
wrote Lord Minto, in the minute to which I have alluded,
* hent on his unattainable purpose, but destitute of power
to attempt it openly, and too feeble even ta avow it, stoops
to every little artifice, engages in every petty intxigue, and
is drawn into- all the oblique and disingenuous courses
which, the ladies. of hix palace, ax councillors equally
feminine, can suggest and recommend to him. Am opening
iy furnished for smech practicess by the Liberal courtesy
with which the exterior- observances due to the real
govereignty of his ancestars are, most: properly, extended:
to his nominal title; and under cover of the formal
homage, which a tenderness for his personal feelings alane-
prompts us to render him, he seeks to advance a silent:
and gradual claim to the substantial attributes of great-
ness.”*

That. theser wild imaginations would be fostered by the:
excessive kindness and consideration: of Mr. Seton, Mat—
calfe had always predicted. And naw he. found that the
noble failing of his friend had greatly increased. his owny

* Minute of Lord Minto, June 6, 1803 ~[ M, Records.}



256 THE DELHI RESIDENCY.

difficulties——that the evils he had foreseen had actually
come to pass. It was now his duty, therefore—a duty
forced upon him no less by his own rooted convictions
than by the recorded instructions of the Supreme Govern-
ment—to do all that could be done without any indelicate
and vexatious interference in the domestic affairs of the
royal household, to baffle all these petty intrigues, and
disperse all these idle aspirations. It was his - policy,
whilst exercising firm control in all matters of essential
importance, to abstain from meddling with petty details
connected with the interior arrangements of the palace.
But nothing was more difficult than this. Ile could not
turn a deaf ear to the reports of robbery and murder
which came to him from that great sty of pollution; and
yet he could not deal with offences 80 committed as he
would with crimes, more immediately under his juris-
diction, committed in the open city. Even the truth
struggled out but dimly from the murky recesses of the
- palace. Sometimes little things were magnified and mys-
tified into gigantic shadows, which dissolved at the touch
of judicial inquiry. At others, it- was not to be doubted
that terrible realities were altogether obscured and lost
among the swarming labyrinths of that great building.
Al] these things greatly disquieted Metcalfe ; for the evil
was a tremendous one and so difficult to reach.

There were other vexations and annoyances to disquiet
him at this time. Among these was one which incon-
veniently affected the efficiency of his administration.
The ¢ Assistants,” upon whose co-adjutancy Metcalfe
chiefly relied at this time for the due administration of
the revenue of the Delhi territory, were Mr. William
Fraser and Mr. Gardoer. But it happened, as it often
happens in such cases, that their efliciency in this par-
ticular office became the signal for their removal to
another; :and Metcalfe was suddenly deprived of their
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aid. ‘This “spoliation of the Delhi Residency,” as Mr.
Seton subsequently called it, was done with the best inten-
tions by Lord Minto, who, appreciating their services, was
anxious to reward them, and so removed them to the
Judicial Department.* But the Resident complained, and
not without reason, of being thus stripped of his auxiliaries;
and Seton, to whom the letter of complaint was addressed,
gave it to Lord Minto one evening at the tea-table.
& More complaints, my lord, and legitimate ones too,” he
said, “{rom my excellent friend Metcalfe.” ¢ XKnowing
them to be such,” replied Lord Minto, “I am almost
afraid to read them, more especially as I have not yet
been able to write to him the explanatory letter which
T have so long had in contemplation.”{ ¢ He, however,”
continued Seton, reporting thése circumstances to his
friend, “did read the letter, and with great interest—
I might almost say distress and embarrassment—distress
on your account and embarrassment pn his own. Yet,
though really annoyed-at reflecting on the havoc made
at the Residency, he could not help laughing aloud at
your humorous picture of your distress, concluding with
¢ kings, vakeels, Sikhs, Patans, and old women.” And,
writing again soon afterwards with reference to the same
subject, the member of council said, “If I did not know
you to be greatly above all vanity, I might perhaps offer
you some consolation by repeating what Lord Minto said
upon the occasion with reference to your being in yourself
a host (his words were Ipss agmen), and consequently

* This, after a lapse of forty years, still remains one of the
gravest defects of the Indian Civil Service system. Men are
removed, for the sake of promeotion, from one department to
another, just at the very time when the experience gained in the
old office is likely to be turned to profitable account.

1 This letter was afterwards written.  The elaborate character
of the explanation, and the kindly spirit which pervaded it, made
up for the tardiness of its appearance.

VOL. L K
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admirably qualified to do with less aid than most men—
to enlighten even when ¢ shorn of your beams.’ "

But that which most disquieted Charles Metcalfe during
the earlier years of his residency at Delhi was a circum~
stance connected, not with the diplomatic, mot with the
administrative, but with the social side of his multiform
office. It washis duty, as has been already hinted, to keep
up a certain state at Delbif as the representative of the
British Government at the court of the Mogul. To a publie
functionary in such a situation the entertainment of a
certain, or rather uncertain number of persons every week
was a business rather than a pleasure. He had to feast
scores of people, of whem he knew little, and for whom be
cared nothing ; and to live in crowds, where he would fain
have been alome. His house was a sort of huge cara-
vansary, from which no one was turned away, but every
one carried off something. For purposes of current
hospitality, a liberal monthly allowance was granted by
Government,* and Metcalfe was not 3 man fo grudge its
expenditure to the last sixpence. But it happened that
when he joined the Delbi Residency, it was in a poor state
of equipment. It was sadly wanting in all the necessary
appointments of plate and furnitare, Hospitality was
impracticable with such means, and the external dignity of
the Government could not be becomingly maintained. It
was Metealfe’s duty, therefore, as he conceived, to make

* The gross allowances attached to the office had been dimi-
nished on the departure of Mr. Seton, who had drawn a con-
solidated allowance of 8,052 rupees a month—being 2,859 rupees
salary, with 5,193 rupees Besident’s charges. By a resolution of
the Governor-General im Council, February 27, 1811, ii was
declared that this measure bad been adopted on grounds princi-
pally of a personal nature with respect o Mr. Seton, and decreed
that the allowances of the Delhi Residency should be placed en
their former footing. For further information on this subject, sce
the close of Chapter XII.
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certain purchases of public property at the public expense.
Of these purchases, the Supreme Government tacitly
approved, and the disbursements were formally admitted.
But when the accounts went home to the Court of Directors,
that bedy disapproved of the expenditure, and severely
rebuked Metcalfe. “ The conduct of the Delhi Resident,"
they wrote to the Governor-Geperal in Council, “in
incurring charges of so enormous a magnitude as those
referred toin the papers before us, without having received,
or even applied for, the previous sanction of Government,
is in every view unjustifiable. The charges are reported
by the civil auditor to be unprecedented in amount,
and we are surprised to find these irregularities in the
Resident’s proceedings passed over without any mark of
displeasure ‘or reprehension.” And having commented
npon the several items of the charge, they proceeded to say
~—“We consider the whole disbursements to have been
~incurred under circumstances so directly in opposition to
the regulations of which Mr. Metcalfe could not have been
ignorant, and in a spirit of such profuse extravagance,
that we cannot possibly sanction any part of them without
holding out to our servants in general an example of the
most dangerous tendency, as it amounts to no less than an
assumed right to disburse the property of the Company at
the discretion of the individuals divested of all wholesome
control. We shall accordingly consider the whole of this
disbursement as having beem made unwarrantably, and
under the personal responsibility of the Resident, and so
accordingly direct that he be peremptorily required to pay
into your treasury the whole amount of the said gum of
48,1197s. 6a. 5p., and that the property purchased thus
irregularly be considered as belonging to the Resident,
and not as constituting any part of the Company’s dead-
stock.”*
* General letter to Bengal, Sept. 30, 1814.~[ M 8. Records.]
K 2
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This was, doubtless, o severe rebuke. DBut as in India
they throw up before their doors and windows well-watered
screens of fragrant grass, through which the fiery winds
of the hot scason pass cooled and tempered, so the Governor-
General was cureful that the scorching blast of the Court's
economioal indignation should reach Metcalfe only through
one of these tatties, softened and moderated, and rendered
endurable by cooling qualifications of his own, Alt.hough
the Governor-General," wrote the Political Secretary, John
Adam, in an official communication to the Delhi Resident,
“has deemed it proper, as an act of obedicnce to the
positive instructions of the Court, to communicate their
order to you, yct as his lordship sces grounds for believing
that the Ilonourable Court will take a more favourable
view of the question on reconsideration, I am desired to
inform you that the orders will not be enforced until the
further directions of the Ilonourable Court may be reccived
in reply to the proposed refcrence.”® And at the same
time John Adam wrote privately to Metcalfe, telling him
that the Government intended to resist *the encroaching
spirit of the Court of Directors,” of which he was #destined
to be the victim."}

But, in spite of the protection thrown over him by the
Supreme Government, the censures of the Court of Dircctors
wounded Metcalfe to the quick, It is the fate of most men,
some time or other in the course of their lives, to be
suspected and accused of those very offences which they
are least capable of committing. In spite of the mollifying
influences of the Sccretary’s official letter, the rebuke of the
court was severely felt. I have the disgrace and mortifi-
cation,” wrote Metcalfe to Mr. Adam, ¥ fo acknowledge the

* Secretary to Government to Resident at Delhl, July 185, 1815,
—~[MS. Records.]

t John' Adam to Charles Metcalfe, July 19, 1815.~[MS.
Correspondence.)
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receipt of your despatch, conveying to me the censure of the
Honourable the Court of Directors, expressed in the most
unqualified terms. It is the severe censure,” he added,
after thanking the Governor-General for his wunsolicited
kindness, “ contained in the orders of the Court, which 1
feel most acutely, far more so than the pecuniary injury
which it is proposed to inflict. My [ife and everything
that I have are at the disposal of the Honourable Company;
but my character I wish to carry unsullied to the grave.™®

* It is right that I should give the substance of the defence,
though the letter is too long for quotation in its integrity:

“YWhen I arrived as Resident at Delhi,” he wrote, “ there was
not a single article of public property at the Residency in the way
of farniture for the house or equipment for the table. I could not
make up the deficiency by any brought with me, becanse the
equipment of the Residency which I had quitted was public pro-
perty, and remained for the use of my successor, though much of it
had been paid for out of my monthly allowances. That some forni-
ture for the Residency house and some equipment for the Residency
table were pecessary, will, I hope; be admitted. It is obvious
that a house is useless without furniture, and that a table cannot
be kept withont equipment. I take it for granted, therefore, that
some furniture and some equipment were unquestionably indis-
pensable® Assaming this, he said, two questions arose, one as to
the responsibility-—the other as to amount. Both had been sub-
mitted to the Supreme Government. It was competent for them
to pass a decision; and if they bad decided in either case against
Metcalfe, be would cheerfully have ahided by the decision. He
argued that as the Residencies at Scindiah’'s Court, Nagpore,
Poonah, Hyderabad, and Mysore possmed property charged to
the public account, he was justified in assuming that the Delhi
Residency might be brought into the same category, and
admiited to the same privileges. But he declared that at the
same time he had purchased the property on his owa responsi-
bility, and left it to the Government to determine whether it
should be a public or a private charge. As Government had
decided that it was the former, he reasoned conclusively thas the
censure, if any, should mot be cast wpon him, but wpon the
Government which had admitted the charge.
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He then entered into an elaborate and triumphant defence
of his conduct, and concluded by saying—* Knowing that
I bave always served the Company with devoted zeal and
indefatigable labour ; knowing that I am ready every day
to lay down my life in their service; knowing that in the
case which has brought down such heavy disapprobation
on me, I was far from deserving censure, it is with a
feeling stronger than grief that I find myself selected for
public disgrace. In whatever spirit my conduct may be
judged—whatever return my services may receive, I shall
continue, as long as I serve the Company, to serve with
unabated zeal and entire devotion. Unfounded censure
cannot depress me, neither shall it diminish my faithful
exertions. Iighly as I prize the approbation of the
Honourable the Court of Directors, if I have the misfor-
tune not to obtain it, the approbation of my own conscience
will support me; and I shall not sink wunder censure,
however severe, when I feel that it is not merited, and see
thiat it arises from error.” It was indeed, as he said, the
cengure that stung him. The intended punishment was
nothing. He was willing to abide by any arrangement for
the disposal of the Residency property.® It was not in the

* In = subsequent letter he submitted to the Government the
following three modes of setiling the question:

% First—Let the orders of the Honourable Court be literally
fulfilled. X.et tne pay into the treasury all the extra expenses
pussed by Government during my Residency on account of plate,
furniture, and equipment, and let all the property purchased by
me of these descriptions belong to me, Secondly—Let my allow-
#nees be put on & footing with those of my predecessor retrospec-
‘fively te the day of my appointment, and let me repay to the
Honourable Company all the extra expense incurred by me in the
equipment of the Residency. Let the equipment of the Residency
be my own property as in the time of my predecessors. Third—
Let the expenses of the Residency under my predecessor, extra as
well as established, be added together for the whole period of his
incumbency. - Let the same operation take place with regard to
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nature of the man o haggle with Government on a question
of rupees. His whole life was & denial of the injurious
supposition hinfed im the Court’s letter. In after years,
when the increase of bhis fortune enabled him to manifest
an increased liberality in all his dealings, he was continually
taking upon himself charges which ought more properly to
have been borne by the State—continually expending his
private fortune upon public objects, -It is not improbable
that the circumstance here narrated gave s new and
sustained impulse to his natural Liberality; that, mindful of
past vexations, he may have determined at any sacrifice to
avoid the possibility of their recurrence, and so have fallen
into an extreme of liberality which, noble as it is in itself;
is not altogether, in respect of its operation wpon others,
free from certain inconveniences and objections.

But annoyauces and vexations, suck as have been briefly
touched upon in this chapter, are inseparable from high
station, whether in the East or in the West; and there
were, on the other side, great compensations. Of these
the chief was the knowledge that, under his administration,
the indnstrial resources of the Delhi territory were being
plenteously developed, and the prosperity of the people
greatly increased. At the period of which I am mow
speaking—the years 1814-15—it was less, perhaps, from
the contemplation of what had been done than from the
thought of what might be done, under his suspices, on
such a field of beneficent action, that he derived solace
under the depressing influences of all public and private

the expenses of the Rasidency under me for a period of sinblae

extent. Let me pay the difference if it be against me, and let the

equipment of the Residency be my property as it was my pra-

decessors’. T am heartily willing,” he added, “to abide by any of

these arrangements, If T suffer, I shall suffer by my own pro-
I
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vexations. Ile saw, indeed, many great dcfects in the
system under which the affairs of our newly-acquired
provinces were administered, and he was eager to introduce
reforms which he knew would contribute to the happincss
of our subjects. 'When, therefore, he reported that under
the excellent management of Fraser and Gardner—for he
was not one who sought to monopolise to himself the
credit which rightfully belonged in part to his coadjutors
~—the revenues of the Delhi territory had greatly increascd,
‘and that new breadths of land were being brought under
cultivation, he did not disguise from himself, or seck to
disguise from Government, the fact that the landed settle-
ment of the Delhi territory was on an unsatisfactory
footing, and that justice demanded its entire revision.
From a comprehensive report before me, written in 1815,
I purpose to make some extracts, illustrative of Charles
Metcalfe's views at this time of some important questions
of domestic government. We have hitherto seen him
principally as a diplomatist. Before, passing on to other
busy scenes of political strife and military action, let vs
regard him, for a little while, as an administrator, and
see how liberal 'and large-minded were his views at a time
when hberahty and large-mindedrfess, in matters of Indian
administration, were rarer qualities than they are in the
present more enlightened times.

In this report, after mention had been made of the pro-
gressively increasing revenues of the Delhi territory—
revenues which had risen between the years 1807-8
and 1818-1814 from four lakhs to fifteen lakhs of rupecs,
and it had been shown that the increase had been mainly
an increase in the landed revenue, allusion was made to the
Alkarree, or spirit tax, and it was shown that the last ycar
of the statement exhibited a considerable decline. This was
accounted for by the fact that the men who farmed this
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part of the revenue had, in the preceding year, bidden too
hizh for the privilege. And if it were not so, humanely
argued Metealfe, there would be nothing to regret :

* A diminuotion of this branch of revenue i3 not much to be
regretted. There is no danger of a permanent or serious loss as
long as people drink spirituous liquors; and any decrease of
revenue proceeding from a dimination of consumption would be a
cause of joy rather than of regret.”

It was, however, to the larger subject of the landed
revenue that this report mainly referred. But before the
writer passed on to the consideration of it in all its length
and breadth, he paused to speak of the advantages of
Canal irrigation, and to urge the completion of the Delhi
Canai:

“1 cannot refrain,” he says, “from taking advantage of this
opportunity to bring again to the notice of the Governor-General
the subject of the Delhi Canal. This subject has engaged the
attention of Government for many years; and all the information
velating to it that can be farnished from this place has already
been submitted. . . . . It is supposed that the produce of the
canal would, in a very short time, repay the expense of bringing it
into order; and it is certain that the restoration of this beneficial
work would be productive of a great increase of revenue to
Government, and a great increase of comfort, wealth, and health
to the inhabitants of the territory and city of Delbi.”

Then he entered on the great domain of land-revenue,
and after discussing the much-vexed question of right in
the soil, ke thus proceeded to advocate the claims of the
village zomeendars:

¢ Admitting that the Government has the property of the sail,
the guestion is, as the Government cannot occupy the land, and as
the land requires resident proprietors, who are the people that,
next to the Government, may be supposed to have the best right?
Itnhetethatthepanmonntdmofthevﬂlsgenmemdan
may be justly, and it is to be hoped, indisputably contended for.
Whnmenmhavegreatﬂn,htsthanthosewhosemcestmhne
occupied the same lands and habitations from time immemorial;
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who live on the soil entirely, and cultivate it at their own expense
and by their own labour; who receive it by hereditary succession
or by purchase; who leave it to their children, or, if reduced by
necessity, sell it or mortgage it; or if they choose, transfer it
by gift during their lives2 These rights are exercised by the
zumeendars, and have been exercised for centuries. If they be
not sufficiedt to constitute undoubted property, they are surely
sufficient to confer a paramount claim, . . . . Notwithstand-
ing the numerous revolutions which have taken place in this part
of India, the rights of the village zumeendars have generally becn
held sacred, more sacred, it seems to me, than any other property;
and though numerous sorts of oppressions have been devised, it
does not appear that any oppressor, generplly speaking, has pre-
sumed to interfere with these rights. Itis probable that expediency
has operated to secure them, as much, at least, as justice; but be
the cause what it may, it appears to me that the most clear and
most distinct rights beld in this part of India are those of the
village zumeendars,” *

Having thus contended that our engagements ought to
be made with this class of proprietors, he proceeded to

. * Ap interesting illustration of the importance attached to these
rights, even by the owners of principalities, which is given in this
teport, may not inexpediently be cited in this place:

“To show the value,” wrote Metcalfe, * set on those rights, and
the respectable estimation in which they are held, I may mention
that Koom Raj Singh, great uncle of the Rajah of Bulumgurh,
and sole manager of all the Bulumgurh lands, pointed out to me
ance, ay I was riding with him, a single small village in the
territory under his management, of which he boasted, with evideng
exultation, that he was the zumneendar, having purchased the
zumeendaree from the original zumeendars. What made it of
consequence to him to purchase this-petty zumeendaree of & single
village? or why did he exult at this acquired right? Why, he
Jmew that the Raj of Bulumgurh would descend to & distinct
branch of the family, his regency would in due time expire, the
family might be degraded from its high rank in some future revo-
lutiom, its territories might be seized, its raj might be lost; but he
flattered himself, confidently, that under any circumstances this
Zumeendaree, purchased with his own money, would descend as &
perpetual right to his family, untouched and undisturbed by soy
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explain the nature of the settlement which it would be
desirable to make. The evil consequences of short settle-
ments had already manifested themselves, and Metcalfe
was eager to persuade the Government to grant long ones
in their stead. # Settlements,” he wrote, ¢ should be
made for periods of ten, twenty, thirty, forty, fity, or a
bundred years—the longer, perhaps, the better. As all
events, the perieds should be sufficiently long ta admit
of considerable profit being made by the cultivators from
their own labour and enterprise.” ¢ This,” he added, “is the
very essence of the system.” Its advantages lie upon the
surface. “In exchange for this insecurity, it is in the
power of Government to confer security. Instead of wealth
lawlessly acquired by opposition to the Government, and
hastily spent to avoid plunder, we may confer the power
of acquiring eolid, legitimate, and lasting wealth, which
shall be cherished, applauded, and upheld by the Govern-
ment; which shall be a source of consequence in the
eyes of the people, and of flattering distinction on the part
of the rulera.  Then, instead of dissatisfied and disaffected
landholders truly complaining that we have injured them
by diminishing their consequence and their profits, we
may expect to have landholders bound to us by the
strongest ties of self-interest, and ackmowledging, from
irresistible conviction, the incomparable benefits of our
rule”

He then proceeded to explain in what manner under
these settlements, the revenue was to be callected. “Every
village is inhabited, wholly or partially, by zumeendars,

future Governor or Government. It must seem strange to the
inhabitants of India, who so much respect the zameendaree rights,
that the British Government, which professes to consult justice in
all its actions, should apparently wndervalue rights which have
been respected by the most despbtic and the most lawless governa
menta”
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or possessory proprictors of the land. These are the
persons with whom the settlement ought to be made; but
as the number of them is generally too great for the
transaction of business, a certain number of mokuddums,
or head men, being in general the men of the greatest
property and influence in the village, act pn the part of
the village, agree to terms, sign engagements, and transact
negotiations, The village is bound by their acts. The
mokuddums having concluded the settlement with the
officers of Government, are charged with the duty of
collecting the revenue in the village.”

On the good effects of such a system as this, Metcalfe
descanted with no common earnestness. He wrote as one
whose whole soul was in the cause. He showed how wealth
would be accumulated——how security would engender pro-
vidence—how a spirit of independence would be acquired
~—how commerce and education would be promoted—how
the people would be elevated in the social scale, and rise
to a height of moral and intellectual grandeur never
attained by them before. It was nothing, he argued, that
by so raising them, we might teach them in time to
emancipate themselves from our yoke. In apite of all
such considerations as this, our duty, he said, was clear:

“There may be those who would argue that it is injudicious to
establish a system which, by exciting & free and independent
character, may possibly lead, at a future period, to dangerous
consequences. , « . . Butsupposing the remote possibility of
these evil consequences, that would not be a sufficient reason for
withholding any advantage from our subjects. Similar objections
have been made against our attempting to promote the education
of our native subjects; but how unworthy it would be of a liberal
Government to give weight to such objections. The world is
governed by an irresistible Power, which giveth and taketh away
dominion; and vain would be the impotent prudence of men
against the operations of its Almighty influence. All that rulers
can do is to merit dominion by promoting the happiness of those
under them. If we perform our duty in this respect, the gratitude
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of India and the admiration of the world will accompany our name
throughont all ages, whatever may be the revolutions of Futurity;
but if we withhold blessings from our subjects from a selfish
apprehension of possible danger af a remote period, we shall merit
that reverse which time has possibly in store for us, and shall fall
with the mingled hatred and contempt—the hisses and execrations
of mankind.”

If this had been written yesterday, there would have
been nothing moticeable in it; but forty years ago such
language was mnot often to be found in the despatches
of our Indian functionaries, Charles Metealfe, indeed, was
much in advance of his contemporaries. There were few of
his brethren, I fear, at this time, in whose breasts such
liberal utterances as these would have awakened sympa-
thetic echoes. The system of land-revenue which he then
desired to introduce into the Delhi territory became sub-
stantially, after a lapse of many years, the system which
regulated the entire settlement of the North-Western
Provinces. The long obscured rights of the village
zumeendars were acknowledged ; and there is room to
hope that many of the predictions of the young Delhi
Resident may yet be realized, under the salutary influence
of the system which he advocated with so much warmth.

One more illustration of Charles Metcalfe's early libe-
rality may be derived from the same source. At this
time there were few evils, real or supposed, which the
members of the Indian Civil Service generally regarded
with s0 much dread and abhorrence as the free admis~
sion. of European settlers into the interipr of the country.
Their exclusiveness revolted at the thought of such an
intrusion ; and they could see nothing but oppression of
the people and danger to the state in such an innovation,
But Metcalfe, even at this early period, was guilty of the
heresy not only of desiring, but officially recommending
that independent Europeans should be invited to bring
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their capital, their enterprise, and skill, freely into the
British territories.

“I am aware,” he wrote, * that nothing that I can say
on this subject would have any weight. I am also sensitle
that in expressing such opinions, I may be deemed guilty
of presumption; but on an occasion like the present, I con-
ceive myself bound to recommend whatever promises to be
beneficial, with reference to the subject of this report;
and, therefore, I recommend the free admission of British
subjects to settle im India under laws and regulations
suited to the state of the country, and unlimited liberty to
acquire property by lawful means, 23 the surest mode
of adding to the resources and increasing the strength
of our Asiatic Empire.”

It was no small thing, even with the aid of able and
indefatigable assistants, to carry on the civil administration
of the extensive districts under the superintendence of the
Delhi Resident. But Metcalfe was not one to shrink from
any amount of labour. To his civil duties he devoted
himself with an assiduity which alarmed many of his
friends. Among others, Ochterlony, who maintained a
close and affectionate correspondence with him, wrote to
Metcalfe, in the autumn of 1813, saying: “ You will not
be long Resident of Delhi, if you pursue your present
course; and I cannot but think that 8 fair representation
of your multifarious and miscellanecus duties would exempt
you from all but the intrigues of the Palace and the
general political duties, which I de most sincerely believe
to be quite sufficient for ‘any one mind that was ever
created.”
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CHAPTER XIT.

[1813—1818.]
THE POLITICS OF UPPER INDIA.

Metealfe’s Political Duties—Conduct of the Bhurtpore Rajah—
Macherry and Jyepore—Indications of general Inguieinde—
Lord Moira’s Tour in the Upper Provinces—The Nepanl War
—Metcalfe’s Opinions—BMeeting with the Governor-General—
Offer of a Secretaryship-—Letters em the Suobject to Mr,
Jenkins—The Secretaryship declined—Death of Metcalfe’s
Parents,

To the ™ general political duties™ of which Ochterlony
spoke—duties which greatly” occupied the thoughts and
employed the energies of the Delhi Resident—it is now
time to advert. On the frontier of his territory were a
namber of native principalities, onr relations with which.
were under his superintendence; and, although he inter-
fered with them no more than waa essential for our
security, it was necessary to keep upon all of them a
watchful eye, and npoa some a zestraining band. It was
mot likely that the rulera of these states, whe were as
regardless of what was due to others as they were ignorant
of what was really beneficial to themselves, should have
continually possessed themselves in-peace, and consistently
reciprocated the good faith and the good feeling which was
shown towards them by the paramount power. Mistrust-"
ful of the good intentions of the British Government, and
dnscrupulous in their dealings with one another, it was
frequently*Metealfe’s duty st this time to turn his thonghts
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from the great work of domestic improvement to the less
gratifying duty of controlling the erratio propensities of
some neighbouring chief.

At the Delhi Residency, as the head-quarters of diplo-
macy in Upper India, there was always a cluster of
“ wakeels,” or agents representing the interests of various
princes and chiefs in the states contiguous to our own.
Some of these were-the agents of petty sovereigns—others
of predatory chiefs—whose empire was yet to be acquired,~
. But all had business to transact with the Resident—all
‘had questions to put and demands to make. And the less
recognised the position of the master, the more prepos-
terous, in all probability, were the proposals of his
servant. It was no uncommon thing for one of these
¢ wakeels” to ask Metcalfe’s permission for his master to
attack some neighbouring state on his own account, or to
be employed in the same work of aggression on the part
of the British Government. And when these overtures
were civilly declined, the agent would sometimes naively
beseech the Resident to tell him whom he might attack.

But there were more difficiult questions than these
demanding solution, Awong the earliest of our allies,
who excited the watchfulness of Metcalfe during his resi-
dence at Delhi, was our, old enemy of Bhurtpore. After
a lapse of eight years, during which the conduct of the
British Government towards him had been uniformly
friendly and considerate, he now, in 1813, became suspi-
cious of our designs, and peremptorily signified his inten-
tion no longer to suffer a British wakeel to reside at his
court. He had committed many excesses on our frontier;
he had destroyed our villages; he had murdered our
people; he had carried off our property. But instead of
chastising him for these offences, we had sent an accre-
dited agent to his court, to be the channel of our represen~
-tations to the Rajah, and thus, it was hoped, to keep him
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in check. But what was the result ? ¢ The petty chief,”
asg Metcalfe wrote, “ after using ineffectually his endeavours
ta"prevent the approach of this friendly agent to his capital,
tries by ill treatment to compel his employers to recall
him; does not permit him to take up his residence at his
court, nor to exercise his functions, nor even to enter the
walls of the capital without special permission, and a
special guard, but keeps him and his people outside of the
town, encamped on the plain, in a state of restraint, and,
moreover, persists in this unfriendly course of proceeding,
though'invited to a more amicable behaviour in the most
conciliatory language; and though warned that a conti-
nuance of such insulting conduct must inevitably give
offence to the British Government.”

The minute from which these extracts were taken is a
long and elaborate one; fall of characteristic energy and
determination, clearly and forcibly expressed. It should
never be forgotten by the reader, whose experiences are
those only of European life, that the minutes of the Indian
statesman, in the history of his career, take the place of
the orations which, under free governments in the western
world, are delivered to senatorial assemblies. The Indian
statesman 13 not stirred by the excitement of popular
applause; his utterances do not reach the ears of hundreds
of auditors, and are only in rare instances subsequently
reflected by the press, and dwelt upon by thousands of
readers. He writes, in the solitude of his own chamber,
under many depressing influences, knowing that what he
Wwrites is to count its readers by units;_but writing never-
theless with his whole heart in his work, earnestly and
enthusiastically, and often with a power of expression
which in cral discourse would charm a popular assembly,
There may be dull writers in India, as there are dull
speakers in England; but there are many exceptions, whom
it would be easy to enumerate; and the name of Charles
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Metcalfe in such an enumeration would be one of the fore-
most in the list.

In his minute o Bhurtpore the writer dwelt earnestly
on the great forbearance which, throughout many years,
had been shown towards the offending state, and he con-
trasted the course which we had adopted, in this instance,
with that which had been followed towards a neighbouring
principality—the Rajpoot state of Jyepore. Partly in
illustration of Metcalfes style—partly because I shall come
presently to speak of our dealings with Jyepore—the follow-
ing passage is given. In such brief, pregnant, antithetical
sentences Metcalfe always rejoiced:

%1t is curious,” he wrote, “in adverting to the events of past
days, to observe how our policy has operated in favour of Bhurt-
pore. We formed alliances about the same period with the states
of Bhurtpore and Jyepore. Both states on the same occasion were
false to their alliances, but in different degrees. Bhurtpore joined
and fought with our enemy Holkar. Jyepore only hesitated to
fulfil its engagement with us. The one which committed the most
venial fault has suffered; the other, which sinned against us more
heinously, has been befriended. With Jyepore we kept on terms
&iring the war with Holkar, and made use of its troops against him;
but after the war we abandoned i to its fate, and the country has
gince been overrun by the armies of Holkar and other frechbooters.
Bhurtpore we had to fight as the ally of Holkar, and we have ever
since protected if against all enemies. Jyepore has been sinking
every day since we dissolved the alliance with that state, and isnow
nearly annihilated. Bhurtpore has been growing in wealth, power,
and consequence under our protection. Jyepore is now at our feet,
begging for protection and alliance. Bhurtpore refuses to admit
our agent to reside at his court.”’ ’

That there was a clear casus beli was never doubted.
Metcalfe recommended that the British Government should
dissolve its alliance with the Bhurtpore Rajah, and send
an overwhelming force against his stronghold. He did
not eounsel the slow process of a regular siege. For some
time past we had been unfortunate in our regular sieges.
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The experienees of the Mahratta war indicated that they
were not seldom wunsuccessful. Instead, therefore, of
attempting to breach Bhurtpore, he recommended that we
should carry it by escalade. Well acquainted as he was
with the peculiar eonstruction of the place, and cognisant
with the circumstances, both of attack and defence, which
had resulte? in our former inglorious failure, he pointed
out, with great precision and distinctuess, the causes of our
past disasters, and indicated the best means of avoiding
them. He was convinced that Bhurtpore would fall
beneath a coup de main. He believed that we wanted
nothing more than the stout heart and the cold steel. He
lived to see the English ensign waving over Bhurtpore; but
the stronghold was carried by another process.

He waited more than ten years to see the realization of
his hopes. The Government of India were not at this
time prepared to undertake a war against Bhurtpore. The
Java expedition had diminished our available resources in
respect both of money and of men. So our resentment
was expressed only by the dismissal of the Bhurtpore
agent from Delhi, whilst another and a higher Tepresenta~
tive of the effended Rajah was permitted to remain at the
court of Calcutta. The intention of Government was
officially announced to Metcalfe, whilst Mr. Seton, who, it
will be remembered, had taken his seat in the Supreme
Council, wrote privately to his old assistant to say they
were deterred from making war, under so great prove-
cation, not by any want of will, but by a lamentable want
of means.*

* “How sadly you have been ammoyed by that weak, wmgrateful
man, the Rajah of Bhurtpore. We may say with truth, <If we
could, we wouldI” He has given us repested canse of effence; and
did the state of our army and our finances (oow very low) admit of
our meeting the probable consequences of an open rupture, we
would of course hold very plain language. But as that is now out
of the question, we must avoid showing our teeth—that is, we
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In the meanwhile, the Jyepore state seemed to be at its
last gasp. Unprotected by the paramount power, and
helpless in itself, it lay at the mercy of all its unscrupulous
neighbours, and all the predatory chiefs who were con-
tinually looking out for some undefended quarter against
which to direct their attacks. That great Rohilla free-
booter, Ameer Khan, whose acquaintance Metcalfe had
made during the war with Holkar, and whose subsequent
career had been one of unbridled excess, was pursuing his
course of spoliation wherever the weakness of others
tenipted him to let loose his banditti; and, another soldicr
of fortune, Shah Khan, was emulating the Rohilla in deeds
of unscrupulous daring. The notorious weakness of Jye-
pore had long excited the cupidity of the former chief, who
in 1811 ravaged the country and reduced the unhappy
prince to a state of feebléness and prostration which
bordered closely upon dissolution. But there were other
trials still in store for him., Scarcely had Ameer XKhan
quitted the Jyepore territory, when the Rajah of Macherry,*

must, whilst ‘we evince to him that we are dissatisfied with his
conduct, take care not to appear too angry—because if we did, we
might lead him to suppose that we would fain go to war with him
at once, if we could, and that conclusion would give rise to another,
viz., that we are too weak to bave recourse to the ultims ratio
regum. On this ground it is that we must, whilst manifesting our
displeasure, preserve our tranquillity; and to borrow an expression
from the Agreeable Surprise, take care ‘not to give him room to
suppose his serene highness (the Governor-General) is in a passion.’
This will explain to you cur motive for not doing more than insist
upon the Rajah’s withdrawing his wakeel from Delhi. Since he
will not agree to receive an accredited agent from you, it is but
fair that you should dismiss his agent from yours. There were,
however, powerful objections to our going still further by dis-
missing his wakeel, who had hitherto been stationed at Calcutta—
or declaring the alliance dissolved.”—[ Seton to Metcalfe, June 21,
1813.] -
- * Macherry is a state bordering. upon Bhurtpore,
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known as the Rao Rajah, entered it with an invading
army, and in the year 1812 took possession of the two
forts of Doobbee and Sikrawa with the territories adjacent
to them, This was an outrage which, although Jyepore
was not under the protection of the British, was to be
remonstrated against and resisted ; and Metcalfe accord-
ingly, through the Rajah's wakeels, called upon him to
make restitution. In spite, however, of the Delhi Resi-
dent’s repeated requests, the usurper remained obdurate.
All through the year of his acquisition, and all through
the following year, he remained in possession of the tracts
of country he had snatched from his neighbour.* It was
time, therefore, that decided steps should be taken to
obtain restifution, so Metcalfe counselled a display of
military force; and in the meanwhile addressed to the
Rajah the following spirited letter of warning and remon-
strance ;

MR. METCALFE TO THE RAOQ RAJAH.

“From your want of attention to my repeated requisitions for
the restoration of Doobbee and Sikrawa to their lawful owner, the
Rajah of Jyepore, I am led to conclude that it is not your intention,
to restore those places.

“If you have no regard for justice; if you think it right in the
sight of God to seize the property of another without cause of

* “He had,” says Colonel Sutherland, *“so long remained in
security, that he had forgotten the danger of involving himself
with his neighbours, and thought the British Government wounld
not arm against him in support of the interests of Jyepore. He
was, t0o, supposed to have collected a treasure of nearly half a
million sterling. It became a question whether in this state of
affairs we should withdraw from the terms of our alliance with the
Rao Rajah, and allow Jyepore to avenge its own wrongs, bringing
on Ulwar (Macherry) all the evils of an invasion from the forces of
that state, those of Ameer Khan, Shah Khan, and other leaders of
predatory bands, or whether we should ourselves assemble an army
to punish the Rao Rajah.”
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offence; if you see no difference between the friendship and enmity
of the British Government; if you see no good in its friendship and
no danger in its enmity; if you prefer the retaining of Doobbee
and Sikrawa te the contimuance of the friendship of the British
Government, and think that you can retain those places in spite of
the British Govermment; if you prefer war with the British
Government to the restoration of those places; if you feel yourself
strong, and fancy the British Government weak; if you think that
success will attend you in war,—~then all T can say will be
unavailing. What will be, will be.

“But if you believe that the British Government does possess
any power; if you are aware that its anger is to be feared ; if you
know that it adheres to a determination once formed,—then I
conjure you to pay attention to your true interests. Do not, I
implore you, suffer designing men to mislead you. They are
plotting your ruin, and will rejoice st your destruction.

“Do not imagine from the moderation which has been shown
‘that this point can eyer be conceded to you. That is impossible.
The British Government has a sincere regard for you, and there-
fore has not yet proceeded to forcible measures, in the hope that
you may be persuaded by advice and remonstrance to do what is
necessary in justice to the Rajah of Jyepore. But if you do not
restore Doobbee and Sikrawa, sooner or later measures of nnother
nature will be necessary, and then repentance will be vain.

% Never, never, never, will the ‘British Government cease to
demand the restoration of Deobbee and Bikrawa to the Rajah of
Jyepore; and if to accomplish that purpose war be mnavoidable,
bowever mach it will regret the necessity of hostilities, still it will
not fail to do its utmost %o eompel you to perform that indispensable
act of justice.

“ Take your choice. Choose between the friendship and the anger
of the British Government, and tell me plainly what you are
determined to do.

] perform the duty of & friend n giving you warning. If you
should be ruined by not following my advice, you will not have to
blame me, T have given you notice. Remember what I say.”

‘Such remonstrances, such warnings as these, were
thrown away wpon the Rajgh. Earnestly, therefore,
Metcalfe recommended Government to authorize the
employment of a military force to compel the recusant
chief to make an unconditional surrender of the places he
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had eonquered, and to pay the expenses of assembling our
troops. Lord Moira had by this time entered upon the
government of India. The tone in which Metcalfe wrote
on the subject to his friend John Adam, then Political
Secretary, pleased the new Governor-General, o whom the
Delhi letters were confidentially submiited, and impressed
him with a high opinion ef the moral and intellectual
qualities of the Resident® The authority which Met-
calfe sought was granted to him. A military force was
assembled ; a demonsiration was made. The British
troops advanced within a march of the capital; and then
the Rajah yielded to our demands. The places which he
had usurped were restored to their legitimate owners ; and
he was compelled to open his treasury to repay us for the
expenses we had incurred in bringing him thus tardily to
reason. :
Viewed by themselves, these were but small matters,

* «T could not refuse myself the satisfaction of communicating
Yyour letters confidentially to Lord Moira, who entered fully and
cordially into the spirit and tendency of your reasoning, and is
disposed to go the full length of all your views in the event of the
early submission of the Rao Rajah not disarming us. He considers
your letter to contain a very able view of the affairs to which it
refers, and not less just than able. Tt is his opinion that the mere
submission of & power, which has forced you inte an expensive and
hazardous sppeal to arms, even though accompanied by the eession
of the objects in dispute, to be sufficient for the interests of a
state (I wse his own words)—that there should be infliction to
deter others from imposing upon us a similar embarrassing neces-
sity, and other observations to the same effect. If we actually engage
in war, then I bave very little doubt that he will be disposed to
make the Rajah smart for his conduet. The instructions of the

- 1st authorize yon to reduce him to aneonditional submission in the
ease supposed. ‘To-day I shall send yom an answer to your last
despatch, conveying authority to enforce paymentof the expense
of assembling the troops, even if he should surrender before the
smm% is drawn.”—{Joln Adam to Charles Metralfe, November 15,
1813.
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scarcely deserving of the space which I have bestowed
upon them, in such a memoir as this, But they were
parts of a great aggregate of evil—examples of the con-
fused and embarrassing state of our relations with the
numerous petty states of Central India, resulting from
those great peace measures of 1806, which Metcalfe at the
time criticised with so much severity and censured with so
much warmth. It appeared to him now that we were
beginning to reap the difficulties and perplexities we had
sown ; and that a general adjustment of our relations with
these states was imperatively demanded for the security of
our position and the establishment of a permanent peace.
‘We were now, indeed, on the threshold of great events. It
was plainly foreseen that some vast political changes were
at hand ; and there was not a statesman of high repute
between the banks of the Jumna and the western coast
who was not eager for the settlement of which I have
spoken, even though it should be preceded by a great and
burdensome war. The crisis, indeed, was close upon us.
Compromises and concessions conld not much longer retard
its approach.

The thost peaceful rulers who ever governed our Indian
Empire have left to their successors a sad heritage of
political convulsion, military strife, and financial embar-
ragsment, The greatest wars which have taxed the wisdom
of our Indian statesmen and the energies of our Indian
armies have been undertaken by the successors of Lord
Teignmouth, Lord Minto, and Lord William Bentinck. It
seems as though in the Eastern world the moderation of
our rulers could bear only the bitter fruit of war and
conquest—that forbearance in one year were but the
antecedent of compulsory violence and aggression in
another—that the most steadfast resolution to go so far
and no farther, formed, in all honesty and all wisdom, by
the least ambitious of our statesmen, could only pave the
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way to new.vietories and new additions of territory to an
empire already “ overgrown.”

When in the autumn of 1813 Lord Binto sailed from
India, the country, as he belicved, was lapped in universal
repose. But scarcely had Lord Moira seated himself in
the vacant chair, when it seemed to him that war was
inevitable. Mutterings of distant hostility reached him
from many quarters, and stirred the heart of the old soldier
as with the sound of a trumpet. He did not long remain
inactive at the Presidency. Mis associates in the Supreme
Government dissented from the views of the Governor-
General, and strife between them was speedily engendered.
In the autumn of 1814 Lord Moira turned his back npon
the Presidency; and then the war became a war of
minutes. Into the merits of this controversy I am not
called upon to enter. It is safficient to state the fact, that
the greater part of the long administration, on which this
narrative has now entered, was disturbed by continual
hostilities with neighbouring states. The first of these
was a war with Nepaul. The depredations committed by
the Goorkhas on onr borders—the continual ‘insecurity of
our frontier which the conduct of these hardy mountaineers
entailed upon us—called for a display of military force.
Preparations were made for the coercion of onr offending
neighbours ; and the commencement of the ensning cold
season—the cold season of 1814-15—saw our armies again
in motion. .

The events of the Goorkha war are not connected with
the biography of Charles Metcalfe by any other link than
that of the cotrespondence which he carried on with many
of the chief actors in it—with Ochterlony; with Jasper
Nicolls, with the young Engineer Lawtie, with his old
assistant Gardner, now employed in a political capacity on
the Nepaul frontier, and with others, who contributed more
or less to the ultimate success of our operations. The



282 THE POLITICS OF UPPER INDIA,

correspondence was not a cheering one, For some time it
treated mainly of misfortune. The war opened with a
disastrous failure at Kalunga, where the gallant Gillespie,
attempting to carry a strong fortress without breaching,
was shot through the heart at the head of his men. Och-
terlony, aided, as in his generous candour the veteran ever
delighted to acknowledge, by the brave-hearted, quick-
witted subaltern Lawtie, achieved some partial successes ;
but he did not think that he was strong enough to follow
them up ; he had never been able te perceive the wisdom
of the war, and had little taste for the service on which he
was employed.®* Marley and Wood failed miserably.
Nicolls did better things, and laid the foundation of an
honourable fame. But, looking at the whole, the outset of
the war was calamitous and discreditable ; and Metcalfe,
disappointed by repeated tidings of failure and disaster,
began to think that the beginning of the end had arrived,
and that our Indian Empire would soon be shaken to the
base. Tt was his opinion that a grand cardinal error bad
_been committed in not effecting the settlement of Central
India before entering upon this Goorkha campaign. It was
his opinion, also, that we were too prone to under-rate the
strength and despise the resources of our enemies; that
our failures generally resplted from over-confidence ; that
we were far too prone $o fling ourselves, without ordinary
caution, upon the strongholds of our enemies ; and that

* On his first appaintment to command a division of the army
in the field, Ochterlony wrote to Metcalfe: % A new sart of service,
‘my dear friend! 1have mot the least objection to 2 proper vindi~
cation of the national honour, and, if necessary, an sttack on the
heart; of their empire, Catamandoo, or some of the members in this
quarter; but to set off with the idea of everthrowing a long-
established Government, and for such an unprofitable purpose,
appears to me the most Quixotic and the most nnpolmemeamre
we have ever attempted—setting aside all physical difficulties.”——
[dugust 25, 1814, M.8. Correspondence.}
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inasmuch as our tenure of Jndia was dependent upon
the assertion of our military superiority in the field, and
that as on several recent occasioms this superiority had
been assumed rather than demonstrated, our very position
in India was threatened by the recurrence of such failures.
There were remedies for this he believed at our command,
and it was our duty to revort fo them. What they were
he was eager to indicate—and, in a paper which he for-
warded to Lord Moira, in November, 1814, he emphatically
set them forth. He was a civilian ; but he was no novice
in the art of war; he had lived much in the camp; he
had seen much of military operations; he had observed
our failures, as he had our successes, and traced both to
their source. It was no presumption in him, therefore, to
write on military questions, a3 affected by local circum-
stances in Upper India, even for the guidance of so ripe a
soldier as the man then at the head of affairs.

At this tfme, holding the offices both of Govermor-
General and Commander-in-Chief, Lord Meira, attended
by a numercus suite, was progressing through the upper
provinces of Hindostan. Among other arrangements,
was one, which was to bring the Delhi Resident, accom-
panied by the “wakeely” of the different native courts
within his diplomatic circle, to the vice-regal camp at
Moradabad., But early in November there was a con-
juncture of circumstances which rendered Metcalfe’s
detention at the imperial city a very probable state-
necessity, 8o he despatched to his friend John Adam,
Political Secretary, his paper or the conduct of the war,
to be submitted to the Governor-General, “I transmit,”
he wrote, ® the accompanying, for submission to Lord
Moira, with some trepidation ; because I am not sure that
his Lordship will approve of my intruding my thoughts
on his notice, o a subject not perhaps within the bounds
of my official duty ; nevertheless, I transmit it under a
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conviction, probably erroneous, but working powerfully
in my mind, that the subject demands early consideration
in the point of view in which I have stated it—in which
point of view it may not for some time be seen unless
brought to notice. His Lordship may deem my opinions
absurd, and my conduct in thrusting those opinions upon
him presumptuous, but he will, I trust, bestow an indulgent
consideration on the motive by whichI am actuated ; and
pardon a presumption which proceeds solely from anxiety
for the public welfare.”

In the paper thus submitted to the Governor-General,
Metcalfe, after alluding to the recent disaster at Kalunga,
proceeded to declare his opinion that we held India -only
by the sword, that the overawing weapon was being
blunted in our hands, and that our tenure of the country
was precarious. He had begun already to broach those
theories which, emphatically propounded at a later period,
were said to be little in.accordance with the general sound
sense and equable temper of -the man, but which are now
fegarded as signs only of his unexampled prescience :—

“ Every successive failure of this déscription is more disastrous,
on account of its influence on the stability of our power than on
account either of the lamentable fall of brave men, or the tem-
porary derangement of the plans of Government, much as both of
these effects are to be deplored. -

< The present opportunity is taken for attempting to bring this
subject to notice, in the hope that the recollectiorr of the circum-
stances of our recent disaster may procure some attention to
opinions, which cannot derive any weight from their owner, which
would probably be disregarded in a time of peace, and might
appear ridiculous in a career of uninterrupted victory. These
opiniéns were first excited by personal observations in the
field, and have been strengthened by attention to subsequent
events. « .« . .

“ Whatever delusions may prevail in England respecting the
security to be derived from the affections of our Indian subjects,
and a character for moderation and forbearance with foreign native
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states, it will probably be admitted in India, that our power
depends solely on our military superiority. Yet there is reason to
apprehend that our comparative superiority is in some measure
diminished in consequence of a general increase of discipline,
experience, skill, and cornfidence, on the part of the military of
India.”

Having laid down these general propositions, he pro-
ceeded to declare that there was, as there still is, in our
armies, a dangerous tendency to under-rate the strength of
our enemies. Metcalfe had seen something of this in the
Mahratta war. He was familiar with the language of the
camp. He knew that it was the fashion to speak slightingly
of both the courage and the prowess of our enemies, He
knew that men who accepted with caution these disparaging
estimates were called ¢ croakers;” that it was considered,
indeed, something almost ignominious to question our
ability to crush all opposition at a blow. And, knowing
this, he felt at the outset of what promised to be a long and
harassing campaign that there was nothing more to be
guarded against than this over-weening confidence in our
gallantry, our resources, and our fortune :—

“ It is desirable, in the first instance, that the favourable reports
received beforehand relative fo the weakness of an enemy’s for~
tresses and the inefficiency of his'troops should be listened to with
caution, Men of sanguine dispositions give favourable reports, and
anticipate unqualified victories, without reflecting on the possibi-
lity of difficulties and the chances of falure, because it is in their
nature to do so. Other men, not sanguine, are generally very loth
to express an unfavourable opinion, There is always the chance
of success. Encouraging intelligence is always the more agree-
able; and men do not like to subject themselves to the reproach of
being alarmists. 'We are apt to despise our opponents, till from
defeat we acquire an opposite sensation. Before we come to the
contest, their powers of resistance are ridiculed. “Their forts are
said to be contemptible, and their arms are described to be useless,
Yet we find on the trial, that with these useless weapons in their
contemptible forts they can deal about death among their assailants,
and stand to their defences, notwithstanding the skill and bravery
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of our azmy. If we were not misled beforchand by & flattering
persuasior of the facility of conquest, we should take greater pains
to secure it.”

These pregnant truths are truths equally to be regarded
now, after the lapse of forty years of conquest, not
unchequered by repeated disaster. It were well that a
warning voice, again and again proclaiming them, should
be lifted up at the outset of every new campaign.

After speaking in detail of past disasters, of some of
which, as our great miscarriage at Bhurtpore, he had
personal cognizance, he proceeded to express a very strong
conviction that we had failed in all our sieges to turn
our ordnance to the best account—that if we were to
bring into the field powerful mortar-batteries, with good
stores of shells, and try the effect of a brisk and long-

.continued vertical fire upon the besieged places, they would,
if not evacuated by the enemy, be easily carried by

assault

“ We have on our side,” he said, “ the science of Europe, and we
eught to bring it inte play. Economy in this department is
ruinous. We ought ta be lavish of the eontents of our arsenals,
and saving of the lives of our men. We ought to make defence
fmpracticable and hopeless. 'We ought to overpower resistance by
the vastness of our means. There is & branch of equipment in
sieges which wmight be made of more use than it is at present to
the great annoyance of the enemy, and frequently to its total
expulsion, A great number of mortars and an abundant supply of
shells should be attached to every besieging army. There are
many gituations in which, from the natural difficulties of the
position, an assault ¢annot take place without considerable hazard
of fallure. In such cases, an incessant shower of shells, day and
nmight, might make the place too warm for the garrison, and
obviate the necessity of a storm. There are other occasions in
which it may bq desirable to svoid the delay of all the operations
of a siege. And on such occasions bombarding day and night
might accomplish the object in a short time. There are some
situations for which the mode of pperation is peculiarly suitable«w
for instance, the small hill forts of the Goorkhas appear to be of
this description ; and had Kalunga been bombarded day and night
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for a8 many days as we were before it prior to our attempt to storm
it, it is probable that we thould not now have ip lament our
disastrous failure at that place, and the loes of our gallant general
and his brave companions in death.”

These practical considerations Metcalfe supported by
adducing several instances of the success of shelling derived
from the recent annals of Indian warfare. On some
occasions he admitted that it might be expedient “for the
speedy accomplishment of a great object to risk a bazardous
assault.” The capture of Alighur by a coup de main at the
very commencement of the Mahratta war, had tended, in
no small measure, to secure the success of all our subse-
quent operations. Metcalfe had been of opinion enly a
little while before this paper ‘was written, that if we again
undertook to besiege Bhurtpore, it would be expedient to
attempt to carry it by a cowp de main. But these were
exceptional cases ; and the writer continued to dwell upon
the expediency of following the more cautious mode of
operation. One thing, at all events, was certain. If war
were to be made, it was espedient to make it with full
consideration, and with sufficient means. "We were at this
time on the threshold of some momentous enterprises. The
Indian army did not seem, s then constituted, to be com~
petent to the successful performance of the great work that
lay before it. So Metealfe did not hesitate to denounce
the thrifty policy of the Home Government, and to call fur
an augmentation of the army.

“The writer of these remarks,” he said, in conclusion, *does
rot shrink from briefly stating his opinion, that an increase of our
army is highly expedient, and, perhaps, absolutely necessary for
our existeuce in India; and that we ought to govern gur policy by
different considerations from those which regulate the orders of
the Government at home. Qur power on India rests upon our
military superiority. Tt has no foundation in the affections of our
subjects. Tt canmot derive support from the good will or good
faith of our neighbours. It can only be upheld by vor military
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prowess, and that policy is best suited to our situation in India
which tends in the greatest degree to increase our military power
by all means consistent with justice.”

Looking at our recent disasters at Kalunga with the cye
of a true soldier—the eye of one who had once been what
old Sir Theophilus used to call the “ nurse of King's
officers "—Metcalfe, in this paper, hit the blot to a nicety,
and suggested the true remedy. His recommendations
were justified by the result. After another failure, rendered
memorable by something even more lamentable than the
death of the gallant Gillespie, the effect of a bombardment
was tried. Never was anything more completely successful.
Our mortars and howitzers did terrible execution among
the defiant garrison of Kalunga. In a little while the air
was tainted by the decaying bodies of heaps of men
destroyed by our murderous shells, and all resistance was
at an end. Out of the six hundred defenders of the
place only seventy escaped. The fortrcas was speedily
demolished ; and soon passing travellers related that not
one stone was left upon another.

The general opinions officially expressed in the con-
cluding passages of the memorandum had found utterance
a few days beforeé in a private letter to Metcalfe's old
friend Richard Jenkins, then Resident at Nagpore, whom
he had not seen for many years, but whom he still
affectionately remembered. Jenkins, who, now become a
mature statesman, shared with Elphinstone and Metcalfe
the honours of the highest diplomatic triumvirate in the
country, had drawn up an elaborate paper on qur alliances
with the states in the direction of the Berar country and
the Nerbudda territories ; and a copy of it had been sent
to the Delhi Resident, who read it with dehght, and
returned it with the followmg letter to the writer—a letter
in which Metcalfe thus expounded his general views of the
extent to which it behoved the British Government to
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adhere to, or depart from, their system of non-inter-
ference >

“ We require, by-the-by, an increase of revenune to enable us to
maintain an increase of the army, rendered necessary to all ap-
pearance by the extension of our connections, as well as the great
extent of our frontier. I do not know, however, that an increase
of the army is im contemplation, or that the necessity is admitted
by those who are to judge; I only speak my own sentiments on
this point. It is curious to observe how frequently we are com-
pelled by policy to deviate from our fized principles. I remember
the time when the advancement of our influence on the Sutlej was
reprobated even by Lord Wellesley as too great an extension, of
our views. Subsequently proposals to that effect were repeatedly
rejected, until my mission to Lahore, which produced at least the
benefit of an arrangement that has been attended with the best
effects ; though, when I went on that mission, it was not in con-
templation to protect the chiefs between the Suilej and the Jumna,
other plans being in contemplation for the conciliation of Runjeet
Singh, whom at that time it was impossible to conciliate. QOur
subsequent interference in favour of Nagpore against Meer Khan
was another deviation from our system, and a very wise one. I
only regret that we did not take advantage of thé opportunity to
make the Rajah purchase our permanent protection on our own
terms. Various arrangements since have shown other deviations
from our system ; and it only remains to renounce & system from
which we are always compelled to deviate. Our power in India is
a0 strangely constituted that, unless we take advantage of all fair
opportunities to increase our strength, we may meet some day
with unexpected reverses, and have our power shaken toits centre,
if not overturned. It is doubtful, X think,-how long we shall
preserve our wonderful empire in India; but the best chance of
preserving it must arise from our making ourselves strong by all
Jjust means ; not from an absurd system which would affect to look
on with indifference at the increasing strength of others, and to
trust for our existence to the unattainable character of unambitious
amiable innocence and forbearance. Are you acquainted with the
plans of Government regarding Nepaul? If not, I can gend yon
some information regarding them.”

Such opinions as are here expressed were not distasteful

8t head-quarters. The paper which Metcalfe forwarded to
voL, I L
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Lord Moira was favourably received ;* and it was soon
responded to by an invitation to the writer to visit the
Governor-General's camp. “ As the immediate urgency,”
wrote John Adam, on the 21st of November, * for your
remaining at Delhi has diminished, Lord Moira has desired
me to say that he will be happy if you can meet him at
Moradabad, where he expects to arrive in ten days from
this date. . . . . Hislordship is of opinion that as you are
yourself to come to Moradabad, it will be more conve-
nient to bring your host of native visitors to that station,
or near it, than to postpone them till his arrival at
Kurnaul, as proposed in Swinton’s letter to you.” This
business of the reception was, indeed, an important one.
The near approach of the vice-regal camp had thrown not
only the royal family of Delhi, but the whole circle of
native diplomatists, into a state of excitement; and arrange-
ments were now to be made both for the reception of his
Majesty’s delegates and the crowd of lesser wakeels, and
for a deputation of British functionaries to the imperial
court.}

* On the first receipt of the paper, John Adam had written to
Metcalfe that there was little doubt of his lordship’s approbation.
“The indispensable mesasure,” he said, “*of nugmenting the
military force is, I fear, not to be expected. With respect to the
mode of conducting operations sgainst fortified places, his lord-
ship’s judgment had long since adopted a conclusion corresponding
to yours; and the utmost care has been taken not only to furnish
the forces destined to act against the Nepaulese with an ample
equipment of mortars, howitzers, and shells, but to enjoin in the
most positive manner the use of them to the utmost. The neglect
of this order at Kalunga it is too late to discuss, and must ever be
lamented.”—[John Adam to Charles Metralfe, November 20, 1814.
M.S. Correspondence.]

1 Some grave questions of no very easy solution, arising out of
the windy dignity of the poor puppet of Delhi, had suggested
themselves to the authorities at head-quarters. It was not
improbable that the Mogul, considering rather what he, or his
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“J am going immediately to meet his lordship at Morad-
abad,” wrote Metcalfe to Jenkins on the 24th of November.
By the end of the month he was in the vice-regal camp.
The ceremonies, of which he was then master, were soon
over, and more serious business was in hand.

There were many important questions to be put to the
Delhi Resident—much information to be sought which
only he could satisfactorily afford :—what effect our recent
disasters had upon the people of the Delhi territory and
the adjacent country, and on the minds of the dependent
chiefs and independent princes of Hindostan—what would
be their influence on the mind of Runjeet Singh—what
steps should be taken to counteract such influence—what
course of conduct ought to be pursued towards Bhurtpore
—whether, and under what circumstances, the Governor-
General should have a personal interview with the King of

ancestors, had been, than what be was, would refuse to pay to the
Governor-General such compliments as the Governor-General was
willing to pay to him. This especially in the matter of nuzzurs
or presents of homage—the interchange of which Lord Moira
considered desirable td avoid even with the King—but he intimated
that he would not object to it, if required, *“or to any other
indispensable forms, under a conviction that they cannot be
misconstrued into demonstrations of homage on his own part.”
“ His lordship,” added Mr. Adam, “will also expect that if his
deputation present nuzzurs to the King, his Majesty’s deputation
will present nuzzurs to the Governor-General, ‘and in all respects
perform the same or corresponding ceremonies.” The appre-
hensions here glanced at were justified by the result. Metealfe
could not persuade the unhappy King that, if he were to mest the
Governor-General at all, it was incumbent upon him to meet hjs
lordship as an equal. The Shah stll required that some acknow-
ledgment of his superiority should be shown; so the Governot-
General declined the interview. *Have the goodness, therefore,”
wrote the Chief Secretary to Metcalfe, after the former had left
the camp of the Governor-General, “with your accustomed
diplomatic ability, to reconcile the King to the impracticability of
a meeting.”

L2
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Delhi—whether the power of granting native titles should
be left in the hands of the imperial puppet, or assumed by
the British Government-—whether an agent from Shah
Soojah, the fugitive King of Caubul, should be received in
the vice-regal camp, and, lastly, what was the general
political and military condition of the upper provinces of
India with reference to the defence of our frontier and the
expediency of consolidating our power in the interior of
India? For the solution of all these questions, the Governor-
General and his ministers looked eagerly to Metcalfe's
arrival in camp,* ‘

At Lord Moira’s head-quarters were many able men.
Civilians of high repute and soldiers of large experience
and sound judgment clustered around him. It happened
that the chief of these were Charles Metcalfe’s friends—
Charles Ricketts, John Adam, and George Swinton, the
chief ministerial functionaries, and George Fagan, the
Adjutant-General, all knew and esteemed Metcalfé—nay,
they loved him ; and now they eagerly welcomed among
them one whose public character and personal qualities
were equally valued by them. They had all spoken of
him to Lord Moira in language of becoming admiration.
To the Governor-General, indeed, who had often heard,
and on perusing the despatches of the Delhi Resident had
echoed his praises, Metcalfe was presented as no stranger.
He was received at once into the councils of the vice-regal
camp. Such an accession of strength in such a juncture
was welcome in the extreme.

. For the juncture was one which, in the eyes of Lord
Moira and his staff, demanded the exercise of all the talent
that could be pressed into their service. The Goorkhas,
who were defying us from their hill-forts ; the Pindarrees,
who were ravaging our frontiers ; the Mahratta princes,

* “Memorandum of points for discussion with Mr. Metcalfe,”
drawn up by Mr. John Adam.—[ M. Records.)
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who, sheltered by the name of ally, were looking eagerly
for a favourable opportpnity to assail us—were not the
only enemies whose skill and courage at this time dis-
quieted the Governor-General. There was a contest raging
between the head-quarters’ camp and the council-chamber
of Calcutta; and the Pindarrees of Leadenhall-street, with
their restrietions and retrenchments, were assailing the rear
of the Governor-General. Mr. Edmonstone was then
Vice-President of the Council. Mr. Seton and Mr. Dow-
deswell were his associates in the Government. The
current business of the administration was in the hands of

.those three gentlemen; and though the power of war-
making and peace-making belonged to the Governor-
General, the councillors had still the means of conducting

"an opposition which, however futile for the time, might,
backed by the Court of Directors and the Board of Control,
eventually be successful, and was, at all events, embarrass-
ing and annoying.

Edmonstone was a host in himself. He had immense
experience, a sound head, a ready pen, and a reputation
second to none in India. It was with deep sorrow that he
arrayed himself against the Governor-General; but what
he believed to be his duty he was not, one to shrink from
doing, and he recorded his opinions with the calm confi~
dence of one never doubting the goodness of his cause, but
deploring the mnecessity of asserting. it. Lord Moira
respected his opponent; as did all the mimisterial officers
in his camp—Dbut he was not on that account less anxious
to refute bim. e saw the necessity of having able men
at his elbow to expound his opinions and to give effect to-
his projects; and he soun saw that Metcalfe was one who
would eumter with his whole soul into the views of the
Governor-General, making light of those very difficulties’
which were being continually paraded before him by his
anfagonists of the Caleutta Council. The longer Metcalfe
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remained in the camp of the Governor-General, thes more
plainly it appeared that his policy was identical with that
which Lord Moira was inclined to favour. Indeed, the
boldness and decision with which Metcalfe declaged his
opinions, seemed to fix and rivet those of the Govérnor-
General and disperse all doubts and misgivings. It was
pleasing to the old soldier to be thus supported by one of
India’s younger statesmen; and all the, ministerial officers
by whom he was surrounded delighted in the thought that
they had obtained the assistance of so therough-going and
efficient an ally.

Invited to declare his opinions freely, Metcalfe not only
delivered them, without reservation, in oral discourse, but
fully expounded them in elaborate minutes. In one
written in December, 1814, in the Governor-General’s
camp, he laid down a detailed plan for-the scttlement of
Central India, prefaced by a series of general propositions,
declaring that everything must give place to the necessity

-of maintaining an overwhelming military establishment.®
But it was apparent to him that now that we had once
embarked in the Nepaul war, nothing else could be done
until we extricated ourselves from it with honour. The
dangers it had entailed upon wus, he. said, were great;
for England could not fail with impunity, and we were
now surrounded with enemies all eager to take advantage
of our discomfiture:{ # There is Runjeet Singh,” he wrote

* More detailed mention of this paper will be found in the
following chapter.

t+ That Metcalfe, at this time, was not inclined to under-rate the
extent of our failures, or the danger which they brought upon us,
may be gathered from some passages in a letter written to Mr.
Jenking about this time (Jan. 15, 1815). In this letter the writer
says: “We have met with an enemy who shows decidedly greater
‘bravery and greater steadiness than our troops possess; and it is
impossible to say what may be the end of such’'a reverse of the
order of things, In some instances our troops, European and
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in a paper given to Lord Moira, in January, 1815, *look-
ing eagerly on from the north-west. There is Meer Khan
within a few marches of the Delhi and Agra frontiera.
There are Scindiah and the Rajah of Nagpore settling
whether they shall attack us or not; and thus virtually
menacing our frentier from Agra down to Cuttack. There
are the Pindarrees ready to pour themsélves into every
defenceless country. Had the operations of our campaign
against the Goorkhas been decidedly successful, the war
would have increased ofir reputation and power; and so
far from encouraging any hostile designs of other powers,
would have deterred all enemies from such designs. But
when our numerous enemies see us entangled and embaxr-
rassed in an unsuccessful war, it is hardly to be'expected
that they will refrain from taking advantage of such a
favourable opportunity, unless they be overawed by suit-
able arrangements and proportionate exertions on our
part.”

Under such circumstances Metcalfe argued that it was
desirable fo conclude peace with Nepaul as soon, as a blow
could be struck at the Goorkha power—such a blow as
would relieve us of all apprehensions of their again inviting
a contest with the British. This, he said, could only be
done by commencing operations upon a much larger scale

native, have been repulsed by inferior numbers with sticks and
stones. In others, our troops have been charged by the enemy
sword in band, and driven for miles like a flock of sheep. Inga
late instance of complete rout, we lost more muskets by a great
number than there were killed, wounded, and missing. In short
I, who have always thought our power in India precarious,
cannot help thinking that our downfall has already commenced.
Our power rested solely on our military superiority. With
respect to one enemy, that is gone. In this war, dreadful to
say, we have had numbers on our side, and skill and bravery on
the gide of our enemy. We have had the inhabitants of the
country disposed to favour us, and yet overawefl, notwithstanding
our presence and partial success, by the character of our enemy.”



296 THE POLITICS OF UPPER INDIA,

than had been previously instituted. “Let every effort,”
he said, “be made to open the mext campaign with an
overwhelming force. And, finally, let every opportunity
be embraced for concluding an honourable peace, since it
is only by a ruinous expense and unprecedented exertions
that entire sucgess is to be expected in a continuance of the
war.” No better recommendation than this could have
been offered. But how was it to be carried into effect?
Metcalfe declared that the crisis was a great one ; and that
it was incumbent on the Government to make extraordi-
nary exertions to bring an overwhelming force into the
field. “Reinforcements of Europeans and natives,” he
said, “ should be brought to as great an amount as can be
obtained from the other Presidencies. European regiments
should be called from our other colonies, even from Eng-
land. Every exertion,” he continued, “that would be
made in times of imminent peril ought to be made now to
ward off a peril which appears to be mot improbable.”
“We never had,” said Metcalfe, “an enemy to contend
with in India so formidable as our present enemy. * None
other ever displayed so much bravery in action or so much
system, skill, and conduct, so much prudent caution, and
so much well-timed confidence.” None other ever possessed
a country so easily defended and so difficult to the invader,
and so detrimental to the peculiar advantages which we
should otherwise have over our enemy. All these consi-
derations démand serious attention. Let us resolve tfo
evince ‘to this bold enemy that we have the means of
crushing him. If we cannot secure an opportunity of
defeating his assembled army in the field, let us show him
that we can collect a force against which opposition would
be fruitless. Let us show him that our resources are not
confined to6 local means; and that if a small army be not
sufficient to reyenge our wrongs, the British nation can
send us an overpowering one.”
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The truth of these propositions was acknowledged, and-
the suggestions put forth were *approved” by the
Governor-General. Indeed, what in this paper was so
emphatically propoundgd, bad. already been submitted,
in another shape, to Lord Moira, and bhad elicited his
approbation. Many were the papers which, at this and a
little later period, Metcalfe drew up for the guidance of the
Governor-General,* and very much that he then wrote

* A catalogue of these papers is given in the following extract
from a letter written to Mr. Jenkins in May, 1816:

“ Many thanks ” wrote Metcalfe, “for your permission to see
your letter on the political state of India. I shall apply to Close
for it. Llphinstone told me it was admirable. I would with the
greatest pleasure send you mine, though I fear the very reverse
of admirable; and it requires a little detail to explain why I cannot.
I happened to be the first in the field in writing on this subject.
After the first foilure at Kalunga, I thought the opportenity a
good one for procuring attention to opinions strongly impressed on
my mind, which I knew would be unpopular, and I volunteered a
paper to Lord Moira on the causes of our numerous failures of late
years, beginning with that of Bhurtpore, and on the necessity of
adopting measures to ensure success. This was answered by a call
to head-quarters. Immediately after my arrival there, I gavein a
paper on the measures to be pursued in consequence of the state of
affairs at that period. This was soon followed by another, con-
taining a view of the political state of India, or, as Adam called it,
De Rebus Omnibus, anud recommending the settlement of Central
India, the suppression of all predatory powers, the protection of all
weak powers, the acquisition of 23 much territory and revenue as
the chances of just war might throw into our hands, and, in short,
the establishment of our supreme influence over the whole country
within the Sutlej and Indus. - This was followed by another paper
on the progress of the Goorkha war—next by one on an alliance
with Jyepore—then one on our military policy and establishments
—then another on the settlement of Central India—with several
intermediate ones which I do not accurately recollect. The whole
would form a large volume—but they were all written in such
haste, that of the greater part I have rio record, the drafis having
been sent from my hand to the principal private secretary, and
never returned, and of the few foul drafts which remain in my
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was embodied in substance, and sometimes in his very
words, in the minutes of the head of the Government. Ie
spent about a month—including the Christmas and New
Year of 1814-15—in the camp of the Governor-General,
making himself all this time very useful and very agree-
able, and leaving a blank behind him when he went, His
separation, however, from his friends of the Governor-
General’s Staff was not of a very long continuance. The
pride of the poor Mogul, who insisted upon the acknow-
ledgment of his superiority over the British Viceroy, pre-
vented, as has been seen, Lord Moira’s visit to Delhi; but
a deputation, consisting of the principal officers of his
public and private staff, was to proceed, soon after Met-
calfe’s departure, to the court of the pageant-king; ard,
at the same time, Lady Loudoun,* with a considerable
retinue, was to visit the imperial city. When, therefore,
Metcalfe returned to Delhi, it was his pleasing duty to
make preparations for the reception of his friends, and
- to reciprocate the hospitalities he had received.

How, for some little time after this, Metcalfe was com-
pelled to play the part of master of the ceremonies—to .
introduce the British deputation to the Mogul Emperor—
to attend Lady Loudeun—to manage the meeting of the
Countess with the Begum Sumroo, and to superintend the
introduction of her Highness to the Governor-General,

possession I have taken no care_not thinking them worth the
perusal of any one except the person for whose information they
were written, and on whose want of information I presumed to
give value to the matter, notwithstanding the fhults of the com~
position. If, however, I can ever put my hand on any, I will send
them with all their fanlts on their heads. Success to your
negotiation. Wish the same to mine, for I am about to commence
one with Jyepore. Sooner or later, if not very soon, we maust
undertake the subjugation of all India.”

i'h'.['he lady of the Governor-General—a countess in her own
right.
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need not be told in detail. Before the month of January
had worn to a close, Metcalfe was again in the Governor-
General's camp, and again in council with his ministers.
Throughout a eonmderable part of February he remained
at head-quarters, and the longer he remained the more
strongly was Lord Moira impressed with the conviction
that in the great battle which he was about to fight for
the settlement of Central India, both with his colleagues
in the local Goverament and with the Ilome authorities,
it would be expedient to have at his elbow a man who
so well understood the whole subject, and who was prepared
with such an array of arguments in defence of the policy
which was favoured at head-quarters.

But how was this to be accomplished consistently with
existing arrangements? How was Metcalfe to be removed
from Delhi to a-seat worthy of his acceptance-in the
Secretariat? There were changes in that winter of 1814-15
evolving themselves, which seemed to afford facilities for
such an arrangement as might bring the Delhi Resident
to the vice-regal court. Mr. Tucker, who had filled long
and worthily the office of Financial Secretary, had been
promoted to the Chief Secretaryship, and soon afterwards
announced his intention of proceeding upon leave to sea,
and subsequently, as the event proved, to England. This
movement caused a vacancy in the Secretariat which it
was necessary to fill. Mr. Dowdeswell, who had been
Chief Secretary, had succeeded to the Supreme Council ;
Mr. Charles Ricketts was now Chiefand Private Secretary,
Mr. Butterworth Bayley was Judicial Secretary; Mr. Adam
wag Political Secretary; Mr. Swinton was Persian Secre-
tary. But the Financial Secretatyship, which Mr. Tucker
had held before his promotion, was still vacant, It was
proposed, therefore, to Metcalfe, that he should, in the
first instance, enter upon this office, with the reversion
of the Private Secretaryship on the expacted retirement
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of Mr. Ricketts. The proposal was a perplexing one. All
through the spring and summer of 1815 this great per-
sonal question continued from time to time to distract his
mind. He clung with peculiar fondness to the Delhi
Residency; he knew that he was useful there; but it was
probable that a larger ephere of usefulness might be opened
out to him by his transfer to the Sectetariat—and the
Secretariat was ever regarded as the high road to the
Supreme Council. What his doubts and distractions were
in this perplexity, may be gathered from the following
letters to Mr. Jenkins, on whom the Governor-General
intended to bestow the Delhi Residency if Metcalfe should
vacate it :

CHARLES METCALFE TO RICHARD JENEKINS.

[ Without date—received on the 16th of June, 1815.]

“ My DEAR JENKINg,— , . . . [Conﬁdentzal ]I was in
attendance on Lord Moira during a considerable part of
December, January, and February. He expressed a desire to
- have me at the Presidency. As the only visible mode of

effecting this purpose, he offered me the succession to the
Financial Secretaryship, about to be vacated, it was supposed,
by Tucker’s resignation. The flattering manner in which the
. proposal was made, deprived me of the resolution requisite firmly
to reject, and I almost pledged myself to accept it. I have, how-
ever, many doubts as to the propriety of the change, and am
inclined to retract. These doubts I have expressed in the proper
quarter, and I think it probable that the arrangement will not take
place. I will not detain you with a detail of the pros and cons
which divide my mind on the question, but proceed to inform you
that it was in contemplation, when I was at head-quarters, to
make you the Resident at Delhi. I do not know how you would
like this; and if you would not like it, you must be prepared to
object to it in the event of its being proposed to you. If you wish
for any information respecting this Residency to determine your
choice, send me your questions, and I will give you full and
faithful intelligence. My removal, however, is very uncertain, and
will probably not take place, for X am more attached to Delhi in
donsequence of the apprehension of quitting it, than I ever was
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before, What would you think of my impudence if I were to set
up for & Financial Secretary? I should be glad to have your
opinion, X do not like to quit the line in which X bave served all
my life, for one in which I must be incompetent. I am afraid,
too, of being detained longer in the country by the proposed
change. But I promised not to trouble you with this detail.
God bless you.
“ Yours affectionately,

«C, T. METCALFR.”

THE SAME TG THE SAME.

% August 26, 1816,

“My DeAR JENKINE,—I have determined to remain at Delhi, and
am glad that X have. Lord Moira has on every occasion been most
kind to me, and I shall ever be grateful to him. It was proposed
to 1pe to take the Financial and Revenue Secretaryship now, with
the assurance of the Private Secretaryship in addition on Ricketts’s
resignation, which the latter pledged himself to give in in
December, 1816. Had the latter situation been vacant now, and
offered to me together with the other, I could not have refused
them, But it is as well asit is. I have discovered that I am more
attached to Delhi and the inhabitants of the territory under me
than I formerly supposed myself tobe, Ifound, when my removal
was probable, that I should quit with great reluctance scenes to
which I had become attached by habit, and a people for whose
welfare I had several plans unaccomplished. I am well pleased to
find myself secured in my own habits, and at liberty to devote
myself to the interest of my subjects, I declined the Financial
Secretaryship on the ground that it would retard my return to
England; and the promise of the Private Secretaryship, from
disinclination to bind down Lord Moira and Ricketts. Itis now
understood that there is no obligation on Lord Moira’s part to
renew any similar proposal at o future period, nor on mine to
accept it, if renewed. The same reasons which induced me to
rejoice now at my staying at Delhi, make me wish that I may not
hereafter receive any temptation to quit it. One great advantage
which I feel at Delhi is, that I sball always there be independent
of & seat in Council; that is, that I shall not care a straw if I do nos
obtain one. Iad I accepted a secretaryship in Calcutta, I must
have turncd my views to Council, and should, in all probability,
have been disappointed. [ took leave of Lord Moira on the 21st
st Futtehghur, and am now on my way to Delhi. X have.written
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this short report of my proceedings for your early information,
‘The necessity of any reply to your questions concerning Delhi is
obviated by my continuance at that place. I will not, therefore,
trouble you with the details which otherwise I should have sent
you, unless you require them with s view to any future contin-
gency. Accept my cordial thanks for the friendly and affectionate
contents of your last letter. I shall write to you egain soon,
I have some communications to make respecting the politics of
head-quarters, The Goorkha war s still pending; at least,
peace is not concluded, nor can we agree on t.he preliminaries
as yet.
7 “ Believe me ever yours most affectionately, ,

“C, T, METcarLye.”

But the idea of attaching Metcalfe permanently to the
Secretariat was not abandoned at head-quarters, even after
the Governor-General had retired to Calcutta.* As the
year wore on to a close, the pressure of public busincss
still suggested the expediency of securing the services of
one so well acquainted with all departments, and so pecu-
liarly qualified to assist the councils of Government in
those great political affairs connected with the settlement

* An effort had been made to persuade Metcalfe to return with
the Governor-General’s camp to Calcutta. * The 15th of August,”
wrote the Private Secretary to him, “is still the time fixed for his
lordship’s departure, and allowing & day or two for delay, I reckon
upon, the 20th as the day. This, I trust, will square with your
plans, and on many accounts we hope that you will be able to take
arun with us to Calcutta.. . . . Your presence there would be
useful—indeed, the only ready means, perhaps, of enabling you
finally to determine about accepting a secretaryship or remaining
at Delhi” There were other inducements, too, to tempt him to
the Presidency, for Theophilus Metcalfe had come round to Cal-
cutta ebout some important business connected with the factory
and the tea~trade—but the Delhi Resident resisted them all. Ie
proceeded soon after the receipt of Ricketts’s letter to the camp of
the Governor-General at Futtehghur, and after declining the offer
of an appointment in the Secretariat, took leave of Lord Moira (as

%gli;iated in the above letter to Mr. Jenkins) and returned to
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of Central India which were fast beginning to absorb every
other consideration. It was difficult to make the necés-
sary arrangement. Mr. Ricketts, on whom it seemed
mainly to depend, was well inclined to make considerable
sacrifices for its accomplishment, but Lord Moira demurred
to the plan which his Private Secretary proposed. What
the arrangement was, and the powerful considerations
which induced him to make it, may be gathered from the
following passage in one of Mr. Ricketts’s private letters
to Metcalfe :

¢ At this juncture a second campaign against the Goorkhas was
probable—the proposed concession to them was resisted by Lord
Moira—the affair of Trimbackjee was in 3 most critical state—the
disturbance at Hyderabad was not quelled—the Mahratta con~
federacy was in agitation-—the Pindarrees were in motion—Ameer
Khan was overwhelming the Rajpoot states-—troops were required
10 overawe Scindiah—Baillie was tottering at Lucknow—Raffles
was to be removed from Java—many financial discussions were on
the tapes both as relating to the war expenses and to resources for
the fature, which required a final adjustment between the territorial
and commercial accounts, subjects on which all good folks differed
—that the orders of the Court of Directors respecting a reduction
of the army remained yet to be considered—that the reports of his
lordship, in the military, revenue, and, judicial departments,
to be completed, and might excite much discussion—that & necessity
was imposed upon his lordship of entering into a full review of
our political situation and relations, in which the attack made by
his colleagues was to be rebutted, their mistaken notions were to
be exposed, and the measures to be produced for our security were
to be explained—that most questions of any impertance in each
department of the Government had been left open for his lordship’s
decision—that feuds betweeen the bishop (who is a high priest)
and the kirk remained to be adjusted, and that, in short, so many
difficulties and embarrassments presented themselves on every side,
that I despaired of his lordship getting over the whole with any
kind of satisfaction to himself without the aid of you, my friend I—
Adam was a host certainly in himself; but he was already over-
whelmed with business; Bayley could only attend to pending
Judicial questions; no aid from Trant in finance was to be expected;
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and I knew that, however well disposed, my talents were very .
limited, and wholly unequal to the duties with which ] was
threatened. My plans, consequently, for inducing you to come to
Calcutta were as follows:—Mr. Thomson talked of going home §n
January, and I proposed, therefore, that you should be appointed
Territorial Secretary, and that you should divide with me the
allowance of Private Secretary on Mr. T.’s departure. This was
approved by his lordship; but Mr. T. changed his mind. I then
requested that I might be allowed to resign my situation of P. I.*
Secretary in your favour. To this, however, his lordship would
not assent; and, lastly, I was induced from various causecs to beg
his lordship to accept my resignation of the situation, now that {
had accomplished with your assistance all the reports and papers
which he was so anxious to have ready for transmission to the
secret committee by fhe William Pitt. Lord Moira, I conceived,
would not refuse compliance with my wishes, and I moreover
conceived that he would then feel at liberty to place you in a post
which you were so eminently well qualified to fill. Mis lordship,
however, requested me to withdraw my application. This has
been done for the present; you consequently are not coming to
Calcutta, nor am I, which at one time was not improbable, going
to Java,”t

" But the failure of Mr. Ricketts's honourable efforts was
not much to be deplored. The time, indeed, was fast
approaching when. it would be in the power of Charles
Metcalfe to render more essential services to the State in
Upper India than at the Presidency. The settlement of
Central India was about to be commenced, and in this
great work the Delhi Resident was to take no unimportant
part.

The consideration of this great subject, and the narra-
tion of the personal incidents connected with it in the
career of Charles Metcalfe, must be reserved for another
chapter.. But before passing on to these grave political
affairs, the writer must pause to touch upon some points
of less historical, but, perhaps, mot less biographical

* Principal Private Secretary.
1 Calcutta, December 19, 1815,
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importance. It is curious, in .running through the
immense wilderness of correspondence which Metcalfe
carefully preserved, to see how many and great, at this
time, in addition to the claims of public duty, were the
demands of private friendship upon his time and atten-
tion. The commissions which were entrusted to him
were numerons and varied; and he found fime to execute
them all. It was not only that the kindliness of his heart,
his eagerness to give pleasure might always be relied
upon; but that there were requests made to him which
only he, perhaps, could satisfactorily fulfil—which only
he had a power commensurate with the will to accomplish.
Thus Mountstuart Elphinstone wrote to him from Pgonah,
asking him to exert himself to obtain for his friend Mr.
Erskine a complete copy of Baber's autobiography, and
an authentic portrait of the Emperor.®* Malcolm applied

* « Mr, Erskine, at Bombay,” wrote Elphinstone, “isemployed
in translating the commentaries of the Emperor Baber, from a
Persian translation of that work, which is certainly the most
curious and interesting I ever met with in an Asiatic language,
There are, however, several gaps in the translation he has got, and
a complete copy in Turkish, which I brought from Peshawur, was
lost in consequence of poor Leyden’s death, so that Mr. Erskine’s
translation must remain incomplete, unless yon can get us a
complete copy of the translation at Delbi. The august repre-
sentative of the house of Timour must assuredly possess the com-
mentaries of the most illustrious of his ancestors, and the founder ot
his empire. But if his Majesty should not be able to put his hand
on the work, some of the literati at Delhi will probably be able to
produceit,” A copy of the work was found; but, unhappily, it had
the same deficiencies as that in Mr. Erskine’s possession. Elphin-
stone, therefore, requested Metcalfe to obtain for him a Turkish
copy from Peshawur. An authentic portrait of Baber was also
Tequired, and Metcalfe, his characteristic good-nature stimulated
by his literary zeal, immediately instituted the necessary inquiries,
and found what was sought. Mr. Erskine’s charming translation
of Baber's Commentaries is well known to English readers—to
some through the book itself, to others through Jeffrey’s review of
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to him to obtain information relative to the career of the
great Bengal banker, Omichund, after the destroying
fraud that had been practised upon him by Lord Clive.
Ochterlony * wrote to him to prepare a monument, and
to write an inscription to the memory of that poor young
Lawtie, of the Engineers, killed by his brave exertions in
the Nepaul war, to which so much of our first suc-
cesses were nobly attributed by his chief. Nicollst
commissioned him to procure an ornamental sabre, to be
publicly presented to & native officer who had distin-
guished himself in the same war. Edmonstone, in conse-
quence of a reference from England, besought him to
obtain information relative to the matrimonial connections
formed between the Mogul princes and the daughters of
the Rajpoot Rajahs.} Sir William Rumbold besought

it, published among his collected Essays. A posthumous work,
embracing an elaborate history of some of the princes of the house
of Timour—a work of great ability and research—appeared whilst
the first edition of this work was passing through the press.

* «In every letter,” wrote Qchterlony, * written to you, I have
intended to make a very particular request, which I have ever
neglected or forgotten before the conclusion. It is that you will
get & slab of marble, and on it cut an inscription of your own
composition for the tomb of our lamented Lawtie, at Ruttunghur.
Few will read it ; but I do not wish an European visitor fo pass
without knowing that the spot contains the remains of one so
deservedly valued and lamented.”

t+ The late Sir Jasper Nicolls, who wrote: “My object in
troubling you now is to beg that you will purchase and transmit to
me, vid Moradabad, a sabre not exceeding in value 400 rupees,
which I have obtained Lord Moira’s consent to give to & jemadar
of the 4th N.1.,, who conducted himself with great intrepidity on
the 25th ultimo. The blade, if possible, shonld be good, but it
ought to bé ornamental also; it should please the eye long after the
éclat of the action has worn off. I shall present it on the theafge
of_his valour, and in public.”

1 Metcalfe’s answer to this application is woith more than the
space that it will take: I had the pleasure of receiving your
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him to despatch a wet-nurse to Cawnpore. Johe Adam
commissioned him to buy for Lady Hood some of the
finest garnets to be found in Delhi. Mr. Richardson
wrote to him *at the girls' desire™ for *three Solimanee
necklaces, bracelets, &c., and also three lapis-lazuli
necklaces, bracelets, &c., and any other little trinkets, or
Hindostanee ornaments, or costume that you think they
would like.” Added to applications of this varied and
interesting character was a never-failing succession of
requests for pecuniary assistance, for the most part from
military officers, to whom he made advances, with or
without any kind of security, often knowing that the
loan would prove, as he intended it to be, a gift to the
petitioner.

letter of the 9th a few minutes before a visit from the Joudpore
Wakeel, a most respectable and well-informed old man, and I
availed myself of the opportunity to apply to him for a solution of
the question referred to you from England. He says that it was
first proposed to the Rajpoot Rajahs to form a connection with the
imperial family by taking in marriage imperial princesses; but that
this proposal was rejected, as such & communication would have
polluted the blood of the Rajahs’ families, and would have been
utter abomination for ever ; that they were glad to effect their
escape from so alarming a danger by sacrificing their own
daughters, who were considered as dead from the time of their
comnection with the emperors; that after the ice had been once
broken by the formation of a connection of this kind, it came to
be considered a custom, and ceased to be objectionable ; that a
connection with the-emperors was thought desirable for political
purposes, and that the rivalship of the Rajahs of Jyepore and
Joudpore made both occasionally press forward with their
danghters, each being jealous when such a connection was formed
by the other. Nevertheless that the daughters were considered as
dead ard gone, though their posthumous influence was an object of
desire to their fathers. This is the mode in which the Joudpore
wakeel attempts to solve the question. I shall make further
inquiries, and have the happiness of making you acquainted with
the result.”—{ May 25, 1814.]
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But there were letters, very different from any of these,
received during the yedrs of his residence at Delhi—Iletters
which inflicted upon him an acuteness of pain which may,
in some measure, perhaps, be duly estimated by those
who have dwelt upon the passages relating to his parents
in the letters which he addressed to his aunt. In the
course ‘of the year 1814 he received intelligence of the
death of his father. And two'years afterwards the sad
tidings of his mother's death also reached him.* This is
almost a condition of Indian exile. It is a grievous trial
which few escape—to lay up fame and fortune and to see
those with whom we would share their blessings pass
away from our reach., How deeply Metcalfe felt these
heavy blows may be gathered from his letters to his
friends. ¢ The loss of my mother,” he wrote to Richard
dJenkins, in May, 1816, * has made all my prospects
dismal: and I cannot now look even to a return to
England with any pleasure. The purest happiness that
I have enjoyed in life is buried in the grave with both my
parents ; and I have really, at present, no object to live
for. The thought of returning to my parents was my
stimulus in everything. This affliction has also affected
my correspondence of all kinds. But enough of this. You
will, I am bure, excuse me, and believe that nothing can
alter my attachment or the delight and pride I feel in the
possession of your friendship.” Indeed, it scemed, as one

* Intelligence of Lady Metcalfe’s death was received in India in
March, 1816. Both events were unexpected—especially the latter.
Lady Metcalfe died on the 9th of September, 1815, at the house of
some friends in Dorsetshire, to whom she was paying a visit. She had
Just been talking to her son-in-law, Lord Ashbrook, about returning
home, when she suddenly expired, “ without uttering & word or &
€igh.” Mr. George Saunders communicated the melancholy intelli-
gence to Captdin Fergusson, at Delhi, whom he requested to
prepare Metcalfe for the receipt of the sad tidings.
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by one the links which bound him to England were
broken, the firmness with which he clung to his Indian
attachments increased. From this time he fell back for
support upon the associations of exile, and solaced hiraself
with the friendships within his reach.

It was with little regret, therefore, that about this time
he received an intimation that the Court of Directors,
among other retrenchments, had reduced the expenses of
the Delhi Residency,* by curtailing the Resident's allow-
ances, “The cuttings here,” he wrote to Mr. Jenkins,
“are 2,000 rupees a month from the public allowance.
This T have allowed to take effect, as I considered opposi-
tion vain. Reductions were also ordered in the number
of assistants and the office establishment. These I have
opposed, as they do not affect me personally. The redjc-
tion of my allowances will keep me in India all my life,
as I do not see how I can reduce my expenses.” But, as
though he could not altogether abandon the thomght of
some day returning to his native land, he added, “ I shall,
therefore, be the more inclined to accept any situation,
should any such be offered, which, by enabling me to live
like a retired individual on some small means, may present
a hope of some.day returning to England.”

At the close of the year 1815 Charles Metcalfe received
another visit from his brother Theophilus, who had come
round to Calcutta upon business conneeted with the
financial affairs of the Canton Factory. The visit was a
solace to both brothers. “I look forward,” wrote the
elder brother from Benareg, “to a delightful month with

* The expenses of all the Residencies had been reduced; but
whilst other retrenchments were ordered to take immediate effect,
the case of the Delhi Residency had been treated as an exceptional
one, and Metcalfe had been ordered, as a preliminary measure, to

report upon the expenses of his office before’any reductions were
carried out,
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you, such as I have not passed for some time ; and, alas!
have but little prospect of seeing a ‘relative for years to
come.” They met then at Delhi for the last time. Theo-
philus Metcalfe did not live to see the completion of those
twelve years,
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CHAPTER XII.

[1815-1818.]
THE SETTLEMENT OF CENTRAL INDIA.

Peace with the Goorkhas—Relations with the States of Central
India—Scindiah, Holkar, and the Rajah of Berar—The Pin-
darrees—Ameer Khan and the Patans—The Rajpoot States—
Metcalfe’s Plans for the Settlement of Central India—Adopted
by YLord, Hastings—Opposition of the Home Authorities—
Change of Policy—Correspondenee of Metcalfe with Lord
Moira—The Governor-General takes the Field—Suppression
of the Pindarrees — Metcalfe’s Treaties with the Rajpoot
Princes.

“ Hugram! peace with the Goorkbas!” wrote Secretary
Ricketts from Calcutta to Metcalfe, at Delhi, on the 9th of
December, 1815. The intelligence was mostaswelcome.
A great object had now been accomplished. But there
was a greater before us to which the pacification of Nepaul
had in some measure cleared the way. One obstacle at
least to the settlement of Central India had been removed.
It had been always Metcalfe’s opinion that our operations
against the Goorkhas should have been postponed, until
arrangements had been effected for the establishment of
permanent tranquillity throughout all the Central Indian
States ; but the war having been commenced, he argued
that we shonld conclude it, by a manifestation of over-
whelming strength, with the utmost practicable despatch ;
and then, having in the meanwhile increased, by every
possible means, our military resources, enter with confi-
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dence upon the arrangements which the unsettled condition
of Central India so imperatively demanded.

Whitever may have been the policy~or the necessity—
in 1806, of the sudden winding-up of our political rela-
tiona in the interior of Hindostan, it is not to be doubted
that the precipitate adjustment of affairs, rendered neces-
sary by the embarrassed state of our finances, caused a
vast heritage of stirring work to descend to a future
Government. It is very true that no statesman is justified
in saddling posterity with political convulsions and pecu-~
niary distresses. But it is equally true that no statesman
is justified in inflicting a positive injury upon his own
generation, with the hope of averting a conjectural evil
from a future one. But the truest statesmanship is that
which seizes upon the exact point at which conjectural
evils are about to become positive ones, when they have
passed altogether beyond the stage of possible prevention,
and- to delay their extinction ia only to nurture their
growth, Now, in 1815-16, we had certainly reached an
epoch of our career at which any continued reliance upon
the efficacy of those principles of non-interference, which
had so long regulated our political conduct in the East,
would have been suicidal in the extreme. Disorder and
confusion were paramount over the whole length and
breadth of Central India. The entire country was rent by
internal strife. The strong were preying upon the weak.
The supremacy of Might was alone recognised. There was
altogether a state of lawlessness and disorganization such
as it is difficult for those, who square their notions by the
rule and plummet of European civilization, adequately to
conceive.

To describe, with satisfactory detail, the chaotic state of
things that had arisen during the ten years which had
elapsed since Charles Metcalfe, on the banks of the Beeas, .
met Holkar and Ameer Khan in the camp of the former,
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would demand an amount of space that cannot consistently
be afforded to it in such a memoir as this. It was a
condition of things that no wise or benevolent statesman
could long suffer to exist. Immense bands of Pindarrees
were overrunning and ravaging the lands. Certain Patan
chiefs, little better than Pindarrees, with large bodies of
retainers, were overawing the peaceful states of Rajpootana.
And our nominal allies, the substantive Mahratta states,
were in 3 condition of scarcely disguised hostility towards
us. Not only did thegecurity of our Indian empire, but
the larger interests of common humanity, demand that an
effort should be made by the paramount power to restore
tranquillity to the distracted country. The duty of the
British Government, in this conjuncture stood out clearly
before Metcalfe's eyes. It was with no misgiving—with
no hesitation that he fully declared his opinions to the
Governor-General ; and propounded a scheme for the
settlement of Central India, which Lord Moira was not
slow to adopt. The length of the document in which his
views were submitted forbids its entire insertion ; but its
importance demands that I should set forth some of its
more pregnant passages. ‘

And the better to follow his arguments, and to under-
stand all the bearings of the great question, it should first
be seen in what manner he classified-the different. states of
Central India :—

¢“That part of India which is not occupied by the British
Government and its allies, is divided among powers who may be
classed under the following different descriptions:—

“ 1. Substantive states, ardently desiring our overthrow, and ambi-
tious to aggrandise themselves; who for the gratification of either
propensity, would not scruple to have recourse to any measures,
and who have armies in their service capable of being converted at
& moméent’s warning into instruments of destruction to our pro-
vinces. Against these powers we must always be on our guard ;
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and the frontiers exposed to them can never be considered to be in
safety unless defended by our armies. We may be assured that
these powers only want an encouraging opportunity to strike a
blow at our existence.

2, Military powers not substantive states, but more dangerous,
perhaps, than these states; being less tangible and having less to
lose, living by plunder and devastation—the enemies of all regular
governments, more especially hostile in spirit'to us, and capable of
overrunning and ruining our provinces if we gave them the oppor-
tunity, by neglecting our defence. Against these, therefore, we
must be equally guarded as against the states of the first class.

“ 3. Petty states, who are subject to the continual plunder and
oppression of the two former classes, who in consequence look up
to us for protection, and are therefore well-disposed towards us.
From these we have nofhing to apprehend. These it is our interest
to uphold and protect.

“To the first class belong Scindiah, Holkar, and the Rajah of
Nagpore (Berar).

“Of these three, Scindiah is now the most powerful, and the one
most employed in aggrandising himself.

“The power of Holkar, if considered as unconnected with
that of Meer Khan, is very much reduced. That of Nagpore
.seems to be, too, on the decline. But all three are hostile
towards us, and in heart confederated against us; and never
will be otherwise until they be forced by the oppression of each
other, or of other powers, to throw themselves into our arms for
protection.

The second class of powers consists of the, Pindarrees, Meer
Kban, Mahomed Shah Khan, and generally all predatory lezders.
Of these the Pindarrees are the most mischievous. Meer Khan
and Mahomed Shah Khan may be considered in & double
character, as servants of Holkar and as independent chieftains,
These powers, and all others that exist by upsetting peaceful
states and disturbing the general tranquillity, must be considered
as enemies, since they either act as such, or force us to take the
same defensive precautions against them as if they were in declared
hostility.

«In the third class may be included Jyepore, Joudpore, Oudi~
pore, Bekaneer, Jessulmere, Kotah, Boondee, Kerowles, and the
other petty states on the frontier of Guzerat, and, generally, all
states who are subject to the oppression of the military and pre-
datory powers.”
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Having thus shown with what we had to deal, he
proceeded in a few pithy sentences to declare how it was
desirable to deal with them -

« With regard to all the great military states and all the preda-
tory powers, it is clearly our interest to aunjhilate them or to
reduce them to & state of weakness, subjection, and dependence,
This observation refers to all the powers of the first and second
classes above described. . And with pegard to the weak and harm-
less and well-disposed petty states, though it is mot so indis-
.pensably necessary for our vital interests that we should support
them, yet it is & just and proper object of wise and liberal
policy.”

Tt was Metcalfe's opinion at this fime that the annihi-
lation of all the substantive states of Central India wonld
be advantageous to the British Government, and he was
not without a belief that circumstances would arise to

justify such a measure. But he was not yet prepared to
recommend it. They had been guilty of no overt acts of
hostility ; and we had no pretext for drawing the sword
against them. But the forcible suppression of the Pin-
darrees was, on the other band, a measure that called for
jmmediate execution. Forbearance and moderation in
such a case would only have been sinful and eruel. The
reduction of these lawless bands was, indeed, the first
object of our policy. Nothing could be done until it was
accomplished :— '

“The first object,” said Metcalfe, *“to which our attention ought
$0 be directed, is the reduction of the power of the Pindarrees.
Not only does this predatory power at all times mensce the tran-
quillity of our territories, and force us to adopt extensive measures
of precautionary defence, but has actually invaded our dominions
and ravaged our richest provinces, and perpetuslly threatens a
repetition of this outrage and devastation. It is impossible to
distinguish between the different bodies of these freebooters. The
whole of them are the enemies of all states, and they have all been
engaged in ravaging either our own provinces or those of our allies;
As long as this power exists, we cannot undertake any political or
military operations without the apprehension of having our pro-
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vinces laid waste by bands of plunderers. And from the increase
of the power of these frecbooters which has actually taken place in
the last few years, we may judge to what an incalculable extent
the evil may proceed if it be allowed to continue to exist. We
ought to recollect that the Pindarree is now what the Mahratta
power was 'in the decline of the Mogul empire of India. Let us
take warning, and save the British empire from the downfall which
its predecessor sustained, chiefly from the hands of the predecessors
of the Pindarrees.”

Speaking then of the difficulty of striking a vigorous
blow at a power so meteoric and intangible, Metcalfe then
proceeded to say :—

¢ As the destruction of the power of the Pindarrees is the first
object of our policy, so is it also, perhaps, the most difficult to be
accomplished. The seat of their power is in their camps. It is less
tangible than the power of any established state, which must fall
with the loss of its dominions. The Pindarrees may be dispersed,
and they will gather again. They may be defeated over and over
again, without loss of reputation or power, since neither the one
nor the other depends on victory in the field. They must be
pursued wherever they take refuge; they must be dispersed wher-
ever they assemble. 'We must not pause until they be annihilated
a3 a power, Even the Pindarree power is in some degree tan-
gible. The Pindarrces have lands and forts, where they keep
their familics; and the losa of their possessions and the capture
of their families would tend greatly, no doubt, to destroy their
Power.”

After speaking of the offensive and defensive prepa-
rations which it would be necessary to make for the sup-
pression of these predatory bands, and dwelling upon the
advantages to be derived from the success of our measures,
Metcalfs proceeded to speculate on the probability of
deriving assistance from other substantive states of Central
India :—

“ Every endcavour,” he said, “ will be advisable to ‘persuade
other powers to take part in the contest. Scindiah, Holkar, and
the Rajah of Berar, may be invited at the proper time to join &
confederacy for the destruction of the Pindarrees. 1f they accede,
and join with cordiality, the object may be gained with greater
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facility; snd the circumstance of acting in union with the British
Government for one common interest might lay the foundation of
a general confederacy of the established states of India with the
RBritish Government as the acknowledged bead. But this is an
arrangement, perhaps, more to be desired than expected.”

If this confederacy were not arranged, it was argued
that the British Government could at least demand the
neutrality of the Staies, with the right of a free passage
through their territories ; and'if this were refused, they
could only be treated as open enemies :—

“If Scindish, Holkar, and the Rajah of Berar,” continued
Metcalfe, “ peither co-operate nor remain neutral—in other words,
ifall or any of these powers oppose or obstruct our operations
against the Pindarrees, we have no choice but to consider all
powers s0 opposing us as our enemies, and to aitack them
accordingly. The war, in this case, would require greater
exertions, but would also be attended with better prospects of
solid advantage. The territories of Scindiah, Holkar, or the
Rajah of Berar, would afford & recompense for the expenses of the
war, and an increase of resources for the payment of additional
force.”

Having again repeated that the absolute extermination
of the Pindarrees by a series of vigorous offensive measures
was the first step towards the settlement of Central India,
Metcalfe proceeded to consider what should be our bearing
towards the military states, as & question distinet from that
of their movements for or against the Pindarrees :—-

“Let us now examine what should be our policy towards
Scindiah, Holkar, and the Rajah of Berar, without any reference
to the Pindarrees. As long as these powers adhere to the spirit of”
the treaties which we have with them respectively, and act towards
us in o friendly and inoffensive manner, we have no right, it is '
needless to mention, to deviate from the spirit of existing engage-
ments, however desirable & deviation may occasionally be. We
must act towards them with friendship and a lberal regard for
their rights and pretensions. But we ought never to forget, that
88 long as these, or any of these, powers are military, ambitious,
and unprincipled, it is our interest to overthrow them, or bring
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them under our influence; and every opportunity should be taken
to pursue a policy tending to one of these results when it can be
done consistently with good faith and justice. In the event of a
war with all or any of these powers, it is our interest to secure the
greatest possible acquisition of territory, in order that we may
maintain the greatest possible amount of force,”

In these suggestions, Metcalfe contended that there was
no spirit of aggrandisement; the only object being to
secure the safety of our possessions and the general tran-
quillity of the country :—

“In these proposals there is no ambition or wish for aggran.
disement beyond what is necessary or desirable for our safety and
strength. If the British Government were secure in their present
predicament, it might confine its attention to its own internal
prosperity, without involving itself in the dissensions and dis-
tractions of other states. But we must tranquillize the centre of
India, in order to acquire strength in our external boundaries
sufficient for the security of our Indian empire.”

Having considered the course of policy to be pursued
towards the subs_tantive states of India and the Pindarree
freebooters, Metcalfe adverted to those powers which
occupied intermediate ground between them-—which par-
took of some of the substantive attributes of the one, and
were distinguished also by the predatory habits of the
other :—

“The military powers of Ameer Ehan and Mahomed Shah
Khan remain to be spoken of. The existence of siich powers is
incompatible with the preservation of the tranquillity of India, and
they must be destroyed by dispersion or attack before that great
object can be secured. Such armies might be dispersed by making
& provision for the chiefs and afterwards disbanding their troops;
but unless measures be taken at the same time to prevent the rise
of other powers of the same description, new armies will rise up
under new le_aders, and we shall have the expense of supporting
the old chiefs, without doing away the evil. But the destruction
of the Pindarrees and the other arrangements proposed, will neces-
sarily effect the reduction of the remaining predatory powers.”

Having thus considered the policy to be pursued towards
hostile states, he glanced at the condition of those friendly
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principalities which it was desirable to take under our
protection.

“ These,” he said, “should be systematically taken under pro-
tection whenever they seek it, and whenever our engagements
with other powers leave us at liberty to grant it, and other con-
siderations of an urgent nature do not interfere to prevent such an
arrangement. By taking the petty states under our protection, we
prevent the aggrandisement of the great military powers, and the
growth of the predatory powers which feed on the weaker states.
We at the same time secure the political attachment and
dependence of established governments, and the extension and
confirmation of our own power and supremacy. . ... These
states should be made to purchase our protection ; and whenever
the circumstances of the party will adnut of it, & tribute should be
demanded sufficient to pay for some increase of our military esta-
blishment, an object which should never be lost sight of in any of
our political arrangements in the present state of India.”

It was true that our engagements with Scindiah and
Holkar prevented us from forming alliances with some of
these petty states,® but it was recommended that we should
take advantage of any rupture that might free us from
these engagements; and such a contingency seemed not
very remote.

Special mention was then made of Jyepore:

“The state of Jyepore has long sought our protection, and we
are not restrained by any engagements with other powers from
affording it, An alliance, however, with Jyepore would neces-
sarily annoy Scindish and Holkar, and would deprive Meer Khan,
Mahomed Shah Khan, and other freebooters, of their chief
resource. The state of Jyepore could afford {o pay a considerable
tribute, especially when tranquillity and protection shall have
restored the prosperity of the country. An alliance with-Jyepore
has been objected to as an insulated measure, under the behef of
its inefficiency. Although au alliance with Jyepore be effected
singly-—and a general alliance with the Rajpoot states is imprac-
ticable consistently with good faith-—nevertheless the allisnce
should not be considered an insulated measure, but one of a

* Joudpore, Qudipore, Kotah, &e.
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system which can only be accomplished by degrees. YWe must not
expect that & number of states will come forward to scck our
alliance exactly at the moment most convenient to our views. 1If
+we do not afford our protection when it is solicited, we must
expect that it may be rejected when we proffer it. If we refuse
now to conclude an alliance with Jyepore, it may happen that
Jyepore will be reluctant to conclude one at the precise period
when we deem it advantageous for ourselves.* If we adopt the
system of protecting the weak states, we must put it in practice
gradually, by teking under our protection such of them as are
aware of the benefit of it, and we must make some temporary
sacrifice for the sake of the advancement of the system.”

The fresult of these alliances, Metcalfe argued, would
be great, for they would place us, either by the generation
of an immediate crisis, or by sowing the seeds of slow decay
among the Mahratta states, in possession of the whole
expanse of Central India:

“ The formation, as suggested, of these alliances would confine
the niilitary and predatory powers of India within narrow limits.
They must then either devour each other or waste away, or attack
us. In the latter event we ought to have made ourselves strong
enough to conquer them all, and annex the whole of these terri-
tories to the British dominions. In that case, by one great exertion,
the tranquillity of India might be established on ‘a permanent
footing, and our supremacy would be complete. In either of the
other cases the same end will eventually be gained in & more pro-
gressive manner.”

Such was the plan for the settlement of Central India
which Metcalfe presented to the Governor-General. But
how -was so comprehensive & scheme of policy to be
carried out? It was anticipated that our measures for
the suppression of the Pindarrees would very probably
embroil us with all the Mahratta states; but, so far from
shrinking back alarmed at the contemplation of euch a
contingency, Metcalfe regarded it as an element of extreme

* In how remarkable & manner these anticipations were verified
by the result will presently appear,
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hopefulness in the great scheme which opened out before
him. He felt, indged, that it was absolutely necessary for
the permanent tranquillisation of Cfntral India, not only
that the Pindarrees should be rooted out, but that the
substantive states should be curtailed of their power, and
reduced to a condition of subjection that would prevent
them from ever again exciting our fears. The war with
the Pindarrees might be followed by a war with the
Mahrattas, It was incumbent upon us, said Metealfe, to
be provided for this. But how were we to undertake the
prosecution of a scheme of policy demanding a display of
such immense resources? To thig it was replied, that
everything must give way to one paramount consideration
—that the maintenance of an efficient military establish~
ment must be the first care of the Government, and that to
accomplish this we must increase our revenue by every
possible means:

¢ The following,” said Metcalfe, * would appear to be the system
which we ought to adopt for the security and confirmation of our
dominion in India :—

“ 1st. To make it the main object of all the acts of our Govern-
ment to have the most efficient army that we can possibly maintain,
not merely for internal conirol or the defence of our frontier, but
also for those services in the field which our army is perpetually
called on to perform on emergencies when we have not time to
increase it in sufficient strength.

“2nd. If our resources should, at any time, be unequal fo the
maintenance of an ample force, not to cripple our strengih by
attempts to reduce our force within the limits of fixed resources at
the imminent peril of our dominion; but to endeavour toraise our
resources to meet the demrands on us for force.*

* Elsewhere the writer says: “If an increase in the existing
branches of revenue in our own dominions prove sufficient for the
maintenance of such armies as we require, so much the better. If
not, we ought to draw forth new resources; and if these be
impracticable within our own dominions, we must look to increase
of territory by conquest over our enemies in the interiar of India.

YOL, I M
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“3rd. To enlarge our territories in the interior of India on
every occasion of war as much as possible consistently with justice
and policy, moderation to our enemies, and due attention to our
allies.

« 4th. To apply the net revenues of conquered countrics to the
maintenance of additional force, and the acquisition of additional
force to the achievement of new conquests, on just occasions——thus
growing in size and increasing in strength as we proceed, until we
can with safety determine to confine ourselves within fixed limits,,
and abjure all further conquesta.

“5th. To enter on no wars from views of aggrandiscment
without just cause, to respeet with the most liberal attention
the rights, interests, feelings, and prejudices of all powers; and to
cultivate with those who are willing the most sincere and cordial
friendship.”

These propositions Charles Metcalfe supported in a
manner which, doubtless, would have thrown his old
friend and correspondent, Sherer, the financier, into a
state of considerable alarm—especially if it had been
imparted to him with what favour the Delhi Resident's
arguments were received in the tent of the Governor-
General. But it must ever be considered that we were
on the eve of a great erisis, which in the estimation of
some of the ablest statesmen in India, demanded a departure
from erdinary rules of procedure. Let us settle the country
first, cried Metcalfe; and then practise economy:

“The error,” he said, ‘“‘seems to belong to the Govermmens st
home, which has been resolved to make everything bend to s desire
to keep down the expenses—as if our expenses could be reguluted
at our pleasure; as if we could control events so as to render them
subservient exclusively to economical and eommercial views! The
most effectual remedy would be—and a most neeessary one it is—
to reverse -the system of Government, and to make views of
economy and retrenchment secondary to those of safety and

There is no doubt that epportunities will arise for effecting such
conquests, for with the utmost moderation and justice upon our
part, misunderstandings and wara in the eourse of time will ba
oecasionally unavoidable’’
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power. Let us first adopt measures for the security and strength
of our dominion, and afterwards look to a surplus of revenme. If
retrenchmenis be mecessary, let them be made anywhere rather
thah in that branch of our expenditure which is necessary for our
exigtence. Let us cherish our military establishments above all
others, for on them our power entirely depends.”

The answer of the financier, doubtless, was, that it is
impossible to cherish our military establishments without
money—that money has been emphatically called the
sinews of war—and that without money, though we may
talk of war, we cannot make it. To this, however,
Metcalfe replied :

¢ Tt is in vain to say that our commercial and financial arrange-
ments do not admit of an increase of force-—commerce and finance
‘will soon be destroyed if we have not at all times sn army suffi-
cient for the exigencies of our siination. If it were a question
whether our military establishments, or any other, should be
sacrificed, theve could be no doubt that any other establishment
must be gacrificed, because our military establishment is the most
necessary for our existence. But it is to be hoped that this will
never be a question. Let us preserve all our establishments, and
make them contribute to the supperi of each other; but it is neces-
sary to gonard with peculiar care the efficiency of our armies. Let
Bs Bot adopt the absurd notion that commerce and finance can
thrive by the neglect and reduction of the vital sources of eur
strength and existence. As well might we expect to give vigour
10 the limbs by chopping at the heart.”

Te this the financier would reply, that if military
establishments be necessary for the protection of revenue,
it is equally true that revenue is necessary to the support
of mifitary establishments, or in a word, that armies are of
no mse if we cannot pay them-—nay, that anpaid armies
are ‘worse than useless, for they may become dangerous
enemies, Du.rowngunshave'beenéhottedemnowm
anticipation of the rising of our unpaid sepoys. Metcalfe,
however, anticipated the objection :

“Ttmay be said, that we must, of necessity, confine our expenses
within our resources. Nothing can be more true than this—that

x 2
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our power cannot last long, if our expenses exceed our resources,
So far all are doubtless agreed. The difference between the
system prescribed by the Government at home and that which it
is here proposed to recommend, is this:—the former—not avowedly
or wilfully, it is hoped, but, nevertheless, actually in its operationa,
attempts to restrain our military expenses within fixed limits,
without regard to our safety, The latter would attend to our
safety as the first consideration, and endeavour to make our
Tesources meet our necessary expenditure. The inevitable conse-
quence of the former, if persevered in, must be ruin; we may form
better hopes of the latter.”

Having said this, the writer proceeded to state his
opinion that if our revenue be not sufficient for the pay-
ment of our troops, we must augment it

“If,” he said, “the present state of our resources be inadequate
to the provision of force sufficient for our safety, we must seek to
raise them by extraordinary means. It is true that resources are
not always procurable at will, but we must not acknowledge that
we cannot raise sufficient resources from our immense empire,
unless we be prepared also to admit that we cannot keep the
gountry. When additional resources become necessary, they must
be raised, and means must be had recourse to which in ordinary
times might be deemed objectionable. There ought to be, and
surely must be, ways and means of raising additional revenue from
the vast territories under our dominions. A native Government,
equally strong in other respects, would extract much more from
the extensive empire which we possess without injuring the
prosperity of the country. For instance, a duty on the transport
of grain would he levied by a native Government, and would
probably be exceedingly productive. The proposal will no doubt
be objected to. It is not agreeable to European prejudices; but a
duty on traffic in grain—the principal trade of most parts of the
country—is a source of revenue under every native Government,
and, whether a good or bad source of revenue, it is the only one
which promises to be gbundantly productive. It is not intended
here to enter into any discussion on the expediency or otherwise ot
such a duty. All that is meant to contend for is, that instead of
indulging in the vain hope of. promoting our prosperity by the
reduction of our establishments, we ought to search; for additional
sources of revenne,”
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He then procceded to argue, that in proportion as it was
difficult to derive increased revenues from our existing
territories, “the necessity of an increase of territory
becomes more apparent : ”

“Any acquisition of territory in the centre of India would
contract the extent of frontier to be defended, or approximate the
connections between the forces of Bengal and those of the other
Presidencies, or give & surplus of revenue available for the pay-
ment of a military force, without the chance of involving us in
any embarrassments beyond those to which we are already
exposed. So far, therefore, from contemplating an increase of
territory as an evi] to be avoided, we ought to desire it, wherever
it can be justly obtained, as the source of safety and power.”

But on whatsoever side of the controversy between the
soldiers and the financiers reason and justice might array
themselves, it is certain that for some time the home
authorities, as represented no less by the King’s ministers
than by the Court of Directors, took the financial view of
the great question, and determined that war and diplomacy
should remain in abeyance. The Secret Committee sent
out positive instructions against interference with existing
arrangements, and directed that “the system which was
consolidated at the close of the last Malratta war should
be maintained with as little change as could be avoided.”
And soon afterwards, a great man having succeeded to
the India Board,® the same mystetious authority wrote
again, in 1816, “ We are uanwilling to incur the risk of
a general war for the uncertain purpose of exterminating
the Pindarrees. Extended political and military combi-
nations we cannot at the present time sanction or approve.
Any attempt,” it was added, “at this moment to establish
a new system of policy, tending to a wider diffusion of our
power, must necessarily interfere with those economical

* George Canning. See documents quoted in Professor Wilson’s
continuation of Mill's ¢ History of India.”
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relations 'which it is more than ever incumbent on us to
recommmend as indispensable to the mainten